
 

Cabinet 
 

Tuesday 17 September 2013 
4.00 pm 

Ground Floor Meeting Room GO1A, 160 Tooley Street, London 
SE1 2QH 

 
Membership 
 

Portfolio 

Councillor Peter John Leader of the Council 
Councillor Ian Wingfield Deputy Leader and Housing Management 
Councillor Fiona Colley Regeneration and Corporate Strategy 
Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle Children's Services 
Councillor Barrie Hargrove Transport, Environment and Recycling 
Councillor Richard Livingstone Finance, Resources and Community Safety 
Councillor Catherine McDonald Health, Adult Social Care and Equalities 
Councillor Victoria Mills Communities and Economic Wellbeing 
Councillor Veronica Ward Culture, Leisure, Sport and Volunteering 
 
 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
Access to information 

You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as well 
as the background documents used in the preparation of these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances 

If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an 
elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, you 
may claim an allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access 

The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building 
access, translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact 
Paula Thornton 020 7525 4395 or Everton Roberts 020 7525 7221 
Or email: paula.thornton@southwark.gov.uk; everton.roberts@southwark.gov.uk  
Webpage: http://www.southwark.gov.uk   
 
Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting 
 
Councillor Peter John 
Leader of the Council 
Date: 9 September 2013 
 

 

 

Open Agenda



 

Cabinet 
 

Tuesday 17 September 2013 
4.00 pm 

Ground Floor Meeting Room GO1A, 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 
 
 

Order of Business 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

 MOBILE PHONES 
 

 

 Mobile phones should be turned off or put on silent during the course of 
the meeting. 
 

 

1. APOLOGIES 
  

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT 

  

 

 In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear working days of the meeting.  
 

 

3. NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN A CLOSED 
MEETING, AND ANY REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 

  

1 - 3 

 To note the items specified which will be considered in a closed meeting. 
 

 

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
  

 

 Members to declare any interests and dispensation in respect of any item 
of business to be considered at this meeting.  
 

 

5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (15 MINUTES) 
  

 

 To receive any questions from members of the public which have been 
submitted in advance of the meeting in accordance with the cabinet 
procedure rules. 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

6. MINUTES 
  

4 - 17 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the open section of the 
meetings held on 16 and 31 July 2013.  
 

 

7. DEPUTATION REQUESTS 
  

 

 To consider any deputation requests. 
 

 

8. WALWORTH ROAD BUSINESS MIX (OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE) 

  

18 - 28 

 To note the recommendations of the review of the Walworth Road 
Business Mix by the overview and scrutiny committee and to request that 
relevant cabinet members bring back a report in response to the report. 
 

 

9. CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE FOR OLDER ADULTS WITH DEMENTIA 
AND COMPLEX NEEDS 

  

29 - 45 

 To note the response and engagement from the family carers, 
stakeholders and staff to the plans for the proposed Centre of Excellence 
and the decision taken by the cabinet member for health, adult social care 
and equalities to recognise the outcome of the feasibility work.  
 

 

10. HOME CARE ANNUAL CONTRACT PERFORMANCE REPORT 
  

46 - 56 

 To note that the delivery of the contracts over the second year has met the 
council’s requirements. 
 

 

11. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN - SCRUTINY 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

  

57 - 58 

 To consider the recommendations of the education, children’s services 
and leisure scrutiny sub-committee.  
 

 

12. 2013-16 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN 
  

59 - 118 

 To agree the proposed children and young people’s plan for 2013 to 2016 
be recommended to council assembly for adoption.  
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

13. APPROVAL OF THE COUNCIL'S REVISED LOCAL IMPLEMENTATION 
PLAN DELIVERY PLAN, INCLUDING ANNUAL SPENDING 
SUBMISSION FOR 2014/15, INDICATIVE PROGRAMME TO 2016/17, 
REVISED TARGETS AND RELATED FUNDING BIDS 

  

119 - 135 

 To agree the content of the council’s proposed submission to (TfL) 
Transport for London.  
 

 

14. AIR QUALITY AND SCHOOLS IN SOUTHWARK 
  

136 - 145 

 To note the progress made on working with schools to improve air quality.  
 

 

15. PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND SPORT STRATEGY 2013-2017 
  

146 - 176 

 To approve the physical activity and sport strategy and action plan for 
2013-17. 
 

 

16. DISCRETIONARY HOUSING PAYMENTS (DHP) SCHEME AND THE 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

  

177 - 187 

 To agree the provision of support to Local Authority tenants affected by 
reductions in housing benefit as a result of the social sector size criteria 
and agree that the council should allow £1 million to be used from the 
housing revenue account to provide financial support to tenants whose 
entitlement to housing benefit entitlement has been reduced.  
 

 

17. REVENUE MONITORING REPORT FOR QUARTER 1, 2013/14, 
INCLUDING TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

  

188 - 200 

 To note: the general fund outturn forecast for 2013/14 and forecast net 
movement in reserves by department, the housing revenue account’s 
(HRA) forecast outturn for 2013/14 and resulting forecast movement in 
reserves, the treasury management activity for the first quarter of 2013/14, 
the forecast performance for the collection of council tax, and the forecast 
performance for the collection of business rates and the risks associated 
with the business rate retention scheme. 
 
To approve the general fund budget movements that exceed £250,000. 
 

 

18. QUARTER 1 CAPITAL MONITORING FOR 2013/14 
  

201 - 228 

 To note the general fund capital programme and the housing investment 
programme for 2013/14. To approve funded virements and variations to 
the general fund and housing investment programme and the re-profiling 
of the expenditure and resources. 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

19. MOTIONS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
  

229 - 241 

 To consider motions referred from council assembly 10 July 2013: 
 

• Welfare reform 
• Drummer Lee Rigby and faith communities in Southwark 
• Surrey Docks Brown Brick 
• East Dulwich and Rye Lane Crown Post Offices 
• Door entry for the Dickens Estate 
• ‘Robin Hood Tax’ 
• Northern Line extension 

 

 

20. WILKINSON HOUSE, DEWAR STREET, LONDON SE15 
  

242 - 246 

 To agree the surrender of the lease for the property. 
 

 

21. GATEWAY 2 - CONTRACT AWARD APPROVAL: SEMI-INDEPENDENT 
LIVING SERVICE 

  

247 - 262 

 To approve the award of a semi-independent living service framework for 
children in care.  
 

 

22. GATEWAY 2 - CONTRACT AWARD APPROVAL: INDEPENDENT 
FOSTERING SERVICES 

  

263 - 281 

 To approve the award of an independent fostering service framework for 
children in care. 
 

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER OPEN ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING 
 

 

 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 

 The following items are included on the closed section of the agenda. The 
Proper Officer has decided that the papers should not be circulated to the 
press and public since they reveal confidential or exempt information as 
specified in paragraphs 1-7, Access to Information Procedure Rules of the 
Constitution. The specific paragraph is indicated in the case of exempt 
information. 
 
The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the 
cabinet wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports 
revealing exempt information: 
 

“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7, 
Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution.“ 

 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

 PART B - CLOSED BUSINESS 
 

 

23. MINUTES 
  

 

 To approve as a correct record the closed minutes of the meetings held on 
16 and 31 July 2013.  
 

 

24. WILKINSON HOUSE, DEWAR STREET, LONDON SE15 
  

 

25. GATEWAY 2 - CONTRACT AWARD APPROVAL: SEMI-INDEPENDENT 
LIVING SERVICE 

  

 

26. GATEWAY 2 - CONTRACT AWARD APPROVAL: INDEPENDENT 
FOSTERING SERVICES 

  

 

 DISCUSSION OF ANY OTHER CLOSED ITEMS AS NOTIFIED AT THE 
START OF THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS 
URGENT 
 

 

  
 

 

 
Date:  9 September 2013 
 
 



 
Notice of Intention to conduct business in a closed 

meeting, and any representations received 
 

Cabinet 17 September 2013 
 
The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012 require that the council give a 28 
notice period for items to be considered in private/closed session.  This has 
been implemented through the publication of the council’s forward plan.   
 
The council is also required under these arrangements to give a further five 
days notice of its intention to hold the meeting or part of the meeting in 
private/closed session and give details of any representations received in 
respect of the private meeting.   
 
This notice issued in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012 is to confirm that the cabinet meeting to be held on 17 September 2013 
at 4.00pm, Council offices, 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH will be held 
partly in closed session for consideration of the following items listed on the 
agenda: 
 
Item: 20 Wilkinson House, Dewar Street, London SE15 
 
Item: 21 Gateway 2 – Contract Award Approval: Semi-independent 

Service 
 
Item: 22 Gateway 2 – Contract Award Approval: Independent Fostering 

Services 
 
The proper officer has decided that the agenda papers should not be made 
available to the press and public on the grounds that they involve the likely 
disclosure of confidential or exempt information as specified in categories 1 -
7, of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution. The 
reason for both reports is that they contain information falling within category 
3: information relating to the financial affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information).  
 
In most cases an open version of a closed report is produced and included on 
the agenda. 
 
No representations have been received in respect of the items listed for 
consideration in closed session.  Any representations received after the 
issuing of this notice will be reported at the meeting. 
 
Ian Millichap,  
Proper Constitutional Officer                             Dated: 9 September 2013 

Agenda Item 3
1



 
NOTIFICATION OF CLOSED BUSINESS FOR URGENT CONSIDERATION 

BY AN EXECUTIVE DECISION MAKING BODY 
 
The required 28 days notice relating to a decision likely to be considered in closed 
session has not been given on the forward plan in respect of the decision detailed in 
this document.  The matter is considered to be urgent and cannot be reasonably 
deferred for a further 28 days to enable the required notice to be given.  Details of the 
issue are set out below. 
 
Note: This notice applies to meetings of the cabinet, cabinet committee or community 
councils considering an executive function. 
 
DECISION MAKER 
 
Name of decision maker: Cabinet 
 
Date of meeting: 17 September 2013 
 
 
LEAD OFFICER DETAILS 
 
Name and contact details: Jeremy Pilgrim, Head of Property 
020 7525 1133 or email: jeremy.pilgrim@southwark.gov.uk   
 
 
DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
Title and brief description of the nature of the business to be considered: 
 
Wilkinson House, Dewar Street, London SE15 
 
To accept a surrender of the lease of this property on the terms set out in the closed 
version of the report.  
 
• Why the decision is urgent and cannot be reasonably deferred i.e. Why it cannot 

wait a further 28 days or more to enable the required notice to be given? 
 
The decision cannot wait until the publication of the next forward plan because the 
lease is held by a receiver who is duty bound to obtain best terms for creditors within 
a limited timescale. 
 
• What is the potential cost to the council if the decision is delayed? 
 
If the decision is delayed there is substantial risk the receiver will seek to agree terms 
with a third party.  
 
The potential loss is highlighted within the closed report but would amount to a 
substantial loss of capital receipt on subsequent disposal as well as loss of short 
term occupational opportunity.   
 
 
 

2



Approval of this decision  
 
• How long has the department known the decision required a closed report? 
 
The department has only known since terms were agreed with the receiver.  
Confirmation of these terms were received on the 6 August 2013.  
 
• If scheduled on the forward plan, what's changed to make this request necessary 

i.e. why a closed report is now necessary? 
 
The closed report is necessary as the decision is with cabinet and the negotiated 
terms (value) is commercially sensitive. 
 
 
 
 
Ian Millichap 
For Proper Constitutional Officer 
Dated: 9 September 2013 

3



1 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

 
 
 
 

Cabinet 
 
MINUTES of the OPEN section of the Cabinet held on Tuesday 16 July 2013 at  
4.00pm at the Council Offices, 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH.  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Peter John (Chair) 

Councillor Ian Wingfield 
Councillor Fiona Colley 
Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle 
Councillor Richard Livingstone 
Councillor Catherine McDonald 
Councillor Victoria Mills 
Councillor Veronica Ward 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Barrie Hargrove.  
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 The chair gave notice that the following late items would be considered for reasons of 
urgency, to be specified in the relevant minute: 
 
Item 8 – Deputation requests 
 
Item 24 – Investigation into Asbestos Incident, Westonbirt Court 
 

3. NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN A CLOSED MEETING, AND 
ANY REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED  

 

 No representations were received in respect of the items listed as closed business for the 
meeting. 
 

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 In respect of item 23, Primary Investment Strategy, Councillor Fiona Colley declared that 
she had a young child that will be of primary school age in 2016.  However she had 
received advice from the legal department that this was not a disclosable interest.   

Agenda Item 6
4



2 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

 
Councillor Victoria Mills also declared that she had a young child that will be of primary 
school age in 2016. 
 

5. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (15 MINUTES)  
 

 Question to Councillor Veronica Ward from Janet Morris (Joint Co-ordinator, What Next? 
Southwark): 
 
“What Next? Southwark is a movement of cultural practitioners from across disciplines in 
the Southwark area.  Can What Next? Southwark be included as a partner to enable 
members to work collaboratively with the Council to implement the Cultural Strategy Action 
Plan 2013-18? 
 
Response by Councillor Veronica Ward: 
 
“We very much welcome opportunities to work in partnership with a range of organisations 
in order to deliver our new cultural strategy. We want to do this in a co-ordinated way and 
officers will be arranging a series of meetings to carry forward the implementation of the 
strategy. I will ensure that What Next? Southwark is invited to participate in this process.” 
 

6. MINUTES  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 

That the open minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2013 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the chair.  

 

7. DEPUTATION REQUESTS  
 

 This item had not been circulated five clear days in advance of the meeting. The chair 
agreed to accept the item as urgent as the request had been submitted in line with the 
constitutional deadline for the receipt of deputation requests and was therefore eligible for 
consideration by cabinet.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the deputation request be heard.  
 
Futures Steering Board  
 
The cabinet received a deputation from the Futures Steering Board in respect of the 
issues contained in the Housing Commission report and the key strategic challenges 
facing council housing in Southwark at the moment. 
 
The deputation supported the council’s ambition to build 1,000 new homes but urged the 
council to build thousands more.  The deputation stressed that new homes were 
desperately needed to help address the growth of the housing register. 

5



3 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

8. INDEPENDENT HOUSING COMMISSION - CONCLUSIONS AND NEXT STEPS 
FOLLOWING COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT  

 

 The leader of the council reported that the cabinet would give a commitment to build ten 
thousand more new homes in the next 25 years.  This was in addition to the commitment 
already given to build one thousand new council homes. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the outcomes of the community engagement on the report of the Independent 

Housing Commission be noted, in particular the clear weight of opinion that: 
 

• Council housing should be for people for whom the private rented sector is 
unaffordable, who are in low paid work, beyond retirement age or unable to 
work (e.g. through illness or disability) and who have a local connection with 
the borough 

• The council should invest in its housing stock to provide good quality homes for 
all its tenants 

• The council should provide as many homes at genuinely affordable rents as 
possible and should look creatively at different options for financing and 
managing the delivery of new council homes 

• The council’s housing stock should be better managed and there is a significant 
appetite among council tenants and homeowners for more resident 
involvement in housing management, more tenant management initiatives and 
for exploring partnership working with other social housing providers, where 
this makes sense for a particular estate or locality. 

 
2. Cabinet notes the very high level of participation of tenants, homeowners and other 

residents in the community conversations about the future of housing and thanks 
them all for their thoughtful and constructive contributions. 

 
3. That the specific input of the Futures Steering Board of council tenant and 

homeowner representatives be noted and thanks them for their work. 
 
4. That the specific view expressed by Homeowners’ Council that there is now greater 

professionalism and focus to the council's work with homeowners but a need to 
continue to address the concerns of leaseholders and homeowners be noted. 

 
5. That the outcomes of the wider stakeholder engagement with other local authorities, 

housing associations and representatives of regional and national government 
commissioned from The Smith Institute be noted. 

 
6. That the detailed evaluation of the Independent Housing Commission’s findings 

commissioned from Savills, which comprises a high level financial and housing stock 
options appraisal, informed by the most recent stock condition survey, the council’s 
existing housing investment programme and relevant national policy developments 
(e.g. the Right to Buy scheme) be noted. 

 
 
 

6



4 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

7. That the council’s commitment to council housing as a community asset for the long 
term benefit of Southwark residents and to championing the mixed and diverse 
communities which make Southwark such a successful and liveable borough be 
restated. 

 
8. That any wholesale or large-scale transfer of its housing stock to another provider be 

ruled out. 
 
9. That amendments proposed to the council’s lettings policy, the report of which 

appears elsewhere on the agenda, including the proposal to extend the local 
residency qualification for joining the housing register from 6 months to 2 years be 
noted. 

 
10. That the strategic director of housing and community services 
 

• Bring back proposals to September cabinet on how to increase resident 
involvement in managing council housing and, in particular, how to encourage 
more tenant management organisations; 

• Bring back an action plan to September cabinet for the continued improvement 
of leasehold management services; 

• In consultation with the strategic director of finance and corporate services, 
undertake further detailed assessment of the financial performance of the 
council’s housing assets alongside an assessment of the extent to which they 
meet the council’s overall social housing objectives and develop long term 
plans for delivering the cabinet’s commitment to build ten thousand more 
council homes in the future. 

 
11. That in recognising the important role that other social housing providers and the 

private sector have in meeting the totality of housing needs in the borough, the 
director of corporate strategy be instructed to review the council’s housing strategy 
across all tenures and sectors, having regard to the detailed assessment of the 
council’s own stock referred to in 6 above. 

 

9. LETTINGS POLICY REVIEW  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the results of the lettings policy review consultation be noted. 
 
2. That the final recommendations of the lettings policy review be agreed with a view to 

implementing the amendments to the housing allocations policy as outlined in 
sections 20 to 123 of the report and with the timescale for implementation noted 
alongside each recommendation.  

 
3. That it be noted that the amended housing allocations policy will be brought back to 

the deputy leader of the council and cabinet member for housing management under 
individual decision making in October 2013. 

 

7



5 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

10. REPORT INTO MAJOR WORKS AT DRAPER HOUSE (HOUSING, ENVIRONMENT, 
TRANSPORT AND COMMUNITY SAFETY SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE)  

 

 The chair of overview and scrutiny committee, Councillor Catherine Bowman presented 
the report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the recommendations of the review of major works at Draper House be noted, 

and that the relevant cabinet members bring back a report to cabinet, in order to 
respond to the overview and scrutiny committee, within eight weeks. 

 
2. That cabinet review decision-making for the letting of contracts for housing works 

under the partnering arrangements and generally review the effectiveness of those 
arrangements. 

 

11. CULTURAL STRATEGY 2013-2018  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the cultural strategy and action plan for 2013-18 as set out in Appendix 1 of the 

report be approved. 
 
2. That officers bring a further report on progress with implementation within 18 months 

of the approval date of this report.  
 

12. GATEWAY 1: PROCUREMENT STRATEGY APPROVAL - SUPPLY OF ELECTRICITY 
TO QUARTERLY BILLED SITES  

 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the use of the Laser consortium arrangement for the purpose of purchasing the 

supply of electricity to quarterly billed sites for a period of two years and six months 
from 1 April 2014 to 30 September 2016, at an estimated cost of £4.37m per annum, 
totalling an estimated cost of £10.9m be approved. 

 
2. That authority be delegated to the strategic director of environment and leisure to 

award the contract and agree the purchasing options to be outlined in the gateway 2 
report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8



6 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

13. GATEWAY 1: PROCUREMENT STRATEGY APPROVAL - NURSING CARE DEMAND 
LED CONTRACTS  

 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the procurement strategy outlined in the report, namely to enter into single 

supplier negotiations with the two in-borough nursing care home providers in order 
to establish two demand led contracts for nursing care placement for the elderly and 
chronically disabled be approved. 

 
2. That it be noted that the anticipated contract value for the two contracts will be in the 

region of between £5.8m and £6.3m per annum, making an anticipated total contract 
value in the region of between £23.2 and £25.2m over the four years life time of the 
contracts. 

 
3. That it be noted that contract one will be with HC1, to cover two nursing home sites 

at Tower Bridge Road and Camberwell Green and contract two will be with Four 
Seasons, to cover a single site at Burgess Park nursing home. 

 

14. WALWORTH TOWN HALL - A STRATEGIC VISION FOR THE REBUILT TOWN HALL  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the high level vision for the Walworth Town Hall as set out in paragraph 14 of 

the report be approved.   
 
2. That officers agree a consultation plan with the cabinet member for regeneration and 

corporate strategy for a consultation process to establish whether there is support 
for the approved vision. 

 
3. That officers report back by February 2014 with the results of the consultation 

exercise and proposals for a full project mandate for the rebuilding of the Walworth 
Town Hall. The report to also address potential funding streams, interim 
arrangements for library and museum provision, revenue/capital cost implications 
and explore delivery options. 

 

15. DULWICH SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 

That the Dulwich Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix A of the report) be 
adopted and the sustainability appraisal (Appendix B of the report), the equalities 
analysis (Appendix C of the report) and the consultation report (Appendix D of the 
report) be noted. 

 
 
 

9



7 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

16. QUARTERLY CAPITAL MONITORING OUTTURN REPORT 2012/13  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the outturn position for 2012/13 for the general fund capital programme 

including the overall position of the programme for the period 2012/13 to 2021/22 as 
detailed in Appendix A and D of the report be noted. 

 
2. That the outturn position for 2012/13 for the housing investment programme, 

including the overall position of the programme for the period 2012/13 to 2015/16, as 
detailed in Appendix B of the report be noted. 

 
3. That the virements and funded variations to the general fund and housing 

investment capital programme as detailed in Appendix C of the report be approved. 
 
4. That the re-profiling of the expenditure and resources in the new financial year 

2013/14 in light of the 2012/13 outturn position for both the general fund and housing 
investment programmes as detailed in Appendix A, B and D of the report be 
approved and it be noted that further re-profiling will be required during 2013/14 
based on more up to date information available at that time. 

 

17. EAST DULWICH ESTATE - BADMINTON HOUSE OPTIONS APPRAISAL  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the consideration of the options for refurbishing and retaining Badminton House 

be noted. 
 
2. That the financial implications of the three options be noted. 
 
3. That the revised strategy of retention for Badminton House be approved and that 

option 2, to refurbish and relet with private sale of 2 x 2 beds and the drying room 
conversion, described in paragraph 14 of the report as the way forward for the block 
be agreed.  

 

18. 143 COPLESTON ROAD, EAST DULWICH SE15 4AQ - DISPOSAL OF FREEHOLD 
INTEREST  

 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the head of property be authorised to dispose of the council’s freehold interest 

in 143 Copleston Road, East Dulwich, SE15 (the “property”), for a sum that equates 
to the market value of the property.  

 
2. That the earmarking of the capital receipt for the purposes of funding the housing 

investment programme be authorised. 
 

10



8 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

19. DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY AT WOOD'S ROAD, LONDON SE15  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the disposal of the site at Wood’s Road Peckham as shown hatched black on 

the plan attached to the report (“the site”) to the bidder and on the terms identified on 
the closed agenda report, subject to any further negotiations considered necessary 
by the head of property be approved. 

 
2. That the disposal of the site to an alternative buyer on terms to be approved by the 

head of property at not less than the best consideration that can reasonably be 
obtained should the preferred disposal not proceed within a reasonable time be 
approved. 

 

20. DISPOSAL OF FORMER CAR POUND, MANDELA WAY, SE1  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That approval be given for the disposal of the 250 year leasehold interest in the car 

pound at Mandela Way, London SE1 (“the property”), as shown edged with the bold 
line on the plan attached to the report, to the purchaser identified and on terms set 
out in the accompanying closed agenda report, subject to any further negotiations 
considered necessary by the head of property be approved. 

 
2. That should the sale not proceed to completion within a reasonable time as 

determined by the head of property, the property be offered to an alternative bidder 
or subsequent to that be offered for sale on the open market and sold on terms to be 
approved by the head of property for a sum that represents best consideration.  

 

21. REVENUE OUTTURN REPORT 2012/13, INCLUDING TREASURY MANAGEMENT  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the general fund outturn for 2012/13 and movement on reserves be noted. 
 
2. That the housing revenue account’s (HRA) outturn for 2012/13 and movement on 

reserves be noted. 
 
3. That the general fund budget movements as set out in Appendix A of the report be 

approved. 
 
4. That the schools budget outturn, which has been taken to the dedicated schools 

grant reserve be noted.  
 
5. That the collection fund’s year-end surplus be noted. 
 
6. That the treasury management activity for the year be noted. 
 

11



9 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

22. REGENERATION RISK REGISTER AND ARCHIVE RECORDS OF HOUSING 
ESTATES  

 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That regeneration risk registers are not published online but that risk and risk 

management are considered as part of project communication plans to ensure that 
risk information is available online, and via other mediums, in order that stakeholders 
are aware of risks and the strategies to manage them. 

 
2. That it be noted that regeneration risk registers have been reviewed and amended 

as necessary in consideration of the concerns raised by overview and scrutiny 
committee in relation to National Planning Policy Framework and that the cabinet 
member for regeneration has been briefed directly on the implications of paragraph 
173 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
3. That the actions taken by housing and community services to date, and those 

planned, to improve the accessibility and completeness of building archive 
information and the potential need for investment to support this be noted. 

 

23. PRIMARY INVESTMENT STRATEGY  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the forecast demand for primary places and associated need for the creation of 

additional capacity within Southwark’s primary estate be noted.  
 
2. That approval of the proposed primary investment programme outlined in table 3 

and paragraphs 45 and 46 of the report be confirmed. 
 
3. That initial consultations on the statutory proposals to permanently enlarge the 

seven schools identified in paragraph 49 of the report be opened. 
 
4. That the approval of budgets for individual permanent expansion projects within the 

programme budgets identified within the report be delegated to the strategic director 
of children’s and adults’ services  

 
5. That the potential capital liabilities in future years and that ongoing engagement with 

the Department for Education will be required to ensure funding is sufficient to meet 
the requirement for new places be noted. 

 
6. That it be noted that the strategic director of children’s and adults’ services will 

approve a programme of temporary expansion for 2014/15 by autumn 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 

12



10 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

24. INVESTIGATION IN TO ASBESTOS INCIDENT, WESTONBIRT COURT  
 

 This item had not been circulated five clear days in advance of the meeting. The chair 
agreed to accept the item as urgent  as the interim contract for repairs and maintenance 
for the south of the borough expires on 2 October 2013. A decision to award a long term 
contract or to pursue an alternative option was required urgently in order to allow a smooth 
transition and continuity of service to tenants and residents. The decision to award the 
contract was deferred from 26 June cabinet in order to allow a full investigation in to the 
asbestos incident. A special cabinet meeting will be arranged for later in July to allow 
cabinet time to consider the findings of the investigation before considering a report on the 
long-term contract award.  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
Decisions of the Cabinet  
 
1. That the contents of the two investigation reports into the asbestos incident at 

Westonbirt Court included as appendices to the report be noted. 
 
2. That a further report be received at a special cabinet meeting regarding the award of 

the repairs and maintenance contract for the south of the borough. 
 
3. That officers' recommendations in the internal investigation report at Appendix 1 of 

the report be noted. 
 
Decision of the Leader of the Council 
 
4. That the monitoring of the implementation of the recommendations (referred to in 3 

above) be delegated to the deputy leader and cabinet member for housing 
management. 

 

 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 It was moved, seconded and 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
category 3 of paragraph 10.4 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of the 
Southwark Constitution. 
 
The following is a summary of the closed part of the meeting. 
 

25. MINUTES  
 

 The closed minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 2013 were approved as a correct 
record and signed by the chair.  
 

13



11 
 
 

Cabinet - Tuesday 16 July 2013 
 

26. DISPOSAL OF PROPERTY AT WOOD'S ROAD, LONDON SE15  
 

 The cabinet considered the closed information relating to this item. See item 19 for the 
decision.   
 

27. DISPOSAL OF FORMER CAR POUND, MANDELA WAY, SE1  
 

 The cabinet considered the closed information relating to this item. See item 20 for the 
decision.   
 
 

 The meeting ended at 6.18pm. 
 
 
 
 CHAIR:  
 
 
 DATED:  
 
 

 DEADLINE FOR NOTIFICATION OF CALL-IN UNDER SECTION 21 OF THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES IS MIDNIGHT, WEDNESDAY 24 
JULY 2013. 
 
THE ABOVE DECISIONS WILL NOT BE IMPLEMENTABLE UNTIL AFTER THAT 
DATE.  SHOULD A DECISION OF THE CABINET BE CALLED-IN FOR SCRUTINY, 
THEN THE RELEVANT DECISION WILL BE HELD IN ABEYANCE PENDING THE 
OUTCOME OF SCRUTINY CONSIDERATION. 
 

 
 

14



1 
 
 

Cabinet - Wednesday 31 July 2013 
 

 
 
 
 

Cabinet (Special) 
 
MINUTES of the OPEN section of the Cabinet held on Wednesday 31 July 2013 at 
4.00 pm at the Council Offices, 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH  
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Peter John (Chair) 

Councillor Ian Wingfield 
Councillor Fiona Colley 
Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle 
Councillor Richard Livingstone 
Councillor Catherine McDonald 
Councillor Victoria Mills 
Councillor Veronica Ward 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Barrie Hargrove.  
 

2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT  
 

 There were no late items. 
 
However, the chair gave notice of a late request received from UCATT to address the 
meeting in respect of item 5, Gateway 2: Contract Award Approval – Long Term Repairs 
and Maintenance Contract.   
 

3. NOTICE OF INTENTION TO CONDUCT BUSINESS IN A CLOSED MEETING, AND 
ANY REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED  

 

 No representations were received in respect of the item listed as closed business for the 
meeting.  
 

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS  
 

 There were no disclosures of interests or dispensations. 
 

15



2 
 
 

Cabinet - Wednesday 31 July 2013 
 

5. GATEWAY 2: CONTRACT AWARD APPROVAL - LONG-TERM REPAIRS AND 
MAINTENANCE CONTRACT  

 

 A representative of UCATT addressed the cabinet meeting to make their case for returning 
the repairs and maintenance contract back to the DLO (Direct Labour Organisation). 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

That the award of the repairs and maintenance contract covering Camberwell, 
Peckham, Peckham Rye, Nunhead and Dulwich (and borough wide temporary 
accommodation) to Mears Ltd for an annual value of up to £11m to commence from 
3 October 2013 for five years with the option to extend for a further period up to five 
years (three plus two years), subject to performance, making an estimated contract 
value of £110,000,000 be approved.  

 

 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

 It was moved, seconded and  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business 
on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
category 3 of paragraph 10.4 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules of the 
Southwark Constitution. 
 
The following is a summary of the closed part of the meeting.  
 

6. GATEWAY 2: CONTRACT AWARD APPROVAL - LONG-TERM REPAIRS AND 
MAINTENANCE CONTRACT  

 

 The cabinet considered the closed information relating to this item.  See item 5 for 
decision.  
 

 The meeting ended at 5.00pm. 
 
 
 CHAIR:  
 
 
 DATED:  
 
 

16



3 
 
 

Cabinet - Wednesday 31 July 2013 
 

 DEADLINE FOR NOTIFICATION OF CALL-IN UNDER SECTION 21 OF THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES IS MIDNIGHT, THURSDAY 8 
AUGUST 2013. 
 
THE ABOVE DECISIONS WILL NOT BE IMPLEMENTABLE UNTIL AFTER THAT 
DATE.  SHOULD A DECISION OF THE CABINET BE CALLED-IN FOR SCRUTINY, 
THEN THE RELEVANT DECISION WILL BE HELD IN ABEYANCE PENDING THE 
OUTCOME OF SCRUTINY CONSIDERATION. 
 

 
 

17



 
Item No.  

8. 
Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet  
 

Report title: 
 

Walworth Road Business Mix (Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee) 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: Newington 
 

From: 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the cabinet notes the recommendations of the review of the Walworth Road 

Business Mix, and that the relevant cabinet members bring back a report to 
cabinet, in order to respond to the overview & scrutiny committee, within eight 
weeks. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2. Attached is the final report of the overview & scrutiny committee arising from the 

scrutiny review of the Walworth Road Business Mix. 
 
3. The Walworth Society asked the committee to carry out a scrutiny review of the 

trading environment on the Walworth Road.  It suggested three possible 
dimensions to the review: 

 
- to assess the retail mix that exists on the street 

 
- to explore the powers available to the council to support this important high 

street 
 

- to consider the impact of the Elephant and Castle regeneration scheme on 
the Walworth Road retail environment. 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
4. The committee’s recommendations are listed below. 
 

1. Although recognising that the council’s powers are limited, the committee 
recommends that the cabinet’s general approach to preventing saturation 
by payday loan, pawn shops and betting shops on our high streets should 
be assertive and robust and as pro-active as the law allows.  Specifically, 
the committee recommends that: 

 
(i) Cabinet and planning committee explore the possibility of using Article 4 

Direction powers for Walworth Road. 
 

(ii) Cabinet asks officers to look at whether recent changes to national non 
domestic rates (NNDR) allow the council more powers which could be 
of use in influencing the balance of retail use along a high street. 

 

Agenda Item 8
18



(iii) Council uses the powers it has under Article 4 directions to ensure that 
properties in Class 2 business use have to go through the planning 
process in order to convert to payday loan, pawn and betting outlets. 

 
(iv) Cabinet engage with Central London Forward and Westminster City 

Council in order to explore  cross-London solutions to economic and 
planning problems affecting the high street, for example the use of 
London-only statutory powers. 

 
2. That cabinet seeks to actively encourage the creation of a credit union on 

the Walworth Road. 
 

3. That cabinet consider introducing a greater level of detail into the 
assessment of the existing retail mix as part of sustainability appraisals for 
new planning policy documents. 

 
4. That cabinet instructs officers to review the capacity of Walworth trade, 

cultural and business associations in order to ensure the maximisation of 
the local offer. 

 
5. That cabinet ensures that the council, in its capacity as landlord of a 

number of retail premises in the Walworth Road area, recognises the long 
term commercial advantages of a healthy retail environment and develops 
a lettings policy that positively promotes cultural, social and economic 
regeneration. 

 
6. That cabinet takes steps to identify opportunities for introducing new 

community facilities into the Walworth Road area, for example a health 
centre and facilities for youth provision. 

 
7. That cabinet considers commissioning external research into: 

 
(i) The impact of payday loan, pawn and betting shops on the well-being of 

the locale. 
 

(ii) The medium and longer term business development in the Walworth 
Road. 

 
The results to be available to the Walworth Town Team and the Economic 
Development Team, in order to develop a more comprehensive "view of the 
whole". 

 
8. That the cabinet member for finance, resources and community safety 

monitors reports from local police and Southwark anti-social behaviour unit 
(SASBU) to see whether evidence of anti-social behaviour emerges in 
relation to betting shops, gambling arcades and fast food outlets on the 
Walworth Road. 

 
9. That a meeting be arranged between the chair and vice-chair of the 

overview & scrutiny committee, the chair of the Walworth Society, the chair 
of planning committee and the cabinet member for regeneration and 
corporate strategy in order to discuss ways in which the development of the 
Elephant & Castle can best enhance the retail offer on the Walworth Road 
and improve what needs improving without damaging what is currently 
good about the area. 

19



 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
Agenda 8 July 2013 

Scrutiny Team 
160 Tooley Street 
London SE1 2QH 

Peter Roberts 
020 7525 4350 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix A Report of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Lead Officer Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny  
Report Author Peter Roberts, Scrutiny Project Manager  

Version Final 
Dated 3 September 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 

Director of Legal Services N/a N/a 
Strategic Director of 
Finance and 
Corporate Services 

N/a N/a 

Chief Officers N/a N/a 
Cabinet Member  N/a N/a 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 3 September 2013 
 
 

20



APPENDIX A 

 

Walworth Road Business Mix 
 

 

 

 

 

Report of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

 

 

 

July 2013 

 

 

 

 

21



Introduction 
 
1. The Walworth Society asked the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to carry out a 

scrutiny review of the trading environment on the Walworth Road.  It suggested 
three possible dimensions to the review: 

 
- to assess the retail mix that exists on the street 

 
- to explore the powers available to the council to support this important high 

street 
 

- to consider the impact of the Elephant and Castle regeneration scheme on 
the Walworth Road retail environment 

 
 
Scrutiny review 
 
2. At its meetings the committee considered contributions from: 
 

- Jeremy Leach, Chair Walworth Society 
 

- Patrick Blunt, Business Extra 
 

- Tim Cutts, Team Leader Planning Policy, and Barbara-Ann Overwater, Senior 
Planning Policy Officer 

 
- Suzanne Hall, London School of Economics, Cities Unit 

 
- Liz Peace, British Property Federation 

 
- Elizabeth Cox, New Economics Foundation 

 
3. Jeremy Leach was co-opted onto the committee for the duration of the review. 
 
4. The committee also received briefing notes on: 
 

- Core Strategy, Southwark Plan and planning 
 

- Proposals under Sustainable Communities Act 
 

- Saturation Policy in respect of licensed betting shops 
 

- CAB payday loans case studies 
 

- Questions raised including in respect of planning and betting shops 
 

22



 
The Walworth Road 
 
5. Walworth has a very high density of population.  Consequently, although there is 

a low level of individual disposable income, the annual retail turnover of the 
Walworth Road is similar to Hampstead High Street which is much wealthier but 
of a lower population density.  The area is tremendously diverse and includes not 
just the Walworth Road itself but extends to East Street, Pullens Yard and other 
shopping areas.  The committee is interested in determining how shoppers can 
be drawn in to spending their money on the Walworth Road and surrounding 
areas and what may work against people coming into the area. 

 
6. Jeremy Leach and the Walworth Society suggested that the catchment area of 

the Walworth Road is increasingly one where journeys to the shops are made on 
foot.  The vast majority of Walworth households do not have access to a car 
(figures derived from 2001 and 2011 censuses).  The option of driving to shops is 
therefore not available. 

 
7. Suzanne Hall confirmed that East Street is the best location economically, 

followed by Elephant and Castle around the London College of Communication, 
South Bank University and the library.  The Heygate Estate formed a physical 
barrier with economic activity dissipating towards the South of Walworth Road. 

 
8. Shopkeepers are from around the globe with many traders having been in the 

area for a long time; 32% for twenty years or longer and a quarter of these for 
fifty years or more.  Long term proprietors often own both the shop and the living 
accommodation above.  New retailers tend to want smaller properties.  In 
Suzanne Hall’s view, the diversity and the number of small outlets can improve 
the resiliency of an area. 

 
9. Patrick Blunt reported that Business Extra regularly counts footfall along the 

Walworth Road, which is highest around Morrisons supermarket and lowest 
around the Jamaican bakery.  In October of last year there were some one 
hundred and eighty business premises along the Walworth Road, including 
offices, with a relatively low vacancy rate.  Recently, sales had started to fall off. 

 
10. In Patrick Blunt’s view, the local business association is not well attended, 

perhaps because many business owners no longer live locally and partly 
because rateable values are not high enough to support a business improvement 
district. 

 
 
Regeneration 
 
11. The committee is well aware that the regeneration of the Heygate and Aylesbury 

estates and the Elephant and Castle will dramatically change the local population 

23



in as little as two years.  It is important to try to understand the impact of 
regeneration which initially will mean a loss of shoppers, for instance from the 
Heygate Estate, but which ultimately will lead to a higher population and a growth 
in demand. 

 
12. Some members are concerned as to whether the regeneration of the Elephant 

and Castle shopping centre is a threat or an opportunity.  Jeremy Leach believes 
that it could provide an opportunity but that the Walworth Road needs to attract 
people from the Elephant and Castle.  He also pointed out that the developer 
Lend Lease is planning an independent shopping street to the East of Walworth 
Road, which will have an additional impact.  Patrick Blunt emphasised the key 
role of East Street in attracting shoppers to the area. 

 
13. There are mixed feelings on the committee about pop-up shops.  Some members 

question the impact on the appearance of an area but others recognise the 
opportunities that these provide for new businesses to start up.  Liz Peace 
agreed that these could be useful initiatives and a good way for people to try out 
a business.  Patrick Blunt put forward the view that there was little confidence in 
starting up more traditional businesses and that this was not helped by the 
increase in business rates on the Walworth Road, higher energy costs and rent 
increases. 

 
 
Gaming, betting and pay-day loan shops 
 
14. Members of the committee have concerns about the number of gaming and 

betting shops on the Walworth Road.  Some members feel that a lot of street 
drinking takes place outside gaming shops but describe difficulties in objecting to 
planning applications for such businesses on this basis.  They wondered whether 
boroughs such as Newham and Hackney take a different approach to Southwark 
in this area and whether there is best practice that Southwark could adopt.  
Jeremy Leach reminded the committee that the Southwark Youth Council has 
raised its own concerns about anti-social behaviour in the vicinity of these shops. 

 
15. The initial submission from the Walworth Society suggested that the Walworth 

Road was, “saturated by units devoted to betting/gambling, high interest/pay-day 
loans and pawnbrokers.  Out of the total of 172 retail units along the Walworth 
Road (between the railway line by the Elephant and Castle and John Ruskin 
Street), 9 are devoted to betting/gaming, 5 are high interest/pay-day loans and 4 
pawnbrokers”.  The society cited a number of effects of this; “..they take money 
from the local economy, they offer a very poor image of the high street and they 
skew the mix of shops away from one that meets the needs of local people”.  A 
representative of the society who attended one of the committee’s meetings 
stressed that gaming and betting shops do not go out of business in the same 
way as other local shops and therefore have a long-term impact on an area. 

 

24



16. Patrick Blunt questioned whether a concentration of betting shops in the middle 
of the Walworth Road might lead to a fall in the general quality of shopping.  
Suzanne Hall added that too many large retail chains could create a tipping point 
in terms of other shops on offer and that perhaps the same was true of betting 
shops. 

 
17. A member felt that it would be useful to understand the local spend as clearly as 

possible and wondered whether betting shops were sucking huge amounts out of 
the local economy.  He wondered whether business rate relief could be linked to 
businesses that were working hardest for the area.  Elizabeth Cox commented 
that the council’s approach to well-being could perhaps provide a context to 
decisions around rate relief. 

 
18. The committee received a submission from the Citizens Advice Bureau giving a 

small sample of the “numerous people” who have sought CAB’s advice on loans 
taken out through pay-day loan shops in Southwark or on-line.  The committee 
noted the difficulties that people encountered in clearing these debts and the high 
interest rates of loans.  In terms of the proliferation of pay-day loan shops, the 
Walworth Society suggested that a positive move could be to give a shop-front to 
a credit union. 

 
 
Planning 
 
19. At its first meeting the committee received an officer briefing setting out an 

overview of the planning policy framework.  The briefing also clarified the position 
of betting shops in terms of permitted planning use.  Betting shops are in the 
same use class (A2 Financial Services) as banks and building societies.  The 
lack of distinction has the potential to weaken the shopping function of centres 
and reduce the council’s ability to effectively balance land uses and provide for 
an appropriate level of diversification.  Officers explained that Southwark had 
lobbied the government to re-classify betting shops as sui-generis use which 
would require planning permission. 

 
20. The committee wondered if it would be a positive move to support Hackney’s 

proposal for betting shops to have a separate use class.  As described in a 
briefing note from Local Works (part of Unlock Democracy), “the specific action 
Hackney is looking for from government under the Sustainable Communities Act 
is for betting shops to have a separate and specific user class, thereby ensuring 
that every planning application will be subject to the local authority’s individual 
planning policy and as such allow local circumstances (if applicable) to be 
catered for”.  A further briefing note from officers set out action being taken by 
other local authorities, including Lewisham, Barking & Dagenham, Lambeth, 
Haringey, Newham and Hackney. 

 

25



21. The committee also wondered if making an Article 4 Planning Direction would be 
a practical option.  This would enable the authority to restrict permitted 
development rights in its area, part of its area or in respect of a particular 
development.  Officers explained that a direction would have to apply to all uses 
within the A2 use class.  A planning application would be determined against 
relevant policies in the Local Plan.  Once planning permission was granted for A2 
use it would not control changes of use to another A2 use such as a betting 
shop.  However the council would be able to condition planning permissions for 
new A2 use to prevent this where it could be justified.  This would require robust 
evidence to avoid being construed as unreasonable.  Officers also clarified the 
resource implications of an Article 4 Direction, including consultation 
requirements and compensation and suggested that it might be more helpful for 
betting shops to be allocated their own use class. 

 
22. A member of the committee put forward the idea that it might be possible to 

introduce a hierarchy of preferred uses if retail was not possible, for instance to 
say that if A1 was not possible then the next preferences would be for A3, de-use 
and only then A2. 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
23. While there are many things about the Walworth Road that are good and highly 

valued, the committee heard evidence from residents of the borough who are 
sick and tired of our high streets being taken over by businesses which contribute 
nothing to the cultural and economic well-being of an area and which appear to 
target vulnerable communities. 

 
1. Although recognising that the council’s powers are limited, the committee 

recommends that the Cabinet’s general approach to preventing saturation 
by payday loan, pawn shops and betting shops on our high streets should 
be assertive and robust and as pro-active as the law allows.  Specifically, 
the committee recommends that: 

 
(i) Cabinet and Planning Committee explore the possibility of using 

Article 4 Direction powers for Walworth Road. 
 

(ii) Cabinet asks officers to look at whether recent changes to National 
Non Domestic Rates (NNDR) allow the council more powers which 
could be of use in influencing the balance of retail use along a high 
street. 

 

26



(iii) Council uses the powers it has under Article 4 directions to ensure 
that properties in Class 2 business use have to go through the 
planning process in order to convert to payday loan, pawn and 
betting outlets. 

 
(iv) Cabinet engage with Central London Forward and Westminster City 

Council in order to explore  cross-London solutions to economic 
and planning problems affecting the high street, for example the 
use of London-only statutory powers. 

 
2. That Cabinet seeks to actively encourage the creation of a credit union on 

the Walworth Road. 
 

3. That Cabinet consider introducing a greater level of detail into the 
assessment of the existing retail mix as part of sustainability appraisals for 
new planning policy documents. 

 
4. That Cabinet instructs officers to review the capacity of Walworth trade, 

cultural and business associations in order to ensure the maximisation of 
the local offer. 

 
5. That Cabinet ensures that the council, in its capacity as landlord of a 

number of retail premises in the Walworth Road area, recognises the long 
term commercial advantages of a healthy retail environment and develops 
a lettings policy that positively promotes cultural, social and economic 
regeneration. 

 
6. That Cabinet takes steps to identify opportunities for introducing new 

community facilities into the Walworth Road area, for example a health 
centre and facilities for youth provision. 

 
7. That Cabinet considers commissioning external research into: 

 
(i) The impact of payday loan, pawn and betting shops on the well-

being of the locale. 
 

(ii) The medium and longer term business development in the 
Walworth Road. 

 

27



The results to be available to the Walworth Town Team and the Economic 
Development Team, in order to develop a more comprehensive "view of 
the whole". 

 
8. That the Cabinet Member for Finance, Resources and Community Safety 

monitors reports from local police and Southwark Anti-Social Behaviour 
Unit (SASBU) to see whether evidence of anti-social behaviour emerges 
in relation to betting shops, gambling arcades and fast food outlets on the 
Walworth Road. 

 
9. That a meeting be arranged between the Chair and Vice-Chair of the 

Overview & Scrutiny Committee, the Chair of the Walworth Society, the 
Chair of Planning Committee and the Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Corporate Strategy in order to discuss ways in which the development 
of the Elephant & Castle can best enhance the retail offer on the Walworth 
Road and improve what needs improving without damaging what is 
currently good about the area. 

28



 

 
 
 

1 

  

 
Item No. 

9. 
 

Classification 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet  
 

Report title: 
 
 

Centre of Excellence for Older Adults with Dementia 
and Complex Needs  
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

All wards 
Older People, Carers 

Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Catherine McDonald, Health, Adult Social 
Care and Equalities 
 

 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR CATHERINE MCDONALD, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND EQUALITIES 

 
I am delighted to set out our plans for a new centre of excellence for older people that 
will provide world-class services for older residents with dementia and other complex 
needs. This helps achieve our 'Fairer Future for All' commitment to support the most 
vulnerable people in Southwark. We propose to locate the centre at Cator Street. This 
will be an exciting and innovative centre and provide top quality, cutting-edge services 
for older people living with dementia and other complex needs, as well as providing 
better support for their carers.  I am particularly pleased to report to cabinet the 
outcome of the very successful engagement exercise on the further feasibility of Cator 
Street with a design group made up of the families of people using the council’s two 
existing day centres, staff, older people’s groups in Southwark and specialist agencies 
such as the Alzheimer’s Society and South London and Maudsley NHS. This valued 
engagement has helped to inform my decision to agree to the suitability of the site and 
location (taken through delegated authority). 
 
The cabinet in December 2012 agreed the Future Vision for a Centre of Excellence 
and compared the three possible sites, concluding that Cator Street was the preferred 
site. Since that time the council’s architects has worked with the design group on 
drawing up plans for the building and considering the suitability of the location. This 
engagement has ensured that the centre will be non institutional in feel and place the 
council in the best position to respond to the challenges of a rise in the number of 
people living with dementia. It will also help us to support older people’s aspiration to 
continue to live in the community and avoid institutional residential care for as long as 
possible. Among the recommendations of the design group included in these plans are 
a sensory garden space, a covered external walkway and safe internal space for 
people to wander without risk of harm, the opportunity for freshly cooked hot meals on 
site and scope for integrated working on the site with both NHS and community sector 
partners.  
 
We will continue to work with the design group on developing the new service model 
for when the centre opens, to ensure that this really is a beacon of best practice that 
Southwark and its older population can be proud of. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
1. The cabinet notes the very positive response and engagement from the family 

carers, stakeholders and staff to the plans for the proposed Centre of Excellence 

Agenda Item 9
29



 

 
 
 

2 

  

for older people living with dementia and complex needs to be on the ground 
floor of Cator Street Resource Centre. 

 
2. The cabinet also notes the decision taken by the cabinet member for health, 

adult social care and equalities to recognise the outcome of this further feasibility 
work which concluded that the site and location of Cator Street was a suitable 
location for the Centre of Excellence, and her subsequent approval of the 
preferred location for the development of the Centre of Excellence.   

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  

 
3. The council currently provides and manages two day centres for older people. 

The delivery of the service is part of the council’s wider strategy to support older 
people’s aspiration to continue to live at home wherever possible and avoid 
admission to residential care, in line with what people tell use they want, as well 
as supporting carers to enable them to continue in their caring role. These sites 
are at Fred Francis in East Dulwich and Southwark Park Road in Bermondsey. 
The council has also continues to support  a range of day services operating 
throughout the borough for older people with eligible but usually less complex 
needs, run by  a number of different voluntary organisations.  

 
4. Fred Francis is currently open 7 days per week and 28 service users attend each 

day on average from Monday to Friday, with on average 17 attendees each 
weekend day. Southwark Park Road is open Monday to Friday and on average 
19 people attend daily.  

 
5. 70% of the users are aged over 80, with 23% being over 90, are extremely frail, 

and almost all of whom are living with some form of dementia. There are also a 
small cohort group of users who have long term mental health issues as well as 
some degree of dementia. 

 
6. Currently the hours of attendance are fixed and determined by rosta patterns 

and transport arrangements. Both services operate from mid morning to mid 
afternoon, with service users being collected via mini buses from their own 
homes.  Lunches are heated and provided at both centres by an external 
contractor as part of the council’s meals on wheels contract, and a full range of 
activities take place throughout the week.  

 
7. Informed by the needs of people living with dementia from valued partners such 

as the Alzheimer’s Society, the council undertook a comprehensive consultation 
exercise in the summer of 2012 on a Future Vision for a Centre of Excellence. 
The vision proposed to relocate the two existing in-house day centres and 
provide an enhanced set of services following the development and opening of a 
new, state of the art centre. This would provide excellent specialist day 
opportunities for older people living with dementia and more   support for their 
carers. The two current day centres were built in the 1980s and were not 
designed to cater for the specific needs of people with dementia. 

 
The Future Vision was developed in response to: 

 
§ The increasing number of older people living with dementia 
§ The council’s commitment to  high quality personalised care 
§ Older people’s aspirations to continue to live in the community 
§ The need to improve support to carers 

30



 

 
 
 

3 

  

 
8. Concurrent to this consultation, the council carried out initial feasibility studies to 

explore where best to locate the Centre of Excellence. The feasibility studies 
considered the two existing day centres and a third location at Cator Street.  The 
feasibility studies concluded that Cator Street provided sufficient space and a 
building flexible enough to host a wider range of services and the best potential 
to cater for the anticipated number of service users and carers.  It also noted that 
the central location of Cator Street would mean good transport accessibility for 
all residents irrespective of where they lived in the borough.  

 
9. The costs of developing the existing two day centre sites were estimated to be 

approximately double the cost of developing the ground floor of Cator Street. 
Southwark Park Road was considered to be far too small and Fred Francis was 
not large enough to provide a centre on one level or provide any significant 
outdoor space. The revenue costs of staffing a two storey centre would be 
significantly higher than the cost of staffing a centre on one level. The initial 
feasibility studies concluded that Cator Street provided best value for money. 
The feasibility studies also noted that unlike Cator Street, neither of the current 
sites is centrally located. 

 
10. Cator Street is a 3 storey building and the plans to incorporate the Centre of 

Excellence will allow the continuing use of the building by education colleagues 
and include provision of training rooms on the upper floors. These facilities could 
be used for carer groups facilitated by SLAM and the voluntary sector, thus 
expanding the offer. Carers were very positive about the potential to develop 
better carer support services within the building.  

 
11. Following the successful outcome of this consultation exercise, the cabinet 

agreed The Future Vision for a Centre of Excellence in December 2012.  It 
required as part of second stage feasibility, further engagement with the families 
and external stakeholders on the development of more detailed plans,   before a 
final decision was made on whether Cator Street was the most suitable building 
and location.  Cabinet delegated this final decision on the suitability of this site to 
the cabinet member for health, adult social care and equalities, whilst also 
requesting a report to cabinet for information. 

 
12. Since the December cabinet the council established a design consultation group. 

This group has been actively engaged in the development of these plans and will 
continue to work with the council on the further design of the building, as well as 
the future service model and the mobilisation arrangements to open the new 
centre. The design consultation group membership includes :   

 
§ Family members from both Southwark Park Road and Fred Francis day 

centres 
§ Voluntary sector partner organisations  

o Alzheimer’s Society  
o Age UK, 
o Southwark Pensioner’s Centre  

§ Older people representatives from the following groups: 
o The Pensioner’s Forum / Southwark Pensioner’s Action Group,  
o Southwark Lay Inspectors Service   
o The (former) Local Involvement Network1 

                                                 
1 Now known as Health watch  

31



 

 
 
 

4 

  

§ NHS partners from  
o The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)  
o South London and Maudsley NHS Trust (SLaM) Older Adults 

Services 
§ Service Manager, manager and staff representatives from both Fred Francis 

and Southwark Park Road. 
§ Other council staff  

o Occupational Therapists  
o Manager of the Southwark Resource Centre 
o Regeneration 

§ Ongoing engagement with the Older People Partnership Board  
 
13. The council noted that in recognition of the time pressure and health constraints 

of many of the family carers, membership of this group was by necessity fluid, 
with engagement taking part both within the context of formal meetings as well 
as through one to one discussions either in person or by the telephone. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
The Centre of Excellence  
 
14. The council wishes to reiterate its prior commitment that anyone using the 

current services when the Centre of Excellence opens will be guaranteed a place 
at the new centre and that door to door transport will continue to be provided. 
The December cabinet made a commitment that it would minimise any disruption 
for service users and their families during the transition to the new centre and 
that families, stakeholders and staff would be fully engaged through all stages of 
the development of the new centre.  The move to Cator Street can also be 
accommodated without a break in service. 

 
15. The Centre of Excellence will host a range of specialist therapeutic activities,  

such as:   
 

• Occupational Therapist and therapeutic rehabilitation exercise and classes  
• Flexible multi purpose activity space including a sensory room2. 
• A range of activities such as therapeutic art classes 
• Co-locate and host services provided by partner organisation (ie health 

clinics, such as chiropody etc. 
• Continue to provide accessible transport for those who require it, funded 

through their allocated personal budgets  
• User wellbeing activities such as hair dressing, music, art, etc  
• Meals and dietary advice and support 
• Carer respite, support and information. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                 
2 Memory rooms are fitted out in a way so as to provide visual and aural stimulation to help manage issues such as 
forgetfulness.  Sensory rooms host various aids to stimulate the 5 senses, which has proven to be effective in helping 
people with dementia to become less restless, agitated and improve sleep patterns.  

32



 

 
 
 

5 

  

 
A comparison with existing provision is given below. 
 
 
Services Proposed for the 

Centre 
of Excellence 

At 
Fred 

Francis 

At 
Southwark Park  

Rd 

Therapeutic sessions in specialist 
rooms 

� � � 

Home like décor  as opposed to a 
More  institutional  

� � � 

Sensory rooms � � � 
Potential for fresh food cooked 
daily on site and provision for 
breakfast and later meals   

� � � 

An opportunity to work in close 
partnership and offer a more 
holistic service in partnership with 
a specialist housing scheme next 
door.  

� � � 

Locally controlled heating and 
cooling  

� � � 

The potential for hot desk office 
space for visiting NHS or voluntary 
sector partners  

� � � 

Capacity for up to seven activities 
to be provided in separate rooms 
at one time   

� � � 

Designated planned space for 
chiropody and health clinics on 
site.  

� � � 

Access to carers  training and 
support facilities on  the site  

� � � 

Evening  and earlier opening � � � 
7 day a week access � � � 
Free transport provided for people 
with personal budgets 

� � � 

Specifically designed hairdressing 
facilities on site 

� � � 

Activities such as art and music 
classes  

� � � 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 

 
 
 

6 

  

 
16. The indicative timeline for the development and opening of the centre is set out 

below  
 

High Level Milestones 
 

Date  Action 
August 2013  Decision on the suitability of Cator Street by the Cabinet 

Member for Health, Adult Social Care and Equalities 
September 2013 Cabinet report - for information 
September to 
December 2013  

Continued engagement on developing the model of care and 
further development of the approved plans with stakeholders  
and staff  

September  - 
December   2013   

Continued engagement on developing the model of care and 
provision of a reference group for the architects with families, 
stakeholders and staff 

September 
December 2014 

Procurement of builders for the Centre of Excellence and the 
Extra-care housing scheme to be built adjacent to the centre on 
the Cator Street site. 

February 2014 Cator Street site decanted  
March 2014   Start of works at the Cator Street site  
April 2014  Agreement of the new service model and offer  
May 2014-May 2015  Mobilisation and transition to new service model and offer 
May 2015 Completion of works and centre and the new extra-care 

scheme for older people next door opens 
 

17. A summary of the reasons why the council is proposing Cator Street are listed 
below.  

 
Positive response to the developed plans obtained through engagement.  

 
18. Following the cabinet decision, the council procured a firm of architects to carry 

out a second stage feasibility study to develop the proposal in more detail. Since 
their appointment in March  2013, they have been working with a design 
consultation group (fuller details of the outcomes of this engagement is outlined 
in the consultation section of this report below)  

 
19. The design consultation group has had an overwhelmingly positive response to 

the proposed plans for Cator Street and their advice and comments based on 
their expertise and experience has informed the plans. They have for example 
influenced the proposed internal layout, the planning of the garden, the number 
and location of WCs, the kitchen and dining arrangements, the scope for the 
range of activities etc.  Further details of the consultation exercise and further 
details of how the design consultation group has shaped the plans are 
summarised in the consultation section of this report.  

 
Responding to Future Demand  
 
20. The council is proposing to develop the centre to respond to the challenges of a 

significant projected increase in the numbers of older people living with dementia 
in Southwark, with the levels of prevalence increasing amongst the very oldest 
sections of the population. The rise is amongst both people living with early 
onset dementia, right up to those who have a chronic and in some cases 
terminal conditions. There is a small number of working age adults who are living 

34



 

 
 
 

7 

  

with dementia. This group will not be excluded from the new centre, and their 
specific requirements will be further explored as the new service model is further 
developed.   

  
21. Cator Street can accommodate up to 60 service users at one time, which is more 

than the current combined number of people using the two existing buildings on 
a single day. Cator Street has scope to increase the number of people who can 
attend each day, in a building that also has more potential to provide a wider 
range of support and information to them and their carers than at either of the 
current sites. Cator Street is also better suited to accommodate a new and 
expanded service model. For example, earlier and/or later opening hours for 
people with personal budgets or their carers to buy more flexible hours of 
attendance or respite, distinct groups (such as people who have a higher level of 
mental capacity) or carers using part of the building for a specific activity such as 
a support group, an Alzheimer’s Society “Living with dementia” course etc. This 
means that the wider community of people living with or affected by dementia 
could use the resources on offer at the building and attendance may not be as 
constrained as it is currently by a relatively small cohort of people living with 
dementia determined by staff the rosta and transport patterns.  This means that 
there would subsequently be scope for far more than 60 people to use the centre 
over the course of each day. 

 
22. The vision for the new centre has been a catalyst for constructive dialogue within 

the health and social care sectors in Southwark about how best to respond to the 
challenge of dementia and the growing numbers of older people living with the 
condition. Key partners across health and social care within the Southwark and 
Lambeth Integrated Care (SLIC) are fully engaged on discussions on the model 
of care and are considering how best to provide more integrated services at the 
proposed Centre of Excellence  in order to reach as many people as possible.   

 
23. As part of its commitment to meet older people’s aspirations to avoid residential 

care unless absolutely necessary, the council is also proposing to develop an 
extra care housing scheme on an adjacent site at Cator Street. This scheme will 
be providing an intensively supportive housing service for very frail older people, 
many of whom will have dementia. It is envisaged that both of the planned 
developments would make a very real contribution towards supporting people 
living with dementia to remain in their own homes in the community. Therefore 
this will provide a very real community based alternative for many older people to 
residential care.  This subsequently will make a significant contribution to the 
council’s Fairer Future commitment to protect the most vulnerable 

 
The Importance of the designed environment for people living with dementia  
 
24. There is extensive academic research from institutions such as The Kings Fund 

and Sterling University3 that the designed environment can have a significantly 
positive impact upon the care and support of people living with dementia. These 
academic institutes as well as the Department of Health have been providing 
guidance in relation to best practice principles to the design and layout of 
environments for people living with the condition. Both the Centre of Excellence  
and the extra-care scheme will be designed specifically for the needs of people 
living with dementia  and will assist the borough in being more dementia friendly 

                                                 
3 http://www.kingsfund.org.uk/projects/enhancing-healing-environment/ehe-design-dementia  
and other institutions such as Stirling University http://dementia.stir.ac.uk/ 

35



 

 
 
 

8 

  

 
25. This guidance has been applied to the plans for Cator Street, and concluded that 

the building provides an excellent setting within which to incorporate very best 
practice dementia design principles. The literature research also found that there 
are few examples where dementia design has been fully incorporated within a 
day centre setting. There is therefore an opportunity for the council to develop a 
cutting edge specialist dementia aware designed facility   that is likely to attract 
interest from other local authorities, health and other parties working within the 
field of dementia.   

 
26. The council has already sought the views of the Kings Fund on the proposal, and 

if the decision is made to locate at Cator Street, Stirling University will be 
commissioned to provide additional input on the development of the final detailed 
plans. This specialist external input will consolidate that already obtained locally 
from the Alzheimer’s Society/ SLaM, family, staff and other valued partners. 

 
The location of Cator Street  
 
27. The engagement also included an ongoing dialogue and assessment as to the 

suitability of the location at Cator Street. Meetings of the Design Consultation 
Group were held at Cator Street, allowing the members to favorably familiarise 
themselves, not just with the building, but also the general locality.  

 
28. Unlike either of the current buildings, Cator Street is situated in the centre of the 

borough, which means that it is better placed to accommodate service users 
from the whole of Southwark. The council will continue to ensure door to door 
transport for service users those who need it, but the more central location will 
mean that there is potential to provide transport in a way that is more flexible and 
personalised. The council also notes that there are regular bus stops near by to 
allow carers and staff to easily attend the centre 

 
29. Locating the Centre of Excellence at Cator Street also provides additional 

opportunities for it to work in partnership with the planned extra care 
development next door. For example one of the main aspirations identified 
through the prior consultation and from the subsequent engagement with the 
design consultation group and service users was for the Centre of Excellence to 
cook freshly prepared food on site. It is thought that the kitchen at the proposed 
centre would provide an excellent opportunity for a local small business or social 
enterprise, to run a financially viable business providing hot healthy meals to 
both the extra care scheme and the Centre of Excellence.  

 
30. Factors in relation to public transport to Cator Street were also considered with 

the Design Consultation Group and are explored in more detail under the 
community impact section below. However in the round, the engagement 
concluded that the overall benefits offered by the location of the service at Cator 
Street  and council’s ongoing commitment to ensure that there would be 
transport available, and the regularity of local bus services available for carers 
and staff outstripped any issues raised in relation to current public transport 
arrangements to Cator Street. 

 
Details of the works  
 
31. The council also notes that the works to remodel the ground floor will be 

extensive and lead to the loss of the existing training/meeting spaces and 

36



 

 
 
 

9 

  

professional development accommodation which is used by teachers for 
teacher-training.  It is therefore proposed to alter the current layout of the first 
floor in order to provide spaces for the identified training and meeting 
accommodation that had previously run on the ground floor.  The second (top 
floor) will remain a flexible office space as it is now. 

 
32. Entrances to the Centre of Excellence and the upper floors of the building will be 

totally separate with appropriate security controls in place.  It is proposed to 
enlarge the existing first-floor reception to include a bigger desk for the 
management of large numbers coming to the large events on the first floor, and 
a waiting area.  Otherwise all other workplaces are assumed to be in the open 
plan workplaces on the second floor. 

 
33. Whilst the major refurbishment work takes place, the opportunity will also be 

taken to improve the fabric of the building in order to extend its current life. This 
will include roof renewal works, glazing replacement and works to the building 
services including possible lift replacement. 

 
Policy implications 
 
34. This decision will help deliver key pledges in the Southwark Council Plan “A 

Fairer Future for All, including; “The council will create a fairer future for all in 
Southwark by: protecting the most vulnerable; looking after every penny as if it 
was our own; working with local people, communities and businesses to 
innovate, improve and transform public services; and standing up for everyone’s 
rights”.4 

 
35. The Council Plan also contains 11 key targets for adult care in support of this 

pledge, and this decision will assist the delivery of  the transformation of day 
services to allow a more personalised and outcome focused approach   

 
36. The Centre of Excellence is also shaped by the Future Vision for Social Care 

agreed by the cabinet in April 2011 and the subsequent adult social care 
business plan 2013-14.  Both place a high emphasis upon the modernisation of 
day opportunities and the important part this plays in meeting the aspiration of 
older people to live as independent and fulfilling lives as possible within the 
community, and supporting older people’s aspirations to wherever possible avoid 
unnecessary admission to care homes or other institutional settings.  

 
37. The Centre of Excellence will assist in the promotion of good physical and mental 

health and well being for its users and their carers, which will support Priority 3 of 
the health and well being board: Improving the experience and outcomes for our 
most vulnerable residents and enabling them to live more independent lives  

 
38. The National Dementia Strategy as updated in 2011, and the local delivery plan 

drawn up in partnership with the local NHS, places a great deal of emphasis on 
adopting a holistic approach to the care of older adults with dementia.  This will 
be core feature of the proposed Centre of Excellence.  The council has also 
recently become a signatory of the Dementia Challenge Compact5, which sets 
out an organisation’s commitment to supporting the local delivery of the National 
Dementia Strategy. 

                                                 
4 Southwark Council Plan 2011-14) 
5 http://www.ecca.org.uk/article/prime-ministers-challenge-on-dementia-list-of-signatories/ 

37



 

 
 
 

10 

  

 
39. The council also formally agreed by individual decision making powers in May 

2012, to participate in the Southwark and Lambeth Integrated Care Programme 
(SLIC) which has an objective to transform care services for older people across 
Southwark and Lambeth.  This programme has a large number of work streams 
and objectives aimed at reducing unnecessary hospital and residential care 
admissions across the two boroughs.  One of these is to improve the quality of 
integrated care and support in the community for older people living with 
dementia.  The SLIC work stream on dementia, comprising key senior partners 
across health, SLAM, social care and the voluntary sector has recently started 
work and the vision for the proposed Centre of Excellence has been endorsed by 
this group.  A number of these groups are also part of the design consultation 
group and the SLIC dementia work stream leads will be further involved in the 
development of the service model and there are new opportunities for effective 
joint working with our key partners in relation to improving the dementia care 
pathway and the role of day services in this. 

 
Community impact statement 
 
40. The decision taken by the December cabinet to endorse the vision for the Centre 

of Excellence, were subject to a full community impact assessment (CIA).  This 
considered any disproportional impact likely to arise from this decision in relation 
to the following areas covered by the council equality agenda: race, gender, age, 
disability, faith and religion, sexuality, gender re-assignment, marriage and civil 
partnership and finally child care and pregnancy.  

 
41. This assessment concluded that it would be older people, who are likely to be 

disabled as a result of dementia or other forms of mental or physical ill health as 
being the primary group affected by the council’s decision.  It is recognised that 
women, who may also have child care and work responsibilities, are 
disproportionately the carers of people living with dementia.  It also identified that 
the impact of the decision on these sections of the community would be positive. 

 
42. The original CIA has subsequently been reviewed in the light of the proposed 

approval of the location at Cator Street, the outcome of the engagement and an 
assessment of any changes to the profile of people using the current centres 
since December 2012. 

 
43. This re-assessment noted that the current profile of the users in relation to the 

areas covered by the council’s equality scheme is not significantly different. The 
age profile remains primarily the “very old” (80+) and all users are either 
physically or mentally disabled.  

 
44. In relation to gender, 64% of users are women, which reflects the age profile of 

the “very old” population of the borough, and the fact that women’s life 
expectancy is generally higher, and is also longer in Southwark than national 
averages6.  

 
45. As was the situation in December 2012, Older people from BME communities 

remain over represented at the centre, accounting for 31% of service users, 
compared to making up only 19% of the older population in Southwark (2011 
census).  Both the number and proportion of BME older people using the current 

                                                 
 6 Joint Strategic Needs Analysis 2012. 

38



 

 
 
 

11 

  

centres has increased since the original CIA was made.  This increase is set in 
the context of a growing older BME population who may experience health and 
economic inequalities as well as higher rates of diabetes and stroke amongst the 
African Caribbean population, and emerging evidence that appears to be making 
a link between these factors and risk of the development of dementia. 

 
46. Women tend to remain over represented amongst the carers and family 

members, often coming from an extended family network (partners, daughters, 
granddaughters, daughter in laws, paid and unpaid carers and neighbours etc). 
However it should be noted that a number of male carers have also attended one 
or more of the Design Consultation Group meetings, and they represent a distinct 
cohort of carers who often appear particularly isolated. There is scope for the 
future centre to consider how best to support this group of carers. 

 
47. The council also notes that there is more scope at Cator Street than in either of 

the current buildings for individuals to have support more appropriate to their 
specific requirements, or time to be alone and quiet.  The Cator Street building 
will contain seven multi purpose activity/ seating areas, garden space and 
significantly more capacity for smaller groups of service users to have their own 
space to socialise or partake in targeted activities.  This means for example, that 
those who may have a higher degree of mental capacity could undertake 
different activities more suited to their needs.  There would also be space for 
targeted activities for specific characteristic groups, for example reminiscence 
sessions for older people of distinct ethnicity, sexuality or race.  This means that 
there is considerable scope to increase the number of people who are living with 
dementia and their carers who can attend Cator Street per day than at the 
existing centres.  

 
48. The council is committed to ensuring there is door-to-door transport for service 

users. Analysis of users of Southwark Park Road and Fred Francis showed that 
people’s journeys would increase by less than half a mile on average, compared 
to their journeys to their current day centres.  There are reasonable  public 
transport options available for staff, carers and others who may attend in the 
future for support, information sessions etc: there are bus stops  on both 
Southampton Way and Peckham Hill Street which are both approximately 150 -
200 meters away, and all street access is on the level.  These bus routes also 
lead to other bus routes and tube and rail stations. 

 
49. The new centre and will allow services to be much more tailored to the individual 

needs of people using the centre. 
 
50. There were not any other significant issues identified in relation to the other 

characteristic groups under the council’s equality scheme.  
 
51. The council therefore concludes that the impact of the decision to locate the 

Centre of Excellence at Cator Street will have a positive impact upon older 
people, women, older people from BME communities and those living with a 
disability.  The impact upon the other characteristic groups is considered to be 
neutral. 

 
Resource implications 
 
52. The works for the Centre of Excellence should be carried out at the same time as 

the building refurbishment works to avoid any unnecessarily prolonged disruption 

39



 

 
 
 

12 

  

to the provision of services at Cator Street and to benefit from contact 
efficiencies. 

 
Financial implications 
 
53. In the 2012/13 capital refresh the planning for a Centre of Excellence was 

identified and £2m was set aside.  This figure was allocated following the initial 
high level scoping of the feasibility of the building to accommodate the Centre of 
Excellence.  The outline scope of works were determined in the Future Vision for 
a Centre of Excellence and have since taken into account the detailed design 
features identified through extensive consultation undertaken with families and 
staff after the cabinet report in December 2012.  The revised cost of the detailed 
designs for the Centre of Excellence is £2.5m. 

 
54. The additional £0.5m requirement can be met from existing unallocated 

resources within the adult health and social care budgets made available as a 
result of savings the council made available following efficiencies the council 
achieved elsewhere in its adult social care capital programme. 

 
55. The cost of running the new Centre of Excellence would be met from existing 

resources currently allocated for the Southwark Park Road and Fred Francis 
centres. 

 
56. Whilst there is pressure on council resources and council savings have been 

identified, contribution from health partners means there is no overall reduction in 
funding for the service and the operational efficiencies at the new Centre of 
Excellence will mean the same budget will be able to provide more enhanced 
services and make better use of capital assets through more extensive use of 
the building.  

 
Staffing issues 
 
57. Staff have been actively and positively engaged in both the design group and 

through wider staff meetings held at the current day centres.  Their response has 
been overwhelmingly positive to the proposal, and their contributions towards the 
development of the plans have proved highly valuable.  The council will continue 
to draw upon their expertise and further strengthen staff engaged in the 
development of the new service model for the Centre of Excellence. 

 
58. There are no job losses as a result of this decision now being taken to locate at 

Cator Street, nor any requirement for the council to make reductions to the 
overall revenue budget as a result of the NHS financially supporting the current 
and new service model.  Once design of the new service model is completed, 
changes to staffing arrangements may be required to meet the aspirations of 
enhanced provision and extended opening hours.  

 
59. Dependent upon the outcome of the further engagement with staff and other 

stakeholders on the new service model, there may be subsequent staffing issues 
for the council to consider. These could be in relation to matters such as 
changes to roles and responsibilities, job descriptions, the need to further 
develop skills and competencies amongst the staff group, changes to shift 
patterns, mode of providing transport and the need for good communication and 
support to staff when managing change. These decisions will be subject to the 
council’s decision making procedures and HR policies and procedures and with 

40



 

 
 
 

13 

  

the full engagement of staff. 
 
Legal issues  
 
60. Please see legal concurrent below.  
 
Consultation  
 
61. The plans that are now being proposed for Cator Street have been strongly 

influenced by a design consultation group and other forms of engagement with 
family members and other relevant stakeholders. A summary of how these 
further plans have been influenced from the original feasibility study for Cator 
Street is summarised below 

 
Areas where the engagement has influenced the plans  

 
Original 
design 
feature  

Influence as a result of engagement 

Garden 
space  

Garden planned with safe self contained space for both 
sensory and therapeutic vegetable/flower growing, pathways, a 
shed, an outside WC and comfortable seating areas. The 
original feasibility study suggested shared garden space with 
the extra care next door, but this was considered not suitable 
given the varying needs of users. A fully functioning garden 
and the therapeutic opportunities it provides have been a 
significant addition highlighted through from the engagement 
process. 

Safe space 
for those 
who  
wander both 
inside and 
out   

The plans include a covered external walkway for those who 
wander, to do so safely and in the dry. Internally there is also a 
“loop” for those who may wander safely whilst inside the 
centre.  This potentially has a beneficial impact on managing 
behaviors that challenge services. 

Increased 
number of 
multi 
purpose 
activity 
rooms  

There was a shift in emphasis through the development of the 
brief through the engagement and expert input to provide 
“activity” spaces rather than simple static “lounge” type spaces. 
Originally it was planned to have a small number of quite large 
activity/dining rooms. This has changed to a larger number of 
multi purpose activity rooms/lounges, that can both 
accommodate activities or groups for 10-15, or  be opened up 
for larger space as required.  

Dining room  The dining room design has been developed to avoid an overly 
institutional feel and extended to a summer room at the front of 
the centre, whilst retaining capacity for 50-60 dinners at one 
time. 

Cloakrooms 
and lobby  

This been moved to avoid too much confusion for people as 
they enter the building. 

Toilets  The numbers of accessible WCs in the service user area was 
increased from 8 to 10. In addition to these, the engagement 
demonstrated the need for toilet facilities to be made available 
in a building in the garden for those service users who may 
have continence issues or who need visual prompts to remind 
them to use the toilet. 

41



 

 
 
 

14 

  

Original 
design 
feature  

Influence as a result of engagement 

Designated 
entry and 
parking  

The entrance to the centre will be self contained and containing 
sufficient secure off street  parking for up to ten transport  
ambulances plus a number of parking spaces for visiting 
professionals (Ie NHS Community Mental Health Team etc)  

Smoking 
facilities  

Provision will be made for smokers to do so in a safe and dry 
external space, separate from the public garden space. Service 
users will continue to be supported with smoking cessation and 
reduction by both staff at the centre and through partnership 
with public health and the NHS. 

Therapeutic 
Kitchen 

This has been moved away from an open communal area to 
one of the activity rooms. 

Separate 
Hairdressing 
and 
treatment 
rooms  

These spaces are separated out and not co-located  in the 
proposed plans, given the anticipated demand for hairdressing 

Kitchen  The kitchen  has been developed to ensure that they are 
sufficiently designed to make them a viable prospect for a 
social enterprise to run a  viable self sustaining business from  
the kitchen (Potentially also providing freshly made hot meals 
for the proposed extra care  unit next door)  

Storage 
space 

The storage space for equipment, street wheel chairs etc has 
all increased in response to input from staff. 

Heating 
type 

Heating will be a combination of under floor and locally 
controlled wall heating that can be locally controlled to 
accommodate micro environment conditions.  

Self 
contained 
staff space 

Self contained space in which the staff can take a break. 

 
 
62. Visits were arranged for members of the design consultation group to other NHS 

and social care establishments that had been purpose built or retro fitted design 
features specifically for people living with dementia, in order to help these 
representatives to picture what good looks like. Similarly the design consultation 
group suggested, and in some cases facilitated, the architect team to visit other 
buildings, to assess different aspects of design that had been incorporated into 
these establishments.  

 
63. Initially the council appointed architect team held three meetings with the design 

consultation group prior to developing the second set of feasibility plans. These 
first set of meetings were to ensure that the plans for the building incorporated 
the aspirations of the group and reflected the reality of supporting people who 
may have advanced levels of dementia. The views of the full membership of the 
older people’s partnership board were also sought at this stage. The architect 
team also visited and spoke to other establishments providing support to people 
living with dementia to obtain views of what design features have been most 
helpful. 

 
64. There were then two further meetings where plans were presented to the design 

consultation group, where members could comment on the plans with the 

42



 

 
 
 

15 

  

architect team making further amendments as required. 
 
65. Due to the limited mental capacity of the users of the centres, their needs were 

represented primarily by family members and staff. However officers also 
undertook informal one to one meetings with six users who were assessed to 
have capacity to engage, to seek their views on what they valued currently, what 
any gaps may be, what they would want to see in a new centre, and how well the 
proposed plans would meet these needs. 

 
66. Family members (especially for the new cohort of users of the projects) will have 

the opportunity to look at the Cator Street  plans at both centres, with two further 
meetings being planned in  September, following the end of the summer holiday 
period. 

 
67. Details and plans of the proposed refurbishment works together developments to 

the building were also submitted to the head teachers council, to ensure that the 
future layout of the first floor at Cator Street will meet their needs. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
68. The report asks the cabinet to note the positive response and engagement from 

the family carers, stakeholders and staff to the plans for the proposed Centre of 
Excellence for older people living with dementia and complex needs to be on the 
ground floor of Cator Street Resource Centre. 

 
69. The report also asks the cabinet to note the decision taken by the cabinet 

member for health, social care and equalities to recognise the outcome of this 
further feasibility work which concluded that the site and location of Cator Street 
was a suitable location for the Centre of Excellence and her subsequent 
approval of the preferred location for the development of the Centre of 
Excellence.    

 
70. The background to this report is that a formal consultation was undertaken in 

respect of a future vision for services in 2012. The responses to this consultation 
were presented to cabinet in December 2012. The decision of the cabinet was as 
follows: 

 
• That the vision for a centre of excellence as set out in the report be agreed. 
• That there is further consultation with families and key stakeholders on the 

preferred option of Cator Street as the location for the centre. 
• That the positive outcome of the consultation exercise on vision and services 

and the opportunity that now arises for the council to work with families and 
carers as well as the NHS and Community Partners to transform the way day 
opportunities for older people living with dementia are provided and the 
support that is available to their carers be noted. 

• Those officers will now establish a working group comprising representatives 
from families/carers, the NHS and other key stakeholder to take forward the 
vision for the centre of excellence, shape the proposed model of care and 
work jointly with corporate property in the design and procurement of the 
centre.  

• That an information report is submitted to cabinet in 6 months to outline 
progress. 

43



 

 
 
 

16 

  

 
71.  The decision of the leader of the council was as follows: 
 

§ That authority is delegated to the cabinet member for health and social care to 
determine the most appropriate future service model and the decision 
regarding the location of the centre. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/056) 
 
72. This report asks cabinet to note the approval from the cabinet member for health, 

adult social care and equalities to designate Cator Street as the preferred 
location for the development of the Centre of Excellence. 

  
73. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the financial 

implications detailed in paragraphs 53 to 56 of this report. Costs will be 
contained within the capital and departmental budgets and any variations 
reported through the capital programme monitoring reports  

 
74. Any staffing and other resource costs connected with this recommendation will 

be contained within existing departmental budgets. 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Future Vision for a Centre of 
Excellence  The report is available to 
view on this web site link: 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ie
ListDocuments.aspx?CId=302&MId=
4550&Ver=4 
 

Southwark Council 
160 Tooley Street 
London SE1 2QH 

Andy Loxton 
020 7525 3130 

Summary of initial consultation  The 
report is available to view on this web 
site link: 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ie
ListDocuments.aspx?CId=302&MId=
4550&Ver=4 
 

Southwark Council 
160 Tooley Street 
London SE1 2QH 

Andy Loxton 
020 7525 3130 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
None  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



 

 
 
 

17 

  

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor Catherine McDonald, Health, Social Care and 

Equalities 
Lead Officer Sarah Mc Clinton, Director Adult Social Care 

Report Author Andy Loxton, Lead Commissioning Manager 
Version Final 
Dated 4 September 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Chief Executive (Regeneration)  Yes Yes 
Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 4 September 2013 
 
 

45



 

 1 

Item No.  
10. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name 
Cabinet  

Report title: Home Care Annual Contract Performance Report  
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: All 
 

From: Councillor Catherine McDonald, Cabinet Member 
for Health, Social Care and Equalities 
 

 
 
FOREWORD - COUNCILLOR CATHERINE MCDONALD, CABINET MEMBER 
FOR HEALTH, SOCIAL CARE AND EQUALITIES 
 
Our home care services provide an essential support to vulnerable people with social 
care needs in order to help them live independently and safely in their own homes. 
The quality of these essential services is paramount and as a council our fairer future 
promises underline our strong commitment to high quality personalised services. This 
is one of our most important duties and this is why my cabinet colleagues and I have 
taken a keen interest in the performance of our two main home care contracts, 
delivered by MiHomecare (formerly Enara Community Care) and London Care, over 
the first two years of operation.   
 
In April cabinet considered and welcomed the principles set out in Unison’s Care 
Charter which were a useful checklist that supports the council’s wider quality 
improvement agenda. A great deal of progress has been made by this council on 
many of the charter’s principles and confirming our commitment to high quality 
personalised home care service.  Cabinet set up a task and finish group to look at the 
charter in more detail, to develop a set of best practice principles and an approach to 
commissioning high quality home care services that embraces the principles of the 
charter. I look forward to this group reporting back to cabinet in later in the autumn.  
 
The many hundreds of local people who make up the home care workforce, who 
provide a vital and demanding role that is critical to service users and their carers, 
are also important to us and this council recognises the need to ensure that people 
are paid fairly for their work. Linked to improvements in the quality of services for 
users, I am proud to confirm that we have implemented the requirement to pay at 
least London Living Wage (LLW) and are ensuring our homecare agencies to pass 
this on to their employees.   
 
This report details the delivery, quality and performance monitoring record of home 
care services provided by MiHomecare and London Care and I am pleased to 
confirm that both contracts have met the quality and performance requirements over 
the second year of operation and there has been an improvement on the first year of 
operation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. That cabinet note the delivery of the contracts over the second year has met 

the council’s requirements and that the council and providers remain committed 
to working together to continually improve the quality and consistency of home 
care delivery. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 10
46



 

 2 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2. In January 2011 cabinet approved the award of contracts for two universal 

contracts and one specialist contract for continuing drinkers and acquired brain 
injury.  

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
3. Over 1,000 adults receive some form of home care service in Southwark so 

ensuring the delivery of good quality and cost effective home care services is 
an important part of adult social care provision in Southwark.  

  
4. Since June 2011 the new contracting arrangements for home care services in 

Southwark is two borough-wide cost and volume contracts (demand-led) for 
universal home care and one contract for specialist home care.  

 
5. The contracts have agreed minimum volumes of 200,000 hours in year 1, 

150,000 hours in year 2 and 100,000 hours in year 3. The minimum volumes 
were commissioned in year 2. 

  
6. This report summarises the monitoring of the contracts for the second year of 

full operation. Appendix 1 details the background data in relation to delivery, 
performance and quality.  

 
7. The delivery of home care services under the two home care contracts has met 

the quality and performance standards under the contract over the second year 
of operation.   

 
8. The council and providers remain committed to working together to continually 

improve the quality and consistency of home care delivery. The mechanisms 
used to manage and monitor the contracts include:  

 
§ Weekly contact between monitoring staff and branch managers.  
§ Designated contacts in the operational teams. 
§ Monthly senior managers meeting to discuss issues and agree or review 

improvement plans. 
§ Monthly reporting of service alerts and safeguarding data. 
§ Director level meetings are held with the providers as required. 

  
9. In addition, over this second year of the contract an operational meeting has 

been established to enable earlier identification of potential issues and agree 
changes to be made. This meeting also ensures that areas that are working 
well are acknowledged so they can be retained. These meetings are quarterly 
and attended by branch managers from both providers, and representatives 
from operational teams and commissioning. 

 
Contract activity summary 
 
10. There are a number of key measures the council considers when assessing the 

performance and quality of home care services. A summary of performance 
against all key measures, along with explanatory notes is contained in 
Appendix 1. The key measures include: 

 
§ Service quality alerts – this is where someone is concerned about the way 

the service is delivered, for example care worker’s punctuality or poor 
communication.   

47



 

 3 

§ Safeguarding - this is where an allegation is received that someone is 
subject to abuse. This can be financial abuse, physical abuse, neglect etc.  
It may be an allegation related to a care worker or an allegation related to a 
third party.   

§ Complaints and compliments. 
§ Regulatory compliance – all care providers are regulated by the Care 

Quality Commission who inspects them and publishes their findings on 
their website. 

 
11. A summary of performance against each item is noted below: 
 

§ Service quality alerts – there were 64 service quality alerts. Examined 
against the number of hours this was an average of 13.6 per 100,000 
hours. This is reduced from the first year of operation. 

§ Safeguarding – both providers are achieving the performance indicator in 
this area of no more than 1% safeguarding alerts per 100,000 hours 
delivered. Actual safeguard alerts received were down from the first year of 
operation. 

§ Complaints and compliments – the providers received 39 complaints in the 
second year of the contract. This is within the performance indicator for this 
measure. 

§ Regulatory compliance – the Care Quality Commission carry out regular 
inspections of home care providers and both providers have been 
inspected and found to be compliant in all domains. 

  
12. All service quality alerts and safeguarding allegations are investigated and any 

action points are monitored by Adults’ Commissioning. In addition, 
management regularly review activity in both areas and meet with both 
providers to ensure continuous improvements are underway that address any 
issues raised. 

 
13. Overall, the council is satisfied with the performance of the contracts for the 

second year of operation.   
  
Future developments 
 
14. As home care is delivered to individuals in their own home, the council is 

continuously reviewing monitoring processes to see how we can better capture 
good information on the impact the service has on their lives and their 
experience of the service. 

 
15. Age UK has worked with the council to introduce a lay inspection scheme for 

home care and this has been running for several months now. 
People approach the lay inspectors if they want to discuss their care and 
related issues and the lay inspector then visits to talk to them. The inspectors 
feed back on any areas of potential improvement or issues to the council who 
shares these with providers.  

 
16. Early themes brought to the council’s attention from these meetings are: 
  

§ Where an individual’s needs have changed and their support plan needs to 
be reviewed by the social work teams. (Some service users will wait until 
their regular review to advise social services their needs have changed but 
when the lay inspectors visit, will mention this to them). These cases have 
been referred to the access team for further action as Southwark want to 
ensure that people have the right levels of care to meet their needs.  

48



 

 4 

§ Providers are issued with a limited number of parking permits so that staff 
who drive can park within a reasonable distance of their service user’s 
home and avoid visits being rushed or overshadowed by stresses about 
parking. Care workers have reported that there are not enough permits for 
the number of workers who drive. This is being followed up by 
commissioning. 

 
17. Analysis from these visits suggests that those who have met with the lay 

inspectors have been satisfied with the quality of their care.    
 
Provider quality assurance  
 
18. Both providers have extensive quality assurance systems which capture 

information in a variety of ways to ensure that they maintain high standards. Of 
particular relevance is the collection of information from service users on what 
they think of the quality of their service. 

 
19. MiHomecare’s annual survey of Southwark customers had a response rate of 

31.3%.  Their survey has a score of between 0 and 4, with 4 indicating strong 
agreement. In key sections their results were: 

 
§ About your carer / support worker (covering positive attitude, uniforms tidy, 

respectful, punctual, reliable, willing and helpful, wearing ID badges and 
complete duties). The average score for each question was 3.09. Highest 
scores were in ‘I am shown respect by my care/support worker’ and my 
care support staff are willing and helpful’. 

§ The office (covering polite, good listeners, helpful). All results over 3.29, 
with best result in ‘the office staff are polite’. 

§ Your care (covering health, community, positive contribution, planning, 
choice and control, respect, able to voice comments and safety). Average 
score was 3.01 but areas for development are feeling less isolated in their 
community and being more involved in planning, choice and control. 
Strongest areas were positive impact on health and wellbeing, comfortable 
to voice their concerns, safe at home and support having a positive 
contribution to my life. 

 
20. London Care’s annual survey had a response rate of 34.1%. Their survey had 

3 to 4 options for people in response to specific questions. A summary of some 
key results were: 

 
§ Confidentiality and privacy – 94% said always or mostly 
§ Dignity – 94% said always or usually 
§ Courtesy and respect – 94% said always or usually 
§ Working at a comfortable pace – 86% said always or usually 
§ Care workers competent to provide service – 81% said all or most 
§ Planning – 54% felt totally involved and 35% somewhat involved  
§ Encourage to do things for yourself where you are able to – 70% said 

always or usually 
§ Trust care workers – 87% said a lot of entirely 
§ Treat possessions with care – 93% said always or usually 
§ Office staff – 70% said happy or quite happy, 14% neutral 
§ Knowing how to complain – 77% said yes 
§ Comfortable to complain – 63% said yes, 18% don’t know 
§ Overall how happy – 86% said very satisfied or satisfied, 6% neutral 
§ Areas for improvement – advice about which care worker is visiting and if 

they are going to be late. 

49



 

 5 

 
21. Both survey results show areas that could be developed more and both 

organisations use the results of their survey to improve practice within their 
organisation. However, the surveys show that the majority of people are 
satisfied with the quality of their care and in important areas like respect, dignity 
and satisfaction with the service both organisations have achieved good 
results. 

 
Community impact statement 
  
22. These services are provided to people affected by all six strands of the 

council’s equality agenda as the diverse nature of Southwark’s population is 
reflected in those people needing care and receiving home care services.  

23. Under CQC registration all home care providers are required to proactively 
demonstrate their commitment to equal opportunities and have been assessed 
to ensure that they have a satisfactory record in relation to diversity.  

24. The universal services and the specialist service are able to meet a wide range 
of needs sensitivity.   

 
Financial implications  
  
25. The council has agreed to the introduction of London Living Wage (LLW) and 

will be requiring providers to evidence that all employees working on 
Southwark contracts are being paid at least LLW. The introduction of LLW is 
expected to deliver improvements in service quality; by valuing staff through 
their remuneration it is, for example, expected that there will be improvements 
in the recruitment of well skilled and motivated care workers and a reduction in 
staff turnover which can contribute to better continuity of care. A set of quality 
measures will be agreed to track these matters and this will be captured in 
future performance reporting for these contracts. The financial implications of 
implementing LLW were outlined in the gateway 3 variation report agreed in 
July 2013. 

 
26. Further work on UNISON’s ethical care charter will be reported back to cabinet 

in November 2013 and will contain a full analysis of any resource implications. 
There are none in relation to this performance report. 

 
27. The original contract was awarded in 2011/12. Since then there has been a 

variation to the contract terms in a cabinet report dated 18 July 2013. This 
variation proposes to implement LLW and will further see improvements in 
Quality of care. The funding of the additional financial requirement from 
applying LLW is being deliberated and is outside the scope of this report. Aside 
from the above there are no new financial implications arising from this report. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
30. There are no specific legal implications. 
 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/062) 
 
31. This report notes the delivery of the contracts over the second year has met the 

council’s requirements. The financial implications are detailed in paragraphs 25 

50



 

 6 

to 27 and it confirms there are no new financial implications arising from this 
decision.  

 
32. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the performance 

and quality assurance indicators. Continued monitoring of this service, including 
reports to the cabinet member for health, adult social care and equalities will 
help prevent additional costs associated with poor quality. 

 
33. Further work on UNISON’s ethical care charter is underway and a full analysis 

of any resource implications will be included in the report to cabinet in 
November 2013. Officer time to implement these decisions can be contained 
within existing resources. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Gateway 1 Procurement Strategy http://moderngov.southwarksit

es.com/ceListDocuments.aspx
?MeetingId=1015&DF=08%2f0
4%2f2008 
 

Jonathan Lillistone 
020 7525 2940 

Gateway 2 Contract Award http://moderngov.southwarksit
es.com/ieListDocuments.aspx
?CId=302&MID=3337#AI1480
4 
 

Jonathan Lillistone 
020 7525 2940 

Care Quality Commission – 
Compliance standards 

http://www.cqc.org.uk/ 
 

Jonathan Lillistone 
020 7525 2940 
 

Home Care Contract Monitoring 
Report 

http://moderngov.southwarksit
es.com/ieListDocuments.aspx
?CId=302&MID=3823#AI2424
9 
 

Jonathan Lillistone 
020 7525 2940 

Home Care Annual Performance 
Report 

http://moderngov.southwark.g
ov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?
CId=302&MID=4248#AI25763 
 

Jonathan Lillistone 
020 7525 2940 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Contract data 
 

51



 

 7 

 

AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Cabinet Member Councillor Catherine McDonald, Health, Social Care and Equalities 
Lead Officers Romi Bowen, Strategic Director of Children’s and Adults Services 
Report Author Jonathan Lillistone, Head of Commissioning, Children’s and Adults’ 

Services 
Version Final  
Dated 4 September 2013 
Key Decision? No 

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET  
MEMBER 

Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 
Director of Legal Services  Yes  

 
No 

Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 
 

Yes Yes 

Director of Adult Social Care 
 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member for Health, Social 
Care and Equalities 

Yes Yes 

Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 4 September 2013 
 

52



 
APPENDIX 1:   

 
HOME CARE CONTRACTS DATA. 
 
Contract usage 
 
1. Tables 1 and 2 show the usage of the contracts based on commissioned care packages from July 2012 to June 2013. The 

numbers are taken at month end for each month.  
 
Table 1: Number of service users  
 
Month July Aug  Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June 
MiHomecare 388 402 417 426 432 436 441 458 446 468 479 467 

London Care 322 314 314 307 307 290 293 295 306 302 304 289 

Total 710 716 731 733 739 726 734 753 752 770 783 756 
 
Table 2: Number of hours of care commissioned  
 
Month July Aug  Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June Totals 
MiHomecare 20,500 21,717 22,093 22,604 22,853 22,911 23,129 24,583 24,107 24,672 24,660 24,347 278,175 

London Care 15,059 15,137 15,353 14,879 15,048 14,382 15,447 15,754 16,905 15,663 15,658 14,764 184,048 

Total 35,559 36,854 37,446 37,483 37,901 37,292 38,476 40,337 41,012 40,334 40,318 39,111 462,223 
 
 

53



 
Service Quality alerts 
 
2. The council routinely collects day to day service delivery concerns, referred to as ‘Service Quality Alerts’, which are a good 

way to identify issues at an early stage way that can inform service improvement and ensure that the delivery of care is 
personalised to individual needs and wishes.  

 
3. These are distinguished from formal safeguarding alerts and investigations, and can range from minor concerns to more 

substantial concerns. Minor concerns would include issues such as poor communication. More substantial concerns would 
include issues such as timeliness of care worker attendance, missed visits, or ensuring dignity and respect at all times.  

 
4. In some instances more substantial concerns raised through the service quality alerts are also recorded and reported as 

formal Safeguarding investigations so may be counted in both. 
 
5. Raising service quality alerts is encouraged by both the council and providers as a mechanism to inform and support 

continuous improvement. All alerts are logged and followed up by contract monitoring officers in conjunction with social 
workers and other relevant stakeholders.  

 
6. For the period July 2012 to June 2013 there have been a total of 63 alerts received with 25 relating to London Care and 38 

relating to MiHomecare (down from 102 in the first year). This equates to 13.6 service alerts per 100,000 care hours. The 
overall average of 13.6 alerts per 100,000 care hours when set against a total of 756 users at a June 2013 gives a figure of 
0.02 alerts per user.   

 
Safeguarding 
 
7. Summary data in relation to safeguarding alerts for the main home care contracts is detailed below. This is where an 

allegation is received that someone is subject to abuse, which can be financial abuse, physical abuse, neglect etc.  It may be 
an allegation related to a care worker or an allegation related to a third party or a family member.   

  

54



8. From July 2012 to June 2013 there has been a total of 19 safeguarding alerts with 10 relating to London Care and 8 relating 
to MiHomecare. This equates to 4.1 safeguarding alerts per 100,000 care hours (down from 8 in the first year), which as a 
percentage of service users equates to less than 1% per hour for both providers when calculated as a percentage of hours 
delivered. The performance indicator for this is less than 1% so both providers are meeting this standard. Of the 18 
safeguarding allegations received, 6 have been found to be unsubstantiated, 4 were not determined / inconclusive, 6 have 
been substantiated, and the remaining 2 have not yet had an outcome recorded. 

 
9. All safeguarding and quality alerts are fully investigated and adult commissioning monitor any action points arising from these.  

Management also have oversight of these and meet regularly with both providers. 
 
Complaints and compliments 
 
10. Formal complaints regarding home care services can be received directly by the Council but are also received by the home 

care providers themselves. Generally but not exclusively in the first instance complaints would be raised with the provider for 
them to resolve and respond to and this is reflected in the complaints data reported under the contract. 

  
11. During the period covered by this report there was one representation raised with the council’s complaints team for 

MiHomecare.  This was not actually a complaint although handled by the complaints team as the query sought to understand 
the process for quality alerts and the quality assurance / contract management processes. This was clarified and nothing 
further was received.  

 
12. In addition to complaints received by the council, both providers actively encourage service users to use their complaints and 

compliments process so they can identify areas for improvement and understand what is working well for people. From July 
2012 to June 2013 there has been a total of 39 complaints received directly by providers with 5 received by London Care and 
34 received by MiHomecare (of these 11 have not been upheld and 2 are still outstanding).  From July 2012 to June 2013 
there has been a total of 42 compliments received directly by providers with 10 received by London Care and 32 received by 
MiHomecare.  

 
13. Both providers are meeting the contract key performance indicator for complaints which is less than 1 upheld complaint per 

10,000 hours delivered. 

55



 
Regulatory Compliance 
 
14. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) undertakes regulatory inspections of registered services and inspect service delivery 

against a number of broad headings within which there are 28 outcome measures. Full details of the CQC Essential standards 
of quality and safety  are available as a background document or at 
http://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/documents/gac_-_dec_2011_update.pdf  

15. The following is a summary of the main headings under which the outcomes are grouped 
§ Personalised Care, treatment and Support 
§ Safeguarding and safety 
§ Suitability of staffing 
§ Quality and management 
§ Suitability of management 

  
16. The CQC makes an assessment against a selection of the outcome domains and report these as compliant, or having minor, 

moderate, or major concerns.  
  
17. In November 2012 (report published January 2013) London Care Wandsworth were inspected and found to be compliant in all 

domains. This is the branch that provides care to Southwark clients, however it is noted that London Care have just opened a 
branch in Southwark and will be managing care for Southwark clients out of this branch from July 2013 therefore future CQC 
reports will be from this branch not the Wandsworth office. 

 
18. In April 2013 (report published June 2013) MiHomecare Brockley were inspected and found to be compliant in all domains. 

This is the branch that provides care to Southwark clients. 
 
19. Overall the assessment of contract delivery, performance and quality taking account of the key measures summarised in this 

report is that quality and performance indicators have been met over the period covered. 
 

56



 
Item No.  

11. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet  
 

Report title: 
 

Children and Young People Plan – Scrutiny 
Recommendations  
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: All  
 

From: 
 

Education, Children's Services & Leisure Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the cabinet considers the recommendations by the Education, Children's 

Services & Leisure Scrutiny Sub-Committee when agreeing the Children and 
Young People Plan (CYPP) at cabinet, and that the relevant cabinet member 
brings back a report to cabinet, in order to respond to the sub- committee, within 
eight weeks. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2. The Education, Children’s Services and Leisure Scrutiny Sub-Committee received 

the draft CYPP at the 9 July 2013 meeting in order to scrutinize it prior to the report 
going to cabinet. 

 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
3. The committee’s recommendations for the CYPP are listed below: 
 

• Incorporate indicators that will enable members and families to measure 
and assess the impact and success of the plan.  

• Provide clarity on the relationship to other parts of the system and their 
delivery plans e.g. Health and Wellbeing Board and Children’s Trust.  

• Include a selection of the 1000 journeys recorded.  

• Give an explanation of how the Common Assessment Framework 
(CAF) will fit into this plan.  

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Education, Children's Services & 
Leisure Scrutiny Sub-Committee 
Agenda 9 July 2013  
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ie
ListDocuments.aspx?CId=354&MId=
4598&Ver=4 
 

Scrutiny Team 
160 Tooley Street 
London SE1 2QH 

Julie Timbrell  
020 7525 0514 

Agenda Item 11
57



 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Lead Officer Shelley Burke, Head of Overview & Scrutiny  
Report Author Julie Timbrell, Scrutiny Project Manager  

Version Final 
Dated 27 August 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 

Director of Legal Services N/a N/a 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

N/a N/a 

Other Officers N/a N/a 
Cabinet Member  N/a N/a 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 27 August 2013 
 
 

58



 

 
 
 

1 

  

 
Item No.  

12. 
Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 

All 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle, Children’s Services 
 

 
 

FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR DORA DIXON-FYLE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 
The Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) for 2013 to 2016 sets out how the local 
authority and its children’s trust partners will work together to continue to improve 
outcomes for the borough’s children, young people and families. 
 
It builds on the success of previous plans and local achievements. There have been 
sustained improvements in educational attainment and standards, with over 80% of 
schools now judged by Ofsted to be good or outstanding. In addition, attainment at all 
key stages is at or above national averages, with for example 83% of pupils at the end 
of primary school achieving expected levels in English and maths combined in 2012 
compared to 79% nationally. Provisional 2013 results indicate continued good 
performance. We are also delivering on our Fairer Future priorities, as set out in the 
Council Plan, with falling rates of teenage conceptions, youth crime or young people 
being out of education or employment, as well as more children benefitting from a local 
primary place and a free healthy school meal.  
 
Against this backdrop of strong local performance, we have developed the new CYPP. 
It is a transformational plan, focusing on priority areas that stakeholders have told us 
need to improve, and where we know that collective partnership action is needed.  
 
The CYPP was developed by involving those who have the biggest stake in our 
borough – our communities, members and workforce, and we are proud of how their 
voice and journeys have shaped it. Over the course of a year, we collected some 
1,300 experiences or ‘journeys’ from children, young people, parents, carers and 
frontline staff as well as local groups, ward members and community leaders. We also 
conducted a wide-ranging needs assessment which helped us better understand what 
our children and families need and want. As a result, alongside this draft CYPP, we 
are publishing a collection of the stories we have heard, as well as the needs 
assessment, to show how the views of our stakeholders and residents have influenced 
our priorities. 
 
We aspire to work with our partners to shape the borough for the better, and I call on 
everyone involved in the lives of children, young people and families in Southwark to 
work with us to ensure every child, young person, family and community achieves their 
potential. I recommend this report and proposed CYPP to Cabinet. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. To agree that the proposed 2013-16 CYPP at Appendix 1 is recommended to 

Council Assembly to be adopted as a key Southwark Council policy framework 

Agenda Item 12
59



 

 
 
 

2 

  

document for children and young people. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
Strong local performance in context of high levels of need 
 
2. This CYPP builds on previous plans and strong local performance, with 

Southwark continuing to perform highly against a range of benchmarks, thus 
ensuring that strong universal services are the bedrock of the local system. 

 
3. Attainment, for example, continues to rise, with Southwark at or above the 

national average across all key stages. Pupil achievement at the end of primary 
school in English and maths combined in 2012 stands at 83% compared to 79% 
nationally, which represents top quartile performance. Provisional 2013 results 
indicate continued good performance. In addition, GCSE results in 2012 rose to 
59% which is in line with national performance.  

 
4. More children are also able to attend good or better schools, with over 80% of 

primary schools and 90% of secondary schools judged by Ofsted to be good or 
outstanding. Children’s centres and early years provision continue to perform 
well in Ofsted inspections, with for example two-thirds of children’s centres now 
judged good or outstanding.  

 
5. Through the Fairer Future commitments, as set out in the Council Plan, there 

has also been continued capital investment in local schools, a full roll-out of the 
free healthy school meal programme to all primary pupils, and nearly 95% of 
reception-aged children receiving a primary place of their choice. In addition, 
sustained investment in apprenticeships, the Youth Fund and support services 
has helped more young people succeed into adulthood, with 4.8% of young 
people were not in education, employment or training, compared to a central 
London average of 6.3%, as at June. 

 
6. Services for vulnerable children and families have also been judged as strong, 

as recognised by the Ofsted inspection in May 2012. This judged the local 
system to be good with outstanding features, with inspectors finding strong, 
focused and improving services to protect vulnerable children. Outcomes for 
vulnerable children and young people are also improving, with for example a 
decline of more than 50% in the under-18 conception rate from 1998 to 2011. 

 
7. The CYPP’s underpinning needs assessment, however, also underscores the 

high levels of need and challenge in this diverse borough – Southwark has the 
15th highest level of child poverty in London and is the capital’s largest social 
landlord. The population is highly mobile and ethnically diverse, with interwoven 
complexities including high levels of worklessness, no recourse to public funds, 
substance misuse, domestic abuse, mental health concerns, and housing risks 
such as overcrowding.  

 
A transformed strategic framework for children’s services 
 
8. Since the last CYPP was developed, much has changed in the statutory 

framework for children services. In October 2010, the government withdrew the 
statutory guidance governing children’s trust activity and revoked the CYPP 
regulations. This meant that children’s trusts were no longer required to produce 
a statutory CYPP, but could continue to do so where it makes sense locally.  

60



 

 
 
 

3 

  

 
9. The CYPP is also no longer the only strategy governing the children’s system. 

Locally the Council Plan provides the overarching strategic framework, setting 
out how services deliver the Fairer Future commitments. These include 
introducing free healthy school meals, championing educational excellence and 
tackling factors affecting poorer life chances such as youth crime, teenage 
conceptions or being in care.  

 
10. In addition, the introduction this April of statutory duties on the local authority and 

clinical commissioning group to establish a health and wellbeing board and 
produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) has provided new 
opportunities for partners to work together to improve the outcomes and 
experiences of our residents including children and young people.  

 
11. As a result, Southwark’s JHWS sets out how partners will tackle the issues and 

inequalities that most affect the health and wellbeing of our communities – this 
encompasses promoting healthier lifestyles and tackling the causes of poor 
health and inequality as well as addressing wider issues such as the need for 
quality housing, and safer and healthier environments including improved road 
safety, air quality and leisure facilities.  

 
12. The JHWS also provides the framework for all local strategies including the 

CYPP as well as partner plans such as the Safer Southwark Partnership rolling 
plan, the clinical commissioning group’s operating plan, and service strategies 
such as those covering economic wellbeing or culture. Collectively they ensure 
that local action remains focused on improving the outcomes of children, young 
people and families. 

 
13. In the context of services for children, young people and families, the JHWS 

prioritises a number of areas which require cross-cutting or partnership actions, 
such as: 

 
a) High-quality advice and support services in the early years, and tackling 

inequalities in life chances for mothers, babies and toddlers 
b) Keeping more children physically and mentally healthy, a healthy weight and 

doing well in school 
c) Supporting more young people to succeed into education or employment, and 

identifying and diverting more vulnerable adolescents from risky behaviours or 
unhealthy choices, including unsafe sex or relationships, and involvement in 
crime 

d) Giving children with a disability or special educational need a seamless, 
personalised experience, enabling them to have more choice and control over 
their life and support services 

 
14. Both the Council Plan and the JHWS, therefore, provide a robust strategic 

framework for planning and improving services for children, young people and 
families. They strengthen the local authority’s commitments to deliver high-
quality services which every child, young person and family can access, and 
provide a backdrop for a fresh approach to the CYPP. 

 
15. Through their performance frameworks, progress against local priorities is 

monitored and reported to council and partnership bodies. For example, 
childhood obesity is tracked through the JHWS performance framework, while 
action to improve educational attainment and youth employment are reported 

61



 

 
 
 

4 

  

quarterly through the Council Plan as well as by exception to the health and 
wellbeing board. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
Developing the CYPP 
 
16. Locally, partners agreed to retain the children’s trust and develop a local CYPP 

because we believe that only together can we achieve the ambitions we have for 
our children, young people and families. We have also modernised the trust’s 
approach, choosing to develop the CYPP as a partnership plan for the 
transformation of services in a limited number of areas. As a result, the CYPP 
sets out priorities and objectives for three thematic areas rather than seeking to 
describe activity across the whole children’s system.  

 
17. Development of the draft CYPP began in June 2012, and has been overseen by 

the children’s trust at each stage. Working jointly with public health, the local 
authority and its partners have developed a joint strategic needs assessment 
(JSNA). This has looked at the experiences of children, young people and 
families within services. Key findings have been brought together with service 
user consultation into short films which have been used with partners and 
decision-makers to develop the plan’s priorities. These were also used during 
the consultation phase this summer.  

 
18. As part of the JSNA, a programme of stakeholder consultation events took place 

throughout the summer. Called ‘1,000 journeys’, these borough-wide “journey” 
events sought the views and experiences of children, young people, parents, 
carers and frontline staff as well as local groups, ward members and community 
leaders. The programme included a wide range of workshops and programmes 
in community venues, schools, pupil referral units and children’s centres, and 
included one at the Ministry of Sound attended by over 400 young people.  

 
19. Some 1,300 Southwark journeys were collected in total, and these have been 

used to shape and inform the transformation commitments within the proposed 
plan. A selection of journeys is also being published alongside the draft CYPP to 
demonstrate how users’ voices have shaped local priorities. This will be available 
both online and in print, and is attached as Appendix 2. 

 
20. To develop the draft CYPP, partners collectively reviewed the data, the 

‘journeys’, the views of strategic and senior stakeholders, and the direct 
feedback from children, young people and families. The resulting proposals are 
set out in Appendix 1, and represent the transformation commitments for 2013 to 
2016 for the children’s trust. This draft CYPP has been the basis of a widespread 
consultation across partners and stakeholders over the summer, with views 
incorporated into the final proposals. This consultation has included strategic 
partners such as the clinical commissioning groups, education, children’s 
services and leisure scrutiny committee and other stakeholders such as schools 
and health providers.  

 
21. In addition a ‘family friendly’ version of the CYPP has been developed to support 

promotion of the children’s trust commitments to wider stakeholders and the 
community – a draft version is attached as Appendix 3, and this will be finalised, 
published and promoted following Council Assembly adoption of the CYPP. 

 

62



 

 
 
 

5 

  

The CYPP’s transformation priorities 
 
22. As set out above, the CYPP does not seek to describe all activity in the 

children’s system. Instead, performance priorities for children and young people 
are held and reported through the Council Plan and JHWS, as set out in 
paragraphs 8 to 14 above.  

 
23. As a result, the CYPP is a shorter document, framed around three 

transformational areas. These are the areas which children, young people and 
families have told us need to improve and which we know can only be achieved 
through partnership working. This new, more focused approach has been 
possible through the relaxation of CYPP regulations and the robust strategic 
planning and performance framework provided by the Council Plan, JHWS and 
supporting partner and service plans.  

 
24. The three transformation priorities are as follows:  
 

a) Best start – Children, young people and families access the right support at 
the right time, from early years to adolescence 

b) Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and 
families receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and positive 
change 

c) Choice and control – Children and young people with a special educational 
need or disability and their families access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support, from childhood to adulthood 

 
Policy implications 
 
25. The CYPP commits children’s trust partners to implement the shared vision and 

priorities described in the document, and these could have wide-ranging 
implications. These are summarised in the ‘family-friendly’ version attached as 
Appendix 3. In addition, Cabinet may wish to consider the following:  

 
26. Best start – Children, young people and families access the right support at the 

right time, from early years to adolescence 
 

- Future configuration of early years provision including outreach and 
engagement services to ensure our most vulnerable residents access our 
early years and early help offers, and key entitlements such as free early 
years places  

- Commissioning arrangements with partners including health, police and 
schools to ensure a wide range of provision is easily accessible within 
localities through children’s centres, early help locality teams and services for 
vulnerable adolescents  

- The role and function of services developing under the local Troubled Families 
agenda known as “Family Focus Plus”  

- Commissioning choices to reduce health inequalities exercised through new 
statutory duties and responsibilities around public health and community 
provision such as school nursing and health visiting  

 
27. Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and families 

receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and positive change 
 

- The configuration of local services as a result of our local Social Work Matters 

63



 

 
 
 

6 

  

transformation programme, our local response to the Munro review and the 
workforce development strategy  

- The configuration of local services to vulnerable children around the journey of 
the child, and arrangements with partners and providers to deliver effective 
and appropriate intervention and support to families  

- Where children cannot be cared for by their own families, how we exercise our 
corporate parenting responsibilities, particularly in regard to the commissioning 
of placements and support for looked after children; and reforms to our 
fostering and adoption services  

 
28. Choice and control – Children and young people with a special educational 

need or disability and their families access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support, from childhood to adulthood 

 
- Future configuration of health, education and social care services to support 

integrated assessment and support pathways in response to new statutory 
duties set out in the Children and Families Bill  

- Understanding the implications of the Bill’s extension of rights to age 25 for 
ways of working, pathways and resources  

- How we deliver the personalisation agenda locally for children, young people 
and their families, including the development of the ‘local offer’, a statutorily 
prescribed description of the services children and families can expect to 
access locally 

- Commissioning arrangements with partners to ensure provision matches 
need, supports the personalisation agenda, increases choice and is high 
quality 

 
Next steps in implementing the CYPP 
 
29. Once the CYPP has been agreed, its commitments will form the basis of 

partnership work to review, develop and align or commission provision across 
the three priority areas. Central messages in the way we will work in improving 
outcomes for local children, young people and families are set out in the values 
and principles section of the plan. These have been widely informed by the views 
and experiences of service users as to what they expect and want from local 
services.  

 
30. Key to the implementation of the CYPP will be working collaboratively with 

partners over the coming months to: 
 

a) Test current service delivery against service user-led values and principles  
b) Further JSNA work to understand what the data is telling us in more depth 

about barriers and opportunities for change, and service delivery priorities 
c) Identify shared resources and opportunities including how we can use local 

resources in different ways to meet community needs   
d) Use peer experts and best practice from elsewhere to challenge and inform 

thinking and support plan development  
e) Work with service users and key stakeholders to build and refine ideas and 

actions, including strengthening partnership working through the Health and 
Wellbeing, and Safeguarding Boards 

 
31. Central to this activity will be the development of a suite of performance 

indicators which enables the trust and stakeholders to measure and assess the 
impact and success of the CYPP. A draft performance framework is outlined as 

64



 

 
 
 

7 

  

part of Appendix 1. This will be developed into a bespoke scorecard which can 
track improvements and impact. It is also proposed that the children’s trust 
publish its progress against its objectives yearly, including publishing a ‘family-
friendly’ version which is easily accessible for families and communities.  

 
32. These updates will provide the basis for performance monitoring across the local 

authority and partners, including scrutiny committees, corporate parenting 
committee and partnership governing bodies. When combined with existing 
performance reporting arrangements for the JHWS and Council Plan, the result 
will be a comprehensive scorecard detailing activity and its impact improving 
outcomes for local children, young people and families. 

 
33. Alongside strategic and service developments, it is proposed the CYPP, and the 

commitments within it, are promoted widely to stakeholders and communities 
through a launch event following Council Assembly.  

 
Community impact statement 

 
34. Analysis of the evidence gathered through the joint strategic needs assessment 

and stakeholder feedback, as outlined above, demonstrates the council’s 
commitment to and fulfilment of its public sector equality duty. In particular the 
experience and outcomes of relevant protected groups, such as age, race, 
disability, pregnancy and maternity, were explored in detail to ensure that the 
CYPP as a strategic planning framework supports the elimination of unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation as well as the advancement of 
equality of opportunity and the fostering of good relations between people who 
share a protected characteristic and those who do not.  

 
35. Going forward, the work of the children’s trust and the CYPP will have wide-

reaching implications for all children, young people and families, especially our 
most vulnerable. A key underpinning principle will be to ensure it embeds 
considerations of equalities and human rights throughout its development, action 
and review. We continue to mainstream equalities in all aspects of the work such 
as any further needs assessment, stakeholder engagement and performance 
review arrangements. 

 
Resource implications 
 
36. Plans to deliver the CYPP will be informed by resources available within both the 

local authority and partners. The CYPP provides a planning framework within 
which the council and partners can prioritise investment and commissioning 
choices, and ensure that we collectively utilise resources such as free early 
years entitlements, voluntary sector funding streams and pupil premium to name 
a few. As appropriate, resourcing plans will be reflected through the council 
budget setting processes. 

 
37. In some cases, delivering the transformation may require partners to pool or align 

budgets, or in some cases jointly commission services. Any such developments 
will be conducted through the appropriate local governance mechanisms.  

 
38. In delivering the transformation in a challenging public sector financial context, it 

is vital that services are evidence based, cost effective and efficient. The CYPP 
will be used as a driver to remove duplication where it exists across the children’s 
system and target resources against the agreed transformation areas. 

65



 

 
 
 

8 

  

 
Consultation  
 
39. The CYPP was developed following an extensive programme of consultation, as 

outlined above. Going forward, the proposed CYPP is being considered in line 
with the governance arrangements of other partners. In addition, members have 
been involved and consulted through lead member briefings, scrutiny, corporate 
parenting committee and other forums.  

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
40. Under the council constitution at Part 3A, the policy framework of the Children & 

Young People’s Plan (CYPP) is a matter reserved to council assembly for 
agreement. The report requests that the Cabinet recommends the adoption of 
the CYPP and agrees: 

 
a) that this becomes the key policy framework document for children and young 

people and  
b) becomes the local framework for partnership working, driving the 

transformation of local provision for children and families and 
c) will form the basis for the work of other key statutory bodies including the 

Health and Wellbeing and Safeguarding Boards. 
 

41. Although there remains a requirement for local authorities to have Children’s 
Trust, the regulations requiring a CYPP has been revoked and guidance 
withdrawn.  Nevertheless local authorities may have a CYPP if they wish.    The 
duty of partners on the Trust to cooperate remains; however, there is no longer 
have to formal duty to have “due regard” to the plan.   

 
42. The Cabinet will be aware that under the PSED General Duty public authorities 

must have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation as well as to advance equality of opportunity and 
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.  

 
43. The protected groups covered by the equality duty are: age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. The duty also covers marriage and civil partnerships, but only in 
respect of eliminating unlawful discrimination.   

 
44. This report explains the development of the plan and the consultation and 

engagement that took place with stakeholders to inform the focus and priorities 
within the plan.  The report also explains how the plan has underpinned with the 
principles of the PSED and in particular in regard to age, disability, pregnancy 
and maternity, and race. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/031) 
 
45. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the proposal set 

out in this report and confirms that there are no direct financial implications 
arising.  

 

66



 

 
 
 

9 

  

46. Funding to deliver this plan will be subject to separate approvals, including the 
council’s budget setting process. Officer time to implement this decision can be 
contained within existing resources. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Joint strategic needs assessment www.southwarkjsna.com

; www.southwark.gov.uk 
Elaine Allegretti, 
020 7525 3923   

1,000 Journey – A selection of user 
experiences  

www.southwark.gov.uk  Elaine Allegretti, 
020 7525 3923   

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Draft 2013-16 CYPP 
Appendix 2 1000 Journeys – A selection of user experiences 
Appendix 3 Draft 2013-16 CYPP summary leaflet 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle, Children’s Services 

Lead Officer Romi Bowen, Strategic Director, Children’s and Adults’ Services 
Report Author Elaine Allegretti, Head of Strategy, Planning and Performance, 

Children’s and Adults’ Services 
Version Final 
Dated 5 September 2013 

Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 
 

67



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust 
 

DRAFT Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

2013-2016 
 
 

68



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

1 

  

1. Foreword by Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle 
 
We, the partners of Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust, are pleased to introduce 
our Children and Young People’s Plan for 2013 to 2016. It has been developed in an 
unprecedented environment, with the transformation of the statutory landscape 
gathering pace and breadth, and continuing harsh economic conditions. 
 
We continue to face these challenges. We see them as a historic opportunity to 
continue to protect the most vulnerable in society and reshape what services we offer 
to ensure they better meet the needs of the children, young people and families we 
serve.  
 
The priorities in this plan were developed against continuing strong performance of our 
universal services, which are improving the life chances of our children, young people 
and families. More children, for example, are achieving better at school, having better 
health including a healthy school lunch, or succeeding into adulthood through better 
education and employment opportunities.  
 
This plan builds on these successes. Unlike in previous plans, we have decided to 
focus this CYPP purely on transforming the areas we know need to improve. We 
identified these transformation areas in partnership with those who have the biggest 
stake in our borough – our children, young people, parents, carers, staff and 
practitioners. 
 
Through the stories and journeys you shared with us, we have identified three 
transformation areas that we, as children’s trust partners, promise to work together 
over the next three years to improve.  We are proud of how your voice and journeys – 
over 1,300 in total – have shaped the priorities in this plan, and have published a 
selection alongside this CYPP.  
 
Now that we have agreed our transformational priorities, we are committed to driving 
through the major changes we and our communities need. We will focus our efforts on 
the priorities identified in this plan, and will work across local partnerships and boards 
to align our commitments and ensure our priorities underpin action. We will decide 
together how we will target our limited resources for maximum effect. Sometimes this 
means knowing what to stop as well as which new directions to take to make sure we 
get the best value and have the biggest impact. 
 
We will always ensure services are of the highest quality and based on evidence of 
need. We will focus on improving family life and ensuring that children are safe from 
harm. We recognise the importance of having a home and neighbourhood you enjoy 
living in, and will work to make sure vulnerable and disadvantaged children, young 
people and families have the best chances in life.  
 
We are committed to acting early to prevent problems getting worse where we can, 
and on creating a workforce able to achieve our vision. We aspire to make the borough 
a place to be proud of, and call on everyone involved in the lives of children, young 
people and families in Southwark to work with us to ensure every child, young person, 
family and community achieves their full potential.

69



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

2 

  

2. Introduction  
 
The 2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) builds on previous plans and 
strong local performance, with Southwark continuing to perform highly against a range 
of benchmarks. During the life of the last CYPP, however, much changed in the 
statutory framework for children’s services. This included a significant overhaul of the 
duties regarding children’s trusts including the revocation of CYPP regulations. Locally 
partners have agreed to retain a children’s trust and publish a CYPP as we believe 
that only together can we achieve our ambitions for local residents. 
 
The CYPP is part of a suite of local strategies for the children’s system. Locally the 
Council Plan sets out how services work together to improve outcomes for children 
and families, including delivery of the council’s Fairer Future commitments. In addition, 
the introduction of statutory duties on the council and clinical commissioning group to 
establish a health and wellbeing board and produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) has provided new opportunities for partners to jointly improve the 
outcomes and experiences of our residents including children and young people.  
 
The JHWS also provides the framework for all local strategies including the CYPP as 
well as partner plans such as the Safer Southwark Partnership rolling plan, the clinical 
commissioning group’s operating plan, and service strategies such as those covering 
economic wellbeing and culture. Collectively they ensure that local action remains 
firmly focused on improving outcomes for all children, young people and families. 
 
Opportunities exist too in the transfer of public health functions to the local authority, 
which will strengthen partnerships and services around children, young people and 
families. The creation of the health and wellbeing board with a statutory mandate to 
promote integration to improve outcomes also provides further opportunities to 
progress towards the objectives in this plan. 
 
Other statutory changes include new requirements for safeguarding children boards, 
as set out in the revised Working Together statutory guidance, and new legislation, 
including the Children and Families Bill. This raises the bar around the delivery of 
services for vulnerable children, such as those in care or placed for adoption, or 
children with special educational needs and disability, and for the role of early help 
services.  
 
The CYPP was developed following an extensive joint strategic needs assessment. 
Working jointly with public health, the local authority and its partners looked at the 
experiences and journey of children, young people and families within services. 
Partners also held an extensive programme of stakeholder consultation events. Called 
‘1,000 journeys’, these borough-wide events sought the views and experiences of 
children, young people, parents, carers and frontline staff as well as local groups, ward 
members and community leaders. Some 1,300 Southwark journeys were collected in 
total, and these have been used to shape and inform the transformation commitments 
within this CYPP.  
 
A selection of user journeys has being published alongside a summary of the needs 
assessment, in order to show how the views and needs of stakeholders and residents 
have influenced our priorities. In addition we have published a summary of the CYPP. 
To access any of these documents, visit www.southwark.gov.uk or call 020 7525 3674.

70



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

3 

  

3. Southwark’s Children and Families Trust Vision 
 
Our partnership vision is that  
 
“Every child, young person and family in Southwark thrives and is empowered to lead 
a safe and healthy life. We will work together to deliver high quality services that make 
a measurable difference in helping to overcome inequality and disadvantage, and 
strengthen families’ abilities to raise their children successfully and independently. 
 
Our Children and Young People’s Plan sets out our three areas for local 
transformation: 
 

§ Best start – Children, young people and families access the right support at 
the right time, from early years to adolescence 

 
§ Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and 

families receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and positive 
change 

 
§ Choice and control – Children and young people with a special educational 

need or disability and their families access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support from childhood to adulthood 

 

71



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

4 

  

4. Our values  
 
As partners, we are committed to the following values as we set out to achieve our 
transformation outcomes. We will work together to: 
 

§ Empower children, young people, families and their communities to be safe, 
independent and responsible for their own wellbeing   

 
§ Maintain a shared commitment to resource early help services that divert need,  

providing the right support at the right time, and stemming the flow to specialist 
services 

 
§ Equip the workforce and community resources with the right tools and skills to 

know how to achieve positive change and improved wellbeing in families 
 

§ Being open, inclusive and accountable in our actions, ensuring families are 
central to decisions about them, and their journeys are shaped by their voice 
and experience 

 
§ Commit resources to evidence-based practice that is accessible and led by our 

community’s needs, underpinned by a shared commitment to earlier 
intervention and protecting the most vulnerable 

 
§ Use meaningful outreach to enable vulnerable families to take up services that 

best meet their needs  
 

5. Our principles  
 

As partners, we are committed to transforming the service user journey through the 
following service redesign principles. We will work together to deliver high quality 
services by: 
 

§ Making commissioning choices that recognise and improve the journey of the 
child through services and life stages  

 
§ Raising the bar through more and better integration of services at the right 

point in the journey 
 

§ Retaining what works locally and recognising where we need creative and new 
ways of working to improve outcomes 

 
§ Enabling provision to be flexible and bespoke to families’ needs and choices, 

emphasising strengths as well as needs 
 

§ Ensuring services are simplified, transparent and easily accessible 
 

§ Ongoing continuous improvement through benchmarking, and using peer and 
field expert challenge 

 
§ Spending money as if it were our own and making the best use of resources to 

meet need, striking the balance between meeting needs early, value for 
money, sustainability and quality 

 

72



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

5 

  

6. Our transformation commitments and the results we expect 
 
6.1 Best start – children, young people and families access the right 
support at the right time, from early years to adolescence 
 
1. Children and families access local, good-quality childhood provision that meets their 
needs 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Improve access to provision from antenatal services and childcare through to 
starting school 

§ Ensure all our children’s centres and early years providers are Ofsted rated 
good or outstanding 

§ Reduce health inequalities in young children, such as by improving 
immunisation and low birth weight rates 

§ Realign resources to better support those most in need, for example making 
best use of education and health checks, the healthy child programme, free 
early education entitlements and community health provision  

 
2. Timely and effective early help prevents need escalating 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure local and common assessment frameworks provide a holistic, timely 
and proportionate initial response 

§ Increase resilience by supporting parents to raise their children successfully 
and young people to succeed into adulthood 

§ Close the gap in outcomes for more vulnerable or troubled children, including in 
attainment, attendance and health 

§ Realign resources and build pathways around key triggers and risks in the 
journey of vulnerable or troubled children, young people and families 

 
3. Flexible, holistic early help reduces the risk experienced by vulnerable or troubled 
children and families 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure our initial response spots and acts in a timely and proportionate way to 
reduce risk 

§ Enable vulnerable families to step down successfully from intensive support 
§ Achieve permanent positive change for vulnerable children and families more 

quickly, such as through reduced contacts, repeat plans and duration of 
support   

§ Expand the range of targeted community-facing provision to prevent problems 
escalating for our most vulnerable or troubled families 

 

73



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

6 

  

6.2 Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and 
families receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and 
positive change 
 
1. Social work that makes a difference to partners, professionals, families and 
communities 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
  

§ Assess risk, detect warning signs early and ensure the initial response results 
in a clear, timely and appropriate offer of support at the right level in the system 

§ Work more holistically around children and families, including developing 
ongoing bespoke support that works with the families’ strengths and needs 

§ Transform social work practice by empowering the workforce with the right 
skills, systems and networks to make positive change to the lives of vulnerable 
families 

§ Develop family resources and interventions that are flexible, appropriate and 
evidence based 

 
2. A system-wide approach to neglect 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Gear the whole system, from universal and early help provision through to 
statutory services, towards spotting and acting on the signs of neglect 

§ Invest in interventions that recognise and tackle the causes of neglect and 
reduce the impact of a legacy of neglect 

§ Reduce drift and delay through more assertive practice 
§ Align resources to ensure no child is left in damaging neglectful situations  

 
3. More children and young people find a permanent and stable home 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure there is sufficient quality provision to keep children and young people in 
stable homes 

§ Embed planning for permanency at every stage of the child’s journey 
§ Increase the number and range of children getting home more quickly, 

including being adopted 
§ Free resources to be used flexibly and creatively to achieve lasting positive 

change that meets need 
 

74



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

7 

  

6.3 Choice and control – Children and young people with a special 
educational need or disability and their families access a local offer of 
seamless, personalised support from childhood to adulthood 
 
1. Children with complex needs have a quality, integrated education, health and care 
plan 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure the services offered locally are sufficient to meet need and clearly 
promoted 

§ Place the child and family at the centre of everything we do 
§ Provide services that promote a smooth and integrated journey and enable 

children and young people to thrive and prepare for adulthood 
§ Align resources to support seamless planning across the continuum of need 

 
2. Families take control and make real choices about their support 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure effective advocacy, information and advice services empower children, 
young people and their families 

§ Empower providers to develop quality provision which meets families’ needs 
§ Enable families to choose how they access support, including through a 

personal budget 
§ Apply the principles of personalisation to all that we do 

 
3. Young people and families have increased independence and resilience 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Provide high-quality, flexible and responsive services, making best use of 
partnership resources, and universal settings and providers 

§ Empower families to make better use of the range of opportunities available to 
them 

§ Develop early help and targeted services which build families’ capacity and 
help to meet needs earlier 

§ Organise resources, services and the workforce to enable children and young 
people to move seamlessly through life stages 

 
 
  
 
 

 

75



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

8 

  

7. Measuring our progress 
 
The table below sets out a scorecard of performance measures with which the trust 
will hold services and the system to account in progressing actions against our shared 
priorities. It is intended that over the lifetime of the CYPP, these measures will be 
developed into a bespoke suite to demonstrate improvements on impact on outcomes, 
journey and/or quality. 
 

Best start 
Percentage take-up of key childhood immunisations 
Percentage of health visitor checks completed at age 2-2.5 years 
Percentage of children’s centres rated good or outstanding by Ofsted 
Percentage take-up of free early education entitlements 
Rates of fixed term and permanent exclusions, by school phase 
Percentage of first time entrants to the criminal justice system 
Violent youth crime rate 
Percentage of referrals to the early help team resulting in support, by agency 
Percentage of referrals to social care which result in no further action, by 
agency 
Re-referral rate to social care 
 
Choice and control 
Percentage of eligible children receiving an integrated education, health and 
social care assessment and plan (or single agency assessment/plan in lieu of 
integrated process), by agency 
Percentage of integrated plans (or single agency plan) completed to timescale 
Percentage of families who ask for a personal budget receiving one 
Percentage of combined budgets spent on personal budgets and personalised 
services 
Percentage of children, young people and families happy with the care they 
receive 
Percentage of eligible children previously in receipt of early help 
Percentage of requests for statutory support resulting in no further action 
Percentage of children and young people with a fixed term exclusion who have 
an identified SEND 
 
Safety and stability 
Re-referral rate to social care 
Number of children in care adopted and percentage leaving care who are 
adopted 
The number and percentage of children for whom the permanence decision has 
changed away from adoption 
Percentage of children becoming subject of child protection plan for a second or 
subsequent time, and those within two years of the previous plans end date 
Percentage of child protection plans lasting 2 or more years at point they cease 
Percentage of care proceedings to timescale 
Percentage of children in need who are classed as persistent absentees 
Percentage of sessions missed for children who are the subject of a child 
protection plan 

 
 
 

76



...
an

d 
ho

w
 y

ou
r 

st
or

ie
s 

he
lp

ed
 s

et
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k’
s 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

fa
m

ili
es

W
ha

t 
yo

u 
to

ld
 u

s.
..A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 2

77



2

78



3

W
e 

ar
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k’
s 

Ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

Fa
m

ili
es

’ T
ru

st
 a

nd
 w

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

th
e 

Ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

Yo
un

g 
Pe

op
le

’s
 P

la
n 

to
 s

et
 o

ut
 

ho
w

 w
e 

w
ill

 im
pr

ov
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 f
or

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 in

 
th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h 
ov

er
 t

he
 n

ex
t 

th
re

e 
ye

ar
s 

to
 2

01
6.

W
e 

be
ga

n 
de

ve
lo

pi
ng

 t
he

 p
la

n 
in

 J
un

e 
20

12
 w

he
n 

w
e 

w
en

t 
ou

t 
in

to
 o

ur
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 a
nd

 a
sk

ed
 y

ou
 t

o 
te

ll 
us

 
ab

ou
t 

a 
st

or
y 

or
 jo

ur
ne

y 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 h

ad
. W

e 
w

er
e 

de
lig

ht
ed

 t
ha

t 
m

or
e 

th
an

 1
,3

00
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e,
 p

ar
en

ts
, c

ar
er

s,
 s

ta
ff

 
an

d 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
 re

sp
on

de
d.

 T
he

se
 jo

ur
ne

ys
 h

av
e 

sh
ap

ed
 o

ur
 

pl
an

 f
or

 lo
ca

l s
er

vi
ce

s.

“E
ve

ry
 c

hi
ld

, y
ou

ng
 p

er
so

n 
an

d 
fa

m
ily

 in
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
th

riv
es

 
an

d 
is

 e
m

po
w

er
ed

 t
o 

le
ad

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

he
al

th
y 

lif
e.

 W
e 

w
ill

 
w

or
k 

to
ge

th
er

 t
o 

de
liv

er
 h

ig
h-

qu
al

ity
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

th
at

 m
ak

e 
a 

m
ea

su
ra

bl
e 

di
ff

er
en

ce
 in

 h
el

pi
ng

 t
o 

ov
er

co
m

e 
in

eq
ua

lit
y 

an
d 

di
sa

dv
an

ta
ge

, a
nd

 s
tr

en
gt

he
n 

fa
m

ili
es

’ a
bi

lit
ie

s 
to

 
ra

is
e 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

ly
 a

nd
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
.”

B
es

t 
st

ar
t

Pr
ov

id
in

g 
th

e 
rig

ht
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

t 
th

e 
rig

ht
 

tim
e

in
 t

he
ir 

lif
e

Sa
fe

ty
 a

n
d

 s
ta

b
ili

ty
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

ou
r 

m
os

t 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 f
am

ili
es

 
to

 b
rin

g 
ab

ou
t 

sa
fe

, p
os

iti
ve

 
an

d 
la

st
in

g 
ch

an
ge

C
h

o
ic

e 
an

d
 c

o
n

tr
o

l
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

se
am

le
ss

, 
pe

rs
on

al
is

ed
 s

up
po

rt
 f

or
 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 
w

ith
 a

 s
pe

ci
al

 e
du

ca
tio

na
l 

ne
ed

 o
r 

di
sa

bi
lit

y

Pr
es

en
te

d
 in

 t
h

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 p
ag

es
 a

re
 ju

st
 a

 
fe

w
 o

f 
th

e 
m

an
y 

st
o

ri
es

 y
o

u
 s

h
ar

ed
 w

it
h

 u
s.

OU
R 

VI
SIO

N 
FO

R 
CH

ILD
RE

N,
 Y

OU
NG

 P
EO

PL
E 

 
AN

D 
FA

MI
LIE

S 
IN

 S
OU

TH
WA

RK W
e 

al
so

 lo
ok

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
de

m
an

d 
an

d 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 o

f 
lo

ca
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

ta
lk

ed
 t

o 
se

ni
or

 
de

ci
si

on
–m

ak
er

s 
ab

ou
t 

w
ha

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

he
y 

fe
lt 

w
er

e 
w

or
ki

ng
 w

el
l a

nd
 w

ha
t 

ne
ed

ed
 t

o 
ch

an
ge

. W
e 

to
ok

 a
ll 

of
 t

hi
s 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
th

re
e 

tr
an

sf
or

m
at

io
n 

pr
io

rit
y 

ar
ea

s 
in

 t
he

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Yo

un
g 

Pe
op

le
’s 

Pl
an

:

79



4

W
h

at
 d

o
es

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

n
?

W
e 

al
l n

ee
d 

a 
lit

tle
 h

el
p 

at
 s

om
e 

po
in

t 
in

 
ou

r 
lif

e 
– 

m
ay

be
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

a 
ne

w
 p

ar
en

t 
w

ith
 a

 n
ew

 b
ab

y,
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

st
ar

tin
g 

sc
ho

ol
 o

r 
w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

re
co

ve
rin

g 
fr

om
 a

 
di

ffi
cu

lt 
si

tu
at

io
n 

in
 y

ou
r 

fa
m

ily
 li

fe
. S

o 
w

e 
ar

e 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 t
o 

m
ak

in
g 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
yo

u 
ca

n 
ac

ce
ss

 t
he

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
yo

u 
ne

ed
 w

he
n 

an
d 

ho
w

 
yo

u 
ne

ed
 t

he
m

, t
o 

he
lp

 y
ou

 o
n 

to
 t

he
 p

at
h 

to
 s

uc
ce

ss
.

W
e 

pr
om

is
e 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 f
am

ili
es

 c
an

 a
cc

es
s 

th
e 

rig
ht

 s
up

po
rt

 a
t 

th
e 

rig
ht

 t
im

e 
– 

fr
om

 e
ar

ly
 y

ea
rs

 t
o 

ad
ol

es
ce

nc
e 

– 
gi

vi
ng

 t
he

m
 t

he
 b

es
t 

st
ar

t 
on

 t
he

ir 
jo

ur
ne

ys
.

W
h

at
 c

an
 y

o
u

 e
xp

ec
t 

to
 c

h
an

g
e 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
is

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
?

To
 fi

nd
 it

 e
as

ie
r 

to
 u

se
 lo

ca
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

an
te

na
ta

l s
er

vi
ce

s,
 

ch
ild

ca
re

 o
r 

se
rv

ic
es

 in
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s

M
or

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
ha

vi
ng

 t
he

ir 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 e
du

ca
tio

n 
ch

ec
ks

 a
nd

 
im

m
un

is
at

io
ns

, a
nd

 m
or

e 
ha

vi
ng

 b
et

te
r 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 t

ak
in

g 
up

 
fr

ee
 e

ar
ly

 e
du

ca
tio

n 
pl

ac
es

 

Fe
w

er
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

m
is

si
ng

 s
ch

oo
l o

r 
be

in
g 

in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 c

rim
e

M
or

e 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

po
si

tiv
e 

ch
an

ge
s 

m
or

e 
qu

ic
kl

y 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

su
pp

or
t 

fr
om

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t 

se
rv

ic
es

80



5

“I
 h

av
e 

liv
ed

 in
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 f

o
r 

n
ea

rl
y 

20
 y

ea
rs

, 
an

d 
ha

ve
 t

w
o 

ch
ild

re
n.

 W
he

n 
I h

ad
 m

y 
ch

ild
re

n,
 

I w
as

 s
ur

pr
is

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
le

ve
l o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k.
 M

y 
el

de
st

 w
as

 b
or

n 
in

 2
00

8 
w

he
n 

th
er

e 
w

er
e 

a 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 S
ur

eS
ta

rt
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 
to

 a
tt

en
d.

 T
hi

s 
m

ea
nt

 w
e 

m
et

 m
an

y 
pe

op
le

 in
 

th
e 

ar
ea

, f
ee

lin
g 

pa
rt

 o
f 

a 
co

m
m

un
ity

, w
hi

ch
 

is
 u

nu
su

al
 in

 L
on

do
n.

 M
y 

el
de

st
 a

ls
o 

ha
d 

th
e 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 t

o 
le

ar
n 

a 
se

co
nd

 la
ng

ua
ge

 a
nd

 d
o 

m
us

ic
. I

 h
av

e 
re

ce
nt

ly
 re

tu
rn

ed
 t

o 
w

or
k 

af
te

r 
th

e 
bi

rt
h 

of
 m

y 
se

co
nd

 c
hi

ld
, a

nd
 h

av
e 

be
en

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 

by
 f

an
ta

st
ic

 n
ur

se
ry

 p
ro

vi
si

on
. J

ug
gl

in
g 

w
or

k 
an

d 
ch

ild
ca

re
 w

ill
 b

e 
th

e 
ne

xt
 s

ta
ge

 o
f 

m
y 

jo
ur

ne
y.

”

“I
 w

as
 q

ui
te

 u
ns

ur
e 

ab
ou

t b
ei

ng
 a

 p
ar

en
t a

nd
 w

as
 

gl
ad

 to
 fi

nd
 s

up
po

rt
. M

y 
he

al
th

 v
isi

to
r r

ef
er

re
d 

m
e 

to
 th

e 
ch

ild
re

n’
s 

ce
nt

re
. I

’v
e 

m
ad

e 
lif

el
on

g 
fr

ie
nd

s.
 

It 
w

as
 g

re
at

 ta
ki

ng
 m

y 
ch

ild
 to

 a
 p

la
yg

ro
up

 e
ve

ry
 

da
y,

 a
nd

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
m

ys
el

f u
p 

by
 e

nr
ol

lin
g 

on
 c

ou
rs

es
. 

I’m
 n

ow
 m

en
to

rin
g 

so
m

eo
ne

 a
nd

 w
at

ch
in

g 
th

em
 

be
co

m
e 

a 
co

nfi
de

nt
 p

ar
en

t a
s 

w
el

l.”

“I
 c

am
e 

to
 li

ve
 in

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 in
 1

99
5.

 I 
ha

ve
 a

 n
in

e 
ye

ar
-o

ld
 d

au
gh

te
r 

no
w

, a
nd

 4
 y

ea
rs

 a
go

 I 
go

t 
m

y 
re

gi
st

ra
tio

n 
to

 b
e 

a 
ch

ild
 m

in
de

r. 
It 

is
 t

he
 b

es
t 

th
in

g 
– 

th
is

 le
ts

 m
e 

sp
en

d 
tim

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
da

ug
ht

er
. 

W
he

n 
I s

ta
rt

ed
 m

y 
ch

ild
-m

in
di

ng
 b

us
in

es
s,

 I 
le

ar
nt

 
ab

ou
t 

al
l t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

he
lp

 a
va

ila
bl

e,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.
 M

y 
fir

st
 la

ng
ua

ge
 is

 S
pa

ni
sh

, 
so

 w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 t

o 
do

 E
ng

lis
h 

la
ng

ua
ge

 c
ou

rs
es

. M
y 

ch
ild

 m
in

de
r 

co
or

di
na

to
r 

w
as

 v
er

y 
he

lp
fu

l, 
as

 w
er

e 
th

e 
st

af
f 

fr
om

 t
he

 c
en

tr
e 

– 
th

ey
 g

av
e 

m
e 

lo
ts

 o
f 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 t

o 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

e.
 T

hi
s 

bu
ilt

 m
y 

co
nfi

de
nc

e 
to

 b
e 

m
or

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ith
 

ot
he

r 
pa

re
nt

s 
an

d 
ch

ild
re

n.
”

BE
ST

 S
TA

RT
 F

OR
 Y

OU
NG

 F
AM

ILI
ES

“D
if

fi
cu

lt
 li

vi
n

g
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

s,
 n

o 
jo

b 
an

d 
ha

vi
ng

 
m

y 
se

co
nd

 d
au

gh
te

r 
pu

sh
ed

 m
e 

in
to

 s
ev

er
e 

de
pr

es
si

on
. M

y 
G

P 
re

fe
rr

ed
 m

e 
to

 t
he

 m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 c

ar
e 

te
am

 –
 t

he
y 

he
lp

ed
 a

 lo
t 

by
 lo

ok
in

g 
fo

r 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 t

ha
t 

w
ill

 le
t 

m
e 

ge
t 

ou
t 

an
d 

ab
ou

t.
 I 

al
so

 
us

e 
th

e 
as

yl
um

 s
ee

ke
rs

 g
ro

up
. I

’m
 n

ow
 lo

ok
in

g 
to

 
ge

t 
ba

ck
 in

to
 w

or
k 

al
th

ou
gh

 it
’s 

no
t 

al
w

ay
s 

ea
sy

 t
o 

st
ay

 o
n 

an
 e

ve
n 

ke
el

.”

“G
o

t 
p

re
g

n
an

t 
at

 2
2 

th
ro

ug
h 

dr
ug

s;
 s

oc
ia

l 
w

or
ke

rs
 g

ot
 in

vo
lv

ed
. N

o 
on

e 
to

 c
he

ck
 o

n 
m

e;
 

he
al

th
 v

is
ito

r 
on

ly
 c

am
e 

tw
ic

e.
 S

om
e 

pe
op

le
 g

et
 

gu
id

an
ce

 b
ut

 I 
go

t 
le

ft
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n.
” 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
PR

EG
N

AN
CY

, P
AR

EN
TI

N
G,

 A
N

D 
CO

PI
N

G 
W

IT
H 

CH
ILD

RE
N

.

81



6

“I
 a

m
 a

 m
u

m
 o

f 
tw

o
 g

ir
ls

 –
 o

ne
 is

 in
 p

rim
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

, t
he

 o
th

er
 is

 a
 b

ab
y.

 I 
fin

d 
th

e 
bu

lk
 re

m
ov

al
 

se
rv

ic
e 

ve
ry

 u
se

fu
l –

 w
ith

 a
 n

ew
 b

ab
y 

yo
u 

ne
ed

 t
o 

bu
y 

a 
lo

t 
of

 t
hi

ng
s,

 a
nd

 u
pd

at
e 

yo
ur

 f
ur

ni
tu

re
. I

 g
o 

to
 t

he
 b

ab
y 

cl
in

ic
 f

or
 m

y 
ba

by
’s 

ch
ec

k-
up

, b
ut

 t
he

 
cl

in
ic

 is
 u

nd
er

-s
ta

ff
ed

, a
nd

 t
oo

 h
ot

. I
 w

ai
te

d 
ov

er
 

tw
o 

ho
ur

s 
fo

r 
a 

ch
ec

k.
 M

y 
he

al
th

 v
is

ito
r 

is
 v

er
y 

go
od

 a
t 

ad
vi

si
ng

 o
n 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
 w

an
t 

to
 re

tu
rn

 t
o 

w
or

k 
ne

xt
, a

nd
 w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 g

et
 a

 n
ur

se
ry

 p
la

ce
.”

“M
y 

fi
rs

t 
ch

ild
 w

as
 b

o
rn

 in
 2

00
5.

 M
y 

he
al

th
 

vi
si

to
r 

to
ld

 m
e 

ab
ou

t 
m

y 
lo

ca
l c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

, 
an

d 
Bo

ok
st

ar
t.

 I 
w

as
 o

n 
m

at
er

ni
ty

 le
av

e 
an

d 
w

an
te

d 
to

 t
ak

e 
m

y 
ba

by
 o

ut
 t

o 
m

ee
t 

ot
he

r 
ch

ild
re

n.
 I 

di
dn

’t 
kn

ow
 w

ha
t 

to
 e

xp
ec

t 
be

ca
us

e 
I 

ha
d 

ne
ve

r 
he

ar
d 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.
 I 

fe
lt 

ve
ry

 
ha

pp
y 

w
he

n 
I w

en
t 

to
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

, a
nd

 
Bo

ok
st

ar
t 

gr
ou

ps
 a

t 
th

e 
lib

ra
ry

. I
t 

w
as

 t
he

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
 

of
 o

ur
 w

ee
k.

 T
he

 c
en

tr
e 

ha
s 

gi
ve

n 
m

e 
a 

lo
t 

of
 h

el
p 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t 

ov
er

 t
he

 y
ea

rs
. T

hi
s 

m
ad

e 
m

e 
w

an
t 

to
 b

ec
om

e 
a 

vo
lu

nt
ee

r. 
Th

e 
K

ic
k 

St
ar

t 
Yo

ur
 L

ife
 

co
ur

se
 g

av
e 

m
e 

di
re

ct
io

n 
on

 w
ha

t 
to

 d
o 

on
ce

 m
y 

ch
ild

re
n 

ar
e 

at
 s

ch
oo

l.”

“I
 a

m
 n

ea
rl

y 
fi

ni
sh

in
g 

m
y 

fi
na

l y
ea

r 
at

 
un

iv
er

si
ty

– 
I a

m
 a

 m
um

 o
f t

w
o.

 I 
go

t p
re

gn
an

t a
t 

21
 a

nd
 h

ad
 to

 le
av

e 
co

lle
ge

. T
hi

ng
s 

w
er

e 
to

ug
h 

– 
Iw

as
 s

tr
ug

gl
in

g 
to

 g
et

 m
y 

lif
e 

in
 o

rd
er

. I
 w

as
 g

et
tin

g 
he

lp
 fr

om
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k:
 I 

ha
d 

a 
pe

rs
on

al
 a

dv
iso

r 
w

ho
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
se

t g
oa

ls.
 I 

w
as

 a
lso

 in
 to

uc
h 

w
ith

 
a 

fa
m

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 w

or
ke

r w
ho

 h
el

pe
d 

m
e 

se
cu

re
 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

an
d 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 I 
pa

id
 m

y 
bi

lls
. 

“T
h

e 
th

in
g

 t
h

at
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

b
ig

g
es

t 
d

if
fe

re
n

ce
w

as
 h

av
in

g 
a 

no
n-

ju
dg

em
en

ta
l s

er
vi

ce
 t

o 
su

pp
or

t 
m

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 m

y 
pa

re
nt

in
g 

al
on

gs
id

e 
em

po
w

er
in

g 
m

e 
to

 g
ro

w
 p

er
so

na
lly

 b
y 

be
fr

ie
nd

sh
ip

. W
ha

t 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
di

ff
er

en
t 

is
 

su
pp

or
t 

in
 p

re
gn

an
cy

 t
ha

t 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 p
re

ve
nt

ed
 

m
y 

po
st

-n
at

al
 d

ep
re

ss
io

n 
be

in
g 

so
 s

er
io

us
 a

nd
 

ea
rli

er
 p

os
iti

ve
 b

on
di

ng
 w

ith
 m

y 
ch

ild
.”

 

“I
f 

p
ar

en
ts

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
ar

e 
n

o
t 

ac
ce

ss
in

g
 a

va
ila

b
le

 s
er

vi
ce

s,
 a

re
 t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
w

ha
t 

th
ey

 n
ee

d?
”

“I
 f

ee
l s

o
 h

ap
p

y 
h

av
in

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
, f

rie
nd

s,
 a

nd
 

go
od

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
m

y 
ba

by
 a

nd
 m

e.
 W

he
n 

I h
ad

 
m

y 
da

ug
ht

er
, t

he
 h

ea
lth

 v
is

ito
r 

ga
ve

 m
e 

a 
‘le

t’s
 

go
’ m

ag
az

in
e,

 a
nd

 a
dv

is
ed

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
ba

by
 g

ro
up

s,
 

th
en

 I 
w

en
t 

to
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

. T
he

 E
ng

lis
h 

co
ur

se
s 

al
so

 r
ea

lly
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e.
 T

he
se

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
es

 
ha

ve
 m

ad
e 

m
e 

w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

a 
ch

ild
 m

in
de

r 
an

d 
ca

re
 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n.

”

“W
it

h
 m

o
re

 jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

o
lla

b
o

ra
ti

o
n

,
w

e 
ar

e 
in

cr
ea

si
ng

ly
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

ot
he

rs
 t

o 
de

liv
er

 o
ur

 p
rio

rit
ie

s.
 T

he
 q

ue
st

io
n 

is
 h

ow
 d

o 
w

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
m

on
ito

r 
an

d 
ev

al
ua

te
 t

he
se

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
th

ei
r 

im
pa

ct
?”

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 6
5%

 O
F 

LO
CA

L 
CH

ILD
RE

N
’S 

CE
N

TR
ES

 
AR

E 
JU

DG
ED

 G
OO

D 
OR

 O
UT

ST
AN

DI
N

G 
BY

 O
FS

TE
D.

 N
EA

RL
Y 

HA
LF

 O
F 

2 
YE

AR
 O

LD
S 

DO
N

’T
 G

ET
 T

HE
IR

 H
EA

LT
H 

VI
SIT

OR
 

CH
EC

K-
UP

.

 6
4%

 O
F 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 

AC
HI

EV
ED

 A
 G

OO
D 

LE
VE

L 
OF

 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
AT

 E
AR

LY
 Y

EA
RS

 
FO

UN
DA

TI
ON

 S
TA

GE
 IN

 2
01

2 
(L

ON
DO

N
: 5

9%
).

 6
9%

 O
F 

TH
RE

E 
AN

D 
FO

UR
 Y

EA
R 

OL
DS

 IN
 F

RE
E 

ED
UC

AT
IO

N
 A

RE
 IN

 
GO

OD
 O

R 
OU

TS
TA

N
DI

N
G 

SE
TT

IN
GS

 
(L

ON
DO

N
: 7

1%
).

 T
AK

E-
UP

 O
F 

TH
RE

E 
AN

D 
FO

UR
 

YE
AR

 O
LD

 F
RE

E 
ED

UC
AT

IO
N

 IN
 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
IS 

81
%

 (
LO

N
DO

N
: 8

9%
).

82



7

Sh
e 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
se

cu
re

 n
ur

se
ry

 fo
r m

y 
so

n 
w

he
n 

Iw
an

te
d 

to
 g

o 
ba

ck
 to

 c
ol

le
ge

. W
he

n 
I w

an
te

d 
to

 
st

ar
t u

ni
ve

rs
ity

, m
y 

fa
m

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 w

or
ke

r h
el

pe
d.

 
Ie

xp
ec

t t
o 

gr
ad

ua
te

 s
oo

n 
an

d 
st

ar
t w

or
k.

”

“I
 c

am
e 

to
 t

h
e 

U
K

 w
it

h
 m

an
y 

ex
p

ec
ta

ti
o

n
s

– 
to

 fi
nd

 a
 b

et
te

r 
lif

e.
 A

t 
th

e 
be

gi
nn

in
g,

 I 
w

as
 a

 b
it 

af
ra

id
 a

nd
 w

or
rie

d 
as

 a
 f

or
ei

gn
er

. I
’m

 a
 m

ot
he

r 
of

 
tw

o 
ch

ild
re

n,
 b

ut
 n

ot
 h

av
in

g 
m

y 
ex

te
nd

ed
 f

am
ily

 in
 

th
e 

U
K

 w
as

 d
iffi

cu
lt.

 I 
re

m
em

be
r 

se
ek

in
g 

su
pp

or
t 

an
d 

he
lp

 f
ro

m
 h

ea
lth

 v
is

ito
rs

, G
Ps

, m
id

w
ife

, l
oc

al
 

se
rv

ic
es

, c
om

m
un

ity
 c

en
tr

es
 –

 I 
ha

d 
go

od
 a

dv
ic

e 
fr

om
 f

rie
nd

ly
 p

eo
pl

e.
 T

he
 c

rè
ch

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 re

al
ly

 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

le
ar

n 
w

ith
ou

t 
st

re
ss

 o
r 

in
te

rr
up

tio
n.

”

“M
y 

fi
rs

t 
ch

ild
 w

as
 b

o
rn

 w
h

en
 I 

w
as

 1
7

– 
I w

as
 a

 s
in

gl
e 

pa
re

nt
. I

 w
as

 u
ps

et
 a

nd
 

em
ba

rr
as

se
d 

qu
ite

 a
 lo

t.
 I 

w
as

 s
hy

 a
nd

 s
ca

re
d 

of
 

us
in

g 
se

rv
ic

es
. I

 t
ho

ug
ht

 p
eo

pl
e 

lo
ok

ed
 d

ow
n 

on
 m

e.
 T

he
 o

ut
re

ac
h 

w
or

ke
r 

at
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

 re
al

ly
 m

ad
e 

a 
bi

g 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 t
o 

m
e.

 N
ow

, 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ar

e 
in

 s
ch

oo
l –

 I 
w

as
 s

o 
pr

ou
d 

w
he

n 
m

y 
fir

st
 c

hi
ld

 s
ta

rt
ed

 s
ch

oo
l. 

I w
an

t 
to

 h
el

p 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ge

t 
a 

go
od

 e
du

ca
tio

n.
”

“A
ft

er
 m

y 
fi

rs
t 

ch
ild

 w
as

 b
o

rn
, I

 s
ta

rt
ed

 t
o 

fin
d

ou
t 

ab
ou

t 
di

ff
er

en
t 

pl
ay

gr
ou

ps
 a

nd
 b

ab
y 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
m

et
 a

 lo
t 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
– 

st
af

f,
 o

th
er

 
m

um
s,

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
 w

or
ke

rs
 –

 t
ha

t 
pr

ov
id

ed
 s

up
po

rt
. 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
ce

nt
re

s 
ar

e 
pl

ac
es

 t
o 

le
ar

n 
ab

ou
t 

al
l t

he
 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
ha

t 
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 –

 h
el

pi
ng

 m
e 

w
he

n 
I w

as
fe

el
in

g 
fr

us
tr

at
ed

 a
nd

 lo
ck

ed
 in

 w
ith

 m
y 

ki
ds

,b
y 

gi
vi

ng
 m

e 
a 

pl
ac

e 
to

 g
o.

 T
he

y’
re

 p
la

ce
s 

w
he

re
 m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ca

n 
ha

ve
 f

un
 a

nd
 le

ar
n 

in
 

a
sa

fe
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t.
”

“M
y 

tw
o

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 in

 p
ri

m
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l

– 
w

e 
ar

e 
lo

ok
in

g 
at

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 s

ch
oo

l c
ho

ic
es

 f
or

 
m

y 
so

n.
 B

y 
bo

th
 w

or
ki

ng
 p

ar
t-

tim
e,

 m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

an
d 

I s
ha

re
 c

hi
ld

ca
re

 –
 w

e 
w

er
e 

ve
ry

 b
us

y 
at

te
nd

in
g 

al
l t

he
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

, g
ro

up
s,

 a
nd

 t
ra

in
in

g 
av

ai
la

bl
e.

 
M

y 
ou

tr
ea

ch
 w

or
ke

r 
w

as
 s

o 
im

po
rt

an
t 

to
 u

s 
an

d 
be

ca
m

e 
a 

re
al

 f
rie

nd
. S

he
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d 
us

 t
o 

re
al

ly
 

en
ga

ge
 w

ith
 o

ur
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
le

ar
ni

ng
. T

he
 lo

ca
l 

pa
re

nt
 f

or
um

 h
el

pe
d 

us
 g

et
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 p
la

nn
in

g 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 f

or
 p

ar
en

ts
. I

 f
ou

nd
 t

ha
t 

ge
tt

in
g 

ou
t 

an
d 

ab
ou

t 
w

as
 re

al
ly

 h
el

pf
ul

 in
 k

ee
pi

ng
 m

y 
sp

iri
ts

 
up

 w
he

n 
th

in
gs

 g
ot

 t
ou

gh
. I

 w
as

 a
bl

e 
to

 g
o 

to
 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 e

ve
ry

 d
ay

. I
 c

ou
ld

 a
lw

ay
s 

fin
d 

so
m

eo
ne

 
to

 t
al

k 
to

, a
nd

 s
ha

re
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

es
 w

ith
 f

rie
nd

s 
an

d 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
 –

 a
lw

ay
s 

so
m

eo
ne

 t
o 

he
lp

 w
ith

 
ad

vi
ce

. W
ha

t 
re

al
ly

 h
el

pe
d 

w
er

e 
al

l t
he

 S
ur

eS
ta

rt
 

se
rv

ic
es

, b
re

as
tf

ee
di

ng
 c

af
é,

 p
ar

en
t 

an
d 

to
dd

le
r 

gr
ou

ps
, B

oo
ks

ta
rt

, T
in

y 
G

ym
, n

um
er

ou
s 

pa
re

nt
in

g 
co

ur
se

s,
 c

rè
ch

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s,

 P
ar

en
ts

 a
s 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

 in
 

Ea
rly

 L
ea

rn
in

g.
 T

he
 n

ex
t 

pa
rt

 o
f 

m
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

w
ill

 
be

 h
el

pi
ng

 m
y 

ki
ds

 e
nj

oy
 t

he
ir 

sc
ho

ol
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

e;
 

gi
vi

ng
 m

y 
ki

ds
 a

s 
m

an
y 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 a
s 

po
ss

ib
le

.”

83



8

“I
 r

ef
er

re
d

 M
o

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 t
h

e 
b

ir
th

 o
f 

h
er

 
ch

ild
.M

o 
ha

s 
de

pr
es

si
on

, w
ith

 a
 h

is
to

ry
 o

f 
dr

ug
 

an
d 

al
co

ho
l a

bu
se

 a
lth

ou
gh

 s
he

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
cl

ea
n 

fo
r 

tw
o 

ye
ar

s;
 t

he
 f

at
he

r 
ha

s 
a 

hi
st

or
y 

of
 d

ru
g 

po
ss

es
si

on
 t

oo
. M

o 
ha

s 
m

ov
ed

 f
ou

r 
tim

es
 s

in
ce

 
th

e 
bi

rt
h.

 S
he

’s 
ve

ry
 d

iffi
cu

lt 
to

 e
ng

ag
e,

 a
lth

ou
gh

 
no

t 
w

he
n 

sh
e 

kn
ow

s 
yo

u.
”

BE
ST

 S
TA

RT
 F

OR
 F

AM
ILI

ES
 W

ITH
 C

HA
LL

EN
GIN

G 
CIR

CU
MS

TA
NC

ES
“I

’m
 a

 g
o

o
d

 g
ir

l. 
I j

u
st

 h
av

e 
so

m
e 

tr
o

u
b

le
 a

t 
sc

h
o

o
l. 

I’m
 a

 s
en

si
bl

e 
gi

rl.
 I’

m
 lo

ok
in

g 
fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 g
oi

ng
 o

ut
 o

f 
Su

m
m

er
ho

us
e 

an
d 

ba
ck

 t
o 

m
y 

sc
ho

ol
 n

ow
 I 

ca
n 

be
 s

en
si

bl
e.

 I 
en

de
d 

up
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

a 
kn

ife
; i

t 
w

as
 s

ca
ry

.”
 In

 2
00

8 
I w

as
 b

ro
ug

ht
 t

o 
Lo

nd
on

 t
o 

lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 k

id
s 

an
d 

co
ok

. I
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 s

tu
dy

 o
r 

go
 b

ac
k 

to
 s

ch
oo

l a
nd

 le
ar

n 
a 

tr
ad

e.
 

I w
as

 e
xc

ite
d 

to
 b

e 
br

ou
gh

t 
to

 L
on

do
n,

 t
hi

nk
in

g 
lif

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
ve

ry
 g

oo
d.

 I 
w

an
te

d 
to

 le
ar

n 
ho

w
 t

o 
re

ad
, w

rit
e 

an
d 

sp
ea

k 
En

gl
is

h.
 I 

le
ft

 t
ho

se
 t

ha
t 

br
ou

gh
t 

m
e 

to
 L

on
do

n,
 a

nd
 m

et
 a

 f
rie

nd
 w

ith
 

w
ho

m
 I 

sh
ar

ed
 m

y 
fe

el
in

gs
 –

 s
he

 e
nc

ou
ra

ge
d 

m
e,

 
an

d 
ad

vi
se

d 
m

e 
to

 le
av

e.
 I 

ha
d 

to
 le

av
e 

be
ca

us
e 

I 
w

as
 b

ei
ng

 m
is

tr
ea

te
d.

 S
oc

ia
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

he
lp

ed
 w

ith
 

su
pp

or
t 

an
d 

ad
vi

ce
 –

 a
nd

 s
or

te
d 

ou
t 

a 
co

lle
ge

 f
or

 
m

e.
 N

ow
 t

he
 b

ig
ge

st
 d

iff
er

en
ce

 is
 b

ei
ng

 a
t 

sc
ho

ol
 

an
d 

ha
vi

ng
 m

y 
ow

n 
pl

ac
e.

 I 
ha

ve
 f

re
ed

om
 a

nd
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 s
uf

fe
r 

do
m

es
tic

 a
bu

se
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 s
tu

dy
 h

ar
d 

an
d 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 m

or
e 

En
gl

is
h 

– 
be

 a
bl

e 
to

 u
se

 it
 

w
el

l i
n 

m
y 

da
y 

to
 d

ay
 li

fe
, a

nd
 t

o 
ow

n 
m

y 
ow

n 
ha

ir 
an

d 
be

au
ty

 s
al

on
.”

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 O
VE

R 
A 

QU
AR

TE
R 

OF
 R

EF
ER

RA
LS

 
TO

 F
AM

ILY
 S

ER
VI

CE
S 

AR
E 

FO
R 

‘B
AS

IC
 C

AR
E’

, S
UC

H 
AS

 M
AT

ER
N

AL
 

DE
PR

ES
SIO

N
 A

N
D 

HE
AL

TH

 N
EA

RL
Y 

A 
TH

IR
D 

OF
 H

EA
LT

H 
VI

SIT
OR

S’ 
CA

SE
S 

AR
E 

FO
R 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 
W

IT
H 

AD
DI

TI
ON

AL
 N

EE
DS

 –
 T

HA
T’

S 
UP

 
TO

 10
0 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 P
ER

 H
EA

LT
H 

VI
SIT

OR

 T
HE

 L
EV

EL
 O

F 
CH

ILD
 P

OV
ER

TY
 IN

 
SO

UT
HW

AR
K 

IS 
W

OR
SE

 T
HA

N
 T

HE
 

EN
GL

AN
D 

AV
ER

AG
E,

 W
IT

H 
AB

OU
T 

A 
TH

IR
D 

OF
 U

N
DE

R 
16

S 
LIV

IN
G 

IN
 

PO
VE

RT
Y

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
 D

EA
LIN

G 
W

IT
H 

 
DI

FF
IC

UL
T 

SIT
UA

TI
ON

S, 
SU

CH
 A

S 
DE

PR
ES

SIO
N

 O
R 

SU
BS

TA
N

CE
 M

ISU
SE

.

84



9

“I
 c

am
e 

to
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 f

ro
m

 N
ig

er
ia

 in
 2

00
1 

fo
r 

a 
be

tt
er

 li
fe

. I
 li

ve
 in

 a
n 

ov
er

cr
ow

de
d 

ro
om

 –
 I 

ha
ve

 
3 

ch
ild

re
n.

 M
y 

9 
ye

ar
 o

ld
 h

as
 s

pe
ci

al
 n

ee
ds

. I
’m

 
w

or
rie

d 
ab

ou
t 

m
y 

ch
ild

re
n’

s 
fu

tu
re

 a
nd

 s
af

et
y.

 
Th

e 
bi

gg
es

t 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
w

he
n 

I g
ot

 
co

un
se

lli
ng

.”

“I
 w

as
 lo

w
, a

n
d

 f
ee

lin
g

 li
ke

 I 
w

as
 w

o
rt

h
le

ss
.

M
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

ha
d 

be
en

 v
io

le
nt

, a
nd

 I 
w

as
 in

 s
ho

ck
. 

M
y 

so
n’

s 
fa

th
er

 w
as

 in
 p

ris
on

. I
 k

ne
w

 I 
w

as
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n,
 a

nd
 d

id
n’

t 
kn

ow
 w

he
re

 t
o 

tu
rn

. I
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 lo

se
 m

y 
so

n,
 a

nd
 w

as
 s

ca
re

d.
 I 

go
t 

he
lp

 a
nd

 
su

pp
or

t.
 T

he
 o

ut
re

ac
h 

w
or

ke
r 

w
as

 lo
ve

ly,
 a

nd
 

lis
te

ne
d.

 I 
di

dn
’t 

tr
us

t 
he

r 
at

 fi
rs

t:
 ‘w

hy
 d

oe
s 

sh
e 

w
an

t 
to

 h
el

p 
m

e?
’ I

 t
ho

ug
ht

. S
he

 m
ad

e 
m

e 
fe

el
 b

et
te

r 
ab

ou
t 

m
ys

el
f,

 a
nd

 t
ha

t 
I c

ou
ld

 d
o 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 w

ith
 m

y 
lif

e 
– 

I w
as

 a
 g

oo
d 

m
um

 t
o 

m
y 

so
n.

 S
oc

ia
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
w

ith
 f

or
m

s 
an

d 
ad

vi
ce

. S
om

et
im

es
 I 

w
ou

ld
 ju

st
 c

ry
 a

nd
 t

al
k 

– 
th

ey
 

to
ld

 m
e 

I w
as

 O
K

, a
nd

 w
ou

ld
 c

om
e 

th
ou

gh
. I

 h
av

e 
ju

st
 fi

ni
sh

ed
 m

y 
vo

lu
nt

ee
r 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 –
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 h
el

p 
ot

he
r 

m
ot

he
rs

 w
ho

 a
re

 a
lo

ne
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 g
iv

e 
ba

ck
 

to
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

. I
 f

ee
l m

uc
h 

ha
pp

ie
r 

an
d 

ha
ve

 
m

ad
e 

fr
ie

nd
s 

on
 t

he
 c

ou
rs

e.
”

“I
 a

m
 n

o
w

 in
 S

o
u

th
w

ar
k 

as
 a

n
 a

sy
lu

m
-s

ee
ke

r
– 

m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

is
 t

he
 m

ai
n 

ap
pl

ic
an

t,
 w

ith
 m

e 
an

d 
m

y 
th

re
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

de
pe

nd
an

ts
. T

he
 p

eo
pl

e 
he

re
 a

re
 

fr
ie

nd
ly

 –
 t

he
y 

lo
ve

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 a

s 
I d

o.
 T

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

 is
 v

er
y 

go
od

 f
or

 t
he

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
pa

re
nt

s 
– 

I l
ik

e 
to

 b
e 

th
er

e 
w

ith
 t

he
m

. F
am

ily
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
he

lp
s 

a 
lo

t.
 T

he
 p

la
yg

ro
up

 h
el

ps
 m

e 
le

ar
n 

ab
ou

t 
th

in
gs

 h
er

e.
 I 

tr
y 

no
t 

to
 le

t 
ou

r 
si

tu
at

io
n 

de
pr

es
s 

th
e 

ki
ds

, b
ut

 I 
ho

pe
 t

o 
re

m
ai

n 
in

 t
he

 U
K

.”

“M
y 

d
ep

re
ss

io
n

 s
ta

rt
ed

 w
h

en
 I 

w
as

 1
4,

be
ca

m
e 

w
or

se
 w

he
n 

I h
ad

 m
y 

fir
st

 s
on

. R
ef

er
re

d 
m

ys
el

f 
to

 N
ew

pi
n,

 t
he

y’
ve

 h
el

pe
d 

a 
lo

t.
 W

he
n 

I g
ot

 
ar

re
st

ed
 f

or
 a

ss
au

lt 
in

 2
01

0 
I k

ne
w

 m
y 

ag
gr

es
si

on
 

w
as

 o
ut

 o
f 

co
nt

ro
l. 

I’v
e 

a 
‘t

ea
m

 a
ro

un
d 

th
e 

fa
m

ily
’ 

pl
an

 a
t 

th
e 

m
om

en
t 

– 
it 

he
lp

s 
– 

an
d 

am
 a

tt
en

di
ng

 
a 

fa
m

ily
 E

ng
lis

h 
co

ur
se

. I
’v

e 
go

t 
pr

ob
le

m
s 

no
w

 
w

ith
 m

y 
el

de
st

 s
on

 a
t 

sc
ho

ol
, h

e 
w

on
’t 

at
te

nd
, h

as
 

be
en

 e
xc

lu
de

d 
th

re
e 

tim
es

, a
nd

 is
 e

m
ot

io
na

lly
 h

ar
d 

to
 d

ea
l w

ith
.”

“T
h

e 
m

ea
su

re
 o

f 
su

cc
es

s 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 s

er
io

us
 y

ou
th

 c
rim

e,
 a

s 
th

is
 c

an
 o

nl
y 

be
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

w
he

n 
th

e 
w

ho
le

 f
am

ily
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 p
ar

en
tin

g 
ab

ili
ty

, 
is

 c
on

si
de

re
d.

”

85



10

“I
 u

se
d 

to
 g

et
 in

to
 a

 le
as

t 
th

re
e 

fi
gh

ts
 a

 w
ee

k
at

 p
rim

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
. I

 h
ad

 p
oo

r h
an

dw
rit

in
g,

 te
rr

ib
le

 
sp

el
lin

g,
 b

ad
 a

tt
itu

de
, a

lw
ay

s 
la

te
, s

o 
I g

ot
 k

ic
ke

d 
ou

t. 
M

y 
da

d 
do

es
n’

t c
ar

e 
ab

ou
t m

e.
 M

y 
ke

y 
w

or
ke

r 
tr

ie
d 

to
 g

et
 m

e 
ba

ck
 in

 s
ch

oo
l, 

bu
t I

 e
nd

ed
 u

p 
in

 th
e 

pu
pi

l r
ef

er
ra

l u
ni

t. 
I d

ro
pp

ed
 o

ut
, n

ee
de

d 
to

 m
ak

e 
m

on
ey

, w
as

 d
ea

lin
g 

an
d 

go
t r

ef
er

ra
l o

rd
er

. G
ot

 in
 

w
ith

 th
e 

w
ro

ng
 c

ro
w

d,
 I 

fe
lt 

un
to

uc
ha

bl
e 

– 
ge

tt
in

g 
a 

bu
zz

 fr
om

 a
ll 

th
e 

ac
tiv

iti
es

. I
’m

 lo
ok

in
g 

at
 c

ol
le

ge
 

no
w

. I
’m

 n
ot

 a
 b

ad
 k

id
. I

 w
an

t i
t t

o 
be

 d
iff

er
en

t.”
 

“I
 d

id
n’

t 
do

 w
el

l a
t 

sc
ho

ol
 a

s 
m

os
t p

eo
pl

e 
do

n’
t 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 d

ys
ph

as
ia

. M
y 

yo
ut

h 
w

or
ke

r i
s 

br
ill

ia
nt

 
th

ou
gh

 a
nd

 g
av

e 
m

e 
po

sit
iv

e 
co

ns
tr

uc
tiv

e 
ad

vi
ce

. 
I’m

 a
t c

ol
le

ge
 n

ow
, t

ea
ch

er
s 

ar
e 

su
pp

or
tiv

e 
an

d 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

ge
t m

y 
G

C
SE

s 
an

d 
A

-le
ve

ls.
 T

he
 w

or
k 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
an

d 
qu

al
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 I’

ve
 n

ow
 g

ot
 w

ill
 h

el
p 

m
e 

fin
d 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t t

ha
t w

ill
 g

iv
e 

m
e 

sa
tis

fa
ct

io
n.

” 

“I
n

 s
ch

o
o

l I
 w

o
u

ld
 a

ct
 li

ke
 a

 f
o

o
l b

ec
au

se
 

I t
ho

ug
ht

 I 
ne

ed
ed

 t
o 

be
 c

oo
l. 

So
 I 

en
de

d 
up

 
he

re
; b

ro
ug

ht
 f

ea
r 

an
d 

te
ar

s 
to

 m
y 

m
um

’s 
ey

es
. 

Ev
er

yd
ay

 I 
tr

y.
” 

“T
he

 b
ig

ge
st

 d
if

fe
re

nc
e 

w
as

 b
ei

ng
 a

bl
e 

to
 g

o
 

to
 t

he
 y

ou
th

 c
en

tr
e 

an
d 

cl
ea

r m
y 

m
in

d 
an

d 
ha

ve
 a

 
pl

ac
e 

to
 re

la
x 

an
d 

be
 h

ap
py

.”
 

“I
 a

m
 s

tu
dy

in
g 

at
 c

ol
le

ge
 f

or
 a

 B
TE

C.
 I 

pl
ay

 
A

m
er

ic
an

 fo
ot

ba
ll,

 ju
st

 fi
ni

sh
ed

 a
s 

a 
ju

ni
or

, s
ta

rt
in

g 
se

ni
or

 s
oo

n.
 M

y 
in

flu
en

ce
s 

ar
e 

m
y 

m
ot

he
r, 

be
st

 
fr

ie
nd

, c
lo

se
 fr

ie
nd

s,
 g

irl
fr

ie
nd

, t
ea

ch
er

s,
 c

oa
ch

es
, 

so
ci

al
 w

or
ke

rs
. M

om
 w

en
t t

o 
pr

iso
n 

so
 I 

w
as

 
le

ft
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n 
to

 s
or

t o
ut

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

fo
r m

ys
el

f 
w

ith
ou

t h
av

in
g 

an
yw

he
re

 to
 li

ve
 p

ro
pe

rly
. F

rie
nd

s 
an

d 
m

y 
so

ci
al

 w
or

ke
r h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
st

ay
 p

os
iti

ve
. M

y 
ex

pe
ct

at
io

ns
 w

er
e 

a 
lit

tle
 n

on
 e

xi
st

en
t a

t t
he

 s
ta

rt
 o

f 
m

y 
jo

ur
ne

y 
bu

t a
 lo

t h
as

 c
ha

ng
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

he
lp

 o
f 

m
y 

so
ci

al
 w

or
ke

r a
nd

 th
e 

yo
ut

h 
se

rv
ic

es
.”

 

“T
he

 p
up

il 
pr

em
iu

m
 is

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r c
hi

ld
re

n 
no

t r
ea

ch
in

g 
[a

tt
ai

nm
en

t] 
ta

rg
et

s 
– 

th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l i
s 

th
er

e,
 s

ch
oo

ls 
ha

ve
 to

 p
ub

lis
h 

w
ha

t s
up

po
rt

 th
ey

 
of

fe
r c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 s
pe

ci
al

 e
du

ca
tio

na
l n

ee
ds

, a
nd

 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

ea
rly

 h
el

p 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e.

 It
’s 

ab
ou

t 
m

ak
in

g 
be

tt
er

 u
se

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
s.

” 

“T
ro

u
b

le
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 o

ft
en

 e
xc

lu
d

ed
.

Th
er

e 
ne

ed
s 

to
 b

e 
ea

rly
 in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
fr

om
 t

he
 

fir
st

 e
xc

lu
si

on
 –

 t
he

re
 n

ee
ds

 t
o 

be
 a

 ‘t
oo

lk
it’

 f
or

 
de

al
in

g 
w

ith
 t

ha
t 

ch
ild

, l
oo

ki
ng

 a
t 

th
e 

co
nt

ex
t 

ar
ou

nd
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

.”
 

BE
ST

 S
TA

RT
 F

OR
 A

DO
LE

SC
EN

TS
 G

RO
WI

NG
 U

P

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 SE
LE

CT
IO

N
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 A

N
D 

YO
UN

G 
PE

OP
LE

 M
OV

IN
G 

TO
W

AR
DS

 A
DU

LT
HO

OD
.

86



11

“M
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

st
ar

te
d 

a 
ye

ar
 a

go
 w

he
n 

I l
ef

t 
m

y 
pa

re
nt

’s
 h

ou
se

 a
t 

17
. I

 fo
un

d 
it 

di
ffi

cu
lt 

to
 li

ve
 

w
ith

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

an
d 

th
ei

r s
tr

ic
t w

ay
s 

– 
I d

id
n’

t f
ee

l 
sa

fe
 a

nd
 s

ec
ur

e.
 I 

go
t a

 s
tu

di
o 

fla
t a

nd
 h

ad
 to

 d
o 

lif
e 

on
 m

y 
ow

n.
 S

oc
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
a 

gr
ea

t d
ea

l. 
Th

ey
 h

av
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 m
e 

w
ith

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

th
at

 I 
ne

ed
ed

. I
 h

ad
 a

n 
ad

vi
so

r w
ho

 w
as

 a
lw

ay
s 

by
 m

y 
sid

e.
 T

he
y 

w
er

e 
en

co
ur

ag
in

g 
m

e 
to

 s
tu

dy
 

an
d 

fin
ish

 m
y 

ed
uc

at
io

n.
 I 

th
in

k 
I w

as
 lu

ck
y 

to
 

ha
ve

 p
eo

pl
e 

to
 g

ui
de

 m
e 

al
on

g 
th

e 
w

ay
. T

he
 b

it 
Ir

em
em

be
r m

os
t i

s 
th

e 
da

y 
I l

ef
t m

y 
pa

re
nt

’s 
ho

us
e.

 
I a

m
 s

til
l n

ot
 s

ur
e 

th
at

 I 
m

ad
e 

th
e 

rig
ht

 d
ec

isi
on

 a
nd

 
so

m
et

im
es

 I 
w

on
de

r h
ow

 m
y 

lif
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
if 

I h
ad

 
st

ay
ed

 a
t h

om
e.

 B
ut

, I
 w

an
te

d 
to

 b
e 

th
e 

on
e 

w
ho

 
m

ad
e 

de
ci

sio
ns

 a
bo

ut
 m

y 
lif

e.
 I 

am
 n

ot
 re

al
ly

 h
ap

py
 

w
ith

 th
e 

w
ay

 I 
am

 –
 I 

ha
ve

 a
 w

ay
 to

 g
o 

ye
t. 

I r
ea

lly
 

m
iss

 m
y 

br
ot

he
rs

 a
nd

 s
ist

er
s.

 I 
w

an
t t

o 
st

ar
t t

hi
nk

in
g 

ah
ea

d 
an

d 
be

in
g 

re
sp

on
sib

le
 fo

r m
y 

ac
tio

ns
. T

o 
ge

t 
th

er
e 

I’d
 li

ke
 to

 fi
nd

 a
 ro

le
 m

od
el

 a
nd

 a
 m

iss
io

n 
in

 li
fe

. I
 n

ee
d 

to
 s

ta
rt

 to
 tr

us
t p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
to

 m
ak

e 
co

nt
ac

t w
ith

 th
e 

rig
ht

 p
eo

pl
e.

 I 
w

ill
 g

o 
ba

ck
 to

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

an
d 

sh
ow

 th
em

 th
at

 I 
am

 s
til

l t
he

ir 
da

ug
ht

er
 

an
d 

th
at

 th
ey

 d
id

n’
t w

as
te

 a
ll 

th
ei

r e
ff

or
ts

 o
n 

m
e.

 
Iw

an
t t

he
m

 to
 b

e 
pr

ou
d 

of
 m

e.
” 

“M
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

be
ga

n 
in

 y
ea

r 
7 

at
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 
sc

ho
ol

.I
 a

m
 n

ow
 in

 y
ea

r 1
1.

 I 
ha

ve
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

in
 m

at
hs

 a
nd

 I’
m

 e
as

ily
 d

ist
ra

ct
ed

. M
y 

su
pp

or
t 

te
ac

he
rs

 h
av

e 
he

lp
ed

 m
e;

 s
om

e 
ot

he
r s

tu
de

nt
s 

ha
ve

 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

to
o.

 T
he

y 
he

lp
 m

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
sc

ho
ol

w
or

k,
 

an
d 

to
 s

ta
y 

fo
cu

se
d.

 I 
us

ed
 to

 g
et

 in
 tr

ou
bl

e 
in

 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 a
t h

om
e.

 I 
fe

lt 
an

gr
y,

 d
ep

re
ss

ed
 a

nd
 fe

d 
up

. I
 u

se
d 

to
 g

et
 in

to
 a

 lo
t o

f fi
gh

ts
. T

he
 th

in
g 

th
at

 
ha

s 
m

ad
e 

th
e 

bi
gg

es
t d

iff
er

en
ce

 to
 m

e 
w

as
 g

ro
w

in
g 

up
 a

nd
 le

ar
ni

ng
 to

 li
st

en
 m

or
e.

 I 
w

an
t t

o 
pl

an
 fo

r 
m

y 
fu

tu
re

, w
or

k 
ha

rd
 a

nd
 a

pp
ly

 to
 g

o 
to

 c
ol

le
ge

 
– 

I w
an

t t
o 

be
 a

 p
ilo

t o
r w

or
k 

in
 a

 li
br

ar
y.

” 

“W
he

n 
I m

ov
ed

 h
ou

se
 t

o 
a 

di
ff

er
en

t 
ar

ea
,

Ih
ad

 to
 m

ak
e 

ne
w

 fr
ie

nd
s.

 I 
am

 in
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 s
ch

oo
l 

no
w

 in
 y

ea
r 9

. I
 a

m
 c

ho
os

in
g 

m
y 

op
tio

ns
 fo

r G
C

SE
s.

 
In

 p
rim

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
 I 

ha
d 

a 
gr

ea
t t

im
e,

 b
ut

 th
en

 a
t 

se
co

nd
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

 s
om

e 
tr

ie
d 

to
 p

ut
 m

e 
do

w
n 

an
d 

sp
re

ad
 ru

m
ou

rs
. I

 fe
lt 

lik
e 

I w
as

n’
t w

an
te

d.
 M

y 
m

um
 a

nd
 te

ac
he

rs
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
w

he
n 

I w
as

 b
ul

lie
d.

 
Th

ey
 a

re
 h

el
pi

ng
 m

e 
to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 th
es

e 
th

in
gs

. 
Bu

t, 
I n

ee
d 

to
 fo

cu
s 

on
 s

ch
oo

l s
o 

th
at

 I 
ca

n 
pa

ss
 a

ll 
m

y 
G

C
SE

s.
 I 

w
an

t t
o 

be
 a

 m
id

w
ife

 li
ke

 m
y 

au
nt

. I
f 

so
m

eo
ne

 e
lse

 w
as

 b
ei

ng
 b

ul
lie

d 
I w

ou
ld

 te
ll 

th
em

 
to

te
ll 

th
ei

r f
am

ily
 a

nd
 th

ei
r t

ea
ch

er
s 

an
d 

no
t t

o 
ke

ep
 it

 b
ot

tle
d 

up
 in

sid
e.

“ 

“I
 h

av
e 

go
t 

m
y 

G
C

SE
s,

 a
nd

 I’
m

 a
t t

he
 b

eg
in

ni
ng

 
of

 m
y 

A
S 

Le
ve

ls.
 G

oi
ng

 fr
om

 y
ea

r 1
1 

at
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 
sc

ho
ol

 to
 y

ea
r 1

2 
ha

s 
be

en
 d

au
nt

in
g,

 b
ut

 e
xc

iti
ng

. 
M

y 
go

al
 is

 to
 b

ec
om

e 
an

 a
rc

hi
te

ct
. I

 d
id

 w
or

k 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

in
 a

n 
ar

ch
ite

ct
’s 

fir
m

 a
nd

 it
 w

as
 g

oo
d 

to
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

th
e 

lif
e 

of
 a

n 
ar

ch
ite

ct
. I

t h
as

 g
iv

en
 

m
e 

m
ot

iv
at

io
n 

to
 s

ta
y 

fo
cu

se
d 

an
d 

w
or

k 
ha

rd
.”

 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 N
EA

RL
Y 

75
%

 O
F 

YO
UN

G 
OF

FE
N

DE
RS

 
AR

E 
KN

OW
N

 T
O 

CH
ILD

RE
N

’S 
SO

CI
AL

 
CA

RE
, A

N
D 

A 
CH

ILD
 W

IT
H 

A 
FI

XE
D 

TE
RM

 E
XC

LU
SIO

N
 IS

 M
OR

E 
LIK

EL
Y 

TO
 

BE
 K

N
OW

N
 T

O 
SO

CI
AL

 C
AR

E 
TH

AN
 A

 
CH

ILD
 W

HO
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 P
ER

M
AN

EN
TL

Y 
EX

CL
UD

ED

 O
VE

R 
90

%
 O

F 
EM

ER
GE

N
CY

 C
HI

LD
 

PR
OT

EC
TI

ON
 IN

VE
ST

IG
AT

IO
N

S 
FO

R 
15

 
TO

 17
 Y

EA
R 

OL
DS

 E
N

D 
IN

 N
O 

FU
RT

HE
R 

AC
TI

ON
 B

EI
N

G 
TA

KE
N

87



12

“W
h

en
 I 

lo
st

 m
y 

jo
b

, S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

Yo
ut

h 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

ga
ve

 m
e 

m
ot

iv
at

io
n 

an
d 

no
w

 I’
m

 in
 m

y 
fir

st
 y

ea
r 

at
 u

ni
ve

rs
ity

. T
he

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 h
av

e 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

th
e 

m
os

t 
ar

e:
 m

y 
yo

ut
h 

w
or

ke
r 

(lo
ve

 h
er

), 
m

y 
m

ot
he

r, 
m

y 
br

ot
he

rs
, a

nd
 m

y 
na

nn
y.

 M
y 

yo
ut

h 
w

or
ke

r 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

to
 p

re
pa

re
 f

or
 u

ni
ve

rs
ity

. M
y 

D
ad

 h
as

 
al

so
 b

ee
n 

a 
bi

g 
in

sp
ira

tio
n.

 I 
re

m
em

be
r 

he
 g

av
e 

m
e 

th
e 

bi
gg

es
t 

hu
g 

w
he

n 
I g

ot
 in

 t
o 

un
i. 

I e
xp

ec
t 

th
at

 
I’m

 g
oi

ng
 t

o 
ha

ve
 lo

ts
 o

f 
co

ur
se

 w
or

k 
an

d 
re

vi
si

on
 

an
d 

le
ss

 t
im

e 
to

 s
ee

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s,

 b
ut

 I 
al

so
 e

xp
ec

t 
to

 m
ak

e 
m

y 
m

ot
he

r 
pr

ou
d 

an
d 

m
ak

e 
m

y 
yo

ut
h 

w
or

ke
r 

sm
ile

.”
 

“I
 w

as
 a

t 
m

y 
fr

ie
nd

’s
 h

ou
se

 w
he

n 
I fi

rs
t 

sa
w

 
m

y 
gi

rl
fr

ie
nd

. A
 fe

w
 w

ee
ks

 la
te

r w
e 

st
ar

te
d 

se
ei

ng
 

ea
ch

 o
th

er
 a

nd
 a

 fe
w

 w
ee

ks
 a

ft
er

 th
at

 w
e 

fo
un

d 
ou

t w
e 

w
er

e 
go

in
g 

to
 b

e 
a 

fa
m

ily
. A

t t
he

 m
om

en
t 

I’m
 d

oi
ng

 a
 c

la
ss

 w
ith

 m
y 

gi
rlf

rie
nd

 to
 h

el
p 

us
 to

 
be

 a
 g

oo
d 

m
um

 a
nd

 d
ad

. A
 h

ig
h 

is 
ha

vi
ng

 a
 fa

m
ily

 
to

 lo
ok

 fo
rw

ar
d 

to
; I

 w
an

t t
o 

be
 a

 g
oo

d 
fa

th
er

 a
nd

 
bo

yf
rie

nd
. S

om
et

im
es

 I 
w

or
ry

 w
he

th
er

 I’
ll 

be
 a

 g
oo

d 
en

ou
gh

 fa
th

er
, b

ut
 m

y 
su

pp
or

t w
or

ke
r h

el
ps

 m
e 

an
d 

gi
ve

s 
m

e 
ad

vi
ce

. “
 

“M
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

st
ar

te
d 

w
he

n 
I c

am
e 

to
 E

ng
la

nd
in

 2
00

4 
be

ca
us

e 
of

 th
e 

ci
vi

l w
ar

 in
 S

om
al

ia
. I

 d
id

n’
t 

kn
ow

 a
ny

 E
ng

lis
h 

an
d 

I w
as

n’
t s

ur
e 

ho
w

 I 
w

ou
ld

 
co

pe
. I

 w
en

t t
o 

co
lle

ge
 to

 le
ar

n 
En

gl
ish

 s
o 

th
at

 I 
co

ul
d 

ta
lk

 to
 p

eo
pl

e 
– 

ta
lk

in
g 

to
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
ou

t a
n 

in
te

rp
re

te
r w

as
 a

 b
ig

 a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

t. 
M

y 
ca

re
 w

or
ke

r 
ha

s 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

al
on

g 
th

e 
w

ay
 –

 h
el

pi
ng

 m
e 

to
 e

nr
ol

 
w

ith
 th

e 
lib

ra
ry

 a
nd

 to
 u

se
 th

e 
le

isu
re

 c
en

tr
e.

 T
he

 
te

ac
he

rs
 a

t c
ol

le
ge

 h
av

e 
en

co
ur

ag
ed

 m
e 

to
 le

ar
n 

in
 o

rd
er

 fo
r m

e 
to

 h
av

e 
a 

be
tt

er
 li

fe
 in

 th
e 

fu
tu

re
. 

Iw
an

t t
o 

do
 a

n 
N

V
Q

 L
ev

el
 2

 in
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
so

 th
at

 
Ic

an
 w

or
k 

as
 a

 c
ar

er
.”

 

“W
h

en
 I 

w
as

 e
ig

h
t 

ye
ar

s 
o

ld
 m

y 
p

ar
en

ts
 

b
ro

ke
 u

p
. N

ot
 k

no
w

in
g 

w
hy

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

br
ok

e 
up

 w
as

 h
ar

d 
– 

I f
el

t 
it 

w
as

 m
y 

fa
ul

t.
 M

y 
pa

re
nt

s 
ar

gu
in

g 
w

ith
 e

ac
h 

ot
he

r 
be

fo
re

 t
he

y 
sp

lit
 u

p 
w

as
 

ba
d.

 N
ow

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

ar
e 

ha
pp

y 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
st

ea
d 

of
 b

ei
ng

 u
nh

ap
py

 t
og

et
he

r. 
M

y 
m

um
 h

as
 

a 
bo

yf
rie

nd
 w

ho
 I 

ge
t 

al
on

g 
w

ith
, a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
hi

s 
so

n.
 M

y 
fa

th
er

 h
as

 a
 g

irl
fr

ie
nd

 a
nd

 s
he

 h
as

 2
 k

id
s 

w
ho

 I 
ge

t 
al

on
g 

w
el

l w
ith

 t
oo

. R
ec

en
tly

 m
y 

lit
tle

 
ha

lf 
br

ot
he

r 
w

as
 b

or
n.

 M
y 

fr
ie

nd
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ily
 h

av
e 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d 

th
at

 I 
am

 lu
ck

y 
to

 s
til

l 
se

e 
bo

th
 p

ar
en

ts
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

a 
ga

m
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
be

ca
us

e 
I l

ik
e 

cr
ea

tin
g 

th
in

gs
 o

n 
a 

co
m

pu
te

r 
be

ca
us

e 
I l

ik
e 

ho
w

 g
am

es
 lo

ok
 w

he
n 

th
ey

 a
re

 
pu

t
to

ge
th

er
 a

nd
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

a 
pa

rt
 o

f 
th

at
.”

 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 2
01

0/
11 

PR
IM

AR
Y 

ST
UD

EN
TS

: 1
7,

87
3

 2
01

0/
11 

SE
CO

N
DA

RY
 S

TU
DE

N
TS

: 1
2,

48
5

 N
O.

 O
F 

SC
HO

OL
S:

› 
PR

IM
AR

Y 
– 

70
› 

SE
CO

N
DA

RY
 –

 16
› 

SP
EC

IA
L 

– 
9

› 
IN

DE
PE

N
DE

N
T 

– 
9

› 
IN

DE
PE

N
DE

N
T 

SP
EC

IA
L 

– 
1

 5
8.

8%
 O

F 
SO

UT
HW

AR
K 

CH
ILD

RE
N

  
GO

T 
5+

 A
*-

C 
GC

SE
 A

N
D 

EQ
UI

VA
LE

N
T 

RE
SU

LT
S 

IN
 2

01
2

88



13

“M
y 

d
re

am
 is

 t
o

 b
e 

a 
m

u
si

c 
p

ro
d

u
ce

r. 
M

y 
m

um
 

ha
s 

al
w

ay
s 

su
pp

or
te

d 
m

e 
by

 c
om

m
en

tin
g 

on
 t

he
 

tr
ac

ks
 I 

m
ak

e.
 I 

am
 le

ar
ni

ng
 h

ow
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

m
us

ic
 

at
 c

ol
le

ge
 a

nd
 a

t 
Be

de
 Y

ou
th

 C
lu

b 
us

in
g 

th
ei

r 
M

ac
. M

y 
tu

to
rs

 a
t 

co
lle

ge
 h

av
e 

ta
ug

ht
 m

e 
ho

w
 t

o 
pr

od
uc

e 
be

at
s.

 I 
am

 h
op

in
g 

to
 g

et
 a

 jo
b 

an
d 

to
 g

et
 

a 
BT

EC
 q

ua
lifi

ca
tio

n.
” 

 

“I
 li

ve
 w

it
h 

m
y 

m
ot

he
r 

an
d 

br
ot

he
r. 

I fi
nd

 m
ys

el
f 

in
 s

itu
at

io
ns

 b
ec

au
se

 o
f m

y 
br

ot
he

r. 
I a

lw
ay

s 
st

ic
k 

up
 fo

r h
im

, b
ut

 it
 is

n’
t a

lw
ay

s 
th

e 
rig

ht
 th

in
g 

to
 d

o.
 

I g
ot

 th
ro

w
n 

ou
t o

f s
ch

oo
l b

ec
au

se
 I 

di
dn

’t 
lis

te
n.

 
Ic

ou
ld

 g
o 

to
 p

ris
on

 a
nd

 li
ve

 th
e 

th
ug

 li
fe

st
yl

e,
 

or
 g

et
 a

 jo
b 

an
d 

be
co

m
e 

a 
bu

sin
es

s 
m

an
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 m
ov

e 
ou

t o
f L

on
do

n 
to

 g
et

 a
w

ay
 fr

om
 a

ll 
th

e 
ba

dn
es

s.
 B

ad
 m

em
or

ie
s 

m
ak

e 
m

e 
an

gr
y 

an
d 

up
se

t 
– 

I d
on

’t 
kn

ow
 h

ow
 to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 th
em

, e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 

w
he

n 
I a

m
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n.
 Y

ou
 h

av
e 

to
 k

ee
p 

yo
ur

se
lf 

bu
sy

 s
o 

yo
u 

do
n’

t e
nd

 u
p 

th
in

ki
ng

 a
bo

ut
 s

tu
ff

 –
 b

ut
 

th
is 

ca
n 

m
ea

n 
yo

u 
ar

e 
do

in
g 

th
e 

w
ro

ng
 th

in
g.

” 

“I
 a

m
 in

 t
h

e 
p

u
p

il 
re

fe
rr

al
 u

n
it

. I
 w

as
 fi

gh
tin

g 
a 

lo
t 

in
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ch
oo

l. 
O

th
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
er

e 
al

w
ay

s 
st

ar
tin

g 
tr

ou
bl

e 
w

ith
 m

e.
 T

he
 p

eo
pl

e 
he

re
 

ha
ve

 h
el

pe
d 

m
e 

a 
lo

t.
 I 

fe
el

 a
ng

ry
 a

nd
 s

ad
. I

 a
m

 
le

ar
ni

ng
 h

ow
 t

o 
co

nt
ro

l m
y 

te
m

pe
r 

so
 t

ha
t 

I c
an

 
be

 g
oo

d 
an

d 
do

 w
ha

t 
yo

u’
re

 s
up

po
se

d 
to

 d
o 

in
 le

ss
on

s.
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 le
av

e 
he

re
 a

nd
 g

o 
ba

ck
 t

o 
sc

ho
ol

. I
 w

an
t 

to
 fi

ni
sh

 a
nd

 g
et

 g
oo

d 
G

C
SE

s.
” 

89



1414

W
h

at
 d

o
es

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

n
?

Ev
er

y 
ch

ild
 a

nd
 y

ou
ng

 p
er

so
n 

sh
ou

ld
 g

ro
w

 u
p 

in
 a

 s
af

e,
 lo

vi
ng

 a
nd

 s
ta

bl
e 

ho
m

e 
– 

an
d 

it 
is

 
ev

er
yo

ne
’s 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
to

 m
ak

e 
su

re
 t

he
y 

do
. 

So
 w

e 
ar

e 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 t
o 

w
or

ki
ng

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 t
o 

ke
ep

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
sa

fe
, a

nd
 h

el
p 

th
em

 le
ad

 h
ap

py
, h

ea
lth

y 
an

d 
sa

fe
 li

ve
s.

 

W
e 

pr
om

is
e 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
ou

r 
m

os
t 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 re

ce
iv

e 
tim

el
y,

 
pu

rp
os

ef
ul

 s
up

po
rt

 t
ha

t 
br

in
gs

 s
af

e,
 la

st
in

g 
an

d 
po

si
tiv

e 
ch

an
ge

 –
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 s
af

et
y 

an
d 

st
ab

ili
ty

 
w

hi
ch

 m
ig

ht
 b

e 
ot

he
rw

is
e 

m
is

si
ng

.
W

h
at

 y
o

u
 c

an
 e

xp
ec

t 
to

 c
h

an
g

e 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

?

M
or

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

he
lp

 f
or

 p
ar

en
ts

 s
tr

ug
gl

in
g 

to
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n

M
or

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 li

vi
ng

 in
 a

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

an
d 

st
ab

le
 h

om
e

M
or

e 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s 

an
d 

ch
ild

re
n 

be
in

g 
ad

op
te

d

Vu
ln

er
ab

le
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 s
uc

ce
ed

in
g 

be
tt

er
 

at
 s

ch
oo

l

90



15

“T
h

e 
A

ko
n

d
i f

am
ily

 is
 w

el
l k

n
o

w
n

: t
he

 m
ot

he
r 

w
as

 a
 t

ee
na

ge
 p

ar
en

t,
 t

he
 f

at
he

r 
an

 a
dd

ic
t.

 T
hr

ee
 

ch
ild

re
n 

w
er

e 
ad

op
te

d 
at

 b
irt

h,
 a

nd
 t

he
re

 a
re

 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
pl

an
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

ot
he

r 
si

x.
 T

he
re

’s 
a 

hi
st

or
y 

of
 d

om
es

tic
 a

bu
se

, s
ho

p 
lif

tin
g,

 a
nt

i-
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

ur
, a

nd
 re

nt
 a

rr
ea

rs
. W

he
n 

th
e 

m
um

 is
 p

re
gn

an
t 

ag
ai

n,
 a

 s
ec

tio
n 

47
 le

ad
s 

to
 a

 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
pl

an
 f

or
 t

he
 u

nb
or

n 
ch

ild
. T

hi
ng

s 
de

te
rio

ra
te

 f
ur

th
er

: t
he

 e
ld

es
t 

so
n 

is
 in

 t
ro

ub
le

 
w

ith
 t

he
 p

ol
ic

e,
 t

he
 f

at
he

r 
to

o 
ha

s 
be

en
 a

rr
es

te
d 

fo
r 

dr
ug

s,
 t

he
 o

th
er

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ar

e 
no

t 
at

te
nd

in
g 

sc
ho

ol
, t

he
 e

ld
es

t 
so

n 
go

es
 m

is
si

ng
, a

nd
 t

he
re

 a
re

 
co

nc
er

ns
 a

bo
ut

 t
he

 p
oo

r 
he

al
th

 o
f 

th
e 

yo
un

ge
r 

ch
ild

re
n.

 T
he

 e
ld

es
t 

da
ug

ht
er

 is
 n

ow
 p

re
gn

an
t.

”

“C
o

m
p

le
x 

fa
m

ili
es

 n
ee

d
 m

o
re

 b
es

p
o

ke
 

so
lu

ti
o

n
s 

to
 t

he
ir 

ne
ed

s.
 If

 w
e 

em
po

w
er

 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
, w

e 
ne

ed
 t

o 
em

po
w

er
 t

he
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

an
d 

ha
ve

 t
he

 r
ig

ht
 t

oo
ls

 in
 p

la
ce

.”
 

“I
 h

ad
 m

y 
d

au
g

h
te

r 
at

 1
7 

an
d 

w
an

te
d 

to
 g

o 
in

to
 re

ha
b 

w
ith

 h
er

. T
hi

s 
w

as
n’

t 
al

lo
w

ed
 s

o 
I l

os
t 

cu
st

od
y.

 A
cc

es
si

ng
 f

un
di

ng
 t

o 
go

 in
to

 re
ha

b 
a 

fe
w

 y
ea

rs
 a

go
 re

al
ly

 s
or

te
d 

m
e 

ou
t;

 a
ls

o 
fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r 
de

to
x;

 I 
co

ul
dn

’t 
ha

ve
 t

ur
ne

d 
m

y 
lif

e 
ar

ou
nd

 
w

ith
ou

t 
th

at
. I

 w
as

 a
 t

hi
ef

 a
nd

 a
n 

ad
di

ct
 a

nd
 

I t
ho

ug
ht

 t
ha

t 
w

or
ki

ng
 w

as
 a

 m
ug

’s 
ga

m
e.

 
Bu

t 
no

w
 I 

ca
n 

gi
ve

 m
ys

el
f 

pe
rm

is
si

on
 t

o 
be

 a
 

pe
rs

on
 w

ho
 c

an
 t

ry
 a

nd
 re

in
ve

nt
. I

 n
ow

 h
av

e 
a 

cl
os

e 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 m

y 
ad

ul
t 

da
ug

ht
er

. I
’m

 
a 

gr
an

dm
a 

no
w

 t
oo

. I
 h

av
e 

a 
ne

w
 b

oy
fr

ie
nd

, 
an

d 
m

ay
 h

av
e 

m
ar

ria
ge

 in
 m

y 
fu

tu
re

 a
nd

 s
om

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ec
ur

ity
.”

 

“S
o

ci
al

 w
o

rk
er

s 
n

ee
d

 t
h

e 
to

o
ls

 a
n

d
 t

ra
in

in
g

to
 b

e 
cl

ea
re

r 
an

d 
m

or
e 

co
nfi

de
nt

 a
bo

ut
 h

ow
 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
pl

an
s 

an
d 

w
or

k 
ca

n 
m

ak
e 

a
di

ff
er

en
ce

 t
o 

a 
fa

m
ily

.”
 

SA
FE

TY
 A

ND
 S
TA

BI
LIT

Y 
FO

R 
FA

MI
LIE

S 
FA

CIN
G 

CH
AL

LE
NG

ES
“I

 w
as

 f
o

st
er

ed
 a

t 
6 

m
o

n
th

s 
to

 a
 c

ou
pl

e 
in

 
Es

se
x 

– 
on

e 
of

 f
ou

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
fo

st
er

ed
 o

ut
. W

he
n 

Iw
as

 e
ig

ht
, m

y 
si

st
er

 c
am

e 
to

 jo
in

 m
e.

 I 
ha

d 
a 

ve
ry

 u
nh

ap
py

 c
hi

ld
ho

od
, d

es
pi

te
 h

av
in

g 
m

y 
si

st
er

. 
Is

ta
rt

ed
 c

ol
le

ge
 in

 L
on

do
n,

 b
ut

 h
ad

 t
o 

ge
t 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

ho
st

el
 s

ys
te

m
 –

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

liv
in

g 
at

 1
6.

 
Ifi

na
lly

 m
et

 m
y 

bi
rt

h 
m

ot
he

r 
af

te
r 

10
 y

ea
rs

. B
ut

 
Id

id
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

 g
re

at
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 h

er
. I

ca
m

e 
to

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

in
 1

99
4 

an
d 

w
as

 s
el

f-
su

ffi
ci

en
t 

un
til

 I 
ha

d 
m

y 
so

n.
 I 

st
op

pe
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 t
he

n,
 b

ut
 

w
as

 lo
ok

in
g 

fo
r 

ch
ild

ca
re

. A
s 

a 
fir

st
-t

im
e 

m
um

, 
I d

id
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 s

up
po

rt
 –

 I 
w

as
n’

t 
ab

le
 t

o 
re

ly
 

on
 t

he
 f

at
he

r’s
 f

am
ily

. I
 h

ad
 t

o 
do

 it
 a

ll 
by

 m
ys

el
f.

 
C

on
ta

ct
 w

ith
 m

y 
H

ea
lth

 V
is

ito
r 

st
ar

te
d 

on
ce

 I 
ha

d 
m

y 
so

n.
 S

he
 w

as
 v

er
y 

go
od

 –
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d 
m

e 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
 N

EE
DI

N
G 

HE
LP

 F
RO

M
 S

UP
PO

RT
 S

ER
VI

CE
S.

91



16

to
 m

ak
e 

co
nt

ac
t 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
 m

ad
e 

su
re

 m
y 

so
n 

an
d 

I g
ot

 o
ut

 a
s 

m
uc

h 
as

 p
os

si
bl

e.
 In

 
th

e 
la

st
 c

ou
pl

e 
of

 m
on

th
s,

 I’
ve

 b
ee

n 
di

ag
no

se
d 

w
ith

 d
ep

re
ss

io
n.

 Is
su

es
 w

ith
 m

y 
ch

ild
ho

od
 a

re
 

re
-s

ur
fa

ci
ng

 n
ow

. M
y 

G
P 

re
fe

rr
ed

 m
e 

to
 C

BT
, t

he
n 

pa
re

nt
al

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 –
 t

hi
s 

ha
s 

be
en

 h
el

pf
ul

. 
A

s 
a 

pa
re

nt
, y

ou
 h

av
e 

id
ea

s 
ab

ou
t 

ho
w

 y
ou

 w
an

t 
yo

ur
 c

hi
ld

 t
o 

be
 –

 a
nd

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 b

e 
a 

go
od

 m
um

. 
Th

e 
th

in
g 

th
at

 m
ad

e 
th

e 
bi

gg
es

t 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 w
as

 
kn

ow
in

g 
th

er
e 

w
er

e 
pl

ac
es

 t
o 

go
. N

et
w

or
ki

ng
 

th
ou

gh
 S

ur
eS

ta
rt

 h
el

ps
 y

ou
 m

ee
t 

ot
he

r 
m

um
s.

 
M

y
ho

pe
s 

ar
e 

to
 fi

nd
 w

or
k,

 r
ai

se
 m

y 
so

n 
to

 b
e 

a
go

od
 c

iti
ze

n;
 fi

nd
 a

 n
ew

 re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

an
d 

ha
ve

 
m

or
e 

ch
ild

re
n.

” 

“M
y 

el
d

es
t 

so
n

 h
ad

 m
an

y 
fi

xe
d

 t
er

m
 

ex
cl

u
si

o
n

s
w

hi
ch

 m
ea

nt
 d

is
ru

pt
in

g 
m

y 
w

or
k 

to
 a

tt
en

d 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 s
er

vi
ce

s.
 T

he
 y

ou
ng

es
t 

w
as

 b
eg

in
ni

ng
 t

o 
ac

t 
up

, I
 h

ad
 p

ol
ic

e 
at

 m
y 

do
or

. I
t 

w
as

 o
nl

y 
w

he
n 

he
 w

as
 s

en
t 

to
 c

ou
rt

 
fo

r 
po

ss
es

si
ng

 a
 k

ni
fe

 t
ha

t 
I r

ea
lis

ed
 I 

ne
ed

ed
 

su
pp

or
t 

to
 k

no
w

 h
ow

 t
o 

pa
re

nt
. T

he
 y

ou
th

 
of

fe
nd

in
g 

se
rv

ic
e 

an
sw

er
ed

 m
y 

cr
y.

 A
ft

er
 it

s 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e,
 c

on
ve

rs
at

io
ns

 w
ith

 m
y 

so
n 

sh
ow

ed
 

m
e 

he
 w

an
te

d 
m

or
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

, m
or

e 
pr

ai
se

. I
 h

ad
 s

et
 h

im
 u

p 
fo

r 
fa

ilu
re

 w
ith

ou
t 

ev
en

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g 
th

is
 w

as
 m

y 
ow

n 
is

su
e.

” 

“I
 w

as
 o

ri
g

in
al

ly
 r

ef
er

re
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
M

el
lo

w
 

Pa
re

n
ti

n
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
su

pp
or

t 
in

 m
an

ag
in

g 
m

y 
el

de
r 

ch
ild

’s 
be

ha
vi

ou
r, 

bu
t 

ha
dn

’t 
en

ga
ge

d 
du

e 
to

 m
y 

lif
es

ty
le

: s
ub

st
an

ce
 m

is
us

e 
an

d 
an

 a
bu

si
ve

 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p.
 W

he
n 

I w
as

 p
re

gn
an

t 
w

ith
 m

y 
th

ird
 

ch
ild

 in
 2

01
0,

 t
he

 o
ld

er
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
er

e 
pl

ac
ed

 in
 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
e 

du
e 

to
 m

y 
su

bs
ta

nc
e 

m
is

us
e.

 I
re

al
is

ed
 

th
en

 m
y 

lif
es

ty
le

 h
ad

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 –

 I 
st

op
pe

d 
us

in
g 

dr
ug

s.
 M

y 
yo

un
ge

st
 h

ad
 s

ta
ye

d 
in

 m
y 

ca
re

 f
or

 1
6 

w
ee

ks
 (m

ot
he

r 
an

d 
ba

by
 u

ni
t)

. T
he

n 
I w

en
t 

to
 

th
e 

pe
rin

at
al

 d
ro

p-
in

 –
 I 

fo
un

d 
it 

ha
rd

, b
ut

 h
ad

 t
o 

at
te

nd
 a

s 
m

y 
yo

un
ge

st
 w

as
 o

n 
a 

su
pe

rv
is

io
n 

or
de

r. 
W

ith
 t

im
e,

 a
s 

I g
ot

 t
o 

kn
ow

 p
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

di
dn

’t 
fe

el
 

ju
dg

ed
, I

 s
ta

rt
ed

 t
o 

fe
el

 m
or

e 
co

m
fo

rt
ab

le
 a

nd
 

en
jo

ye
d 

go
in

g.
 M

y 
ba

by
 a

nd
 I 

st
ar

te
d 

at
te

nd
in

g 
su

pp
or

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

hr
ee

 t
im

es
 a

 w
ee

k 
– 

w
e 

en
jo

ye
d 

be
in

g 
ar

ou
nd

 o
th

er
 m

um
s 

an
d 

ch
ild

re
n.

 It
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
to

 k
no

w
 o

th
er

s 
w

ho
 h

ad
 s

im
ila

r 
pr

ob
le

m
s;

 
to

 b
e 

gi
ve

n 
ad

vi
ce

 a
bo

ut
 t

hi
ng

s 
th

at
 w

ou
ld

 h
el

p 
m

e 
an

d 
m

y 
ch

ild
, a

nd
 n

ot
 t

o 
be

 c
rit

ic
is

ed
 a

bo
ut

 
th

in
gs

 I 
m

ig
ht

 b
e 

ge
tt

in
g 

w
ro

ng
. I

ha
ve

 s
uf

fe
re

d 
de

pr
es

si
on

 n
ow

 f
or

 a
bo

ut
 2

0 
ye

ar
s,

 a
nd

 h
av

e 
sp

en
t 

so
m

e 
tim

e 
in

 h
os

pi
ta

l w
ith

 it
. N

ot
 b

ei
ng

 is
ol

at
ed

 is
 

ve
ry

 im
po

rt
an

t,
 h

as
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
no

t 
ge

t 
de

pr
es

se
d 

an
ym

or
e;

 it
’s 

de
fin

ite
ly

 h
el

pe
d 

m
e 

be
 m

or
e 

co
nfi

de
nt

 a
nd

 h
av

e 
be

tt
er

 s
el

f-
es

te
em

. I
’m

 a
ls

o 
ab

le
 

to
 s

oc
ia

lis
e 

an
d 

re
la

te
 t

o
pe

op
le

 w
ith

ou
t 

dr
ug

s.
” 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
HA

S T
HE

 T
HI

RD
 H

IG
HE

ST
 

RE
FE

RR
AL

 R
AT

E 
IN

 L
ON

DO
N

; B
UT

 
N

EA
RL

Y 
A 

FI
FT

H 
OF

 T
HE

SE
 R

EF
ER

RA
LS

 
EN

D 
IN

 N
O 

FU
RT

HE
R 

AC
TI

ON

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
HA

D 
TH

E 
HI

GH
ES

T 
N

UM
BE

R 
OF

 C
HI

LD
RE

N
 O

N
 ‘R

EP
EA

T’
 

CH
ILD

 P
RO

TE
CT

IO
N

 P
LA

N
S 

IN
 

LO
N

DO
N

 IN
 2

01
1-1

2

 T
HE

 B
OR

OU
GH

 H
AS

 A
BO

VE
 L

ON
DO

N
 

AV
ER

AG
E 

TI
M

EL
IN

ES
S 

IN
 C

OM
PL

ET
IN

G 
AS

SE
SS

M
EN

TS

92



17

“I
 s

u
ff

er
 f

ro
m

 s
ev

er
e 

d
ep

re
ss

io
n

. T
he

 
de

pr
es

si
on

 s
te

m
s 

fr
om

 t
he

 d
ea

th
 o

f 
m

y 
fa

th
er

 
w

he
n 

I w
as

 a
ge

d 
si

x.
 I 

ha
ve

 n
ev

er
 b

ee
n 

ab
le

 t
o 

ge
t 

ov
er

 t
hi

s,
 a

nd
 h

av
e 

ne
ve

r 
lik

ed
 li

fe
 a

t 
al

l s
in

ce
. 

I d
id

n’
t 

fin
d 

it 
ea

sy
 t

o 
ta

lk
 t

o 
pe

op
le

; w
as

 a
lw

ay
s 

on
 g

ua
rd

, w
hi

ch
 m

ad
e 

m
e 

‘h
ar

d-
fa

ce
d’

 a
t 

tim
es

. 
Iu

se
d 

to
 s

ta
y 

in
 m

os
t 

of
 t

he
 t

im
e,

 d
rin

k 
qu

ite
 a

 lo
t 

an
d 

sm
ok

e 
ca

nn
ab

is
 c

on
st

an
tly

, e
ve

n 
w

he
n 

I w
as

 
pr

eg
na

nt
 –

 w
hi

ch
 is

 n
ot

 s
om

et
hi

ng
 I 

am
 p

ro
ud

 
of

. I
’v

e 
sl

ow
ly

 b
ut

 s
ur

el
y 

cu
t 

m
y 

ca
nn

ab
is

 u
se

. I
’v

e 
do

ne
 t

he
 ‘m

el
lo

w
 p

ar
en

tin
g’

 c
ou

rs
e 

– 
it 

te
ac

he
s 

ab
ou

t 
th

e 
rig

ht
 w

ay
s 

to
 d

is
ci

pl
in

e 
ch

ild
re

n.
 M

y 
de

pr
es

si
on

 h
as

 g
ot

 a
 lo

t 
be

tt
er

, a
nd

 t
he

 c
ou

rs
e 

ha
s 

le
t 

m
e 

bu
ild

 n
ew

 f
rie

nd
sh

ip
s,

 s
om

et
hi

ng
 I 

ne
ve

r 
th

ou
gh

t 
w

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
ha

pp
en

ed
. F

or
 t

he
 fi

rs
t 

tim
e 

in
 a

 lo
ng

 t
im

e,
 I 

fe
lt 

fa
nt

as
tic

 a
nd

 p
ro

ud
 o

f 
m

ys
el

f.
 

Th
e 

bo
nd

 I 
ha

ve
 w

ith
 m

y 
so

n 
ha

s 
be

en
 im

pr
ov

ed
 

hu
ge

ly
; a

s 
I a

lw
ay

s 
us

ed
 t

o 
ge

t 
st

re
ss

ed
 w

ith
 t

he
 

st
ag

es
 a

 b
ab

y 
go

es
 t

hr
ou

gh
. I

’v
e 

le
ar

nt
 n

ew
 w

ay
s 

of
 c

op
in

g,
 w

hi
ch

 h
as

 m
ad

e 
m

e 
re

al
is

e 
its

 O
K

 t
o 

ge
t 

st
re

ss
ed

 s
om

et
im

es
, a

nd
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
th

at
 

ch
ild

re
n 

fe
el

 w
ha

t 
w

e 
do

.”
 

“W
e 

n
ee

d
 m

o
re

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
at

 t
h

e 
fr

o
n

t 
d

o
o

r, 
so

 
fa

m
ili

es
 g

et
 t

he
 s

up
po

rt
 t

he
y 

ne
ed

 e
ar

lie
r. 

A
re

 w
e 

us
in

g 
th

e 
w

id
er

 s
ys

te
m

 a
s 

be
st

 w
e 

ca
n?

” 

“W
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 t

h
in

k 
ab

o
u

t 
ho

w
 c

ur
re

nt
 h

ea
lth

 
vi

si
tin

g 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 is

 u
se

d 
in

 re
ga

rd
s 

to
 v

ul
ne

ra
bl

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
in

 id
en

tif
yi

ng
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

in
g 

ne
ed

 –
 w

e 
co

ul
d 

w
or

k 
di

ff
er

en
tly

.”
 

93



18

“I
 g

re
w

 u
p

 in
 S

o
u

th
w

ar
k 

an
d 

am
 a

 m
um

 t
o 

tw
o 

gi
rls

. I
 w

as
 2

0 
ye

ar
s 

ol
d 

w
he

n 
I h

ad
 m

y 
fir

st
 g

irl
. 

A
lth

ou
gh

 t
he

 p
re

gn
an

cy
 w

as
 u

np
la

nn
ed

, I
 w

as
 

ha
pp

y 
an

d 
lo

ok
in

g 
fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 b
ei

ng
 a

 m
um

. I
 h

ad
 

be
en

 w
ith

 m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

fo
r 

ab
ou

t 
18

 m
on

th
s,

 b
ut

 a
s 

w
e 

bo
th

 h
ad

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s,
 it

 w
as

 n
ot

 
th

e 
m

os
t 

st
ab

le
 o

f 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

ps
. I

’d
 p

ro
ba

bl
y 

be
en

 
de

pr
es

se
d 

fo
r 

qu
ite

 a
 f

ew
 y

ea
rs

 a
t 

th
is

 p
oi

nt
 b

ut
 

ne
ve

r 
go

t 
an

y 
he

lp
 f

or
 it

; I
 ju

st
 g

ot
 o

n 
w

ith
 t

hi
ng

s,
 

as
 t

ha
t 

w
as

 t
he

 e
th

os
 o

f 
m

y 
fa

m
ily

. F
or

 t
he

 fi
rs

t 
m

on
th

 a
ft

er
 m

y 
fir

st
 g

irl
 w

as
 b

or
n,

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

w
as

 
am

az
in

g 
– 

w
e 

w
er

e 
th

e 
pe

rf
ec

t 
lit

tle
 f

am
ily

. B
ut

 
th

en
 t

hi
ng

s 
ch

an
ge

d 
– 

I s
ta

rt
ed

 t
o 

fe
el

 li
ke

 I 
w

as
n’

t 
co

pi
ng

. I
 s

ta
rt

ed
 t

o 
do

ub
t 

m
y 

ab
ili

ty
 t

o 
pa

re
nt

 h
er

. 
W

ith
in

 w
ee

ks
 I 

w
as

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 in

te
ra

ct
in

g 
w

ith
 h

er
. 

Th
in

gs
 b

et
w

ee
n 

m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

an
d 

m
e 

w
er

e 
st

ra
in

ed
 

– 
he

 w
as

 n
ot

 s
up

po
rt

iv
e.

 M
y 

co
nfi

de
nc

e 
w

as
 

go
ne

. I
 s

to
pp

ed
 t

al
ki

ng
 t

o 
m

y 
fa

m
ily

, a
nd

 b
ec

am
e 

ev
en

 m
or

e 
w

ith
dr

aw
n 

fo
rm

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g.

 T
hi

ng
s 

w
en

t 
do

w
nh

ill
 v

er
y 

fa
st

. W
he

n 
m

y 
lit

tle
 g

irl
 w

as
 

18
 m

on
th

s,
 h

er
 D

ad
 s

ta
rt

ed
 t

o 
vi

si
t 

an
d 

w
e 

go
t 

ba
ck

 t
og

et
he

r. 
I b

ec
am

e 
pr

eg
na

nt
 w

ith
 m

y 
se

co
nd

 
gi

rl 
– 

I k
ne

w
 I 

ne
ed

ed
 h

el
p.

 O
n 

m
y 

fir
st

 v
is

it,
 I 

th
ou

gh
t 

th
is

 w
as

n’
t 

fo
r 

m
e.

 B
ut

 I 
kn

ew
 I 

ne
ed

ed
 

he
lp

, s
o 

de
ci

de
d 

to
 k

ee
p 

tr
yi

ng
 t

o 
at

te
nd

. A
ft

er
 a

 
w

hi
le

, I
 s

ta
rt

ed
 t

o 
en

ga
ge

 w
ith

 s
ta

ff
 a

nd
 a

tt
en

di
ng

 
ev

er
y 

da
y.

 It
 g

av
e 

m
e 

a 
sa

fe
 s

pa
ce

 t
o 

di
sc

us
s 

m
y 

fe
el

in
gs

 a
nd

 b
e 

he
lp

ed
 b

y 
ot

he
rs

. I
 fi

na
lly

 h
ad

 a
 

su
pp

or
t 

ne
tw

or
k 

fo
r 

th
e 

fir
st

 t
im

e 
si

nc
e 

ha
vi

ng
 

m
y 

da
ug

ht
er

. I
 a

m
 n

ow
 f

ee
lin

g 
be

tt
er

 in
 m

ys
el

f 
– 

th
in

gs
 a

re
 im

pr
ov

in
g.

 I 
am

 o
n 

th
e 

ro
ad

 t
o 

re
co

ve
ry

, 
bu

t 
st

ill
 h

av
e 

a 
lo

ng
 w

ay
 g

o.
 I 

ha
ve

 s
ta

rt
ed

 

vo
lu

nt
ee

rin
g 

in
 a

 p
la

yg
ro

up
. I

 a
m

 s
oc

ia
lis

in
g 

m
or

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
fa

m
ily

, w
ho

 a
re

 a
ls

o 
su

pp
or

tiv
e.

 T
he

 
ch

ild
re

n 
ar

e 
bo

th
 in

 s
ch

oo
l a

nd
 d

oi
ng

 w
el

l. 
I a

m
 

ho
pi

ng
 t

ha
t 

so
on

 I 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

el
l e

no
ug

h 
to

 s
ta

rt
 t

o 
pl

an
 m

y 
fu

tu
re

.”
 

“I
 m

o
ve

d
 t

o
 E

as
t 

D
u

lw
ic

h
 a

b
o

u
t 

si
x 

ye
ar

s 
ag

o
. I

 e
nt

er
ed

 f
ul

l-t
im

e 
w

or
k 

an
d 

ha
d 

to
 g

et
 

ch
ild

ca
re

 f
ro

m
 5

am
 e

ac
h 

m
or

ni
ng

 I’
m

 f
ro

m
 G

ha
na

 
– 

an
d 

ca
ug

ht
 b

et
w

ee
n 

br
in

gi
ng

 u
p 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 

th
e 

tr
ad

iti
on

al
 W

es
t 

A
fr

ic
an

 w
ay

, o
r 

by
 w

es
te

rn
 

cu
ltu

re
. I

’m
 ju

st
 re

co
ve

rin
g 

fr
om

 s
ev

er
e 

de
pr

es
si

on
, 

af
te

r 
ha

vi
ng

 m
y 

se
co

nd
 d

au
gh

te
r. 

Th
e 

M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lth
 C

ar
e 

Te
am

 h
el

pe
d 

a 
lo

t 
w

ith
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 a
nd

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

es
 t

ha
t 

le
t 

m
e 

ge
t 

ou
t 

an
d 

so
ci

al
is

e 
m

or
e.

 I’
ve

 a
ls

o 
us

ed
 t

he
 A

sy
lu

m
 S

ee
ke

rs
’ g

ro
up

. 
I’v

e 
go

t 
cl

ot
he

s 
an

d 
sh

oe
s,

 a
 n

ic
e 

lu
nc

h,
 a

nd
 

w
as

 a
bl

e 
to

 s
oc

ia
lis

e 
an

d 
m

ak
e 

ne
w

 f
rie

nd
s 

fr
om

 
th

e 
gr

ou
p.

 B
ut

, m
ig

ra
nt

 f
am

ili
es

 a
re

 n
ot

 g
iv

en
 

en
ou

gh
 a

dv
ic

e 
on

 h
el

p 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 t

he
m

 in
 t

im
es

 
of

 d
iffi

cu
lty

. I
t 

w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

be
en

 b
et

te
r 

if 
I h

ad
 

as
ke

d
fo

r 
he

lp
 e

ar
lie

r.”
 

94



19

“A
ft

er
 m

y 
th

ir
d

 c
h

ild
, I

 t
ho

ug
ht

 I 
w

as
 fi

ne
. B

ut
 

I s
ta

rt
ed

 f
ee

lin
g 

lo
w

 a
nd

 w
ou

ld
n’

t 
op

en
 t

he
 d

oo
r 

to
 o

th
er

s.
 T

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
er

e 
m

is
si

ng
 s

ch
oo

l. 
Th

e 
he

al
th

 v
is

ito
r 

vi
si

te
d 

an
d 

re
fe

rr
ed

 m
e 

to
 a

 p
er

in
at

al
 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 t
ea

m
, a

nd
 a

ls
o 

m
y 

G
P,

 w
ho

 w
an

te
d 

m
e 

to
 h

av
e 

m
ed

ic
at

io
n,

 w
hi

ch
 I 

di
dn

’t 
w

an
t.

 I 
st

ar
te

d 
go

in
g 

to
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.
 I 

di
dn

’t 
lik

e 
th

e 
br

ea
st

fe
ed

in
g 

ca
fé

 b
ut

 li
ke

d 
th

e 
‘k

ee
pi

ng
 w

el
l p

os
t 

bi
rt

h’
 g

ro
up

. I
 w

as
 f

ee
lin

g 
go

od
 a

nd
 m

y 
fir

st
 c

hi
ld

’s 
fa

th
er

 c
am

e 
to

 s
ta

y 
an

d 
w

e 
w

en
t 

on
 h

ol
id

ay
. B

ut
 

th
en

 I 
st

ar
te

d 
st

ru
gg

lin
g 

ag
ai

n.
 T

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
er

e 
la

te
 f

or
 s

ch
oo

l; 
I w

as
 d

rin
ki

ng
 b

ef
or

e 
th

e 
gr

ou
ps

. 
Iw

is
h 

I c
ou

ld
 s

ta
y 

on
 a

n 
ev

en
 k

ee
l a

nd
 g

et
 b

ac
k 

to
 

w
or

k.
 I 

ne
ed

 o
ng

oi
ng

 s
up

po
rt

 t
o 

ge
t 

th
er

e.
” 

“W
e 

n
ee

d
 a

 m
o

re
 c

h
ild

-c
en

tr
ed

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

ar
ou

nd
 c

om
pl

ex
 c

as
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 in
 w

hi
ch

 a
ll 

ag
en

ci
es

 
lo

ok
 f

or
 a

 s
ol

ut
io

n 
to

ge
th

er
 r

at
he

r 
th

an
 h

av
in

g 
to

 g
o 

in
to

 b
at

tle
, w

he
n 

ev
en

tu
al

ly
 t

he
 f

am
ily

 w
ill

 
ha

ve
 t

o 
be

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 a

ny
w

ay
. I

t’s
 a

 w
as

te
 o

f 
tim

e 
an

d 
to

ta
lly

 d
em

or
al

is
in

g 
fo

r 
th

e 
fa

m
ily

.”
 

“M
y 

ch
ild

re
n

’s
 f

at
h

er
 k

ep
t 

d
is

ap
p

ea
ri

n
g

 w
he

n 
I n

ee
de

d 
hi

m
 t

he
 m

os
t.

 I 
di

dn
’t 

ca
re

 a
bo

ut
 m

ys
el

f,
 

ju
st

 f
oc

us
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n.

 I 
as

ke
d 

fo
r 

he
lp

. 
Ic

ou
ld

n’
t 

co
pe

. I
 re

gr
et

 s
ay

in
g 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 b

ec
au

se
 

so
ci

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
ok

 m
y 

ch
ild

re
n 

aw
ay

. I
 h

ad
 a

 
po

lic
e 

or
de

r. 
M

y 
ho

us
e 

si
tu

at
io

n 
di

si
nt

eg
ra

te
d.

 

H
av

e 
a 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 N
ee

d 
pl

an
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 s
ee

 it
 

th
ro

ug
h.

 I 
fe

el
 g

ui
lty

 a
bo

ut
 m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
w

an
t 

th
em

 t
o 

be
 o

ld
 e

no
ug

h 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d.

 N
o 

bl
am

in
g 

m
e 

fo
r 

ta
ki

ng
 t

he
m

 a
w

ay
.”

 

“T
h

e 
1,

00
0 

jo
u

rn
ey

s 
w

o
rk

 h
as

 c
h

an
g

ed
 

m
y 

m
in

d
 –

 t
he

re
 is

 a
 m

uc
h 

bi
gg

er
 ro

le
 

fo
r 

th
e

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
ec

to
r 

in
 

pr
ov

id
in

g
su

pp
or

t 
fo

r 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 f
am

ili
es

, 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

ly
 in

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 lo

ng
er

 t
er

m
 s

up
po

rt
 

an
d

ca
pa

ci
ty

 t
o 

fa
m

ili
es

.”
 

SA
FE

TY
 A

ND
 S
TA

BI
LIT

Y 
FO

R 
TH

OS
E 

NE
ED

IN
G 

ST
AT

UT
OR

Y 
HE

LP
“M

y 
jo

u
rn

ey
 s

ta
rt

ed
 w

h
en

 m
y 

m
u

m
 le

ft
. M

y 
da

d 
is

 a
bu

si
ve

 a
nd

 d
oe

sn
’t 

ca
re

 a
bo

ut
 m

e.
 I 

sh
ou

ld
 

ha
ve

 t
ol

d 
so

m
eo

ne
 a

bo
ut

 m
y 

da
d.

 I 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ki
ck

ed
 o

ut
 o

f 
sc

ho
ol

. I
 g

ot
 in

 t
ro

ub
le

, a
nd

 s
ta

rt
ed

 
de

al
in

g 
– 

m
y 

co
us

in
 g

av
e 

m
e 

th
e 

lo
ad

 t
o 

de
al

. 
If

ee
l I

’m
 e

as
ily

 in
flu

en
ce

d.
 B

ut
 b

ei
ng

 in
 h

os
pi

ta
l, 

Ir
ea

lis
ed

 it
 w

as
 t

im
e 

to
 t

ur
n 

m
y 

lif
e 

ar
ou

nd
. T

hi
ng

s 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
di

ff
er

en
t 

if 
I h

ad
 n

ot
 t

ak
en

 d
ru

gs
 

fr
om

 m
y 

co
us

in
. I

’m
 g

oo
d 

w
ith

 g
irl

s.
 I’

d 
lik

e 
to

 g
et

 
m

ar
rie

d,
 h

av
e 

ki
ds

, g
et

 a
 d

og
. M

y 
ke

y 
w

or
ke

r 
tr

ie
d 

to
 g

et
 m

e 
ba

ck
 in

to
 s

ch
oo

l. 
Sh

e 
w

as
 t

he
 o

nl
y 

on
e 

w
ho

 w
ou

ld
 li

st
en

, a
nd

 s
ho

w
ed

 s
he

 c
ar

ed
. I

 n
ee

d 
to

 t
ry

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
co

lle
ge

, a
nd

 g
et

 q
ua

lifi
ca

tio
ns

.”
 

“I
 w

as
 r

ef
er

re
d

 b
y 

m
y 

sc
h

o
o

l a
t 

14
 y

ea
rs

o
ld

.
Iw

as
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 ro
bb

er
y 

an
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
in

 c
us

to
dy

 
fo

r 
m

al
ic

io
us

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n.

 B
ot

h 
m

y 
pa

re
nt

s 
ar

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ith
 d

ru
g 

m
is

us
e.

 I 
br

ea
k 

do
w

n,
 

he
ar

 v
oi

ce
s 

an
d 

ha
ve

 c
ut

 m
ys

el
f.

 I 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

on
 a

 y
ou

th
 re

ha
bi

lit
at

io
n 

or
de

r, 
an

d 
ha

ve
 h

ad
 

po
or

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t 

w
ith

 t
hi

s.
 I 

am
 t

hi
nk

in
g 

ab
ou

t 
ru

nn
in

g 
aw

ay
 f

ro
m

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

an
d 

ev
er

yo
ne

.”
 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 A

N
D 

FA
M

ILI
ES

 N
EE

DI
N

G 
SP

EC
IA

LIS
T 

CA
RE

.

95



20

“W
h

en
 I 

w
as

 y
o

u
n

g
er

, I
 s

aw
 m

y 
d

ad
 t

h
re

at
en

 
m

y 
m

u
m

 w
it

h
 a

 k
n

if
e.

 T
he

re
 h

av
e 

be
en

 o
th

er
 

tim
es

 w
he

n 
m

y 
da

d 
th

re
at

en
ed

 t
o 

hu
rt

 m
um

 –
 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
tim

es
 w

he
n 

he
’s 

th
re

at
en

ed
 t

o 
ki

ll 
he

r, 
an

d 
to

rc
h 

th
e 

ho
us

e.
 I 

ca
n’

t 
ge

t 
ar

ou
nd

 a
nd

 d
o 

th
in

gs
 o

th
er

 k
id

s 
do

. I
’m

 b
ig

, a
nd

 h
av

e 
so

m
et

hi
ng

 
w

ro
ng

 w
ith

 m
y 

he
ar

t.
 M

y 
m

um
 g

et
s 

an
 a

llo
w

an
ce

 
– 

to
 d

o 
w

ith
 m

y 
he

al
th

. I
 g

et
 in

 t
ro

ub
le

 a
t 

sc
ho

ol
 

– 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ex
cl

ud
ed

 n
ea

rly
 a

 d
oz

en
 t

im
es

. 
So

m
et

im
es

 m
e 

an
d 

m
y 

m
um

 a
rg

ue
 a

nd
 fi

gh
t.

”

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 s
ta

rt
ed

 w
h

en
 I 

h
ad

 t
o

 g
o

 t
o

 
co

u
rt

.I
 w

as
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
 g

an
g 

an
d 

do
in

g 
cr

im
e 

an
d 

fig
ht

in
g.

 N
ow

 I’
m

 a
t 

co
lle

ge
 a

nd
 p

la
yi

ng
 

fo
ot

ba
ll.

 M
y 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

m
an

ag
er

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
a 

bi
g 

in
flu

en
ce

. S
o 

ha
ve

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ily
; t

he
y 

su
pp

or
te

d 
an

d 
en

co
ur

ag
ed

 m
e 

ev
en

 w
he

n 
I l

et
 

th
em

 d
ow

n.
 B

ef
or

e,
 I 

ju
st

 w
an

te
d 

to
 li

ve
 a

 li
fe

 
w

he
re

 I 
ha

d 
m

on
ey

 t
o 

bu
y 

th
in

gs
 s

o 
I w

as
 d

oi
ng

s 
al

l t
ho

se
 t

hi
ng

s 
fo

r 
m

on
ey

 a
nd

 p
op

ul
ar

ity
. I

 w
as

 
co

nf
us

ed
 a

nd
 a

ng
ry

, b
ut

 I 
al

so
 f

el
t 

un
to

uc
ha

bl
e.

 
Th

e 
cr

os
sr

oa
ds

 w
as

 w
he

n 
m

y 
fr

ie
nd

s 
st

ar
te

d 
go

in
g 

to
 ja

il 
an

d 
a 

cl
os

e 
fr

ie
nd

 w
as

 k
ill

ed
. B

ei
ng

 
in

 a
 p

ol
ic

e 
ce

ll 
an

d 
kn

ow
in

g 
m

y 
fa

m
ily

 w
as

 
di

sa
pp

oi
nt

ed
 in

 m
e 

w
as

 a
 lo

w
. M

y 
pa

st
or

 a
nd

 
ch

ur
ch

, a
nd

 m
y 

co
lle

ge
 h

av
e 

be
en

 re
al

ly
 p

os
iti

ve
 

fo
r 

m
e.

 T
he

y 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
se

e 
th

er
e’

s 
an

ot
he

r 
w

ay
 a

nd
 n

ow
 I’

m
 g

oi
ng

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
un

i. 
I w

an
t 

to
 

ge
t

a 
go

od
 jo

b 
or

 b
e 

a 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 f

oo
tb

al
le

r.”
 

“T
h

in
g

s 
w

en
t 

a 
b

it
 m

ad
 f

o
r 

a 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ye
ar

s.
 I 

gr
ew

 u
p 

in
 o

ut
er

 L
on

do
n,

 a
nd

 w
as

 1
4 

w
he

n 
I l

ef
t 

sc
ho

ol
. S

in
ce

 1
5,

 I’
ve

 w
or

ke
d 

w
ith

 
a 

tr
ea

tm
en

t 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
– 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ge

t 
of

f 
m

et
ha

do
ne

. I
’v

e 
be

en
 c

le
an

 f
or

 4
 y

ea
rs

, a
nd

 n
ow

 
Iw

an
t 

to
 m

ov
e 

aw
ay

 f
ro

m
 it

 a
nd

 g
et

 s
or

te
d.

 W
he

n 
m

y 
da

d 
di

ed
, I

 f
el

t 
co

m
pl

et
el

y 
al

on
e.

 I 
di

dn
’t 

ha
ve

 
a 

go
od

 re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

w
ith

 m
y 

m
um

. I
 o

nl
y 

sp
ea

k 
to

 
m

y 
br

ot
he

rs
, a

nd
 m

y 
si

st
er

 c
om

es
 t

o 
se

e 
m

e 
a 

lo
t.

 
H

av
in

g 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ha

s 
m

ot
iv

at
ed

 m
e 

– 
I f

el
t 

I h
ad

 
to

 d
o 

it 
by

 m
ys

el
f.

 I 
ha

ve
 p

ar
en

ta
l r

es
po

ns
ib

ili
ty

 
fo

r 
m

y 
yo

un
ge

st
 –

 s
he

 li
ve

s 
w

ith
 m

y 
pa

rt
ne

r’s
 n

an
, 

bu
t 

m
y 

el
de

st
 is

 in
 a

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

pl
ac

em
en

t.
 I 

ha
ve

 
pl

an
s 

to
 h

av
e 

he
r 

liv
e 

w
ith

 m
e 

ag
ai

n,
 b

ut
 n

ot
 u

nt
il 

I w
or

k 
on

 t
hi

ng
s.

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 c

om
pl

et
e 

co
lle

ge
 a

nd
 

ge
t 

ba
ck

 in
to

 w
or

k.
” 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 A

RE
 

TH
RE

E 
TI

M
ES

 M
OR

E 
LIK

EL
Y 

TH
AN

 
N

AT
IO

N
AL

LY
 T

O 
BE

 O
N

 A
N

 O
PE

N
 C

HI
LD

 
PR

OT
EC

TI
ON

 P
LA

N
 F

OR
 O

VE
R 

2 
YE

AR
S.

 N
EG

LE
CT

 IS
 T

HE
 M

OS
T 

CO
M

M
ON

 
IN

IT
IA

L 
CA

TE
GO

RY
 O

F 
TH

OS
E 

M
AD

E 
SU

BJ
EC

T 
TO

 A
 C

HI
LD

 P
RO

TE
CT

IO
N

 
PL

AN
, O

R 
RE

AS
ON

 F
OR

 R
EG

IST
RA

TI
ON

; 
ON

 A
VE

RA
GE

 M
AK

IN
G 

UP
 M

OR
E 

TH
AN

 H
AL

F 
OF

 A
LL

 O
PE

N
 P

LA
N

S.

 A
LL

 C
HI

LD
 P

RO
TE

CT
IO

N
 C

AS
ES

 W
ER

E 
RE

VI
EW

ED
 W

IT
HI

N
 T

IM
ES

CA
LE

S 
IN

 
20

11/
12

.

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
HA

S 
TH

E 
HI

GH
ES

T 
N

UM
BE

R 
OF

 C
HI

LD
RE

N
 B

EI
N

G 
SU

BJ
EC

T 
TO

 A
 S

EC
ON

D 
OR

 S
UB

SE
QU

EN
T 

CH
ILD

 
PR

OT
EC

TI
ON

 P
LA

N
 

96



21

“I
’v

e 
b

ee
n

 s
ad

, h
ap

p
y,

 v
er

y 
h

ap
p

y.
 I’

ve
 b

ee
n 

in
 a

nd
 o

ut
 o

f 
ca

re
 t

hr
ee

 o
r 

fo
ur

 t
im

es
 s

in
ce

 I 
w

as
 

2.
 M

y 
pr

es
en

t 
ca

re
r 

ha
s 

ch
an

ge
d 

m
y 

at
tit

ud
e 

an
d 

he
lp

ed
 t

o 
ch

an
ge

 m
y 

an
ge

r 
pr

ob
le

m
s.

 S
he

 t
re

at
s 

m
e 

lik
e 

he
r 

so
n 

an
d 

I l
ov

e 
he

r 
to

 b
its

.”
 

“I
 a

m
 a

 f
o

st
er

 c
ar

er
. I

 s
om

et
im

es
 d

on
’t 

fe
el

 li
ke

 
th

e 
ch

ild
 is

 a
t 

th
e 

ce
nt

re
 o

f 
th

e 
sy

st
em

. T
he

 s
ys

te
m

 
ha

s 
go

ne
 p

ro
ce

ss
 m

ad
 s

om
et

im
es

.”
 

“M
y 

lin
k 

w
o

rk
er

 w
o

u
ld

 p
u

ll 
o

u
t 

al
l t

h
e 

st
o

p
s,

th
ey

 a
re

 a
lw

ay
s 

th
er

e 
w

he
n 

I n
ee

d 
th

em
 a

nd
 

no
th

in
g 

is
 t

oo
 m

uc
h 

tr
ou

bl
e.

 I 
do

n’
t 

th
in

k 
I c

ou
ld

 
do

 it
 w

ith
ou

t 
th

em
.”

 

“I
’m

 a
 s

in
g

le
 p

ar
en

t 
liv

in
g 

in
 a

 lo
w

-s
up

po
rt

 
m

ot
he

r 
an

d 
ba

by
 u

ni
t.

 M
y 

m
um

 k
ic

ke
d 

m
e 

ou
t 

so
 

I g
ot

 p
la

ce
d 

in
 a

 f
os

te
r 

ho
m

e.
 M

ov
ed

 t
o 

tw
o 

ot
he

r 
ho

st
el

s 
be

fo
re

 I 
am

 w
he

re
 I 

am
 n

ow
, a

nd
 t

he
n 

ha
d 

m
y 

so
n.

 I 
st

ill
 d

on
’t 

sp
ea

k 
to

 m
y 

m
um

 –
 m

y 
fa

m
ily

 is
 n

ow
 m

e 
an

d 
m

y 
so

n.
 I 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 t
o 

fin
is

h 
m

y 
co

lle
ge

 c
ou

rs
e 

be
fo

re
 I 

go
t 

pr
eg

na
nt

. I
 w

as
 

sh
oc

ke
d 

w
he

n 
I g

ot
 p

re
gn

an
t 

– 
it 

re
al

ly
 o

nl
y 

su
nk

 
in

 w
he

n 
I h

ad
 h

im
, a

nd
 I 

sa
w

 m
y 

so
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

fir
st

 
tim

e.
 T

hi
nk

in
g 

ab
ou

t 
m

ov
in

g 
is

 d
ep

re
ss

in
g.

 I 
ha

d 
to

 
st

op
 c

on
ta

ct
 w

ith
 m

y 
so

n’
s 

da
d,

 a
s 

he
 w

as
 a

bu
si

ve
 

an
d 

co
nt

ro
lli

ng
. T

he
 n

ex
t 

pa
rt

 o
f 

m
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

w
ill

 b
e 

tr
yi

ng
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

a 
be

tt
er

 li
fe

 f
or

 m
y 

so
n.

” 

“I
 le

ar
n

t 
ev

er
yt

h
in

g
 f

ro
m

 m
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 –
w

he
n 

I m
ov

ed
 t

o 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
liv

in
g 

I d
id

 t
he

 s
tu

ff
 

sh
e 

di
d 

lik
e 

re
gi

st
er

 w
ith

 t
he

 d
oc

to
rs

; I
 h

ad
 n

ev
er

 
be

en
 t

o 
th

e 
do

ct
or

s 
be

fo
re

 I 
w

en
t 

to
 li

ve
 t

he
re

.”
 

“A
 g

o
o

d
 s

o
ci

al
 w

o
rk

er
 d

oe
s 

no
t 

br
in

g 
up

 y
ou

r 
pa

st
, i

s 
m

or
e 

fo
rw

ar
d 

lo
ok

in
g.

” 

“I
 g

o
t 

ar
re

st
ed

 a
nd

 w
he

n 
I c

am
e 

ou
t 

so
ci

al
 

se
rv

ic
es

 p
ut

 m
e 

in
 a

 f
os

te
r 

ho
m

e.
 I’

m
 n

ow
 li

vi
ng

 
in

 a
 s

em
i-i

nd
ep

en
de

nt
 h

os
te

l, 
an

d 
st

ill
 w

or
ki

ng
 

w
ith

 t
he

 Y
ou

th
 O

ff
en

di
ng

 T
ea

m
 (Y

O
T)

. I
 s

ee
 m

y 
m

um
 e

ve
ry

 d
ay

 –
 w

e 
ar

e 
O

K
 w

ith
 e

ac
h 

ot
he

r, 
sh

e 
he

lp
s 

m
e 

w
ith

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g.

 Y
O

T 
ha

s 
al

so
 h

el
pe

d 
by

 t
ea

ch
in

g 
m

e 
st

uf
f,

 s
uc

h 
as

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 s

af
et

y.
 

It
ry

 n
ot

 t
o 

lo
se

 m
y 

te
m

pe
r 

– 
bu

t 
I n

ee
d 

he
lp

 w
ith

 
th

is
. I

 f
ee

l a
ng

ry
 w

he
n 

th
ey

 b
la

m
e 

m
y 

m
um

 f
or

 
m

y 
be

ha
vi

ou
r. 

Y
O

T 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
– 

te
ac

hi
ng

 m
e 

w
hy

 I 
ge

t 
an

gr
y,

 a
nd

 h
ow

 t
o 

de
al

 w
ith

 t
hi

s.
 It

w
as

gr
ea

t 
w

he
n 

Y
O

T 
fo

un
d 

m
e 

an
 a

pp
re

nt
ic

es
hi

p 
an

d 
ga

ve
 m

e 
so

m
et

hi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

iv
e 

to
 d

o 
w

ith
 m

y 
tim

e.
 W

ith
 s

up
po

rt
 f

ro
m

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ily
, 

I’l
lg

et
 a

 jo
b 

an
d 

m
y 

ow
n 

pl
ac

e.
” 

SA
FE

TY
 A

ND
 S
TA

BI
LIT

Y 
FO

R 
CH

ILD
RE

N 
IN

 C
OR

PO
RA

TE
 C

AR
E

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 W

HO
 A

RE
 L

OO
KE

D 
AF

TE
R.

.

97



22

“T
h

e 
p

u
b

lic
 s

ec
to

r 
re

p
u

ta
ti

o
n

 is
 n

o
t 

ju
st

ifi
ed

. 
O

ur
 [a

do
pt

io
n]

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

r 
w

as
 o

n 
to

p 
of

 
ev

er
yt

hi
ng

 a
ll 

th
e 

tim
e…

w
e 

ne
ed

 t
o 

di
sp

el
 t

he
 

m
yt

hs
 –

 t
he

y 
ar

e 
pa

ss
io

na
te

, d
riv

en
, h

ar
d 

w
or

ki
ng

, 
co

ns
id

er
at

e 
an

d 
ac

tu
al

ly
 e

xt
ra

or
di

na
ry

!”
 

“D
ro

p
p

ed
 in

 it
! 

M
um

 d
ro

pp
ed

 m
e 

at
 N

an
’s 

– 
th

en
 N

an
 t

oo
k 

m
e 

to
 M

cD
on

al
d’

s 
an

d 
to

ld
 m

e 
I’d

 b
e 

go
in

g 
to

 f
os

te
r 

ca
re

. I
 re

m
em

be
r 

cr
yi

ng
 

in
to

 m
y 

bu
rg

er
. I

’v
e 

ha
d 

ab
ou

t 
11

 y
ea

rs
 o

f 
fo

st
er

 
ca

re
. I

’m
 in

 a
 d

ai
ly

 s
tr

ug
gl

e 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

. 
Iw

is
h 

I w
as

 ig
no

ra
nt

 s
o 

lif
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
ea

si
er

, b
ut

 
I a

m
 a

nx
io

us
 a

bo
ut

 t
hi

ng
s 

be
fo

re
 t

he
y 

ha
pp

en
 –

 
Is

ee
 t

he
 b

ig
ge

r 
pi

ct
ur

e.
 I 

do
n’

t 
se

e 
m

ys
el

f 
as

 a
n 

in
sp

ira
tio

n 
to

 o
th

er
s 

– 
ca

n’
t 

ca
rr

y 
pe

op
le

 –
 h

av
e 

to
 

lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 m

ys
el

f,
 a

nd
 t

he
n,

 w
he

n 
gr

ow
n 

up
, t

ak
e 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
of

 im
m

ed
ia

te
 f

am
ily

. Y
ou

 c
an

 o
nl

y 
gi

ve
 s

o 
m

uc
h 

to
 p

eo
pl

e,
 t

he
n 

pe
op

le
 h

av
e 

to
 lo

ok
 

af
te

r 
th

em
se

lv
es

.”
 

“I
 b

eg
an

 w
o

rk
 in

 t
h

e 
R

ef
er

ra
l a

n
d

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

te
am

– 
no

w
 I 

am
 a

 s
en

io
r 

pr
ac

tit
io

ne
r 

in
 a

 lo
ng

-
te

rm
 c

hi
ld

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

te
am

. C
ol

le
ag

ue
s 

ha
ve

 
be

en
 s

up
po

rt
iv

e 
an

d 
en

co
ur

ag
in

g 
du

rin
g 

so
m

e 
di

ffi
cu

lt 
tim

es
. I

 w
ill

 a
lw

ay
s 

re
m

em
be

r 
re

m
ov

in
g 

m
y 

fir
st

 c
hi

ld
; h

av
in

g 
su

cc
es

s 
in

 c
ou

rt
; a

w
fu

l c
ro

ss
 

ex
am

in
at

io
ns

 in
 c

ou
rt

. I
 w

an
t 

to
 c

on
tin

ue
 t

o 
he

lp
 

an
d 

ca
re

 f
or

 p
eo

pl
e 

– 
an

d 
to

 fi
nd

w
ay

s 
to

 c
op

e 
w

ith
 t

he
 s

tr
es

s 
at

 t
im

es
.”

 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 T
HE

RE
 A

RE
 A

RO
UN

D 
57

0 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 

IN
 C

AR
E,

 W
HI

CH
 IS

 H
IG

HE
R 

TH
AN

 
N

AT
IO

N
AL

 A
N

D 
ST

AT
IST

IC
AL

 
N

EI
GH

BO
UR

 A
VE

RA
GE

S

 A
LT

HO
UG

H 
IM

PR
OV

IN
G,

 T
HE

 N
UM

BE
R 

OF
 C

HI
LD

RE
N

 IN
 A

 ST
AB

LE
 P

LA
CE

M
EN

T 
IS 

BE
LO

W
 SI

M
ILA

R 
AU

TH
OR

IT
IE

S

 O
VE

R 
8 

IN
 10

 C
HI

LD
RE

N
 IN

 C
AR

E 
GO

 
“H

OM
E”

 W
IT

HI
N

 T
HR

EE
 Y

EA
RS

 B
UT

 
ON

LY
 1 

IN
 10

 O
F 

TH
OS

E 
AG

ED
 5

 T
O 

14
 

LE
AV

E 
CA

RE
 W

IT
HI

N
 T

HE
 Y

EA
R

 7
%

 O
F 

TH
E 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 L
EA

VI
N

G 
CA

RE
 

AR
E 

AD
OP

TE
D,

 W
HI

CH
 IS

 B
EL

OW
 T

HE
 

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 A

VE
RA

GE
 O

F 
12

%

“M
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 f
am

ily
 is

 m
y 

fa
m

ily
. T

he
y 

ha
ve

 
be

en
 t

he
re

 e
ve

r 
si

nc
e 

I r
em

em
be

r.”
 

98



23

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 b
eg

an
 w

h
en

 I 
w

as
 t

h
re

e 
an

d
 w

as
 b

ro
u

g
h

t 
in

to
 c

ar
e 

– 
m

y 
m

ot
he

r 
co

ul
dn

’t
 c

op
e.

 M
y 

fo
st

er
 p

ar
en

ts
 a

nd
 m

y 
so

ci
al

 
w

or
ke

r 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

of
 m

uc
h 

he
lp

. I
 a

m
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 
on

 c
at

er
in

g/
ho

sp
ita

lit
y 

tr
ai

ni
ng

. I
 h

av
e 

ha
d 

en
co

ur
ag

em
en

t,
 c

ou
ch

in
g,

 m
en

to
rin

g,
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

ro
le

-m
od

el
lin

g 
fr

om
 m

y 
fo

st
er

 p
ar

en
ts

, a
nd

 
al

lt
he

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

m
e.

” 

“I
 w

as
 n

o
t 

re
al

ly
 h

el
p

ed
 a

t 
an

 e
ar

ly
 s

ta
g

e 
to

de
al

 w
ith

 t
he

 e
m

ot
io

ns
 c

om
in

g 
in

to
 c

ar
e 

br
in

gs
. 

Th
ey

 a
re

 a
lw

ay
s 

th
er

e 
an

d 
ca

n 
ca

us
e 

so
m

e 
re

al
ly

 
ba

d 
be

ha
vi

ou
rs

 t
hr

ou
gh

 c
on

fu
si

on
, h

at
re

d,
 d

ou
bt

, 
m

is
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g.

”

“I
 a

m
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
in

g
 t

h
e 

en
d

 o
f 

m
y 

ti
m

e 
in

 
ca

re
, a

s 
I’m

 t
ur

ni
ng

 1
8 

ne
xt

 y
ea

r. 
It 

is
 g

oi
ng

 t
o 

be
 d

au
nt

in
g 

an
d 

sc
ar

y.
 I’

m
 g

oi
ng

 t
o 

tr
y 

to
 li

ve
 

an
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
lif

e.
 I 

w
as

 s
ho

ck
ed

 w
he

n 
I h

ad
 

to
 le

av
e 

m
y 

fir
st

 c
ar

er
s,

 b
ec

au
se

 I 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 t

o 
be

 a
do

pt
ed

 b
y 

th
em

. L
uc

ki
ly

 I 
m

ov
ed

 in
 w

ith
 

an
ot

he
r 

co
up

le
 w

he
n 

I w
as

 n
in

e 
– 

th
ey

 re
al

ly
 

ca
re

d 
an

d 
lo

ok
ed

 a
ft

er
 m

e 
lik

e 
a 

m
um

 a
nd

 d
ad

. 
I w

as
 c

on
fu

se
d 

at
 fi

rs
t,

 b
ut

 w
he

n 
I s

et
tle

d 
in

, I
 

w
as

 e
xp

la
in

ed
 a

 lo
t 

of
 t

hi
ng

s,
 a

nd
 m

ad
e 

to
 f

ee
l 

sp
ec

ia
l. 

Th
is

 h
ad

 t
he

 b
ig

ge
st

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
m

y 
lif

e,
 

an
d 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ac

hi
ev

e 
so

 m
uc

h.
 S

om
et

im
es

 
I g

et
 d

ep
re

ss
ed

 a
nd

 a
ng

ry
, a

nd
 t

hi
nk

 I 
ca

n’
t 

co
pe

, b
ut

 I 
ge

t 
he

lp
 f

ro
m

 t
he

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 
te

am
. T

he
y 

w
er

e 
ki

nd
 a

nd
 t

al
ke

d 
to

 m
e 

a 
lo

t 
an

d 
ga

ve
 m

e 
so

m
e 

m
ed

ic
at

io
n.

 I’
ve

 s
ee

n 
m

y 
si

st
er

s 
st

ru
gg

le
 a

nd
 h

av
e 

th
ei

r 
ba

bi
es

 t
ak

en
 in

to
 

ca
re

, a
nd

 d
ec

id
ed

 I 
co

ul
d 

do
 b

et
te

r. 
It’

s 
a 

sh
am

e 
m

y 
re

al
 m

um
 a

nd
 d

ad
 c

ou
ld

n’
t 

lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 m

e.
 

Ju
st

 re
ce

nt
ly

 I’
ve

 g
ot

 a
n 

ap
pr

en
tic

es
hi

p 
jo

b 
at

 
a 

la
rg

e 
ho

te
l c

ha
in

. I
 a

m
 s

o 
lu

ck
y.

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 d

o 
re

al
ly

 w
el

l a
t 

m
y 

ne
w

 jo
b,

 a
nd

 g
et

 a
 p

er
m

an
en

t 
pl

ac
em

en
t 

– 
an

d 
m

ov
e 

in
to

 m
y 

ow
n 

fla
t 

at
 1

8!
” 

“I
 c

am
e 

fr
o

m
 J

am
ai

ca
 f

ro
m

 a
 b

ig
 e

xt
en

de
d 

fa
m

ily
. I

’v
e 

ha
d 

di
ff

er
en

t 
fo

st
er

 p
la

ce
m

en
ts

 –
 

br
ou

gh
t 

up
 in

 c
ar

e 
si

nc
e 

I w
as

 t
hr

ee
. M

y 
si

st
er

 
di

ed
 a

t 
25

 (s
ui

ci
de

) –
 w

as
 a

 b
ig

 s
ho

ck
. I

 d
id

n’
t 

co
pe

 a
nd

 s
ta

rt
ed

 t
ak

in
g 

dr
ug

s 
w

ith
 p

eo
pl

e 
ar

ou
nd

 
m

e 
as

 I 
ha

te
d 

to
 b

e 
on

 m
y 

ow
n.

 M
y 

br
ot

he
r 

to
ok

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y 

fo
r 

m
e 

w
hi

ch
 w

as
 g

oo
d,

 b
ut

 h
e 

w
as

 
in

to
 d

ru
gs

, w
hi

ch
 im

pa
ct

ed
 o

n 
m

e.
 S

oc
ia

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
tr

ie
d 

to
 h

el
p 

m
e 

un
til

 I 
w

as
 2

2,
 a

nd
 I 

go
t 

pr
eg

na
nt

. 
Th

e 
th

in
g 

th
at

 m
ad

e 
th

e 
bi

gg
es

t 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 w
as

 
ha

vi
ng

 a
 f

am
ily

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t,

 s
ta

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
ro

ut
in

e 
– 

st
ru

ct
ur

e.
 I 

ne
ed

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
de

to
x/

re
ha

b,
 t

he
n 

on
to

 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 a

nd
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

– 
to

 g
et

 a
 c

le
ar

 m
in

d 
an

d 
cl

ea
r 

sy
st

em
.”

 

99



24

“I
n

 1
99

8,
 m

y 
d

ad
 p

as
se

d
 a

w
ay

 a
nd

 m
y 

m
um

 
co

ul
dn

’t 
co

pe
 o

n 
he

r 
ow

n.
 I 

am
 s

til
l i

n 
ca

re
. I

 h
av

e 
ot

he
r 

si
bl

in
gs

, a
nd

 a
m

 t
he

 y
ou

ng
es

t.
 I 

ha
ve

 m
ov

ed
 

sc
ho

ol
 m

an
y 

tim
es

. M
y 

so
ci

al
 w

or
ke

r 
he

lp
ed

 t
o 

m
ov

e 
m

e 
in

to
 t

he
 s

am
e 

ca
re

 h
ou

se
 a

s 
m

y 
si

st
er

, 
an

d 
th

at
 w

as
 h

el
pf

ul
. M

y 
el

de
st

 s
is

te
r 

ha
s 

al
w

ay
s 

be
en

 t
he

re
 f

or
 m

e.
 I 

w
an

te
d 

to
 b

e 
a 

pr
of

es
si

on
al

 
da

nc
er

, b
ec

au
se

 I’
m

 g
oo

d 
at

 it
. F

el
t 

em
ot

io
na

l a
nd

 
sa

d 
in

 c
ar

e 
be

ca
us

e 
m

y 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s 

w
er

en
’t 

go
od

 
to

 u
s 

– 
us

ed
 t

o 
be

at
 u

s,
 b

ef
or

e 
I m

ov
ed

. H
av

e 
m

ov
ed

 c
ar

er
s 

fiv
e 

tim
es

 –
 m

y 
pr

es
en

t 
ca

re
r 

ha
s 

ch
an

ge
d 

m
y 

at
tit

ud
e 

an
d 

ha
s 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
m

an
ag

e 
m

y 
an

ge
r 

pr
ob

le
m

s.
 M

y 
pr

es
en

t 
ca

re
r 

tr
ea

ts
 m

e 
lik

e 
he

r 
da

ug
ht

er
 –

 I 
lo

ve
 h

er
 t

o 
bi

ts
. I

 a
m

 g
oi

ng
 

to
co

lle
ge

, b
ut

 I 
am

 n
ot

 g
et

tin
g 

on
 w

el
l.”

 

“I
 a

m
 a

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
er

 a
t 

So
ut

hw
ar

k.
 A

ft
er

 
gr

ad
ua

tin
g,

 I 
w

or
ke

d 
fo

r 
se

ve
ra

l a
ge

nc
ie

s 
w

or
ki

ng
 

w
ith

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

, p
ar

tic
ul

ar
ly

 w
om

en
. 

I h
av

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

ps
 w

ith
 p

ar
en

ts
 

w
ho

 h
av

e 
pr

ev
io

us
ly

 b
ee

n 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 d
iffi

cu
lt,

 
ev

as
iv

e 
an

d 
ha

rd
 t

o 
en

ga
ge

. I
 h

av
e 

al
so

 b
ee

n 
ab

le
 t

o 
en

su
re

 t
he

 s
af

et
y 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n;

 w
he

th
er

 
w

ith
in

 f
am

ili
es

, o
r 

w
ith

in
 lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
ie

s 
(L

oo
ke

d 
A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n)
. E

ve
ry

 t
im

e 
I h

av
e 

he
lp

ed
 a

 c
hi

ld
 

to
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

ei
r 

lif
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 
a 

hi
gh

lig
ht

. T
he

re
 h

av
e 

be
en

 t
im

es
 w

he
n 

I h
av

e 
fe

lt 
un

ab
le

 t
o 

m
ak

e 
a 

di
ff

er
en

ce
, w

he
re

 c
ha

ng
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 n
ee

de
d.

 I 
w

ill
 n

ev
er

 f
or

ge
t 

th
e 

fir
st

 t
im

e 
Ir

em
ov

ed
 a

 c
hi

ld
 f

ro
m

 t
he

ir 
fa

m
ily

 t
o 

en
su

re
 t

he
ir 

sa
fe

ty
 –

 t
he

 v
ar

io
us

 a
nd

 c
on

fli
ct

in
g 

em
ot

io
ns

 w
er

e 
ve

ry
 c

ha
lle

ng
in

g.
 I 

fe
el

 s
im

ila
rly

 e
ve

ry
 t

im
e 

I t
el

l 
a 

ch
ild

 t
ha

t 
th

ey
 c

an
’t 

st
ay

 w
ith

 t
he

ir 
fa

m
ily

 o
r 

ca
re

rs
. I

 w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 t

o 
m

ov
e 

to
 t

he
 L

oo
ke

d 
A

ft
er

 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

Se
rv

ic
e 

ne
xt

 –
 t

o 
be

co
m

e 
a 

m
or

e 
sk

ill
ed

 
an

d 
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

r 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ha

ve
 a

 p
os

iti
ve

 a
nd

 w
or

th
w

hi
le

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e.

” 

“M
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

s 
w

er
e 

al
l g

o
o

d
. I

’m
 n

ot
 in

 
co

nt
ac

t 
w

ith
 a

ny
 o

f 
th

em
 a

ny
m

or
e,

 li
fe

 ju
st

 g
et

s 
in

 
th

e 
w

ay
 a

nd
 p

eo
pl

e 
m

ov
e 

on
. B

ut
 I 

do
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 

co
m

pl
ai

nt
s 

ab
ou

t 
th

em
 –

 m
y 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
th

er
e 

w
as

 
be

tt
er

 t
ha

n 
it 

w
as

 in
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ho

m
es

.”
 

100



25

“T
h

e 
fi

rs
t 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 I 
h

ad
 w

as
 g

o
o

d
, I

’m
st

ill
in

 t
ou

ch
 w

ith
 h

er
 n

ow
 a

nd
 s

he
’s 

a 
bi

g 
pa

rt
 

of
m

y 
lif

e.
”

“M
y 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
 w

it
h

 m
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 is
 

g
re

at
, t

ha
t’s

 m
y 

m
um

. S
he

’s 
ne

ve
r 

tr
ea

te
d 

m
e 

as
 

a 
fo

st
er

 c
hi

ld
 –

 s
he

’s 
al

w
ay

s 
tr

ea
te

d 
m

e 
as

 o
ne

 o
f 

he
r 

ow
n.

 S
he

 w
as

 o
pe

n 
an

d 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g;

 s
he

 
ne

ve
r 

tr
ie

d 
to

 t
ak

e 
m

y 
m

um
’s 

pl
ac

e 
an

d 
w

or
ke

d 
ha

rd
 t

o 
ke

ep
 h

er
 s

pi
rit

 a
liv

e.
 S

he
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

ho
us

e 
ve

ry
 w

el
co

m
in

g,
 p

ut
 p

ic
tu

re
s 

of
 m

y 
m

um
 a

ro
un

d 
th

e 
ho

us
e 

an
d 

st
uf

f.
 I 

gr
ew

 a
 s

tr
on

g 
bo

nd
 w

ith
 h

er
 

an
d 

sh
e 

ev
en

 a
do

pt
ed

 m
e 

w
he

n 
I w

as
 1

7.
” 

“M
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 w
as

 r
ea

lly
 g

o
o

d
 t

o
 m

e;
sh

e
w

as
 li

ke
 a

 m
um

 t
o 

m
e.

” 

“I
 w

o
rk

 in
 S

o
u

th
w

ar
k 

n
o

w
, a

ft
er

 q
ua

lif
yi

ng
. 

I f
ee

l v
er

y 
st

ro
ng

ly
 a

bo
ut

 t
he

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
th

ei
r 

liv
es

 a
nd

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
es

. I
 c

an
 f

ee
l f

ru
st

ra
te

d 
if 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

ar
en

’t
 g

et
tin

g 
th

e 
be

st
 s

er
vi

ce
 –

 t
hi

s 
co

ul
d 

be
 b

ec
au

se
 o

f 
sy

st
em

s,
 o

r 
be

ca
us

e 
w

e 
ca

n’
t 

ge
t 

en
ou

gh
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 p
ar

en
ts

/c
ar

er
s.

 I 
am

 
al

so
 v

er
y 

co
m

m
itt

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
so

ci
al

 w
or

ke
rs

 a
nd

 
w

an
t 

th
em

 t
o 

fe
el

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 s

o 
th

at
 t

he
y 

ca
n 

do
 t

he
ir 

jo
b 

pr
op

er
ly.

 W
ha

t 
he

lp
s 

is
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

al
l f

oc
us

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
ra

th
er

 t
ha

n 
re

d 
ta

pe
; h

av
in

g 
go

od
 c

om
pe

te
nt

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

rs
. 

I w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 m

or
e 

tim
e 

to
 g

iv
e 

to
 r

es
ea

rc
h 

an
d 

th
eo

ry
. I

re
m

em
be

r 
m

y 
w

or
st

 c
as

e 
– 

no
t 

fe
el

in
g 

su
pp

or
te

d 
– 

bu
t 

I d
id

n’
t 

gi
ve

 u
p 

an
d 

ev
en

tu
al

ly
 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

w
er

e 
m

ad
e 

sa
fe

.”
 

“M
u

ch
 o

f 
o

u
r 

m
o

n
ey

 f
o

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 in

 c
ar

e 
is

 
tie

d 
up

 in
 t

ra
di

tio
na

l a
nd

 c
er

ta
in

 w
ay

s 
of

 d
oi

ng
 

pr
ac

tic
e.

 H
ow

 c
an

 w
e 

re
in

ve
st

 t
ho

se
 re

so
ur

ce
s,

 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

ly
 b

y 
th

in
ki

ng
 a

bo
ut

 w
ay

s 
to

 h
el

p 
ch

ild
re

n 
go

 a
nd

 re
m

ai
n 

at
 h

om
e?

” 

101



26

W
h

at
 d

o
es

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

n
?

Ev
er

y 
ch

ild
 a

nd
 y

ou
ng

 p
er

so
n 

de
se

rv
es

 t
o 

liv
e 

a 
fu

ll,
 h

ap
py

 a
nd

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

lif
e 

– 
an

d 
a 

sp
ec

ia
l e

du
ca

tio
na

l n
ee

d 
or

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
 s

ho
ul

d 
no

t 
pr

ev
en

t 
th

is
. S

o 
w

e 
ar

e 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 t
o 

m
ak

in
g 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
th

es
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 a
re

 a
bl

e 
to

 c
ho

os
e 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
he

y 
ne

ed
 –

 re
ga

rd
le

ss
 o

f 
w

he
th

er
 t

he
y 

ne
ed

 
he

al
th

, e
du

ca
tio

n 
or

 s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

su
pp

or
t 

– 
in

or
de

r 
to

 li
ve

 li
fe

 t
o 

th
e 

fu
lle

st
.

W
e 

pr
om

is
e 

th
at

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 

a 
sp

ec
ia

l e
du

ca
tio

na
l n

ee
d 

or
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 a
nd

 t
he

ir 
fa

m
ili

es
 w

ill
 b

e 
ab

le
 t

o 
ac

ce
ss

 a
 lo

ca
l o

ff
er

 o
f 

se
am

le
ss

, 
pe

rs
on

al
is

ed
 s

up
po

rt
 f

ro
m

 c
hi

ld
ho

od
 t

o 
ad

ul
th

oo
d.

W
h

at
 c

an
 y

o
u

 e
xp

ec
t 

to
 c

h
an

g
e 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
is

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
?

M
or

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ho
 n

ee
d 

it 
be

in
g 

of
fe

re
d 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 

su
pp

or
t s

pa
nn

in
g 

he
al

th
, e

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

so
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

M
or

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 o

f 
th

e 
ki

nd
 y

ou
 n

ee
d 

an
d 

w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e,
 a

nd
 

fo
r 

it 
to

 b
e 

ea
si

er
 t

o 
fin

d 
ou

t 
ab

ou
t 

th
em

El
ig

ib
le

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 t

o 
ha

ve
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 t
o 

a 
pe

rs
on

al
 

bu
dg

et
 –

 w
hi

ch
 m

ea
ns

 t
he

y 
ha

ve
 t

he
 f

re
ed

om
 t

o 
bu

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 

th
ey

 n
ee

d

M
or

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 r
ig

ht
 in

to
 a

du
lth

oo
d 

– 
up

 t
o 

th
e 

ag
e 

of
 2

5 
– 

he
lp

in
g 

th
em

 t
o 

be
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
an

d 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

102



27

“P
et

ra
 is

 1
7.

 S
h

e 
h

as
 D

o
w

n
 ’s

 s
yn

d
ro

m
e

an
d 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
iffi

cu
lti

es
. S

he
’s 

ju
st

 fi
ni

sh
ed

 a
n 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

liv
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
at

 c
ol

le
ge

. H
er

 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 w

or
ke

r 
sa

ys
 s

he
 h

as
 d

et
er

io
ra

te
d 

qu
ite

 s
ub

st
an

tia
lly

 in
 t

he
 p

as
t 

12
 m

on
th

s 
an

d 
is

 
no

t 
re

sp
on

di
ng

 t
o 

an
ti-

ps
yc

ho
tic

 d
ru

gs
. T

he
y 

ar
e 

no
t 

su
re

 w
ha

t 
is

 g
oi

ng
 o

n 
an

d 
ha

ve
 in

st
ru

ct
ed

 t
he

 
su

pp
or

t 
of

 o
th

er
 m

ed
ic

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 H
er

 p
ar

en
t 

sa
ys

 
sh

e 
ju

st
 w

an
de

rs
, a

pp
ea

rs
 d

is
tr

es
se

d 
an

d 
is

 p
ul

lin
g 

at
 h

er
 h

ai
r. 

Sh
e 

w
as

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

to
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e;
 t

he
y 

ar
e 

no
w

 a
ss

es
si

ng
 h

er
. H

er
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

co
lle

ge
 f

ee
ls

 
it 

ca
n’

t 
su

pp
or

t 
he

r 
as

 a
 lo

t 
ha

s 
ch

an
ge

d 
si

nc
e 

sh
e 

le
ft

 h
er

 s
pe

ci
al

 s
ch

oo
l. 

A
 m

ee
tin

g 
to

 a
gr

ee
 w

ha
t 

ha
pp

en
s 

ne
xt

 is
 p

la
nn

ed
.”

 

“O
n

e 
o

f 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n
 h

as
 a

 c
h

ro
n

ic
 m

ed
ic

al
 

co
n

d
it

io
n

. T
he

 h
ea

lth
 v

is
ito

r 
m

ad
e 

m
e 

fe
el

 
re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
fo

r 
he

r 
fa

ilu
re

 t
o 

th
riv

e.
 I 

ha
d 

to
 fi

gh
t 

to
 

ge
t 

ph
ys

io
th

er
ap

y 
an

d 
ed

uc
at

io
n 

su
pp

or
t.

 A
hi

gh
 

is
 t

ha
t 

sh
e’

s 
ju

st
 s

ta
rt

ed
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 is
 s

et
tli

ng
 in

 v
er

y 
w

el
l. 

A
 lo

w
 is

 a
t 

ho
m

e 
– 

I h
av

e 
be

en
 w

ai
tin

g 
tw

o 
an

d 
ha

lf 
ye

ar
s 

fo
r 

ad
ap

ta
tio

ns
 s

o 
th

at
 m

y 
da

ug
ht

er
 c

an
 a

cc
es

s 
th

e 
ki

tc
he

n 
an

d 
le

ar
n 

so
m

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
liv

in
g 

sk
ill

s.
” 

CH
OI

CE
 A

ND
 C

ON
TR

OL
 F

OR
 Y

OU
NG

 P
EO

PL
E 

BE
CO

MI
NG

 IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
T

“I
 a

m
 a

 y
ou

ng
 p

er
so

n,
 1

9 
ye

ar
s 

ol
d,

 w
it

h 
a 

di
sa

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
I h

av
e 

re
ce

nt
ly

 m
ov

ed
 in

to
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 
liv

in
g 

w
he

re
 I 

am
 li

vi
ng

 s
em

i i
nd

ep
en

de
nt

ly.
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

ho
w

 to
 c

oo
k 

fo
r m

ys
el

f, 
sh

op
 fo

r m
ys

el
f, 

do
 m

y 
ow

n 
la

un
dr

y,
 a

nd
 le

ar
ni

ng
ho

w
 to

 tr
av

el
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
 

to
 c

ol
le

ge
. A

t L
ew

ish
am

 C
ol

le
ge

 I 
am

 d
oi

ng
 a

rt
 a

nd
 

de
sig

n.
 T

he
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 h

av
e 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
in

cl
ud

e 
m

y 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
, m

y 
ke

y 
w

or
ke

r, 
m

y 
so

ci
al

 w
or

ke
r, 

an
d 

st
af

f a
nd

 fr
ie

nd
s 

at
 th

e 
Yo

ut
h 

C
lu

b.
 W

he
n 

I 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

on
 re

sid
en

tia
ls 

w
ith

 th
e 

yo
ut

h 
cl

ub
 I 

w
as

 
ab

le
 to

 ta
ke

 p
ar

t i
n 

ev
er

yt
hi

ng
 w

hi
ch

 m
ad

e 
m

e 
fe

el
 

pr
ou

d 
of

 m
ys

el
f. 

I w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 w
or

k 
in

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
, g

o 
to

 c
ol

le
ge

 a
nd

 g
et

 a
 q

ua
lifi

ca
tio

n 
in

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
.”

 

“I
 s

ta
rt

ed
 in

 a
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ch
oo

l b
ut

 d
ro

pp
ed

 
ou

t 
be

ca
us

e 
I w

as
 b

ul
lie

d.
 I 

w
as

 d
ia

gn
os

ed
 

w
ith

 A
sp

er
ge

r’s
 S

yn
dr

om
e 

at
 1

5.
 M

y 
he

ad
 te

ac
he

r 
at

 m
y 

m
ai

ns
tr

ea
m

 s
ch

oo
l s

ug
ge

st
ed

 I 
go

 fo
r a

n 
as

se
ss

m
en

t. 
I m

et
 m

y 
ad

vi
so

r, 
an

d 
sh

e 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

to
 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 w

or
k,

 a
nd

 h
ow

 to
 c

on
st

ru
ct

 a
 C

V.
 S

he
 

fo
un

d 
m

e 
a 

co
ur

se
 in

 a
 h

os
pi

ta
l, 

an
d 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ge

t 
w

or
k 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
at

 a
 fa

rm
. I

 h
av

e 
4 

G
C

SE
s.

” 

“T
ra

n
si

ti
o

n
 m

ea
n

s 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
th

in
g

s 
to

 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
p

eo
p

le
. C

hi
ld

ho
od

 t
o 

ad
ul

th
oo

d 
bu

t 
al

so
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 c
on

di
tio

n,
 s

oc
ia

l c
irc

um
st

an
ce

s.
 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 li

fe
 c

an
 b

e 
‘t

ra
ns

iti
on

s’
. I

f 
yo

u 
w

an
t 

to
 t

ak
e 

an
 in

te
gr

at
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
yo

u 
ne

ed
 t

o 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

 t
he

se
 t

ra
ns

iti
on

s.
” 

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 b
eg

an
 w

h
en

 I 
h

ad
 m

y 
fi

rs
t 

b
ab

y.
A

ft
er

 f
am

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

w
er

e 
re

m
ov

ed
, 

so
ci

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ga

in
 a

 n
ur

se
ry

 p
la

ce
 f

or
 

m
y 

so
n,

 w
ho

 h
as

 a
ut

is
m

. S
pe

ec
h 

an
d 

la
ng

ua
ge

 
th

er
ap

is
t,

 n
ur

se
ry

 s
ta

ff
, G

P,
 h

ea
lth

 v
is

ito
r 

an
d 

be
ne

fit
s 

ad
vi

so
r 

ha
ve

 a
ll 

he
lp

ed
. T

he
re

 w
er

e 
tim

es
 w

he
n 

w
e 

w
as

 fi
gh

tin
g 

re
d 

ta
pe

 t
ha

t 
I f

el
t 

ve
ry

 a
ng

ry
 a

nd
 f

ru
st

ra
te

d,
 a

nd
 t

im
es

 w
he

n 
I f

el
t 

el
at

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
re

sp
on

se
s 

I g
ot

. M
y 

ne
xt

 jo
ur

ne
y 

is
su

pp
or

tin
g 

m
y 

so
n 

in
to

 s
ch

oo
l.”

 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
GR

OW
IN

G 
UP

 W
IT

H 
AN

 A
DD

IT
IO

N
AL

 N
EE

D.

103



28

“I
 a

m
 in

 Y
ea

r 
11

. I
 n

ee
d 

he
lp

 w
ith

 m
y 

co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n.
 I 

so
m

et
im

es
 lo

se
 m

y 
te

m
pe

r 
at

 
te

ac
he

rs
 b

ec
au

se
 t

he
y 

gr
ab

 o
r 

sh
ou

t 
at

 m
e.

 I 
lik

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
fr

ie
nd

s 
at

 s
ch

oo
l. 

Th
e 

th
in

g 
th

at
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

bi
gg

es
t 

di
ff

er
en

ce
 w

as
 m

ee
tin

g 
fr

ie
nd

s.
 M

y 
te

ac
he

r 
ha

s 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

be
ca

us
e 

sh
e 

al
w

ay
s 

te
lls

 
us

 t
o 

tr
y 

ou
r 

ha
rd

es
t.

 I 
ne

ed
 t

o 
be

 f
oc

us
ed

 a
nd

 
tr

y 
m

y 
ha

rd
es

t.
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 b
ec

om
e 

a 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 

bo
xe

r 
or

 f
oo

tb
al

l p
la

ye
r.”

 

“I
 h

av
e 

p
ro

b
le

m
s 

in
 m

at
h

s,
 a

nd
 I 

am
 e

as
ily

 
di

st
ra

ct
ed

. I
 u

se
d 

to
 g

et
 in

to
 a

 lo
t 

of
 fi

gh
ts

. M
y 

su
pp

or
t 

te
ac

he
rs

 a
nd

 s
om

e 
st

ud
en

ts
 h

av
e 

al
so

 
he

lp
ed

 m
e.

 T
he

y 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
w

or
k,

 
an

d 
al

so
 w

ith
 m

y 
di

st
ra

ct
io

ns
. I

 u
se

d 
to

 re
m

em
be

r 
ge

tt
in

g 
in

 t
ro

ub
le

 in
 s

ch
oo

l a
nd

 a
t 

ho
m

e.
 I 

us
ed

 t
o 

fe
el

 a
ng

ry
 a

nd
 d

is
tr

es
se

d 
an

d 
fe

d 
up

. M
y 

fa
m

ily
, 

te
ac

he
rs

, a
nd

 f
rie

nd
s 

he
lp

 m
e 

w
ith

 m
y 

tr
ou

bl
es

. 
M

y 
te

ac
he

rs
 h

el
p 

m
e 

w
ith

 p
riv

at
e 

tu
iti

on
, b

ec
au

se
 

I h
av

e 
pr

ob
le

m
s 

w
ith

 m
y 

w
or

k.
” 

“I
 li

ve
 w

it
h

 m
y 

m
u

m
 a

n
d

 s
is

te
r. 

I g
o 

to
 R

oo
ts

 
an

d 
Sh

oo
ts

 c
ol

le
ge

. I
 le

ar
n 

re
ta

il.
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 
w

or
k 

in
 S

ai
ns

bu
ry

’s.
 I 

go
 

to
 F

as
t 

Fo
rw

ar
d 

Yo
ut

h 
Pr

oj
ec

t.
 O

n 
Th

ur
sd

ay
s 

I d
o 

co
ok

in
g,

 a
rt

, 
ba

sk
et

ba
ll 

an
d 

I g
et

 
to

 s
ee

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s.

 I 
al

so
 h

av
e 

a 
ca

re
r 

fr
om

 
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

C
ar

er
s.

” 

“M
y 

b
ro

th
er

 w
as

 in
 h

o
sp

it
al

 a
nd

 m
y 

m
um

 h
ad

 
to

 s
ta

y 
w

ith
 h

im
. S

o 
I w

en
t 

to
 s

ta
y 

w
ith

 m
y 

N
an

 
on

 t
he

 Is
le

 o
f 

W
ig

ht
. I

 w
en

t 
to

 s
ch

oo
l t

he
re

 f
or

 a
 

fe
w

 w
ee

ks
. I

 d
id

n’
t 

kn
ow

 a
ny

 o
f 

th
e 

ki
ds

 t
he

re
 a

nd
 

pl
ay

ed
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n 
m

os
t 

of
 t

he
 t

im
e.

 N
ow

 I’
m

 b
ac

k 
at

 s
ch

oo
l –

 a
nd

 it
’s 

go
od

. M
y 

br
ot

he
r 

ha
d 

to
 g

et
 

hi
s 

le
gs

 c
ut

 o
ff

 –
 s

om
et

im
es

 h
e 

us
es

 a
 w

he
el

ch
ai

r. 
I m

ee
t 

hi
m

 a
t 

a 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ba

sk
et

ba
ll 

cl
ub

, a
nd

 
no

w
 I 

pl
ay

 t
oo

. I
 u

se
d 

to
 n

ee
d 

he
lp

 in
 c

la
ss

 w
ith

 m
y 

M
at

hs
, b

ut
 n

ow
 I’

m
 q

ui
te

 g
oo

d.
 S

om
et

im
es

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
in

d 
m

e 
up

 a
nd

 I 
ge

t 
an

gr
y 

an
d 

pu
sh

 p
eo

pl
e.

 
Te

ac
he

rs
 t

el
l m

e 
of

f.
 I 

w
an

t 
so

m
e 

he
lp

 s
o 

I d
on

’t 
ge

t 
an

gr
y.

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 b

e 
a 

bu
ild

er
 li

ke
 m

y 
da

d.
” 

“T
h

e 
m

ai
n

st
re

am
 s

ch
o

o
l h

as
 n

o
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
m

y 
ch

ild
’s

 s
p

ec
ia

l 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 n
ee

d
s.

 I 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 t

o 
ha

ve
 m

y 
so

n 
in

 a
 s

ch
oo

l w
he

re
 h

e’
s 

un
de

rs
to

od
. I

’v
e 

fe
lt 

un
su

pp
or

te
d,

 s
ad

, a
nd

 
al

on
e.

 B
ut

 g
et

tin
g 

m
y 

so
n 

in
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 
pl

ac
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 s
o 

po
si

tiv
e.

 I’
ll 

ne
ed

 
to

 g
et

 a
 s

ta
te

m
en

t 
of

 n
ee

ds
 t

o 
fin

d 
a 

se
co

nd
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

 t
o 

m
ee

t 
hi

s 
ne

ed
s 

ne
xt

.”
 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 T
HE

RE
 A

RE
 A

RO
UN

D 
1,5

00
 SO

UT
HW

AR
K 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 A
N

D 
YO

UN
G 

PE
OP

LE
 W

IT
H 

A 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T 

OF
 S

PE
CI

AL
 E

DU
CA

TI
ON

AL
 

N
EE

DS
, A

N
D 

AR
OU

N
D 

15
0 

OF
 T

HE
SE

 
HA

VE
 A

 C
AR

E 
PA

CK
AG

E 
AS

 W
EL

L

 T
HE

 T
HR

EE
 M

OS
T 

CO
M

M
ON

 N
EE

DS
 

FO
R 

A 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T 

AR
E 

AU
TI

SM
, 

EM
OT

IO
N

AL
 A

N
D 

BE
HA

VI
OU

RA
L 

DI
FF

IC
UL

TI
ES

, A
N

D 
LE

AR
N

IN
G 

DI
FF

IC
UL

TI
ES

 A
T 

40
%

 O
F 

AL
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
 

AU
TI

SM
 IS

 T
HE

 M
OS

T 
CO

M
M

ON
 

PR
IM

AR
Y 

N
EE

D 

 O
VE

R 
50

%
 O

F 
PU

PI
LS

 W
IT

H 
AU

TI
SM

 
AR

E 
BL

AC
K 

OR
 B

LA
CK

 B
RI

TI
SH

 
(5

6%
) 

W
HI

CH
 IS

 2
.5

 T
IM

ES
 H

IG
HE

R 
TH

AN
 T

HE
 N

EX
T 

LA
RG

ES
T 

ET
HN

IC
 

GR
OU

P 
– 

TH
OS

E 
OF

 W
HI

TE
 E

TH
N

IC
 

BA
CK

GR
OU

N
D

104



29

“M
y 

so
n

 w
as

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
sm

 a
t 

12
.

H
e 

ha
d 

ju
st

 s
ta

rt
ed

 a
t 

a 
se

co
nd

ar
y 

ac
ad

em
y.

 H
e 

w
as

 n
ot

 g
iv

en
 a

de
qu

at
e 

su
pp

or
t 

at
 s

ch
oo

l, 
w

hi
ch

 
re

su
lte

d 
in

 c
ha

lle
ng

in
g 

be
ha

vi
ou

rs
 a

nd
 h

e 
w

as
 

pe
rm

an
en

tly
 e

xc
lu

de
d.

 I 
w

ou
ld

’v
e 

pr
ef

er
re

d 
th

at
 

he
 s

ta
y 

at
 t

he
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 s
ch

oo
l, 

w
ith

 s
up

po
rt

 
lik

e 
he

 w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

in
 a

 s
pe

ci
al

 s
ch

oo
l. 

I w
as

 a
ls

o 
an

gr
y 

w
ith

 t
he

 s
ch

oo
l –

 h
ow

 d
ar

e 
th

ey
 t

re
at

 m
y 

so
n 

th
is

 w
ay

.”
 

“S
in

ce
 o

u
r 

ch
ild

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 d

ia
g

n
o

se
d

 w
it

h
 

au
ti

sm
,i

t 
ha

s 
be

en
 a

 s
tr

ug
gl

e 
an

d 
ba

tt
le

 t
o 

ge
t 

th
e 

rig
ht

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 a
dv

ic
e.

 W
e 

ha
ve

 h
ad

 
to

 le
ar

n,
 in

ve
st

ig
at

e 
an

d 
fin

d 
th

e 
rig

ht
 p

eo
pl

e 
ou

rs
el

ve
s.

 W
e 

fe
lt 

is
ol

at
ed

 a
nd

 a
lo

ne
 a

ga
in

st
 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 w

e’
d 

ne
ve

r 
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

 b
ef

or
e.

 
W

e 
pr

iv
at

el
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

ed
 t

ut
or

s.
 If

 w
e 

ha
d 

to
 

w
ai

t 
fo

r 
a 

st
at

em
en

t,
 o

ur
 s

on
 w

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
be

en
 

w
ith

ou
t 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

ne
ar

ly
 t

w
o 

ye
ar

s,
 w

hi
ch

 is
 

un
ac

ce
pt

ab
le

 k
no

w
in

g 
th

at
 t

he
 e

ar
ly

 y
ea

rs
 a

re
 

th
e

m
os

t 
im

po
rt

an
t.

” 

“F
o

r 
p

ar
en

ts
, t

h
e 

ti
m

e 
sp

en
t 

‘o
u

ts
id

e 
th

e 
sy

st
em

’c
op

in
g 

w
ith

 d
iffi

cu
lti

es
 m

ea
ns

 t
ha

t 
w

he
n 

th
ey

 e
nt

er
 t

he
 s

ys
te

m
 t

he
y 

ar
e 

no
t 

in
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 
fr

am
e 

of
 m

in
d 

to
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 s
er

vi
ce

s;
 in

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 

ne
ed

 t
o 

ha
pp

en
 a

t 
th

e 
ea

rly
 w

ar
ni

ng
 s

ig
ns

.”
 

“W
it

h
 t

h
e 

h
ig

h
 n

u
m

b
er

s 
o

f 
ca

se
s 

n
o

t 
p

ro
ce

ed
in

g
 t

o
 a

n
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
fo

r 
a 

st
at

em
en

t,
w

e 
ne

ed
 t

o 
co

ns
id

er
 t

hr
es

ho
ld

s 
an

d 
st

ep
 d

ow
n 

to
 

ea
rly

 h
el

p,
 m

ak
in

g 
su

re
 h

el
p 

is
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

fr
om

 n
on

-
st

at
ut

or
y 

se
rv

ic
es

.”
 

“M
y 

so
n

 b
ec

am
e 

ill
 a

n
d

 d
is

ab
le

d
 1

6 
ye

ar
s 

ag
o

.
I h

av
e 

to
 k

ee
p 

fig
ht

in
g 

to
 o

bt
ai

n 
he

lp
 f

or
 h

im
, d

ay
 

af
te

r 
da

y.
 I 

ex
pe

ct
 m

y 
ch

ild
 t

o 
re

m
ai

n 
at

 s
ch

oo
l 

un
til

 h
e 

is
 1

9 
ye

ar
s 

ol
d.

 I 
ex

pe
ct

 h
im

 t
o 

ge
t 

in
to

 
co

lle
ge

. I
t’s

 b
ee

n 
a 

lo
ng

 jo
ur

ne
y 

so
 f

ar
. I

fe
el

 t
he

 
st

ru
gg

le
 c

on
tin

ue
s;

 I 
ha

ve
 t

o 
ke

ep
 g

oi
ng

. H
os

pi
ta

ls
 

he
lp

ed
 w

ith
 c

ar
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t,

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 t

he
 

sc
ho

ol
 t

ea
m

, s
oc

ia
l s

er
vi

ce
s.

 I 
ho

pe
 t

ha
t 

m
y 

so
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

ab
le

 t
o 

at
ta

in
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 in

 g
ro

w
in

g 
up

 
to

 b
ec

om
e 

an
 a

du
lt.

” 

CH
OI

CE
 A

ND
 C

ON
TR

OL
 F

OR
 F

AM
ILI

ES
 S
EE

KIN
G 

SU
PP

OR
T

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
 F

IN
DI

N
G 

AN
D 

AC
CE

SS
IN

G 
SU

PP
OR

T 
FR

OM
 L

OC
AL

 S
ER

VI
CE

S

105



30

“M
e 

an
d

 m
y 

w
if

e 
ar

e 
ta

ki
n

g
 c

ar
e 

o
f 

m
y 

au
ti

st
ic

 c
h

ild
 w

ith
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 a
nd

 le
ar

ni
ng

 
di

ffi
cu

lti
es

 –
 h

is
 e

pi
le

ps
y 

so
m

et
im

es
 le

ad
s 

to
 

se
iz

ur
es

. M
y 

so
n 

is
 b

ei
ng

 e
du

ca
te

d 
in

 s
ch

oo
l; 

ye
ar

 
11

. H
e 

us
es

 G
Ps

 a
nd

 K
in

g’
s 

H
os

pi
ta

l a
 lo

t;
 a

ls
o 

w
e 

ge
t 

su
pp

or
t 

fr
om

 C
ha

rli
e 

C
ha

pl
in

’s 
(p

la
yg

ro
un

d)
 

– 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

hi
s 

da
y 

to
 d

ay
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. W
e 

do
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 e

xt
en

de
d 

fa
m

ily
 t

o 
he

lp
, s

o 
m

y 
w

or
k 

is
 

af
fe

ct
ed

. I
 h

op
e 

m
y 

so
n 

ca
n 

su
rv

iv
e 

in
 t

hi
s 

w
or

ld
 o

n 
hi

s 
ow

n,
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
 f

un
ct

io
ni

ng
, w

ith
ou

t 
he

lp
. 

Bu
t 

he
 is

 n
on

-v
er

ba
l, 

an
d 

ra
re

ly
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
es

. 
M

y 
w

ife
 a

nd
 d

au
gh

te
r 

ha
ve

 t
o 

be
 in

vo
lv

ed
 a

ll 
th

e 
tim

e.
 I 

th
in

k 
th

e 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 t
he

 c
ou

nc
il 

ar
e 

w
or

ki
ng

 
ha

rd
 t

o 
he

lp
 u

s.
 I 

ho
pe

 f
ur

th
er

 c
ut

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 
di

sa
bi

lit
ie

s 
w

ou
ld

 s
to

p;
 a

nd
 lo

ok
 f

or
 b

et
te

r 
w

ay
s 

in
 

he
lp

in
g 

th
em

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
ei

r 
liv

es
.”

  

“I
’m

 a
 m

u
m

 w
it

h
 2

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

tt
en

di
ng

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
sc

ho
ol

s.
 O

ne
 c

hi
ld

 is
 b

ei
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
by

 
Su

ns
hi

ne
 H

ou
se

, w
hi

ch
 is

 v
er

y 
us

ef
ul

. B
ut

 it
 w

ou
ld

 
he

lp
 if

 t
he

re
 w

as
 m

or
e 

fo
llo

w
 u

p 
in

 t
he

 f
ut

ur
e,

 
an

d 
no

t 
di

sc
ou

ra
gi

ng
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

 w
he

n 
th

ey
 h

av
e 

pr
ob

le
m

s,
 i.

e.
 in

 w
rit

in
g.

 I 
th

in
k 

th
er

e 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

ith
 t

he
 p

ar
en

t 
an

d 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 c
hi

ld
 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
th

e 
ou

tc
om

e 
of

 t
he

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t.

 S
al

m
on

 
Yo

ut
h 

C
en

tr
e 

is
 o

ve
r-

su
bs

cr
ib

ed
 a

nd
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ai

t 
fo

r 
a 

lo
ng

 t
im

e 
to

 a
cc

es
s 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
 t

hi
nk

 t
ha

t 
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

sh
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

tu
to

rs
 f

or
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

th
at

 
ar

e 
fa

lli
ng

 b
eh

in
d 

in
 s

ch
oo

l, 
if 

ne
ed

ed
. I

 h
av

e 
th

e 
pr

ob
le

m
 o

f 
ge

tt
in

g 
m

y 
so

n 
in

to
 a

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 

sc
ho

ol
 t

ha
t 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
go

od
 f

or
 h

is
 n

ee
ds

. I
 h

op
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
he

lp
s 

m
e 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 m

y 
so

n’
s 

ne
ed

s 
– 

th
er

e 
is

 a
 n

ee
d 

fo
r 

m
or

e 
sc

ho
ol

s 
in

 t
he

 a
re

a.
” 

“T
h

e 
lo

ca
l o

ff
er

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 is
 a

 g
re

at
 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y
to

 g
et

 t
hi

ng
s 

rig
ht

 –
 a

ge
nc

ie
s 

ha
ve

 
to

 p
ub

lis
h 

w
ha

t 
th

ey
 d

o 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 

sp
ec

ia
l e

du
ca

tio
na

l n
ee

ds
.”

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 A
LL

 S
OU

TH
W

AR
K’

S 
SP

EC
IA

L 
SC

HO
OL

S 
AR

E 
JU

DG
ED

 B
Y 

OF
ST

ED
 T

O 
BE

 G
OO

D 
OR

 O
UT

ST
AN

DI
N

G

 P
UP

ILS
 W

IT
H 

SP
EC

IA
L 

ED
UC

AT
IO

N
AL

 
N

EE
DS

 A
CH

IE
VE

 W
EL

L 
IN

 S
OU

TH
W

AR
K 

SC
HO

OL
S, 

W
IT

H 
AT

TA
IN

M
EN

T 
AC

RO
SS

 
TH

E 
KE

Y 
ST

AG
ES

 H
IG

HE
R 

TH
AN

 T
HE

 
LO

N
DO

N
 A

N
D 

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 A

VE
RA

GE
S

 O
F 

TH
OS

E 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 IN

 T
HE

 B
OT

TO
M

 
20

%
 A

T 
EA

RL
Y 

YE
AR

S 
FO

UN
DA

TI
ON

 
ST

AG
E 

PR
OF

ILE
, 2

5%
 H

AV
E 

AN
 

ID
EN

TI
FI

ED
 S

PE
CI

AL
 E

DU
CA

TI
ON

AL
 

N
EE

DS
, C

OM
PA

RE
D 

TO
 9

.1%
 O

F 
AL

L 
FI

VE
 Y

EA
R 

OL
DS

 O
F 

TH
E 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 E
XC

LU
DE

D 
IN

 
20

10
/1

1, 
HA

LF
 H

AD
 S

CH
OO

L 
AC

TI
ON

 O
R 

SC
HO

OL
 A

CT
IO

N
 P

LU
S 

ST
AT

US
, A

N
D 

9%
 

HA
D 

A 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T

106



31

“I
’m

 a
 lo

n
e 

p
ar

en
t 

to
 a

 c
h

ild
 w

it
h

 c
o

m
p

le
x 

le
ar

n
in

g
 d

if
fi

cu
lt

ie
s.

 H
e 

w
as

 b
or

n 
w

ith
 D

ow
n'

s 
Sy

nd
ro

m
e;

 a
ut

is
tic

; h
yp

er
ac

tiv
ity

 d
is

or
de

r;
 

op
po

si
tio

na
l d

efi
an

t 
di

so
rd

er
. M

y 
so

n’
s 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

at
 s

ch
oo

l i
s 

ve
ry

 p
os

iti
ve

; p
ro

gr
es

s 
be

tt
er

 t
ha

n 
be

fo
re

. O
ur

 p
oo

r 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 s

oc
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
– 

co
ns

ta
nt

 le
ga

l b
at

tle
s 

fo
r 

re
sp

ite
. F

os
te

r 
ho

m
e 

– 
I’m

 d
ev

as
ta

te
d.

 I’
ve

 h
ad

 t
o 

ha
ve

 f
ai

th
 in

 m
ys

el
f,

 
an

d 
in

 m
y 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

w
ith

 m
y 

tw
o 

el
de

st
 k

id
s 

(b
ot

h 
ad

ul
ts

). 
I h

op
e 

to
 li

ve
 a

 f
ul

l l
ife

, a
nd

 t
o 

fe
el

 
su

pp
or

te
d 

w
ith

 m
y 

so
n.

” 

“I
 a

m
 a

 s
in

g
le

 m
o

th
er

 o
f 

tw
o

 b
o

ys
; o

n
e 

is
 1

4 
w

it
h

 a
 r

ar
e 

ch
ro

m
o

so
m

e 
d

is
o

rd
er

; t
he

 o
th

er
 is

 
4 

– 
m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
. I

 h
av

e 
al

so
 w

or
ke

d 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

fo
r 

18
 y

ea
rs

 –
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 a

nd
 s

pe
ci

al
 n

ee
ds

. M
y 

so
n 

w
as

 d
ia

gn
os

ed
 a

t 
on

e 
ye

ar
. A

s 
th

e 
ye

ar
s 

w
en

t 
by

, m
y 

so
n 

w
ou

ld
 re

ce
iv

e 
m

or
e 

di
ag

no
se

s.
 I 

ha
d 

to
 fi

gh
t 

fo
r 

al
l t

he
 h

el
p 

I c
ou

ld
 g

et
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

sp
ee

d 
th

er
ap

y,
 p

hy
si

ot
he

ra
py

, a
nd

 h
om

e 
le

ar
ni

ng
. I

’m
 

st
ru

gg
lin

g 
at

 th
e 

m
om

en
t –

 m
y 

so
n 

is
 d

et
er

io
ra

tin
g.

 
H

e 
ca

nn
ot

 w
al

k,
 a

nd
 u

se
s 

a 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r. 
H

e 
is

 
lo

si
ng

 t
he

 li
tt

le
 b

it 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 h
e 

ha
s,

 a
nd

 it
s 

he
ar

t-
br

ea
ki

ng
. O

n 
a 

po
si

tiv
e 

no
te

, m
y 

so
n 

si
gn

s 
ve

ry
 w

el
l, 

an
d 

ha
s 

a 
fa

nt
as

tic
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 h

is
 

br
ot

he
r. 

M
y 

el
de

st
 w

ou
ld

 n
ev

er
 re

al
ly

 p
la

y 
– 

bu
t 

si
nc

e 
hi

s 
lit

tle
 b

ro
th

er
 h

as
 c

om
e 

al
on

g,
 h

e 
en

jo
ys

 
pl

ay
in

g.
 O

nc
e 

m
y 

so
n’

s 
ro

ut
in

e 
w

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d,
 

he
 w

as
 a

 c
ha

ng
ed

 b
oy

 –
 m

or
e 

lik
e 

a 
yo

un
g 

m
an

. 
Th

e 
ne

xt
 p

ar
t 

of
 m

y 
jo

ur
ne

y 
w

ill
 b

e 
so

rt
in

g 
ou

t 
a 

co
lle

ge
 p

la
ce

 f
or

 m
y 

el
de

st
 s

on
, a

nd
 s

ec
ur

in
g 

fu
nd

in
g.

 I’
ll 

ne
ed

 lo
ts

 o
f 

he
lp

 a
nd

 d
et

er
m

in
at

io
n.

” 

“T
h

e 
n

ew
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
 B

ill
 h

as
 

p
ar

en
ts

 a
n

d
 f

am
ili

es
 a

t 
th

e 
ce

n
tr

e,
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 
w

rit
in

g 
pl

an
s.

 W
ha

t 
is

 t
he

 ro
le

 o
f 

th
e 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
ec

to
r?

 T
ry

in
g 

to
 m

ak
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
is

ed
 

an
d 

pe
rs

on
al

is
ed

 s
up

po
rt

 is
 re

so
ur

ce
 in

te
ns

iv
e.

” 

107



32

“A
t 

se
co

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l, 
it 

is
 h

ar
de

r 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 
an

 in
te

gr
at

ed
, j

oi
ne

d-
up

 s
er

vi
ce

 v
ia

 t
he

 s
ch

oo
l a

s 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

m
or

e 
an

d 
m

or
e 

ac
ad

em
ie

s.
” 

“M
y 

so
n

, w
h

o
 is

 4
 y

ea
rs

 o
ld

, h
as

 ju
st

 b
ee

n
 

d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
sm

. I
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

m
y 

el
de

rly
 

m
um

 t
oo

 (a
nd

 s
he

 c
ar

es
 f

or
 u

s 
to

o)
. W

he
n 

m
y 

so
n 

w
as

 o
ne

, h
e 

w
as

 s
pe

ak
in

g 
bu

t 
th

en
 h

e 
st

op
pe

d 
– 

th
at

 g
ot

 m
e 

w
or

rie
d.

 A
t 

3 
ye

ar
s 

th
e 

pr
e-

sc
ho

ol
 w

as
 

al
so

 w
or

rie
d.

 T
he

 s
ch

oo
l o

bs
er

ve
d 

hi
m

 f
or

 a
 w

hi
le

. 
W

e 
w

er
e 

re
fe

rr
ed

 –
 S

un
sh

in
e 

H
ou

se
 t

o 
a 

sp
ee

ch
 

th
er

ap
is

t.
 I 

ch
an

ge
d 

fr
om

 a
 n

on
-c

om
m

un
ic

at
iv

e 
G

P 
to

 a
 re

al
ly

 g
oo

d 
on

e.
 T

he
 s

ch
oo

l h
as

 a
 s

up
po

rt
 

w
or

ke
r. 

Th
e 

sc
ho

ol
 s

ee
m

s 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d 

hi
m

 

an
d 

hi
s 

ne
ed

s.
 M

y 
G

P,
 S

un
sh

in
e 

H
ou

se
, t

he
ir 

su
pp

or
t 

w
or

ke
r 

an
d 

th
e 

A
ut

is
tic

 S
oc

ie
ty

 a
ll 

he
lp

. 
I h

av
e 

ha
d 

to
 b

e 
re

si
lie

nt
 a

nd
 fi

nd
 o

ut
 e

ve
ry

th
in

g 
ab

ou
t 

au
tis

m
. S

un
sh

in
e 

H
ou

se
 a

nd
 t

he
 s

up
po

rt
 

w
or

ke
r 

ga
ve

 m
e 

a 
sp

ac
e 

to
 c

ry
 a

nd
 g

et
 s

up
po

rt
. 

M
ix

in
g 

w
ith

 o
th

er
 p

ar
en

ts
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 
au

tis
m

 is
 g

re
at

. ‘
Ea

rly
 B

ird
s’

 –
 le

ar
ni

ng
 n

ew
 t

hi
ng

s.
 

Sp
ee

ch
 t

he
ra

pi
st

s,
 k

ey
 w

or
ke

r 
in

 s
ch

oo
l h

av
e 

al
so

 
he

lp
ed

 m
uc

h.
 K

no
w

in
g 

I h
av

e 
so

m
eo

ne
 t

o 
ca

ll 
m

ak
es

 m
y 

lif
e 

be
tt

er
. I

 w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

lik
ed

 t
o 

ha
ve

 
ha

d 
m

or
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ea
rli

er
. A

ls
o 

I w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 

m
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
as

 m
y 

so
n 

ge
ts

 o
ld

er
 –

 I 
ne

ed
 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

fo
r 

ev
er

y 
st

ag
e 

of
 h

is
 e

du
ca

tio
n.

 
Ia

ls
o

ho
pe

 t
o 

ge
t 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f 

hi
s 

st
at

em
en

t.
” 

“T
h

e 
le

tt
er

 d
es

cr
ib

es
 (

an
d

 I 
q

u
o

te
):

‘A
is

 s
om

ew
ha

t 
fr

us
tr

at
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 

cl
in

ic
ia

ns
 in

vo
lv

ed
 a

nd
 t

he
 a

pp
ar

en
t 

di
ffi

cu
lti

es
 

w
ith

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

am
on

gs
t 

th
e 

ne
tw

or
k 

pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
ly

 b
et

w
ee

n 
K

in
g’

s 
an

d 
th

e 
Ev

el
in

a.
 T

hi
s 

w
as

 h
ei

gh
te

ne
d 

as
 F

 h
ad

 f
as

te
d 

an
d 

th
en

 w
ok

en
 

up
 e

ar
ly

 t
o 

at
te

nd
 a

n 
M

RI
 a

t 
Ev

el
in

a 
w

hi
ch

 s
he

 
co

ul
d 

no
t 

ha
ve

 a
s 

th
er

e 
w

as
 a

 la
ck

 o
f 

cl
ar

ity
 a

s 
to

 w
he

th
er

 t
he

re
 w

as
 a

ny
 m

et
al

 w
or

k 
pr

es
en

t 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

he
r 

ne
ur

os
ur

ge
ry

 p
er

fo
rm

ed
 a

t 
K

in
g’

s.
 

F 
is

 a
ls

o 
un

cl
ea

r 
as

 t
o 

th
e 

ou
tc

om
e 

of
 F

’s 
m

ed
ic

al
 

ap
po

in
tm

en
ts

 w
ith

 t
he

 d
iff

er
en

t 
cl

in
ic

ia
ns

 w
hi

ch
 

is
ex

ac
er

ba
te

d 
by

 h
er

 li
m

ite
d 

En
gl

is
h.

 

CH
OI

CE
 A

ND
 C

ON
TR

OL
 F

OR
 F

AM
ILI

ES
 R

EC
EI

VI
NG

 S
UP

PO
RT

“M
y 

d
au

g
h

te
r 

w
as

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
ve

ry
 

fi
rs

t 
sc

an
. I

’v
e 

ha
d 

go
od

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 a
ls

o 
ge

t 
4 

ho
ur

s’
 a

 w
ee

k 
re

sp
ite

. I
 w

or
k 

pa
rt

 t
im

e 
w

hi
ch

 
he

lp
s 

m
e 

co
pe

 a
nd

 m
y 

da
ug

ht
er

 a
tt

en
ds

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 

to
 h

el
p 

he
r 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t.

 I 
re

ly
 o

n 
fr

ie
nd

s 
w

ho
se

 
ch

ild
re

n 
al

so
 h

av
e 

a 
di

sa
bi

lit
y.

 W
e 

su
pp

or
t 

ea
ch

 
ot

he
r. 

I d
o 

w
on

de
r 

w
hy

 I 
ha

ve
 a

 c
hi

ld
 w

ith
 a

 
di

sa
bi

lit
y 

bu
t 

sh
e 

br
in

gs
 m

e 
gr

ea
t 

jo
y 

an
d 

I d
o 

al
l 

Ic
an

 t
o 

he
lp

 h
er

 le
ar

n 
to

 re
ac

h 
he

r 
fu

ll 
po

te
nt

ia
l.”

 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
' E

XP
ER

IE
N

CE
S 

OF
 U

SIN
G 

LO
CA

L 
SE

RV
IC

ES
.

108



3333

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 b
eg

an
 w

h
en

 I 
h

ad
 m

y 
fi

rs
t 

b
ab

y.
I a

m
 n

ow
 a

 p
ar

en
t 

to
 t

hr
ee

 c
hi

ld
re

n:
 2

 b
oy

s 
an

d 
a 

gi
rl.

 A
ft

er
 f

am
ily

 s
up

po
rt

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

er
e 

re
m

ov
ed

, 
so

ci
al

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

ge
t 

ch
ild

ca
re

 f
or

 m
y 

so
n.

 
A

t 
fir

st
 h

e 
w

as
 2

 d
ay

s 
a 

w
ee

k,
 b

ut
 w

he
n 

he
 t

ur
ne

d 
th

re
e 

ye
ar

s 
ol

d,
 a

ft
er

 a
 lo

ng
 b

at
tle

 o
f 

re
d 

ta
pe

, 
he

 w
as

 g
ra

nt
ed

 a
 f

ul
l-t

im
e 

pl
ac

em
en

t.
 A

ls
o,

 h
e 

w
as

 d
ia

gn
os

ed
 w

ith
 a

ut
is

m
. A

t 
se

co
nd

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
, 

it 
is

 h
ar

de
r 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

n 
in

te
gr

at
ed

, j
oi

ne
d-

up
 

se
rv

ic
e 

vi
a 

th
e 

sc
ho

ol
 a

s 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

m
or

e 
an

d 
m

or
e 

ac
ad

em
ie

s.
 I 

w
as

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 b

y 
sp

ec
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
(w

ho
 f

un
d 

hi
s 

pl
ac

em
en

t)
, a

 s
pe

ec
h 

an
d 

la
ng

ua
ge

 
th

er
ap

is
t,

 t
he

 n
ur

se
ry

 s
ta

ff
, G

P,
 a

nd
 H

ea
lth

 V
is

ito
r. 

Th
e 

Ea
rly

 In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

O
ffi

ce
r 

fo
r 

au
tis

m
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
ge

t 
a 

be
tt

er
 u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f 

hi
s 

ne
ed

s,
 a

nd
 

I a
tt

en
de

d 
ea

rly
 b

ird
 t

ra
in

in
g.

 F
am

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 

w
as

 v
ar

ie
d,

 b
ut

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
 w

er
e 

be
tt

er
 a

bl
e 

to
 g

ui
de

 m
e 

on
 a

 b
et

te
r 

pa
th

. T
he

re
 w

er
e 

lo
ts

 o
f 

tim
es

 w
he

n 
ad

vi
ce

 w
as

 s
ca

rc
e,

 a
nd

 re
d 

ta
pe

 in
 

so
ci

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

m
ea

nt
 t

he
 h

el
p 

I n
ee

de
d 

w
as

 n
ot

 
fo

rt
hc

om
in

g.
 T

hi
s 

w
as

 h
ar

d 
w

he
n 

fa
m

ily
 li

fe
 w

as
 

to
ug

h 
en

ou
gh

. L
ea

rn
in

g 
th

at
 m

y 
so

n 
ha

s 
au

tis
tic

 
sp

ec
tr

um
 d

is
or

de
r 

w
as

 s
ca

ry
 b

ut
 re

w
ar

di
ng

. 
Lo

ok
in

g 
at

 t
he

 ro
ad

 a
he

ad
 w

as
 d

au
nt

in
g.

 W
ith

 
th

e 
su

pp
or

t 
of

 s
om

e 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
s 

ar
ou

nd
 m

e,
 

If
ou

nd
 m

ys
el

f 
on

 a
 h

el
pf

ul
 ro

ad
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

pp
or

t.
 I 

tr
y 

no
t 

to
 t

hi
nk

 n
eg

at
iv

e 
th

ou
gh

ts
, 

an
d 

fe
el

 I 
ha

ve
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

th
e 

be
st

 s
ce

na
rio

 f
or

 m
y 

so
n 

an
d 

m
e.

 M
y 

ne
xt

 jo
ur

ne
y 

is
 s

up
po

rt
in

g 
m

y 
so

n 
in

 h
is

 t
ra

ns
iti

on
 t

o 
m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ch
oo

l. 
I h

op
e 

th
e 

nu
rs

er
y 

w
ill

 c
on

tin
ue

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

m
e 

an
d 

po
in

t 
m

e 
in

 t
he

 r
ig

ht
 d

ire
ct

io
n.

” 

“I
 h

av
e 

a 
so

n
, j

u
st

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
sm

.
Ih

ad
 t

o 
be

 re
si

lie
nt

 a
nd

 fi
nd

 o
ut

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

ab
ou

t 
au

tis
m

 –
 d

id
 a

 lo
t 

of
 re

se
ar

ch
 o

n 
th

e 
in

te
rn

et
. I

ex
pe

ct
 t

o 
ta

ke
 o

ne
 d

ay
 a

t 
a 

tim
e,

 
an

d 
to

 h
av

e 
su

pp
or

t 
fr

om
 s

ch
oo

l f
or

 m
y 

so
n 

to
 

pr
og

re
ss

. I
fo

un
d 

it 
di

ffi
cu

lt 
to

 a
cc

ep
t 

m
y 

so
n’

s 
co

nd
iti

on
 –

C
on

ta
ct

 A
 F

am
ily

 re
al

ly
 h

el
pe

d.
 

M
ee

tin
g 

pe
op

le
, a

nd
 t

he
m

 b
ei

ng
 n

ic
e.

 I’
m

 
gr

ad
ua

lly
 g

et
tin

g 
m

or
e 

co
nfi

de
nt

. S
un

sh
in

e 
H

ou
se

 a
nd

 m
y 

su
pp

or
t 

w
or

ke
r 

ga
ve

 m
e 

a 
sp

ac
e 

to
 c

ry
 a

nd
 g

et
 s

up
po

rt
. K

no
w

in
g 

I h
av

e 
so

m
eo

ne
 t

o 
ca

ll 
m

ak
es

 m
y 

lif
e 

be
tt

er
. T

he
 b

ig
ge

st
 

di
ff

er
en

ce
 w

as
 w

he
n 

pe
op

le
 li

st
en

ed
 –

 s
er

vi
ce

s,
 

fr
ie

nd
s.

 W
he

n 
th

es
e 

th
in

gs
 a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
, I

 c
an

 
pl

an
 a

nd
 t

ha
t 

re
al

ly
 h

el
ps

. I
 w

an
t 

m
y 

so
n 

to
 

be
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
 a

 g
oo

d 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t 
– 

fo
r 

hi
m

 
to

 b
e 

co
m

fo
rt

ab
le

 w
he

n 
he

 g
oe

s 
ou

t,
 a

nd
 f

or
 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 f
or

 h
im

.”
 

M
um

 fi
nd

s 
it 

di
ffi

cu
lt 

to
 k

no
w

 w
ho

 t
o 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 
ab

ou
t 

di
ff

er
en

t 
co

nc
er

ns
 a

s 
th

e 
G

P 
ju

st
 re

fe
rs

 h
er

 
ba

ck
 t

o 
ho

sp
ita

l s
ta

ff
. T

he
 G

P 
ha

d 
su

gg
es

te
d 

sh
e 

sp
ea

k 
to

 IC
U

 s
ta

ff
 a

bo
ut

 s
om

e 
sy

m
pt

om
s 

w
hi

ch
 

is
 o

bv
io

us
ly

 n
ot

 p
os

si
bl

e 
(IC

U
 s

ta
ff

 d
o 

no
t 

ru
n 

an
 o

ut
pa

tie
nt

 c
lin

ic
). 

Th
e 

le
tt

er
 c

op
ie

s 
8 

he
al

th
 

pr
of

es
si

on
al

s 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 F
’s 

ca
re

. I
 d

o 
no

t 
kn

ow
 if

 
ot

he
r 

ag
en

ci
es

 a
re

 in
vo

lv
ed

 b
ut

 s
us

pe
ct

 t
ha

t 
th

ey
 

ar
e.

’ A
s 

a 
he

al
th

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l w
e 

ne
ed

 t
o 

ad
dr

es
s 

th
e 

is
su

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 m

ul
tip

le
 d

iffi
cu

lti
es

 a
nd

 
co

or
di

na
te

 c
ar

e 
so

 t
he

y 
do

 n
ot

 e
nd

 u
p 

se
ei

ng
 

nu
m

er
ou

s 
di

ff
er

en
t 

sp
ec

ia
lti

es
 w

ith
 p

oo
r 

lia
is

on
 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n.

” 

“D
ir

ec
t 

p
ay

m
en

ts
 a

re
 h

er
e 

to
 s

ta
y 

– 
co

ul
d 

w
e 

ta
ke

 a
 m

or
e 

pr
oa

ct
iv

e 
st

an
ce

? 
D

ire
ct

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 

by
 d

ef
au

lt?
” 

109



34

So
ut

hw
ar

k’
s 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Fa

m
ili

es
’ T

ru
st

 is
 t

he
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

of
 lo

ca
l a

ge
nc

ie
s 

w
hi

ch
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

 a
nd

 
pr

om
ot

e 
th

e 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 in

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k.

Th
e 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

co
ns

is
ts

 o
f 

re
pr

es
en

ta
tiv

es
 f

ro
m

 
ke

y 
ag

en
ci

es
 w

ith
 re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 in

cl
ud

in
g:

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

C
ou

nc
il,

 
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

C
lin

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

G
ro

up
, 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
Po

lic
e,

 a
nd

 re
pr

es
en

ta
tiv

es
 f

ro
m

 
lo

ca
lh

ea
lth

 p
ro

vi
de

rs
, s

ch
oo

ls
, a

nd
 t

he
 v

ol
un

ta
ry

 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
ec

to
r.

Fo
r 

m
o

re
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n
, o

r 
to

 g
et

 a
 c

o
p

y 
o

f 
th

e 
20

13
–2

01
6 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
,

ca
ll:

02
0 

75
25

 3
67

4,
 e

m
ai

l: 
ch

ild
re

n
an

d
fa

m
ili

es
tr

u
st

@
so

u
th

w
ar

k.
g

o
v.

u
k

vi
si

t:
w

w
w

.s
o

u
th

w
ar

k.
g

o
v.

u
k

W
ri

te
 t

o
 u

s 
at

:

So
ut

hw
ar

k’
s 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Fa

m
ili

es
’ T

ru
st

, C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

an
d 

A
du

lts
' S

er
vi

ce
s,

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

C
ou

nc
il,

 P
O

 B
ox

 6
45

29
, L

on
do

n 
SE

1 
5L

X

If 
yo

u 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 a
 c

op
y 

of
 t

hi
s 

br
oc

hu
re

 in
 la

rg
e 

pr
in

t,
 p

le
as

e 
ca

ll 
02

0 
75

25
 3

67
4

If 
yo

u 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 t
hi

s 
br

oc
hu

re
 t

ra
ns

la
te

d,
 p

le
as

e 
ta

ke
 it

 t
o 

yo
ur

 n
ea

re
st

 o
ne

 s
to

p 
sh

op
 a

nd
 a

sk
 f

or
 t

he
 ‘L

an
gu

ag
e 

Li
ne

’:

M
y 

So
u

th
w

ar
k 

cu
st

o
m

er
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

o
in

t,
 1

1 
M

ar
ke

t 
Pl

ac
e,

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

Pa
rk

 R
oa

d,
 S

E1
6

Pe
ck

h
am

 o
n

e 
st

o
p

 s
h

o
p

, G
ro

un
d 

Fl
oo

r, 
Li

br
ar

y,
 1

22
 P

ec
kh

am
 H

ill
 S

tr
ee

t 
SE

15

110



111



So
u

th
w

ar
k’

s 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
’ T

ru
st

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

an
d 

A
du

lt’
s 

Se
rv

ic
es

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
C

ou
nc

il
PO

 B
ox

 6
45

29
Lo

nd
on

 S
E1

 5
LX

02
0 

75
25

 3
67

4
ch

ild
re

na
nd

fa
m

ili
es

tr
us

t@
so

ut
hw

ar
k.

go
v.

uk
w

w
w

.s
ou

th
w

ar
k.

go
v.

uk
/c

hi
ld

re
na

nd
fa

m
ili

es
tr

us
t

A
ug

us
t 

20
13

112



D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT
A summary of our priorities for

children, young people and families

SOUTHWARK’S CHILDREN  
AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN 

2013-2016

APPENDIX 3

113



D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT

2

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust developed the Children and 
Young People’s Plan to set out how we will improve services for children 
and families in the borough over the next three years to 2016.

We began developing the plan in June 2012 when we went out into our 
communities and workforce and asked about their stories and journeys. More 
than 1,000 children, young people, parents, carers, staff and practitioners 
responded. These journeys have shaped our plan for local services.

We also looked at the demand and performance of local services and talked 
to senior decision-makers about what services they felt were working well and 
what needed to change. 

We then took all of this information and developed three transformation areas 
in the Children and Young People’s Plan:

Best start

Children, young people 
and families access the 
right services at the 
right time, from early 
years to adolescence

Safety and stability

Support for our most 
vulnerable children, young 
people and families to 
bring safe, positive and 
lasting change

Choice and control

Seamless, personalised 
support for children and 
young people with a 
special educational need 
or disability

OUR VISION FOR SOUTHWARK
“Every child, young person and family in Southwark thrives 
and is empowered to lead a safe and healthy life. We will 
work together to deliver high-quality services that make a 
measurable difference in helping to overcome inequality 
and disadvantage, and strengthen families’ abilities to 
raise their children successfully and independently.”

This leaflet sets out what changes you can expect to see, and each year we will 
publish how well we are doing in achieving these promises.

114



3

We promise to make sure that children, young people 
and families can access the right support at the right 
time – from early years to adolescence – giving them 
the best start on their journeys.

What does this priority mean?

We all need a little help at some point in our life – maybe when we are a new 
parent with a new baby, when we are starting school or when we are recovering 
from a difficult situation in family life. So we are committed to making sure that 
you can access the services you need when and how you need them, to help you 
on to the path to success.

What can you expect to change through this priority?

services, childcare or services in children’s centres

and more having better health and taking up free early education places 

quickly following support from specialist services

115



4

We promise to make sure that our most vulnerable 
children, young people and families receive timely, 
purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and 
positive change – providing safety and stability 
which might be otherwise missing.

What does this priority mean?

Every child and young person should grow up in a safe, loving and stable 
home – and it is everyone’s responsibility to make sure they do. So we are 
committed to working to support families and communities to keep children 
safe, and help them lead happy, healthy and safe lives. 

What you can expect to change through this priority?

116



5

We promise that children and young people with 
a special educational need or disability and their 
families will be able to access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support from childhood to adulthood.

What does this priority mean?

Every child and young person deserves to live a full, happy and independent 
life – and a special educational need or disability should not prevent this. So 
we are committed to making sure that these children and young people are 
able to choose the services they need – regardless of whether they need health, 
education or social care support – in order to live life to the fullest.

What can you expect to change through this priority?

support spanning health, education and social care services

and to find it easier to find out about them

– which means they have the freedom to buy the services they need

age of 25 – helping them to be independent and successful

117



D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT

66

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust is the partnership of local 
agencies which safeguard and promote the wellbeing of children, 
young people and families in Southwark.

The partnership consists of representatives from key agencies with responsibilities 
for children and young people including: Southwark Council, Southwark Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Southwark Police, and representatives from local health 
providers, schools and the voluntary and community sector.

For more information, or to get a copy of the plan,
call: 020 7525 3674
email: childrenandfamiliestrust@southwark.gov.uk
visit: www.southwark.gov.uk

Write to us at:

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust,
Children’s and Adults’ Services,
Southwark Council,
PO Box 64529,
London SE1 5LX

If you would like a copy of this brochure in large print, please call 020 7525 3674.

If you would like this brochure translated, please take it to your nearest 
one stop shop and ask for the ‘Language Line’:

My Southwark customer service point
11 Market Place, 
Southwark Park Road, SE16

Peckham one stop shop
Ground Floor, Library, 
122 Peckham Hill Street, SE15

118



1 

Item No.  
13. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Approval of the Council's Revised Local 
Implementation Plan Delivery Plan, including Annual 
Spending Submission for 2014/15, Indicative 
Programme to 2016/17, Revised Targets and 
Related Funding Bids 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 

All 

Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Barrie Hargrove, Transport, Environment 
and Recycling 
 

 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR BARRIE HARGROVE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT AND RECYCLING 
 
The project proposals contained within this report represent an ambitious programme 
of transport schemes and initiatives that will make a significant contribution towards 
the goals set out in the council’s transport plan as well as underpinning wider strategic 
objectives. In total the proposals represent an investment of £12.7M over the next 3 
years to support sustainable travel objectives that will benefit the borough’s economy, 
environment and general liveability. The proposals have been developed specifically to 
support council wide regeneration strategies for the borough. 
 
The main proposals set out in the report relate to our submission to Transport for 
London for funding to support the delivery of the Transport plan (incorporating the 
Local Implementation Plan or Lip). The new 3 year Lip delivery plan contains 
proposals that have been developed after consultation with stakeholders and which 
are designed to help deliver the objectives and targets set out in the Transport plan. 
The projects identified will benefit a wide range of user groups, with a particular focus 
on creating neighbourhood environments that encourage local walking trips in and 
around our town centres. 
 
This report also details proposals to implement the Mayor’s Vision for Cycling and 
meet our own ambitious plans for cycling in the borough. As evidence of our 
commitment to this objective we are proposing an ambitious new target for cycling in 
Southwark. The new target sets a trajectory where 10% of all trips will be made by bike 
by 2026 – effectively doubling the existing Transport plan target. This has been 
possible due to the concerted effort we have made over recent years to improve 
provision for cycling. We have exceeded previous projections and this focus and 
investment will be sustained and expanded over the new 3 year delivery plan period. 
 
The report also contains proposals that will greatly improve access to buses in the 
borough by ensuring that the vast majority of bus stops meet accessibility 
requirements. This is critical given the key role that buses play in Southwark. We are 
also proposing a range of innovative schemes to improve air quality.  
 
I commend the proposals and initiatives contained within this report. If approved, they 
will make a significant contribution towards delivering the Transport plan by addressing 
the need for improved infrastructure and to promote sustainable travel in Southwark.  
 

Agenda Item 13
119



2 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Recommendations for the Cabinet 
 
That the cabinet  
 
1. Agrees the content of the council’s proposed submission to Transport for London 

(TfL) identifying transport projects to be delivered with TfL Lip funding in 2014/15 
and an indicative programme of work for 2015/16 and 2016/17, as contained in 
Appendix A.  

 
2. Agrees that the identified programme be submitted to TfL by 4 October 2013. 
 
3. Agrees to the submission of the TfL funded borough cycling programme 

proposals for the four year period, 2013/14 – 2016/17 as set out in Appendix B. 
 
4. Agrees to the submission of the TfL funded bus stop accessibility programme 

proposals for the period 2013/14 to 2014/15 as set out in Appendix C. 
 
5. Agrees to the submission of the TfL funded air quality programme proposals for 

the period 2013/14 to 2015/16 as set out in Appendix D. 
 
6. Agrees to the implementation of the agreed programmes as set out in 

Appendices A, B, C and D. 
 
7. Agrees to the revision of the Transport Plan’s delivery plan which includes 

revision of interim targets to 2016/17 as set out in Appendix E. 
 
Recommendations for the Leader of the Council 
 
That the leader of the council 
 
8. Delegates authority to the cabinet member for transport, environment and 

recycling to amend the programme for 2014/15 should any variations to the 
proposed programme be required. The cabinet member shall consult community 
council chairs regarding scheme changes in their area. 

 
9. Delegates authority to the cabinet member for transport, environment and 

Recycling to determine the most appropriate use of the £100,000 discretionary 
funding allocated by TfL for 2014/15.  

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
10. Section 145 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (GLAA 1999) requires 

each council in London to prepare a Local implementation plan (Lip) to detail 
how the authority will assist in delivering the Mayor’s Transport Strategy.  

 
11. In May 2010, the Mayor of London published his revised transport strategy and 

all boroughs were required to prepare a local implementation plan in response to 
the new strategy. The council’s Transport plan (incorporating the requirements of 
the Lip) was adopted by the council in July 2011 and sets out how the council 
works with partners to coordinate and improve its transport infrastructure and 
services in the borough. 

 

120



3 

12. TfL provides financial assistance to boroughs, sub-regional partnerships and 
cross-borough initiatives under section 159 of the GLA Act 1999. All councils 
within London are able to obtain funding on an annual basis to deliver schemes 
identified in the Lip. This process is part of the Lip annual progress report (APR). 

 
13. The council’s Transport plan includes a 3 year delivery plan covering the period 

2011/12 to 2013/14. As this is the 3rd year of the current plan, the council is now 
required to produce a new 3 year plan covering the period 2014/15 to 2016/17 
as well as to review the key targets agreed with in the plan. The first year of this 
plan comprises our annual spending submission for 2014/15. 

 
14. The borough is responsible for identifying a programme of transport 

improvements to reflect the core funding allocation for each year of the plan 
which is based on a formula. This programme is then submitted to TfL for 
confirmation based on compatibility with the Mayor’s policy framework.  

 
15. The formula funding is allocated as one programme - corridors, neighbourhoods 

and supporting measures. The overall TfL Lip budget is £148.8 million for 
London authorities in 2014/2015, £1m higher than 2013/2014.  

 
16. Southwark’s allocation for 2014/15 is £3.166m, comprising £2.521m for 

corridors, neighbourhoods and supporting measures, £545k for principal road 
renewal funding and £100k of discretionary funding to be spent on a transport 
scheme as the council sees fit. The principal road renewal programme allows 
over-bids of +25% to cover the possibility of additional funding being made 
available in year. These allocations are the total funding that the borough should 
expect to receive for corridors, neighbourhoods and supporting measures. 

 
17. For years 2 and 3 (15/16 and 16/17) of the delivery plan it is assumed that the 

same level of funding will be available as for 2014/15 above and indicative 
schemes have been programmed accordingly. Funding and projects for these 
future years will be confirmed on an annual basis as part of the council’s yearly 
Lip funding submission. 

 
18. The above allocation does not include TfL funded major schemes (large urban 

realm and accessibility projects). The council can still bid for major schemes 
separately, with £28m available for allocation across London in 2014/15. It is 
through this funding that the Camberwell Town Centre scheme is being 
progressed. 

 
19. In May 2013 TfL issued guidance for its borough cycling programme which will 

aid the implementation of the Mayor’s Cycling Vision for London. This vision 
outlines plans to transform the capital into a city where cycling is a part of 
everyday life. 

 
20. The borough cycling programme guidance deals only with funding for cycle 

parking, cycle to school partnerships, cycle training, lorry safety, driver training 
and other measures such as awareness programmes. Funding to deliver 
infrastructure improvements for cycle routes is also available as part of the 
Mayor’s Vision for Cycling, but there is a separate application process for this, 
with officers currently working to develop proposals in this area. 

 
21. The Mayor of London has set a target for 95% of all bus stops to be accessible 

by the end of 2016. To help deliver this the TfL Business Plan has identified 
additional funding for bus stop accessibility works between 2013/14 and 

121



4 

2016/17. Boroughs are encouraged to identify bus stops that do not meet 
accessibility requirements and bid for funding to remedy this. 

 
22. The Mayor’s Air Quality Fund has been established to support local action to 

improve air quality in London. This is to be achieved through the delivery of a 
variety of measures including clean air zones at schools, hospitals and other 
sites; installing green infrastructure; freight consolidation; engagement and 
awareness raising; and trialling new technologies. 

 
23. Within the Transport Plan (Lip) each borough sets interim and longer term 

targets for five mandatory indicators relating to mode share, bus service 
reliability, asset condition, road traffic casualties and CO2 emissions. The interim 
targets previously provided for the period up to 2013/14 now need to be updated 
to cover the period to 2016/17. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
24. The council’s funding allocation for 2014/15 of £3.166m represents a slight 

reduction in funding compared with previous years. In 2013/14 the council 
received equivalent funding totalling £3.462m. 

 
25. A three year programme has been developed for 2014/15 to 2016/17. In 

developing this programme officers undertook an assessment of transport issues 
across the borough based on available data and known issues reported by the 
community. Workshops were also held with internal stakeholders from across 
the council in order to identify cross cutting themes and plan the most efficient 
use of resources. 

 
26. Given the limited amount of funding available and the number of possible 

projects, it has been necessary to prioritise projects to take forward. Officers 
carried out a further assessment using available data and with reference to 
strategic priorities, including fit with Transport Plan and broader council 
regeneration objectives as well as deliverability factors in order to arrive at a final 
scheme list.  

 
27. Officers have briefed community council chairs to advise them of the proposed 

submission and any proposals in their area.  Stakeholder groups have also been 
consulted on the proposals. 

 
28. There is a natural link between schemes identified as part of the Lip process, the 

s106/CIL project list and other projects identified by the community such as 
cleaner, greener, safer (CGS). The schemes identified in this submission 
complement existing proposals, priorities and funding streams. 

 
29. Following consideration of strategic priorities the cabinet member for transport, 

environment and recycling has agreed the overall scheme list presented in this 
report. 

 
30. Officers are currently working with TfL and other partners to identify a new 

network of cycle routes to help realise the council’s objective to encourage more, 
safer cycling. This work is outside the scope of the current funding submission 
and is being progressed in close collaboration with the Cycling Joint Steering 
Group with the objective of submitting proposed routes to TfL by December 
2013. 

 

122



5 

31. Currently 88% of bus stops on roads in the borough controlled by the council 
meet accessibility requirements. Officers have reviewed the remaining bus stops 
and identified a programme of works that will deliver improvements at 74 stops, 
thereby achieving the goal of 100% accessibility for these roads. In parallel, TfL 
will seek to improve bus stops on their network in order to meet the overall 
objective of 95% coverage across the borough. 

 
32. TfL require boroughs to provide evidence that the new interim targets for the 

Delivery plan are both ambitious and realistic, given indicative funding levels. In 
establishing new interim targets for 2016/17, officers have examined the 
evidence of the impact of interventions delivered to date in contributing towards 
the 2013/14 interim and longer term LIP targets. In addition, benchmarking of 
performance against other comparable boroughs has been carried out, together 
with quantitative analysis and forecasting. 

 
33. Funding bids for related TfL programmes have been developed alongside the Lip 

delivery plan and are being submitted in parallel to the Lip submission. 
 
Policy implications 
 
34. The proposed programme of works is consistent with the council’s Transport 

plan 2011 as well as the council’s broader policy framework including Southwark 
2016: Sustainable Community Strategy and various national and regional 
policies including the Mayor’s Transport Strategy, as required by TfL. 

 
35. The revised three year delivery plan has been developed in line with the aims 

and policies contained within the core strategy linking policy to delivery. 
 
Community impact statement 
 
36. It is expected that the proposed schemes that receive funding will provide a 

positive benefit for those living and working in Southwark and local consultation 
will be undertaken as part of their implementation.   

 
37. An equality analysis and a strategic environmental assessment were undertaken 

as part of the development of the Transport plan and the impact on the 
community was considered as part of this.   

 
38. The Transport plan seeks to actively address the council’s responsibilities to 

eliminate discrimination, promote equality of opportunity and promote good 
relations between the different groups. The equality analysis found that the 
Transport plan objectives were consistent with these objectives. 

 
39. These proposals are in accordance with council policy and should have a 

positive impact on all Southwark residents. However,  the council will undertake 
ongoing monitoring to ensure there are no adverse implications for the 
community, or that any identified are proportionate to the overall objective of the 
programme and are minimised where possible. This currently takes place 
through an annual monitoring report collating all available data on the impacts of 
the plan and identifies general travel trends within Southwark. This will include 
an assessment of any variation of impacts across different groups.  

 
Resource implications 
 
40. Details of the proposed Lip schemes together with indicative costs are set out in 

123



6 

Appendix A. Appendices B, C and D set out indicative costs for related bids. 
 
41. Indicative management and implementation costs for each scheme have been 

taken into account in the submission. 
 
Consultation 
 
42. The submission builds on the consultation carried out during the compilation of 

the Transport plan, which underwent twelve weeks of community consultation in 
late 2010 and early 2011. As part of the Transport plan consultation, the 
community were invited to comment via community groups, community councils, 
the council’s website, electronic newsletters and social media networks and via 
an online survey. In addition, the community had the opportunity to speak to 
officers directly through various community and stakeholder groups, local 
community councils and via two ‘drop in’ sessions.   

 
43. Given the extensive consultation noted above and the short timescales involved 

for this submission, it has not been possible to consult with the public again on 
the current proposals. However, a key element of the evidence base, used to 
identify possible schemes, is the correspondence and feedback received from 
the public over previous years. Furthermore, key stakeholder groups as well as 
community council chairs have been consulted and their feedback considered in 
refining these proposals. 

 
44. Once the projects proposed have been confirmed by TfL, separate formal 

consultation with stakeholders, residents and other interested parties, in 
accordance with the council’s policies and commitments, will be undertaken prior 
to their detailed design or implementation.  

 
45. Furthermore, all infrastructure schemes will now go before community council as 

part of that process where local people will be given the opportunity to influence 
the delivery of proposals affecting their area. 

 
46. Where schemes are altered, dropped, or where new schemes are proposed, 

relevant ward councillors will be consulted. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
47. As stated in the main body of the report, section 145 of the Greater London 

Authority Act 1999 (GLAA 1999) requires London borough councils to prepare 
local implementation plans ("LIPs”) setting out their own proposals on how they 
intend to put the Mayor’s Transport strategy into effect in their respective areas. 
The councils are required to consult various bodies and must include a timetable 
for when they intend to implement the proposals in their plan. 

 
48. Section 146 of the GLAA 1999 provides for the Mayor to approve each local 

plan, ensuring that they adequately implement the transport strategy. He must 
not approve a plan unless he is satisfied that it is consistent with the strategy, 
and that the proposals in it are adequate to implement the strategy and that the 
timetable for implementation is adequate for those purposes. 

 
49. Under section 151 of the GLAA 1999, once a plan has been approved by the 

Mayor the council must implement it according to the timetable in the plan. 

124



7 

 
50. It is also worth noting that section 152 of the GLAA 1999 provides that if the 

Mayor considers that a council has not carried out any proposal in its Lip 
satisfactorily and according to the timetable in the plan, he will be able to 
exercise the appropriate powers of the council, at their expense, in order to fulfil 
the strategy. Furthermore, section 153 of the GLAA 1999 provides that the 
Mayor may give legally binding directions to councils on the manner in which 
they perform any of their duties set out in sections 145 to 151, i.e. provisions on 
the preparation, submission, re-submission, revision and implementation of local 
implementation plans. 

 
51. Section 159 allows TfL to give financial assistance (by grant or loan or other 

means) to any person or body for expenditure conducive to the provision of safe, 
integrated, efficient and economic transport facilities.  This section also allows 
TfL to impose conditions on financial assistance it provides. 

 
52. There has been compliance with the council’s approach to equalities as well as 

the public sector equality duty as contained within section 149 of the Equality Act 
2010.  All six equality strands have been duly considered and assessed; this is 
evidenced in the Equalities Impact Assessment carried out for the Transport 
Plan. During the delivery of the identified transport projects, equalities will need 
to continue to be monitored. 

 
53. The Human Rights Act 1998 has imposed a duty on the council, as a public 

authority, to apply the European Convention on Human Rights and not to act 
contrary to these rights.  The rights most frequently referred to include article 8 
(respect for home) and article 1 of the First Protocol (peaceful enjoyment of 
property).  Article 6 is also frequently engaged in relation to the principle of 
natural justice.  The application of funding is considered unlikely to contravene 
any of the contravention rights but will also continue to be monitored. 

 
54. Equalities Impact Assessment carried out for the Transport Plan. During the 

delivery of the identified transport projects, equalities will need to continue to be 
monitored. 

 
55. Under paragraph 6, Part 3D of the constitution the individual member has 

authority to agree statutory or other strategies in relation to their area of 
responsibility. In addition under paragraph 4, the Individual Member has 
authority to approve the submission of bids for additional resources from 
government and other agencies in relation to their area of responsibility, where 
member level agreement is required by the external agency. However, due to 
the cross-cutting nature of transport projects, the Individual Member has 
requested that this matter be considered by full cabinet. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/057) 
 
56. This report is requesting, amongst other recommendations detailed in 

paragraphs 1-7, that cabinet approve the submission of the council’s proposed 
Local Implementation Plan (LIP) to TfL for the 2014/15 allocation of £3.166m and 
to also approve the indicative programme of works for the years 2015/16 and 
2016/17. 

 
57. Once the LIP is agreed and approved by TfL, the agreed funds will be 

appropriately budgeted against the programme for regular monitoring and 
reporting within the council’s capital and revenue monitoring arrangements. 

125



8 

 
58. Staffing and other any other costs connected with the recommendation to be 

contained within existing departmental budgets. 
 
Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure 
 
59. The targets and actions contained in the Transport plan have been developed in 

consultation with officers of the public realm and community safety divisions and 
are consistent with our operational policies and plans in relation to highway asset 
management and design, parking, road network management and air quality. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
Transport plan 2011 
 
 
Mayor's Vision for Cycling 

www.southwark.gov.uk/trans
portplan. 
 
http://www.london.gov.uk/pri
orities/transport/publications/
mayor-s-vision-for-cycling 

Sally Crew  
020 7525 5564 
 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 
No. Title 
Appendix A Annual spending submission & 3 year delivery plan 
Appendix B Borough cycling programme proposals 
Appendix C Bus stop accessibility proposals 
Appendix D Air quality proposals 
Appendix E Revised Transport plan targets 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor Barrie Hargrove, Transport, Environment and 

Recycling 
Lead Officer Eleanor Kelly, Chief Executive 
Report Author Sally Crew, Transport Policy Manager 
Version Final  
Dated 5 September 2013 
Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 
Director of Legal Services  Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Strategic Director of Environment and 
Leisure  

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013  
 

126



 1 

APPENDIX A 
Annual Spending Submission & 3 Year Delivery Plan 
 

Cost £000 

Project  Location Description 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Supporting measures Boroughwide Smarter travel programme including Road Safety, Travel 
Awareness and School Travel Plans. 300 300 300 

Estate cycle parking Boroughwide Secure cycle parking on council estates 46 46 46 

Cycle training Boroughwide Cycle training for adults and children 141 141 141 

Surveys Boroughwide Cross borough programme of surveys and monitoring at a 
strategic level, including walking, cycling and traffic counts  30 30 30 

Pocket places Peckham Peckham Rye 

Further development and implementation of the 'Pocket Places for 
People' project on streets adjacent to Rye Lane. This scheme has 
been developed via a joint venture with Sustrans and overlaps with 
the council's Community Streets concept. 

360 0 0 

CPZ kerbside re-use Boroughwide Building on CPZ reviews to offer alternative options for kerbside 
space e.g. cycle parking, street trees.. 0 20 20 

Filtered permeability Boroughwide 
Post monitoring and implementation of existing schemes (Lytham 
Street and Riverside), plus further programme of cycle 
permeability measures. 

97 0 0 

Crystal Palace Parade Dulwich Implementation of measures to improve safety and accessibility at 
the roundabouts adjoining borough boundary. 280 0 0 

Local environmental 
improvements Boroughwide 

Small scale interventions to address specific issues identified in 
year e.g. dropped kerbs, cycle parking etc, as well as match 
funding to support air quality bids  

95 95 75 

Station accessibility Boroughwide 

Improvements to streets in the vicinity of stations (Nunhead, South 
Bermondsey, West Dulwich, Sydenham Hill, Kennington, Borough) 
focussing on small scale accessibility improvements and 
wayfinding. 

0 25 250 

127



 2 

Cost £000 

Project  Location Description 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Brayard's Road 
neighbourhood 

Peckham Rye & 
Nunhead 

Areas adjacent to Brayard's Road on both sides of railway line. 
Mainly small scale interventions to build on recent changes to road 
layout and create an attractive environment for walking between 
the town centres of Nunhead and Peckham Rye. Supports PNAAP 
and Mayor's Vision for Cycling. 

255 300 0 

Walworth Road South Walworth 

Corridor scheme between John Ruskin and Merrow Street. 
Measures to include improvement to footways, crossing points and 
review of carriageway space allocation. To complement the mixed 
priority scheme to the north. 

50 300 500 

Bellenden Road 
neighbourhood Peckham Rye 

Area to the west of Rye Lane. Focus on improving permeability 
through the Bellenden Road / Lyndhurst Way area. Building on 
previous proposals. First year to include comprehensive 
community consultation to build consensus. Supports PNAAP and 
Mayor's Vision for Cycling. 

50 380 0 

West Camberwell 
neighbourhood Camberwell 

Area to the south west of the town centre bounding border with 
Lambeth. Focus on footway improvements and speed 
management on border roads. Improvement to walking and cycling 
links to the town centre and between green spaces. 

267 0 0 

Coleman Road 
neighbourhood Camberwell 

Area bounded by St Georges Way, Wells Way and Southampton 
Way. Focus on safety issues at the 'triangle' and measures to 
support planned flood alleviation works in the Coleman Road area. 

275 200 0 

North Peckham 
neighbourhood Peckham 

Meeting House Lane area north of Peckham High Street. 
Localised environmental and accessibility improvements. Focus on 
walking routes to Queens Road station and Peckham Square and 
identified cycle link. 

275 200 0 

Lower Road Rotherhithe Match funding towards planned changes to the road layout in the 
Surrey Quays area to support the CWAAP. 0 400 0 

128



 3 

Cost £000 

Project  Location Description 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

Drummond Road 
neighbourhood Bermondsey 

Area bounded by Southwark Park Road, Jamaica Road, St James 
Road and the railway. To complement residential development at 
the Biscuit Factory site and meet demand for improved walking 
and cycling links. Focus on walking routes to Bermondsey tube 
and Southwark Park and proposed Quietway cycle link to support 
the Mayor's Vision for Cycling as well as general accessibility 
improvements to Southwark Park Road. 

0 25 325 

Ilderton Road Bermondsey Corridor scheme to improve safety and accessibility including 
review of road space allocation and treatment of key junctions. 0 34 459 

Elmington neighbourhood Camberwell 

Improving walking and cycling links through the area bounded by 
Bowyer Place, Southampton Way, Camberwell Church Street and 
Camberwell Road. Complements planned Quietway and green link 
designs. 

0 25 325 

Thurlow Street corridor Walworth 

Corridor scheme comprising Thurlow Street, Flint Street, Rodney 
Road and Rodney Place. Safety and accessibility improvements to 
link Burgess Park and New Kent Road. Supports Aylesbury 
regeneration plans and Mayor's Vision for Cycling proposals. 

0 0 50 

Dog Kennel Hill PRR Camberwell Principal Road Renewal 270     

Crystal Palace Parade 
PRR Dulwich Principal Road Renewal 275     

Lordship Lane PRR Dulwich Principal Road Renewal - reserve scheme 75     

Rye Lane PRR Peckham Principal Road Renewal - reserve scheme 75     

15/16 PRR To be confirmed Principal Road Renewal   545   

16/17 PRR To be confirmed Principal Road Renewal     545 

         

   2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

  Totals 3,166 3,166 3,166 

129



 4 

Cost £000 

Project  Location Description 
2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 

  Corridors and neighbourhoods 2,221 2,221 2,221 
  Supporting measures 300 300 300 
  Discretionary funding 100 100 100 

  Principal Road Renewal 545 545 545 
 
 
 

130



APPENDIX B 
Borough Cycling Programme 
 
 

Year 2013/141 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 Total 

Safer Streets for Cycling  59 59 68 186 

Cycle training2  40 40 40 120 

Safer lorries and vans3  10 10 10 30 

SUD training4  9 9 18 36 

More Cycling  367 190 225 225 1,007 

Cycle to school partnerships5 285 134 175 150 744 

Cycle parking6 82 56 50 75 263 

Support for cycling  60 66 66 66 258 

Strategies      

Monitoring  36 36 36 108 

Staff resource 607 30 30 30 150 

Total £ 427 K £ 315 K £350 K £359 K £1,451 K 

 

                                                 
1 The funding shown for 13/14 has already been agreed with TfL as part of a one-off 
allocation for the current year. Bids for future years are for the maximum available 
amount in each category. 
2 This funding is in addition to the Lip allocation for cycle training. 
3 This funding is principally for improvements to the council’s fleet 
4 Safer Urban Driving courses targeted at commercial vehicles including HGVs. 
5 These partnerships are to encourage groups of schools to work together to promote 
sustainable travel, in particular to encourage cycling at the transition point between 
primary and secondary school. The Dulwich schools cluster has been successful in 
securing funding in the current year, including funding to improve the junction of East 
Dulwich Grove and Townley Road. The cluster will also benefit from a ‘Bike It Plus’ 
officer who will work with schools to achieve their objectives and seed funding to 
identify further infrastructure improvements. In future years other clusters will be 
identified and funded through this programme. 
6 A combination of station cycle hubs, estate cycle parking and on-street ‘hangars’ 
and racks. 
7 This funding has been allocated to develop proposals for the Central London Bike 
Grid in Southwark 

131



APPENDIX C  
 

 Bus Stop Accessibility programme 
 

Year Number of stops Funding (£000s) 
2013/14 38 500 
2014/15 36 500 

 
NB funding for the above projects has been confirmed for 13/14 by TfL, subject to the 
submission of further information and project plans. 
 
 

132



APPENDIX D 
 
Air Quality Programme 
 

  
 
NB funding for the above projects has been confirmed for 13/14 by TfL, subject to the 
submission of further information and project plans. 
 
Total funding, including indicative allocations for years 2 and 3 is £730K. 
 

133



APPENDIX E  
 
Transport plan targets 
 

 Target/ Indicator Baseline Comments 

Bus service reliability 

 

Current 

Excess wait times for high 
frequency bus services from 1.2 
minutes to 1.0 minute in 2013/14 

2009/10 Maintain 
existing target 
trajectory 

Proposed 
Excess wait times for high 
frequency bus services from 1.2 
minutes to 0.9 minute in 2016/17 

2009/10  

Road condition 

 

Current 

Maintain the proportion of 
principal road length in poor 
condition at 11.1% by 2013/14  

2009/10 Maintain 
existing target 

Proposed 
Maintain the proportion of 
principal road length in poor 
condition at 11.1% by 2016/17 

2009/10  

CO2 emissions 

 

Current 

Reduce CO2 emissions from road 
based transport from 227kt CO2 
in 2008 to 190kt CO2 in 2013 

2008 Maintain 
existing target 
trajectory 

Proposed 
Reduce CO2 emissions from road 
based transport from 227kt CO2 
in 2008 to 174kt CO2 in 2016 

2008  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134



 Target/ Indicator Baseline Comments 

Traffic level reduction 

 

Current 

Reduce traffic levels in 
Southwark by 3% by 2013 

2010 Maintain existing 
target trajectory 

Proposed 
Reduce traffic levels in 
Southwark by 6% by 2016 

2010  

Walking mode share 

 

Current 

Increase the walking mode 
share in Southwark to a 
third (33%) by 2013  

2006/2009 
three year 
average 

Extend target 
timescale 

Proposed 
Increase the walking mode 
share in Southwark to 
33% by 2016  

2006/2009 
three year 
average 

 

Cycling mode share 

 

Current 

Increase the proportion of 
those cycling in Southwark 
from 3% to 4% by 2013/14  

2006/2009 
three year 
average 

Increase target 

Proposed 
Increase the proportion of 
those cycling in Southwark 
from 3% to 6% by 2016/17 

2006/2009 
three year 
average 

Interim target based 
on new 10% target by 
2026 (8% by 2020) 

Road Safety 

No change 
Reduce the number of all 
total casualties by 33% by 
2020 

2004/2008 
three year 
average  

Maintain existing 
target 

No change 
Reduce the number of 
killed and seriously injured 
by 33% to 2020 

2004/2008 
three year 
average  

Maintain existing 
target 

No change 
Reduce the total number 
of slight casualties by 33% 
by 2020 

2004/2008 
three year 
average  

Maintain existing 
target 

No change 

Reduce all cyclist 
casualties by 44% by 2020 
based on a 2004/08 
baseline  

2004/2008 
three year 
average  

Maintain existing 
target 

 

135



 

 
 
 

1 

  

 
Item No.  

14. 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 
 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Air Quality and Schools in Southwark  
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

Electoral wards: All 

Cabinet Member: 
 
 

Councillor Barrie Hargrove, Transport, Environment 
and Recycling 
 

 
 
FOREWORD - COUNCILLOR BARRIE HARGROVE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT AND RECYCLING 
 
This report updates the cabinet on the progressive actions being taken by this 
authority under its Air Quality Improvement Strategy, with regard to the important issue 
of poor air quality around our schools.  In particular, it details the progress of the Clean 
Air 4 Schools programme, initiated in 2012 and due to commence this autumn school 
term within 6 schools in the borough, together with our plans for taking this project 
forward. It also sets out our intention to introduce the AirTEXT air quality information 
system across our schools. I believe that such actions clearly demonstrate this 
Authority recognises the potential impact of poor air quality upon our children and our 
commitment to protecting their health and wellbeing. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
1. That Cabinet notes the progress made on working with schools to improve air 

quality. 
 
2. That regular update reports are brought back to the cabinet member for 

transport, environment and recycling. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3. On 29 May 2012, the cabinet member for transport, environment & recycling 

approved the Southwark Air Quality Improvement Strategy for 2012-2017 (AQIS) 
and related Action Plan 2012-2017 (AQAP). Together the documents set out this 
Authority’s approach to local air quality improvement. The Southwark AQIS 
places improvements in levels of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter at its 
core. 

 
4. The Southwark AQIS recognises the particular health impacts of poor air quality 

upon the young. The related Southwark AQAP made a commitment that funding 
opportunities would be pursued enabling a pilot scheme intended to identify and 
implement local air quality improvements near to schools and publicise the 
results.  

 
5. On 16 April 2013, the Cabinet considered an e-petition headed ‘Reduce Air 

Pollution’ signed by 121 persons, which raised concerns over ‘high levels of 
pollution near schools in Southwark’. The petitioners campaigned to demonstrate 
how strongly people feel about the issue. The petition stated: 

Agenda Item 14
136



 

 
 
 

2 

  

 
“We the undersigned petition the council to urgently reduce air pollution 
on main roads near schools to protect the health of children in London, to 
measure levels of air pollution near affected schools and to help them take 
steps to protect children and staff. 
 
London records the worst levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) in Europe as well as 
dangerous concentrations of tiny particles, smaller than the diameter of a human 
hair, known as PM 10s and PM2.5s. These invisible gases and particles irritate 
and lodge in the lungs, exacerbating heart disease and asthma and cutting years 
off the average life expectancy. 
 
After smoking, air pollution is now the leading cause of early death. Young 
people are particularly vulnerable because their lungs are still developing. It’s 
estimated that traffic pollution may be responsible for 15-30% of all new cases of 
asthma in children. Yet there are 48 schools in Southwark within 150 metres of 
roads that carry over 10,000 vehicles a day. That's why this petition concentrates 
on schools. 
 
Children, the elderly and people with existing respiratory illness suffer most from 
air pollution, but we’re all affected. A study commissioned by the Mayor of 
London estimated that 4,267 Londoners died prematurely in 2008 as a result of 
long-term exposure to polluted air – mostly through heart attacks and strokes.” 
 

6. The minutes of the meeting of 16 April 2013, note that the petition spokesperson 
addressed the cabinet and further outlined residents’ concerns in respect of air 
pollution on main roads near schools with particular reference to the detrimental 
impact upon the health of children and the general community. The 
spokesperson asked the council to roll out the clean air for schools initiative; sign 
all schools up to the AirText service; provide a dedicated budget to the 
environmental protection team for air quality improvement initiatives; and to work 
closely with Transport for London (TfL) to reduce air pollution. 

 
7. The cabinet decided that a report should be made to them within three months to 

assess progress made, with specific reference to resources within the public 
health budget and measures to promote engagement with schools. 

 
8. While the requested report back was originally delayed so as to allow full 

information to be provided on related grant applications being made, this report 
now provides update on all relevant current activities / issues through which 
either direct or indirect benefits may be realised.  

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

Air Quality in London 
 
9. London, as a premiere world city, economic centre and transportation hub 

suffers from poor air quality from time to time. Contributing factors include that:- 
 

• London is a large and busy city region with many sources of emissions to 
air; 

• the most significant source of atmospheric pollution in Southwark is diesel 
engines; and 

• London is in a river valley basin which traps atmospheric emissions under 

137



 

 
 
 

3 

  

certain weather conditions, for example low wind or temperature inversion 
and in bright sunlight may develop photochemical smog. 

 
10. Poor air quality events impact upon everyone in the affected area, but impact 

with a greater significance on individuals who have compromised respiratory 
function due to age or infirmity and on children, who have smaller, immature 
lungs. London regularly breaches the European Economic Community (EEC) Air 
Quality Objectives for NO2 (Nitrogen Dioxide) and PM10 (breathable 
particulates). There are also concerns regarding the levels of Black Carbon and 
PM2.5 in London. Many of these poor air quality incidents are caused by 
meteorological conditions transporting air pollution from outside London, 
including from industrial Europe. In March 2013, pressure group ClientEarth took 
the UK Government to the UK Supreme Court due to the lack of effective 
response to and breaches of the air quality objectives. The Supreme Court has 
ruled that the UK government has failed in its legal duty to protect people from 
the harmful effects of air pollution. This potentially means that the UK 
Government may be liable to financial sanctions for infraction of EU law. 
However, before deciding whether to take further action to enforce the law, it has 
referred a number of legal questions to the Court of Justice of the European 
Union. 

 
11. A recent report by the pressure group Campaign for Clean Air in London has 

stated that up to 4,267 people died prematurely due to the impacts of poor air 
quality in London in 2008.  Poor air quality places a strain on human respiratory 
and pulmonary systems which results in a deterioration in the quality of 
individuals biological function and hence, an average reduction in life-span of 7-8 
months. 

 
12. Officers in public health and environmental protection have recently worked with 

the Mayor’s office to produce the document “Air Quality in Southwark – A Guide 
for Public Health Professionals” which reports on the implications of air quality on 
the health of Southwark’s population. A copy of the report may be viewed using 
the link: 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Air%20Quality%20for%20Public%20
Health%20Professionals%20LB%20Southwark.pdf  
 

13. Key points arising from the report were that: 
 

• While outdoor air quality is an important consideration and its impact should 
be recognised, the most common respiratory conditions (asthma and 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)) are most affected by 
smoking, passive smoking (cigarette smoke from smokers inhaled by non 
smokers), indoor air quality (smoke and other indoor pollutants) and health 
condition management, including self management (e.g. correct use of 
inhalators, medication review and physical activity); and 

• The health benefits of being physically active far outweigh the risks from 
poor air quality and that individuals (including schools) can reduce the risks 
when air pollutions levels are elevated.  

 
14. In 2012, according to the Quality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) disease 

registers kept by Southwark GPs, there were 13,097 people (all ages) with 
asthma – 4% of the total registered patient population. This is slightly lower than 
the UK overall prevalence of 5.99%. There were 3,899 people with COPD 
(generally due to smoking), constituting 1.2% of the total registered patient 

138



 

 
 
 

4 

  

population. Again, a little lower than the UK wide figure of 1.74%. 
 
15. The Campaign for Clean Air in London has also stated that across London there 

are 1,148 London schools within 150 metres of roads carrying about 10,000 
vehicles a day. The majority of these routes are managed by Transport for 
London (TfL). In poor air quality events everyone, including all schools within the 
affected area, experiences diminished air quality. However, it is clear that if a 
school is located roadside of a busy road, then its air quality will be significantly 
poorer than at schools on quiet roads. Air quality measurements are categorized 
as ‘background’ when they are more than 50m from a predominant source/road. 

 
16. Emissions to atmosphere are a global issue without boundaries and are known 

to be causing climate change. Poor air quality in London is both a regional and a 
pan European issue with much of the funding to research and address air quality 
historically coming from European Community grant sources. 

 
17. Southwark is a central London Authority with main arterial road routes carrying 

regional traffic through the borough and has limited influence regarding the 
volume and make up of vehicles using those routes. Despite this, much can be 
done to work regionally, to raise awareness regarding air quality and to influence 
personal and business transport mode decisions within the borough.  

 
Southwark’s Air Quality Improvement Strategy for 2012-2017 

 
18. As has been noted, Southwark’s approach to local air quality improvement is set 

out within the Southwark Air Quality Improvement Strategy & Action Plan for 
2012 – 2017. Overseen by the Council’s Environmental Protection Team, with 
contributions from across the Council’s other services; the strategy is intended to 
complement national and regional air quality strategies as well as other relevant 
local strategy, such as the Southwark Transport Plan and planning and 
sustainability policy.  

 
19. In pursuit of the Southwark AQAP, a range of initiatives are currently in place 

intended to raise awareness of air quality issues through working with local 
schools and linking measures that reduce air pollution with other environmental 
issues. 

 
Clean Air 4 Schools (CA4S) Programme 

 
20. The CA4S programme, referenced within the e-petition received by the Cabinet, 

forms an important part of this work. Run concurrently across eight London 
boroughs, in conjunction with the Greater London Authority (GLA), Southwark is 
currently in the process of delivering the CA4s programme to six primary schools 
within the borough. This innovative schools engagement and education 
programme comprises: 

 
• A Key Stage 2 educative programme for children and teaching staff 

intended to raise air quality and air pollution awareness. It includes air 
quality monitoring around the school and intends to reduce exposure to 
pollution through choice of route to school; 

• Improvement in the quality and effectiveness of the involved schools Travel 
Plans to promote transportation modal shift out of private cars for the 
‘school run’; 

• A campaign aimed at parents to raise awareness regarding an individual’s 

139



 

 
 
 

5 

  

contribution to poor air quality and to promote a switch from the private car 
to public or active transport. The campaign also promotes anti-idling when 
dropping children off and encourages parents to park away from school 
entrances and not on the yellow zig zags; 

• Individual school celebrations and awards related to the project; and 
• A half-day seminar for school staff across the borough to promote the 

airTEXT health alert service and the value and success of the CA4S toolkit. 
This event also aims to encourage schools to sign up for the programme. 

 
21. Running alongside the CA4S programme this year is a sustainability project 

intended to help the involved schools reduce their energy usage, carbon 
footprint, bills and on-site pollution. The project hopes to fund 100% of these 
improvements. Sustainability audits have taken place at each of the schools and 
have identified the most helpful changes to make. These include the installation 
of new boilers, the tuning of boiler controls; and the installation of thermostatic 
radiator valves. 

 
22. The initial short list of Southwark schools preferred for involvement in the CA4S 

programme was developed using the criteria set out below.  
 

• High % of pupils driven to school, therefore more capacity for modal shift 
and reduced levels of pollution; 

• Area of known poor air quality, therefore more capacity to make educative 
message relevant; 

• Potential to undertake infrastructure works to improve air quality within the 
school and its environs or improve the carbon footprint of school; 

• Geographical spread across borough; and 
• Size of school role. 
 

23. Not all of the schools initially approached were able to take up the opportunity to 
participate. However, six suitable schools have signed up to the project and an 
action plan and air quality monitoring strategy for delivery of the project within 
each of the schools has been agreed with the relevant head teacher. Our 
delivery agent, Parose Projects Ltd, will be working in the schools in the autumn 
term between September and November 2013. The involved schools are: 

 
• Bessemer Grange Primary School; 
• Charles Dickens Primary School; 
• Grange Primary School; 
• Peter Hills with St Mary’s and St Paul’s Church of England Primary School; 
• Rotherhithe Primary School; and 
• St Francesca Cabrini Roman Catholic Primary School; 

 
24. The council’s environmental protection team leads on this programme. However, 

the identification of criteria for selection, efforts to get schools on board and work 
to secure funding for the schools to receive significant energy efficiency 
improvements to their heating systems (either from the GLA or other internal 
budgets) have all been done in partnership with officers from the low carbon 
schools programme (managed by the climate change and sustainability team) 
and by children’s services. 

140



 

 
 
 

6 

  

 
25. This initial Southwark programme has been funded by an award of £21,000 from 

the Departments for Environment Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) 2012 Air Quality 
Fund, supported by additional funding from the Southwark travel plan budget for 
2012-13. 

 
26. It is recognised that many more schools in the borough could benefit from this 

programme and further funding opportunities are being pursued in order to 
extend the scheme. It also our intention to be able to embed the future delivery 
of the education and awareness raising elements of the project in-house. 

 
27. To date, the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund has given ‘in principle’ agreement to fund 

the expansion of the CA4S programme to more of Southwark’s schools through 
to 2015-2016. This agreement involves the allocation of £20,000 in 2013-2014 
and further potential awards of up to £40,000 in each of the two following years 
(2014-2015 and 2015-2016) for an air quality awareness scheme which includes 
the expansion of the CA4s programme and proposals to improve general access 
through the Southwark website to local, regional and national air quality 
information. This associated work is intended to help individuals reduce their 
personal exposure to poor air quality and suggest actions for individuals, families 
and business to reduce their contribution to atmospheric pollution. 

 
28. In pursuit of these ‘indicative’ awards, we are currently in the process of 

preparing a detailed project plan to be submitted to the GLA in October 2013 for 
approval. The final award made will be match funded by the council. Officers are 
currently considering options. In making the awards the GLA stated that ‘the 
school air quality project has the potential to have a significant impact’ and has 
indicated that it would wish to work with Southwark to develop a comprehensive 
monitoring strategy. 

 
29. Our progress in extending the CA4S programme and establishing a 

comprehensive monitoring strategy will be subject of future reports. 
 
 School Travel Plans 
 
30. Closely allied to the CA4S programme are school travel plans.  Travel plans are 

used for schools as a means of improving safety and encouraging sustainable 
travel options among students, parent, guardians and staff. Travel plans are also 
used to encourage educational programmes relating to child travel linked to the 
environment, safety and health. 

 
31. Incorporated within the Council Plan is a target to reduce the number of children 

being driven to school from a baseline of 15.7% in 2010-11 to 13% by 2013-14. 
In the past 5 years a 5% decrease in numbers has been achieved. Travel plans 
play a primary role in achieving this reduction. 

 
 AirTEXT 
 
32. Associated with the CA4S project is the AirTEXT initiative, also cited by the 

recent epetition. AirTEXT is a unique air quality information service for people 
who live or work in London, especially those who may suffer from asthma, 
emphysema, bronchitis, heart disease or angina. AirText works by sending alerts 
and health advice to those people who are most likely to be affected on days 
when air pollution is high in their local area. 

141



 

 
 
 

7 

  

 
33. Under the CA4S project it is the longer term intention to provide all schools in the 

Southwark area with regular 3 day health bulletins (from AirTEXT) which deal not 
only with air pollution but UV index; pollen; and temperature also. The basic 
infrastructure for the regular supply of information is in place, but further work is 
necessary, on the supporting advice that may be given to schools on actions to 
be taken in the event of high or moderate forecasts, before the scheme may be 
commenced.  The appropriate advice is intended to be developed and agreed in 
conjunction with the GLA so as to provide a consistent basis for future pan 
London use. 

 
Mayor’s Air Quality Fund (Other Tacit Funding Approvals) 

 
34. Along with the current GLA funding decisions given in respect of CA4S under the 

Mayor’s Air Quality Fund, there are several other Southwark projects given tacit 
approval totaling £730,000 over the next 3 years (inclusive of the £100,000 
earmarked for CA4S and web site development detailed earlier). Officers are 
currently in the process of preparing detailed project plans to be submitted to the 
GLA in October 2013 before grant monies are given final approval and released. 
These are: 

• a joint project with private sector contractors and academic partners to 
scientifically test the use of dust suppression agent Calcium 
Magnesium Acetate (CMA) at a major demolition site. CMA is a 
biodegradable saline solution that enables the surfaces it is sprayed on to 
stay wetter for longer so dust particles are less able to re-suspend in the 
air. The project aims to undertake a series of tests to assess which 
methods and frequencies of application will optimise the reduction of 
particles in the air around the site. This information will then be used to 
inform good practice across the demolition and construction industries. 
Southwark has met with its partners and is in the process of devising the 
experimentation and gathering background data on particulates and 
weather before the demolition commences; 

• a joint project with Tower Hamlets for an anti idling campaign at Tower 
Bridge. When the inner ring road is temporarily blocked by the raising of 
Tower Bridge many vehicles back-up on both sides of the river causing 
local air pollution hot-spots. This project aims to reduce air pollution in this 
area and to give publicity to the impact of idling in standing traffic across 
the capital; and 

• a joint project with nine other London Boroughs to improve air quality in 
Central London through zero emission deliveries to business. This 
project is being led by Westminster Council and includes private sector 
partners.  

 
Policy implications 
 
35. All matters addressed within this report are intended to progress the Southwark 

Air Quality Improvement Strategy for 2012-2017.  
 
36. The Southwark Air Quality Improvement Strategy for 2012-2017 has four overall 

objectives. These are: 
 

• To reduce emissions from vehicular transport 

142



 

 
 
 

8 

  

• To tackle emissions from existing fixed sources 
• To reduce emissions from new development 
• To protect public health and monitor air quality. 

 
37. The strategy also considers: 
 

• How we will work regionally to improve air quality across London, 
• How we will work locally to improve air quality within Southwark. 

 
38. The CA4S project arises from the commitment made in measure 3 of the 

Southwark Air Quality Improvement Strategy that Southwark will pilot a scheme 
to identify and implement local air quality improvements near to schools and will 
publicise the results. It also progresses the commitment made in measure 2 that 
Southwark will continue to implement, evaluate and publicise progress of 
measures to encourage sustainable travel choices, within the borough. Active 
transport equals air quality improvement and health improvement. 

 
39. This project also supports the council’s fairer future principles by making 

Southwark a place to be proud of by looking after the borough in a sustainable 
way for future generations. 

 
Community impact statement 
 
40. Poor air quality is a contributing factor to health problems as well as damaging 

eco-systems, biodiversity and valued habitats. The adverse health effects from 
short and long term exposure to air pollution range from premature deaths 
caused by heart and lung disease to worsening of asthmatic conditions, often 
leading to a reduced quality of life and increased cost of hospital admissions. 
Despite improvements over recent decades, research by the Committee on 
Medical Effects of Air Pollution (COMEAP) indicates air pollution is still expected 
to reduce life expectancy of every person in the UK by an average of six months. 

 
41. While the effects of poor air quality may have greater impact on the young; the 

old and those with certain medical conditions; and be more commonly found in 
areas of deprivation; the overall objective of the strategy, which is to provide 
improvements in local air quality, is one that will provide benefits across the 
whole of the Southwark community. 

 
Resource implications 
 
42. No specific budget exists within the community safety and enforcement division 

for new air quality improvement initiatives. New programmes of work undertaken 
are dependent upon appropriate funding streams being identified and service 
resource demands being absorbed by the existing staff complement. 

 
43. The transfer of public health responsibilities to the council has come with no new 

monies identified for funding air quality initiatives. 
 
44. Match funding to support bids made under the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund derive 

from a variety of sources. These have been detailed in other reports. 
 
45. There are no new immediate financial implications arising from this report that 

are not covered elsewhere.  Cabinet is at this stage being asked to simply note 
the progress being achieved on air quality improvements around schools and 

143



 

 
 
 

9 

  

funding opportunities currently being pursued. Any specific material financial 
implications arising from the implementation of the strategy that cannot be 
contained within the budgets or external grants will be subject to separate 
reports for consideration and approval. 

 
Consultation  
 
46. No external consultation has taken place in the preparation of this report but 

comment has been sought and incorporated from other involved partner services 
including transport planning, sustainability, children’s services and public health 
colleagues. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
47. This report is submitted to cabinet to note the progress made on working with 

schools to improve air quality pursuant to the Southwark Air Quality 
Improvement Strategy for 2012 to 2017 and the related Air Quality Action Plan 
2012-2017. 

 
48. Further to paragraph 10 of this report, European Directive 2008/50/EC dated 21 

May 2008 relates to ambient air quality and clean air for Europe.  The Directive 
requires targets to be met by 1 January 2015. The UK government may not be 
able to meet the targets by the deadline.  On 25 June 2012 the European 
Commission objected to the Government’s postponement of the deadline.  There 
is therefore a possibility of infraction proceedings. 

 
49. If the UK government fails to comply with EU legislation it may be obliged to pay 

a financial sanction.  Sanctions may be significant, for instance, a minimum lump 
sum of approximately 8.992 million Euros plus a potential daily or periodic 
penalty.   

 
50. Part 2 of the Localism Act 2011 contains a discretionary power for a Minister of 

the Crown to require a local authority to pay some or all of such financial 
sanction.  

 
51. The amount a local authority could be asked to pay must be fair, reasonable and 

proportionate following discussions with Central Government.   
 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/061) 
 
52. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes that this report 

presents progress made on working with schools to improve air quality, and the 
recommendation that regular update reports are made to the cabinet member for 
transport, environment and recycling. This update report does not in itself incur 
any additional revenue or capital costs. The report outlines the programmes and 
funding to support Southwark’s Air Quality Improvement Strategy for 2012-2017. 
The costs will be monitored and reported on a regular basis as part of the 
departmental budget monitoring processes. Any additional financial implications 
arising from the implementation of the strategy would be subject to the council’s 
usual approval processes. 

 
 

144



 

 
 
 

10 

  

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Southwark Air Quality Improvement 
Strategy 2012 – 2017 and Action 
Plan 2012 - 2013 
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/downloa
ds/download/2637/air_quality_strateg
y_and_action_plan 
 

Health Safety Licensing 
& Environmental 
Protection Unit. 160 
Tooley Street. London. 
SE1. 

Mrs Kirtikula Read. 
020 7525 5748 

Clean Air 4 Schools Toolkit 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/defaul
t/files/CA4S%20Toolkit[1].pdf 
 

As above As above 

Air Quality in Southwark: A Guide for 
Public Health Professionals 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/defaul
t/files/Air%20Quality%20for%20Publi
c%20Health%20Professionals%20LB
%20Southwark.pdf 
 

As above.  As above 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
None  
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member 
 

Councillor Barrie Hargrove, Transport, Environment and 
Recycling 

Lead Officer Deborah Collins, Strategic Director of Environment & Leisure 
Report Author Richard Parkins, Health Safety Licensing & Environmental 

Protection Unit Manager 
Version Final 
Dated 5 September 2013 
Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Director of Public Health Yes Yes 
Chief Executive (Planning) Yes Yes 
Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 
 

145



 
 1 

 

 
Item No.  

15. 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 
 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2014 - 2017 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

All Wards 

Cabinet Member: 
 
 

Councillor Veronica Ward, Culture, Leisure, Sport 
and Volunteering 
 

 
 

FOREWORD - COUNCILLOR VERONICA WARD, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
CULTURE, LEISURE, SPORT AND VOLUNTEERING 
 
Sport and physical activity are essential to the council's promise to promote a fairer 
future for all, in particular by promoting healthy lifestyles.  Our strategy will raise 
awareness throughout the council about the impact policies have on opportunities to 
keep active and stay healthy, from public health, education and adult learning to 
planning and transport policies.  The strategy sets out the challenges in Southwark 
and despite scarce resources includes a robust action plan to address those 
challenges.  The Pro-Active partnership, whose hard work has not always had a high 
profile in the borough, is explained in the strategy and is fundamental to achieving the 
targets.  We are therefore very grateful for the joint work in putting the strategy 
together and the contributions towards funding its preparation. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. Cabinet approves the physical activity and sport strategy and action plan for 

2014 -17 as set out in Appendices 1 and 2. 
 
2. That officers bring a further report on progress with implementation within 18 

months of the approval date of this report.  
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3. Over the last few years, Southwark has invested £34 million of capital funding in 

improving facilities for sport and physical activity. This includes improvements to 
the existing leisure centre stock at Dulwich, Camberwell and Surrey Docks 
Watersports Centre; major improvements to facilities in Burgess Park and a 
specific Olympic Legacy Fund designed to deliver high standard facilities to local 
people across the borough.  

 
4. In addition to this, the council’s capital programme includes an allocation of £31 

million for a new leisure centre as part of the regeneration of the Elephant and 
Castle and improvements at Seven Islands Leisure Centre, Peckham Pulse and 
Southwark Park Athletics Track.  

 
5. The funding for this unprecedented investment has come from a variety of 

sources including the council’s own capital programme, section 106 monies and 
monies secured by officers from a variety of external sources. 

 

Agenda Item 15
146



 
 2 

 

6. The excitement of London’s 2012 Olympics and the impact of our improved 
facilities have produced a significant increase in the numbers of Southwark 
people taking regular exercise or participating in regular sports. In the most 
recent annual Active People Survey, 37.9% of Southwark’s adults said they were 
active at least 1 x 30 minutes per week, an increase from 36.5 on the previous 
survey, overtaking six London boroughs that previously had higher levels of 
participation and moving above the national and regional average. 

 
7. Further evidence of the improvement in levels of both participation and 

achievement is Southwark’s performance in the annual London Youth Games 
with our team placing twenty ninth in 2009 and increasing incrementally to a 
position of ninth overall in 2013. There is strong evidence that athletics, 
swimming and cycling have seen significant increases in participation and this 
fits with the council’s investment in swimming pools, the Herne Hill Velodrome 
and in securing external funding for an Athletics Activator post. 

 
8. However, there is still much work to do in order to raise Southwark’s participation 

rates, especially to address inequalities related to childhood obesity, disability 
sports participation, provision for young people and specific issues with diabetes 
and coronary heart disease.  As well as participation in sport the strategy 
emphasises the importance of encouraging physical activity more broadly 
including dance, active travel and maximising opportunities for movement within 
our wider environment e.g. use of stairs, active play, and gardening. 

 
9. The context for this work is one of diminishing revenue. This has meant that the 

community sport service has recently moved away from direct delivery and 
refocused on capacity building work with clubs and organisations, seeking out 
external funding for targeted work with girls, disabled people and other groups 
where participation is relatively low and ensuring that the various sports clubs 
and providers work in a more co-ordinated way to maximise resources.  

 
10. The new sport and physical activity strategy will establish a four year action plan 

with realistic actions that will be reviewed and updated regularly. It will build on 
the achievements of recent years, making use of best practice within our own 
and other community sport and physical activity networks. It will also build 
ownership and engagement across all of the partners in order to ensure 
successful outcomes for Southwark. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
11. This strategy is a strategy for the Pro-Active Southwark Partnership and not for 

the council alone. This is a real strength as it means that all of the major 
stakeholders and providers share in its ownership and delivery. 

 
12. The Pro-Active Southwark Partnership is a collaborative steering group made up 

of organisations across the borough involved in overseeing, delivering, 
promoting and organising sport and physical activity in the community with the 
aim of improving the health of the people living and working within the borough. 
Major stakeholders include Sport England, Pro-Active Central London (network 
of 7 central London boroughs which Southwark is part of), public health team 
and the London PE & Schools Sports Network.  

 
13. The Pro-Active network is repeated across London and the rest of the country in 

the form of County Sports Partnership Networks.  These partnerships interpret 
and shape national, regional and local policy to best-fit future community needs, 

147



 
 3 

 

advocate as the ‘one voice for sport’, and co-ordinate delivery to avoid 
duplication and ensure alignment and optimum use of existing and potential 
resources.  

 
Vision and priorities 
 
14. The research and consultation undertaken to produce the strategy has identified 

three themes with specific strategic priorities. These themes and priorities 
underpin the strategy’s vision which is for a  

 
“Pro-Active Southwark working together to improve health and wellbeing for all 
through sport and physical activity” 

 
15. The strategy has three themes each with specific strategic priorities. These are  
 

• targeted provision which looks at participation and pathways;  
• universal provision which concentrates on places and promotion;  
• foundations which is about people and partnerships. These themes form 

the basis of the action plan at appendix 2 as well as being explored below. 
 
Targeted: participation and pathways 
 
16. The strategy sets out the current challenges facing Southwark in relation to 

levels of inactivity and public health matters. This theme addresses these issues 
by creating opportunities for participation amongst specific groups who are 
under-represented in terms of participation or who face additional health risks. 

 
17. Specific beneficiaries from this theme include: 
 

• The inactive – those with the greatest health risk and who are most likely to 
benefit 

• Young people – by creating pathways to physical activity through play, PE 
and activity for life 

• Disabled people – by delivering the Inclusive and Active 2 action plans and  
improving access to facilities and transport links 

• Women and girls – encouraging uptake in physical activity and breaking 
down barriers to participation including access to facilities 

• Sports people – by supporting the development of community clubs and 
enhancing pathways to performance. 

 
Universal: places and promotion 
 
18. This theme addresses the continuing upgrading and development of 

Southwark’s sports and leisure facilities in the widest sense as well as the need 
to promote these excellent facilities to local communities in order to increase 
participation. 

 
19. Specific issues that will be addressed by this theme include: 
 

• New and enhanced facilities – maximizing use and increasing participation 
• Active transport – supporting infrastructure development and use and 

encouraging walking and cycling 
• Active environments – feeding into planning discussions, and guidance on 

‘active design’ 

148



 
 4 

 

• Quality of facilities – ensuring facilities are maintained and taking 
advantage of opportunities to improve them. 

 
Foundation: people and partnerships 
 
20. This theme identifies how key partnerships will be established and developed, 

and how volunteers and other community workers will be skilled up and 
supported in order to deliver the other themes. 

 
21. The theme will include: 
 

• Co-ordination, support, addressing new opportunities and funding as well 
as performance monitoring and review 

• Increasing the range and quality of marketing and communications of the 
Southwark sports and physical activity offer 

• Development of the sports community workforce including supporting 
volunteers and coaches and exploring the potential for apprenticeships. 

 
Policy implications 
 
22. One of the council’s fairer future promises is to encourage healthy lifestyles, in 

particular through the capital investment set out in this report. The physical 
activity and sport strategy complement Southwark’s joint health and wellbeing 
strategy 2013/14. Officers from health have played an important part in the work 
to produce the new physical activity and sport strategy. 

 
Community impact assessment 
 
23. As set out in the Equality Act 2010 and the specific Public Sector Equality duty 

(PSED) a community impact assessment is required in relation to the proposed 
Southwark Physical Activity and Sports Strategy 2014-2017, and a high level 
assessment has been carried out at this stage based on this report and the 
associated strategy and action plan. Where the specific activities planned as the 
outcome of this strategy and action plan are delivered, a separate community 
impact assessment should be carried out to ensure that any negative impact is 
minimised or mitigated. 

 
24. The physical activity and sports strategy is extremely broad in nature, applies to 

the whole of Southwark equally (and seeks to address geographical access) and 
has been widely consulted on with current partners and engaged groups and 
other providers. The aims of the strategy are to build capacity, increase 
participation, representation and accessibility for all residents to sporting 
provision within the borough. The strategy also addresses issues of public health 
and inequalities in relation to childhood obesity, disability sports participation, 
provision for young people and specific issues with diabetes and coronary heart 
disease. 

 
25. There is no detrimental impact to any group or protected characteristic as 

outlined in the Equalities Act or the PSED, and the broad aims and actions 
proposed are likely to be of wide benefit to all residents and service users. 

 
 
 
 

149



 
 5 

 

 
Financial implications  
 
26. The proposals set out in the strategy’s action plan are containable within existing 

council resources or where appropriate, through accessing external funding. 
 
27. The service has been extremely successful at securing external funding in recent 

years including a further £1 million for projects funded through the council’s £2.1 
million Olympic Legacy Fund which funded 10 projects across the borough. It is 
anticipated that further external monies will be secured during the life of the 
strategy.  Provision has been made in the council’s capital programme for the 
following major projects: 

 
• A new leisure centre for Elephant and Castle - £20 million 
• Seven Islands Leisure Centre improvements - £ 8million 
• Peckham Pulse improvements - £2.3 million 
• Southwark Park Athletics Track - £370,000. 

 
Staffing issues  
 
28. The strategy action plan will be co-ordinated by the sport and leisure services 

Team in partnership with other council services and the partners from Southwark 
Pro-Active. 

29. The strategy will be delivered by staff from the partner organisations, including the 
many volunteers working in sport in Southwark. 

 
Consultation  
 
30. There has been significant consultation on the strategy including through the 

strategic group which includes representation from the council, Sport England, 
health, Pro-Active and the London PE and School Sports Network. 

 
31. An e-mail consultation exercise was also carried out, with all known sports clubs 

as well as a range of youth and community organisations being contacted in 
order to seek their views and feed them into the strategy. 

 
32. A series of workshops were held with partner organisations to examine key 

themes. 
 
33. In addition to this, two action planning sessions were held with key partners. 

These sessions informed the construction of the strategy’s action plan and 
ensured that it is a deliverable and realistic plan. 

 
Findings 
 
34. The findings of the consultation are reflected in the vision and priorities set out at 

paragraphs 11-21. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

150



 
 6 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
35. The decision to agree the sports and physical activity strategy 2014 – 2017 and 

action plan (“the Strategy and Action Plan”) is one that can be taken by the 
cabinet collectively. Under the council’s constitution, agreeing a strategy is a 
decision that can be taken by the lead member where the strategy relates to 
their portfolio, except where the strategy relates to crosscutting issues. The 
strategy and action plan does relate to a number of different portfolio areas, and 
as such it is appropriate for the decision to be taken by cabinet collectively. 

 
36. Cabinet members will note that the sport and physical activity strategy 2014 – 

2017 sets out a vision to improve health and well-being for all through sport and 
physical activity. The strategy sets out three themes and strategic priorities and 
includes an action plan containing a series of actions grouped within each 
theme.  

 
37. Cabinet is advised that the strategy and action plan aims are consistent with the 

council’s duties and powers as they relate to the following areas: 
 

§ Relevant to the “Places and Promotion” theme are the council’s various 
powers in relation to the acquisition and management of its parks, open 
spaces and recreational facilities (principally, section 19 Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976). Also relevant to this theme is the 
Council’s duty in relation to promote sustainable modes of travel and to 
prepare a sustainable modes of travel strategy to meet school travel needs 
in its area (section 508A Education Act 1996). 
 

§ Relevant to the “Participation and Pathways” theme is the Council’s new 
duty arising from the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which came into 
force on 1 April 2013. The Council is under a duty to take such steps as it 
considers appropriate for improving the health of the people in its area. This 
would include (but is by no means limited to) the provision of services or 
facilities designed to promote healthy living (whether by helping individuals 
to address behaviour that is detrimental to health or in any other way), and 
making available the services of any person or any facilities.  
 

§ Relevant to both themes are the objectives of the Southwark Transport 
Plan 2011, which incorporates the Local Action Plan the council is required 
to produce setting out its proposals for the implementation of the Mayor of 
London’s transport strategy in the Southwark area (as required by section 
145 Greater London Authority Act 1999).  
 

§ Where there is no expressly conferred duty or power in relation to any of 
the functions outlined in the strategy, the council has the power to do any 
thing which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the 
discharge of any of its functions (section 111 Local Government Act 1972). 
The adoption of the Sports and Physical Activity Strategy and Action Plan is 
within the council’s powers, as it will facilitate, and is incidental to, the 
functions of the council as described above. The general power of 
competence conferred by the Localism Act 2011 also grants the council the 
power to do any thing that individuals may do. 

 
 

151



 
 7 

 

38. In making its decision cabinet must have regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation or other prohibited conduct; advance 
equality of opportunity between persons who share a “protected characteristic” 
and those who do not, and foster good relations between persons who share a 
“protected characteristic” and those who do not: section 149 Equality Act 2010. 
The relevant “protected characteristics” are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion and belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 
The Public Sector Equality Duty also applies to marriage and civil partnership, 
but only in relation to the need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation or other prohibited conduct. Reference is made in the Strategy to 
promoting participation in sport among disabled people, young people and 
women. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/046) 
 
39. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the 

recommendation in this report for the approval of the sport and physical activity 
Strategy and action plan for 2014-17.  Approval of the strategy does not in itself 
incur any additional revenue or capital costs. 

 
40. Current capital and revenue plans for the service are outlined in the report.  The 

capital and revenue costs will be monitored and reported on a regular basis as 
part of the departmental budget monitoring processes.  Any additional financial 
implications arising from the implementation of the strategy would be subject to 
the council’s usual approval processes. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
None   
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Southwark Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2014-2017 
Appendix 2 Southwark Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2014-2017 

Action Plan 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

152



 
 8 

 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member 

 
Councillor Veronica Ward, Culture Leisure, Sport and 
Volunteering  

Lead Officer Deborah Collins, Strategic Director Environment and Leisure 
Author Adrian Whittle, Head of Culture Libraries Learning and Leisure 
Version Final 
Dated 5 September 2013 

Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

153



SOUTHWARK

Get Active 
for Life!
Southwark Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2014-2017

Olympic and Paralympic legacy

                                       APPENDIX 1

154



Foreword

1

Sport and physical activity is essential to the Council’s promise to promote a Fairer future for all, in particular 
by promoting healthy lifestyles. For children and young people physical activity is essential for their health, 
creates opportunities, encourages aspiration and excellence as an individual as well as working as part of a 
team. Our major investment in sports and leisure facilities, including our own Olympic Legacy Fund is an 
investment in these opportunities and aspirations.

The strategy and action plan set out what the Council and PRO-ACTIVE Southwark partners will deliver to 
support more people becoming more active more often. It addresses inequalities in health and wellbeing, 
encouraging specific groups to become more active, for example, women and girls, disabled people, older 
adults and young people.

The partnership that has produced and will deliver this strategy includes Sport England, PRO-ACTIVE Central 
London, Southwark Clinical Commissioning Group, London PE and School Sport Network and the Council’s 
own Sport and Leisure Services Team. I wish to thank them all.

Councillor Veronica Ward - Cabinet Member for Culture, Leisure, Sport and Volunteering

Introduction
This strategy aims to build on Southwark’s legacy from the London 2012 Olympic & Paralympic Games and the 
achievement of our partners to help more people participate in sport and physical activity more often. With the 
goal of improved health and wellbeing for all, this strategy will strengthen our vision to provide widely accessible, 
well used, high quality physical activity and sport opportunities in the borough.  

The substantial investment in Southwark’s built leisure environment including recently refurbished leisure centres, 
revitalised parks and open spaces, and active travel infrastructure has provided an excellent foundation on which to 
develop an exciting physical activity and sport legacy for the future.

Following on from the successes of the Southwark Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 2009-13, this strategy 
will continue to build on the strength of existing partnerships and provide 
an ambitious yet achievable plan and vision for Southwark.

In developing this strategy our aim has been to:
•  Review our achievements from our previous strategy
• Consolidate the evidence and background information 

for the strategy to determine our vision, themes and 
strategic priorities

• Build on the best practice of other borough community 
sport and physical activity networks (CSPANs)

• Establish a four-year plan with achievable and deliverable 
actions to be regularly reviewed and updated

• Identify the resources needed to build 
ownership and engagement in delivery 
of the strategy and action plan 
to ensure tangible outcomes 
for Southwark.

155



Delivery system for sport and physical activity
The chart below shows the connections in the delivery system for sport between national partners and people who 
take part in sport in local communities. Key partners in this process are the County Sports Partnership (CSP) and Community 
Sports Network (CSN). In the case locally this is PRO-ACTIVE Central London and PRO-ACTIVE Southwark.

PRO-ACTIVE Southwark was formed in 2008 as part of Sport England’s delivery system for sport and physical activity. 
The network is a mechanism to enhance communication between partners aspiring to increase levels of active 
recreation, by providing active healthy lifestyle opportunities and catering for the specific needs of the community.

The chart below sets out the distinctions between physical activity, sport, active recreation and everyday activity and
the foundation of PE and school sport.

National Partners
Sport England, UK 
Sport, NGBs etc

Regional 
Partners

PRO-ACTIVE 
Southwark

(CSN)

Physical activity

PE and school sport

Sport

Structured competitive activity
Informal sport
Sport walking
Regular cycling

Swimming
Exercise & fitness training

Individual pursuits

Recreational walking
Recreational cycling

Active play
Dance

Swimming

Active travel 
(cycling / walking 

/ gardening / housework 
/ dog walking etc)

Active recreation Everyday activity

People taking 
part

PRO-ACTIVE
Cental London 

 (CSP)

People behind 
the people

Schools, Clubs, 
Coaches etc

The PRO-ACTIVE Southwark Strategic Steering Group has overall responsibility for the strategic direction of 
physical activity and sport in the borough. The group oversees the objectives and actions of the current Physical 
Activity and Sport Strategy with the ultimate aim of increasing participation and widening access.

2

156



Achievements of the 2009-13 Sports and Physical 
Activity Strategy
We would like to thank all our partners for their collective support which helped us to develop and deliver our 
previous sport and physical activity strategy. We have met 60 of our 76 actions over this period and the remaining 
actions are either still in progress or have been deferred through review and/or funding constraint. Our key 
successes are significant.

The PRO-ACTIVE Southwark Partnership is now better placed to deliver effective high quality sports and physical 
activity opportunities. Collectively we have worked to develop and improve our facility stock. 
There has been strong capital investment, in part, as a result of the Olympic and Paralympic Games 
legacy but also through a sustained commitment of the Council and other partners to meet 
the needs of local communities in Southwark.

Importantly, our effort to support people to engage in more physical activity has resulted in a steady increase in 
levels of active participation. The 2009-2013 strategy provided the framework for several important pieces of work 
that have set strong foundations for us to move forward in the next four years.

Coordination of the PRO-ACTIVE Southwark Partnership has seen inputs from agencies working in health, leisure and 
community sport, local clubs, schools and youth providers. 

Massive improvements have been and continue to be made to our leisure facilities. Since 2010 and moving on to 
2015, Southwark will have seen over £53M of investment funded through the Council, London Marathon Trust, 
Sport England, Big Lottery, Mayor of London Facility Fund, Football Foundation, and other external sources. 
Also, in our parks and on some of our estates, the Council has invested in new multi-use games areas and 
developed other facilities including outdoor gyms.

Key foundation activities completed:

• Physical Activity Needs Assessment

• Establishing Southwark’s presence on the 
Get Active London website 

• Planning priorities through S.106 and planning 
guidance for sport and physical activity

• Strong Health Improvement agenda

• Maximising use of the Get Active London website

• Increasing use of existing provision

• Supporting clubs and competitions and providing 
activities on the ground which local people 
can enjoy

3

157



Other key achievements
As part of Southwark’s Fairer future promise of committing to a lasting legacy 
from the London 2012 Olympics and Paralympics games, the Olympic Legacy Action 
Plan focussed on prioritising young people, volunteering and heath and wellbeing: 

Through the Capital Legacy Fund the Council has supported a number of facility improvement projects to help 
increase participation in physical activity and sport across the borough for generations to come.

Wider legacy benefits and the challenge:

LB Southwark Capital Legacy Fund of £2m:

• BMX track for Burgess Park - £150k
• Bethwin Road Playground - £95k
• Camberwell Leisure Centre Sports Hall - £490k
• Herne Hill Velodrome - £400k
• Homestall Road Sports Ground - £175k

• Peckham Town Football Club - £85k
• Peckham Pulse disability pool hoist - £5.6k 
• Peckham Rye Park - £200k
• Southwark Park sports complex - £370k
• Trinity outdoor sports area Camberwell - £30k

• Southwark is one of just three London Boroughs 
to have seen a significant improvement over 5 
years in the percentage of people participating 
in sport and physical activity.

• More young people in Southwark have been 
inspired to take up new activity

• There has been a shift in interest from traditional 
to minority sports

• More of our sports people have become better 
and improved as participants (drive to excellence)

• Our clubs have experienced increase in take up

• There has been a significant increase (72%) in the 
use of ‘Get Active London’ to search for sport and 
physical activity opportunities within Southwark 
post London 2012

• Several housing estates created Olympic themed 
gardening projects to increase ‘on your doorstep’ 
opportunities for neighbours to get active

• More people are choosing walking or cycling to 
get around and stay active 

• Motivational text messages trialled in our GP 
exercise referral programme were found to 
significantly increase adherence

• There is still a challenge to convert inspiration 
to participation and the Partnership needs to 
continue to support coaches, clubs and 
local facilities

As a result, many young people in Southwark embraced the London 2012 spirit and have become more aware of 
sport and physical activity opportunities available locally.

4

158



Health
The average life expectancy for men in Southwark is 77.8 years and for women 82.9 years. The gap between Southwark 
and England is closing. Nonetheless there are clear health inequalities within the borough. Indeed between the best and 
worst localities in Southwark the difference in life expectancy is as much as 9.5 years for men and 6.9 years women.

Headline health issues that physical activity can help address
• It is estimated that cardiovascular disease is 10% higher than the national average.
• High levels of diabetes, predicted to rise to 17,745 by 2025, people of African origin at higher risk.
• Cancer is falling but smoking still contributes to 1 in 4 deaths.
• Mental wellbeing rates lower than London average especially in areas of deprivation

The chart below shows the risks that lead to premature death in Southwark (JSNA 2013). Physical activity being an 
important factor, and one that can significantly reduce other risks featured, including high blood pressure and obesity.

High cholesterol

Obesity

Low fruit & vegetables Physical Inactivity

Alcohol
Infections

Non-transport accidents

Murder

Illicit drug use
Transport accidents

Pregnancy & birth
Medical complications

War

High blood pressure

Smoking

Risks leading to death in perspective

The evidence base for physical activity and sport in Southwark

Population and population growth
Southwark has a growing, dynamic and diverse population. The 2011 census identified a population of 288,700 
which represented an increase of 37,700 since 2001 (13% growth). This is set to grow even further as projections to 
2021 indicate a population of 349,900 representing further growth of 18%. Our population is generally young with 
80% of our residents aged under 50. Southwark’s population is diverse with 63% of the population being White, 
and 26% Black, 16% are from African descent. Concentrations of the borough’s Black communities are in the 
central wards of Camberwell Green, South Camberwell, Brunswick Park, Faraday and Chaucer.

There are estimated to be 38,980 disabled people in Southwark with a forecasted rise in the number of disabled 
adults of working age (18-64) from 16,030 in 2008 to 20,520 in 2025.

Southwark ranks as the 12th most deprived authority in 
London and 41st nationally.  53% of our residents live in 
rented accommodation (42% council, 11% Registered 
Social Landlord) double that of London (26%) and almost 
three times that of England (18%).

44% of the borough’s residents have no access to a car, 
compared to the London average of 29%.

5

159



Targeted locations of greatest need
The maps below show the level of physical activity in the borough compared to the levels of obesity in different wards in 
the borough. As with obesity there is a similar geographical pattern for other health issues that could be improved with 
physical activity. This will assist partners to target resources and activity to areas of greatest need.

It is clear that there are parts of the borough, particularly in the central areas (white and light coloured), where levels 
of participation are lowest and levels of obesity are highest.  

Active participation in sport and active 
recreation (3 x 30 mins per week)

Adult obesity rates

Targeting interventions against health need and physical inactivity is critical and is a priority 
for this strategy.

6

160



Physical activity and sports participation
Sport England’s Active People Survey (APS) is a strong measurement of the level of sports and physical activity 
participation for adults (16+) in local areas. The main benchmark measures participation based on 30 minutes of 
moderately intense exercise once a week. For Southwark the graph below shows a trend of increasing returns 
since the Active People Survey started in 2006. This reflects well on the strength and success of the PRO-ACTIVE
Southwark partnership.

Other key participation headlines include:

• 37.9% of adults are active at least 1 x 30 mins./week, 
14% participate less frequently than 1 x 30 mins./week, 
and 48% do no physical activity and sport at all.

• 69.9% of adult residents in Southwark want to start 
playing sport or do a bit more, suggesting a large 
potential for growth.

• Active People Survey 5 showed that participation 
levels in regular activity (3 x 30 mins) in women was 
over a third lower than that for men (15.1% Women, 
23.9% Men) in Southwark.

• Between April 2009 and March 2013 visits to 
Southwark’s Leisure Centres increased by 140% 

(899,415 visits in 2009/10 to 1,257,391 in 2012/13). 
This increase was driven by a substantial refurbishment 
programme which has greatly improved the quality of 
facilities available to the public.

• Over the same period key target groups at the leisure 
centres (young people, older adults, disabled people, 
low income users and ethnic minority users) also saw 
major increases in usage.

• These usage increases are also expected to continue 
to rise as the stock of facilities improves and better 
services are developed.

Health and Wellbeing Strategy
Southwark’s emerging health and wellbeing strategy has identified 
the following priorities:

• Giving every child and young person the best start in life.

• Building healthier and more resilient communities and tackling 
the root causes of ill health.

• Improving the experience and outcomes of care for our most 
vulnerable residents and enabling them to live more 
independent lives.

Supporting inactive people including older people and other 
vulnerable groups to be more active will have cross cutting 
benefits in the prevention and management of ill health and 
the promotion of mental wellbeing and social connectedness.

Increasing participation in sport and physical activity is an ongoing commitment of 
PRO-ACTIVE Southwark.

7

161



PRO-ACTIVE Southwark are committed to help children and young people to participate in physical activity and sport 
to establish life-long participation and engagement through families, early years provision, informal play, schools and the 
transition to clubs.

Southwark Schools are currently being offered the opportunity to develop local satellite clubs. This is being developed 
by Sport England and PRO-ACTIVE Central London with strategic discussion around priorities for each school, addressing 
curriculum focus and matching clubs and community value. This is a real opportunity to forge effective School and Club 
links in the borough.

Southwark has built on the work of its Schools Sports Partnership over the last 10 years. This has set the platform to 
embark on the next phase of development. New funding for Primary and Secondary Schools will provide real opportunities 
to enhance the PE and schools sports offer in the borough.  

A clear priority for Southwark schools is to move its Ofsted ranking from good to outstanding. To this end the 
key partnership priorities are:

Youth clubs, community orgainsations, local charities, sports clubs and play services are all activity involved in the support 
of sport and physical activity provision for children and young people in the borough. This work is vital to supporting 
activity beyond schools and to support the transition to community participation. Many of these organisations target 
their activities in areas of need and the opportunities afforded to young people through these ‘providers’ are invaluable.

Children, youth & young people
Critical to the development of children and young people are the 
opportunities they have to take part in sport and physical activity.  
However children and young people in the borough have a 
number of needs that PRO-ACTIVE Southwark must address.  

• Child Obesity is the worst in England with 28.3% of 
Southwark children in Year 6 being measured as obese

• 40% of young people in the last TellUs4 Survey said they 
had been to a sports club or class in the last 4 weeks 
(this compares to 52% nationally and 45% in Southwark’s 
statistical ‘Near Neighbour’ local authorities)

• 38% said they took part in organised sport or physical 
activity on the previous weekend (46% Nationally, 
44%  Near Neighbour)

• Nationally the cost of responding to incidents of 
anti-social behaviour by young people is £3.4 billion 
per year (no local figures are available).

• Increasing Competition 

• Talent identification and development 

• Meeting the New Ofsted criteria for measuring 
Primary School PE

A clear strategic priority is to improve access to and participation in physical activity for young 
people of an unhealthy weight, to ensure the greatest health benefit can be gained.

PE, School Sport and School Club Links are 
clear strategic priorities for this strategy

8

162



Women and girls
Despite a big increase nationally in the number of women playing sport regularly over recent years, women are still 
much less likely to be active than men, with only 13% of women taking part in 30 minutes of physical activity or sport 
three times a week compared to 20% of men.

Active People Survey 6 also showed nationally that 31% of women take part in sport once a week compared 
with over 41% for men, in Southwark this gaps is much wider with only 28.6% for women compared with 
44% for men. Whilst locally 57.6% of women do no physical activity or sport, many of whom would like to 
participate but face real barriers in doing so.

Breaking down barriers to participation for 
women and girls through providing appropriate 
programmes, places and targeted activities 
will be a priority for this strategy

Disability sport
APS6 indicates that in Southwark there are 38,980 disabled people (14% of the population) the research shows that 
15.2% of disabled people are participating at a moderate level at least once a week and shows that 64.8% of the disabled 
population are not participating in sport or physical activity at all.

Inclusive and Active 2 is the London wide strategy for sport and physical activity for disabled people with a vision 
of active disabled Londoners. It has been created in partnership between the Greater London Authority (GLA), 
NHS London and Interactive (London’s strategic disability sport agency). There are five themes to the strategy: ‘changing 
the culture’; ‘inclusive activity’; ‘more people more active’; ‘diversifying the sector’; and ‘skilling the sector’. 
The aim of the strategy is to increase opportunities for disabled people to participate in sport and 
physical activity and create a culture where disabled people and service providers recognise and 
advocate sport and physical activity as a viable lifestyle choice. Over 100 
organisations across London have adopted the strategy so far with a 
third of these having impact within Southwark.

A clear priority is to build on PRO-ACTIVE 
Southwark’s strong commitment to Inclusive 
and Active 2 and sport and physical activity for 
disabled people within the borough. We will 
support culture change, enhance existing 
delivery, develop new provision, increase 
participation, provide sector support, through 
training and diversifying the sector

9

163



Sustainable places and facilities for physical activity 
and sport 
As highlighted earlier, Southwark Council is making considerable investment in its facilities for sport and physical activity, 
particularly between 2010 and 2015.  21 sites are being improved with an investment of £53M over this period. These include:

• Elephant and Castle Leisure Centre, Peckham Pulse, Camberwell Baths, Seven Islands Leisure Centre, Surrey Docks Water 
Sports Centre, Southwark Park, Herne Hill Velodrome, Dulwich Leisure Centre, Mellish Fields, Homestall Road, Peckham 
Rye Pitches,  Burgess Park, Bells Gardens, Geraldine Mary Harmsworth Park.

The majority of the borough’s key facilities will have been 
upgraded by 2015. Now that the investment has been 
made or is committed, the challenge for this strategy is to 
improve awareness of the opportunities available at these 
venues and to ensure that more inactive people access 
them and those who are already active visit more often. 

Strong investment has also been made in the network of 
‘open access’ free to use community recreation facilities e.g.:

• Estate and playground provision

• Multi Use Games Areas (MUGAs)

• Youth centre provision

• Park based provision

Additionally, the Council has improved the quality of 
Schools PE and sport facilities and its commitment to 
the PE curriculum whilst striving to encourage more 
schools to offer:

• After School activities

• Community access (whether pay and play, club 
sessions or private hires)

The Council’s Community Use Strategy continues to 
develop widened access to school facilities for greater 
participation through community and club usage. 

In addition Southwark’s Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) has 
a vision to ensure that the quality and quantity of pitches 
meets the needs and aspirations of residents now and in 
the future.

Planning is a critical factor in providing opportunities for 
active environments. The borough is developing planning 
guidance to better promote ‘Active Design’ to developers 
to increase physical activity within buildings and in the 
outside environment (this includes stair use, transport links, 
cycling facilities etc). This work is coupled with the need to 
utilise the Community Infrastructure Levy to enhance local 
physical activity provision..

A key strategic priority for this strategy is 
to maximise the value of sport and physical 
activity investment/provision by increasing 
the use of all Southwark’s facilities.

11

164



Active transport 
There is a real opportunity to strengthen the links between the Physical Activity and Sports Strategy and the Southwark 
Transport Plan. Objective Two of the Transport Plan seeks to encourage sustainable travel choices, by:

• Working with the school community to encourage more children to travel to school sustainably.

• Working with businesses, employers and organisations to encourage more staff to travel sustainably.

• Promoting and encouraging sustainable travel choices in the borough.

• Continuing to support improving skills and knowledge to travel sustainably.

Active environments
The design of places we live, work and play are all important in helping us build in ‘everyday activity’ to our lives and 
getting us to move about a bit more without even thinking about it! This is sometimes called ‘Active Design’ and can 
include simple measures such as making walk ways pleasant and safe, making stairs more prominent than elevators, 
having good facilities for cyclists and making open spaces fun to explore and play in. This kind of ‘healthy planning’ 
can help us be more active throughout the whole day as well as in the 30 minutes we are doing exercise or sport.

Support to community sports clubs
Clubs are central to providing lifelong sports opportunities in the borough.

• There are over 130 National Governing Body recognised clubs in the borough providing sport for in excess of 6,000 people.

• Of these, 19 are Sport England Clubmark quality accredited and a further 12 are working towards Clubmark status.

• There is a need to support more clubs in the borough to achieve a minimum quality standard and, in time, Clubmark.

• There are 329 activities listed on Get Active London website, 131 clubs, 162 venues and a total of 622 opportunities 
listed which is currently the largest number of any London Borough.

• Over 5,000 people contact Volunteer Centre Southwark annually.

• 4.9% of adult residents are regular sports volunteers compared to the national average of 7.3% (APS5).

This is a strategic priority to encourage more people take up active transport, through walking 
and cycling, supporting both the sustainability and physical activity agendas.

Working with planners to support an active design approach to new developments in the 
Borough is a priority for this strategy

Maintaining support for the borough’s community sports 
clubs and their volunteers is a priority for this strategy.

10

165



Foundations and partnership development
As previously noted the success of our 2009-2013 Strategy has mainly been as a result of the strong partnership work 
of key stakeholders in sport and physical activity across Southwark. To this end we have collectively worked on funding 
applications, targeted working groups, monitoring and performance activity, marketing and communications 
and workforce development. Whilst much has been done a signification part of this work is ongoing. Moreover the 
partnership recognises that success in terms of improving provision and increasing participation is based on strong 
foundations locally to support the infrastructure and delivery capabilities for sport and physical activity.

To this end, the partnership is committed to support key priorities 
through establishing and maintaining working groups targeting 
inactivity, children, youth and young people and in delivering a 
coordinated approach to partnership funding.

Another key set of priorities is the development of community 
workforce skills, volunteering, increasing the number and 
quality of coaches and supporting apprenticeships in the 
sport and physical activity sectors.

Finally the partnership is committed to coordinating resources 
and overseeing the delivery of the strategy through regular 
monitoring and evaluation of actions and reporting this to the 
PRO-ACTIVE Southwark Strategic Steering Group.

12

166



Strategy consultation
In developing this Strategy we have sought the views of and engaged with our local partners. We ran various themed 
workshops and an e-survey that was circulated to over 120 organisations and stakeholders. Both these consultation 
exercises have provided evidence of support for this strategy’s themes and strategic priorities.  

Strategy priorities
Through the development of this strategy a series of themes and strategic priorities have emerged.
There has been consistently strong support to addressing health inequalities across the borough and to target resources 
to the most inactive and those in greatest need. We are driven to developing more innovative approaches to widen 
access and opportunities for young people, women and girls and disabled people, as well as supporting existing sports 
clubs and organisations to grow and raise quality standards. Importantly, we are clear about the need to embrace new 
communication technologies in our desire to target particular groups - e.g. young people, disabled people, the inactive - 
in promoting and marketing our local offers.

Having high quality facilities for sport and play are important and our investment into our physical infrastructure must 
result in increased usage. We are committed to maximising physical activity gains from our active transport plans, 
widening access to school sport facilities and continuing to maintain and upgrade facilities where necessary and when 
resources allow. Our strategy is also keen to exploit opportunities from the Community Infrastructure Levy and to access 
external funding to fill gaps in provision and to maximise the ongoing benefits of new developments in the borough.

Underpinning all this work are the people across the borough, both professionals and volunteers, that deliver 
opportunities and make up our partnership. These people form the foundations without which the strategy cannot be 
delivered. To ensure the strategy is built on solid foundations we are committed to coordinating resources, providing 
targeted support and developing medium and long term funding strategies as well as to regularly monitor and review 
our performance and progress. We are also committed to developing our local workforce, volunteers and coaches. 
To develop employment opportunities through apprenticeships and to establish locally defined minimum quality 
standards for our community sports and recreation activity programmes and clubs.

We have set out on the following page our vision, themes and strategic priorities. There are defined as ‘targeted’, 
‘universal’ and ‘foundation’ priorities. Against these PRO-ACTIVE Southwark has set strategic priorities and will 
establish a 4 year Action Plan. 

The PRO-ACTIVE Southwark lead 
agencies are committed to continuing 
this collaborative approach to the strategy’s 
implementation and delivery and the 
monitoring and review of its achievements 
and outcomes. 

13

167



Our Vision
PRO-ACTIVE Southwark working together to improve health and wellbeing for all through sport and physical activity
We have set three themes with specific strategic priorities, these are:

Our action plan will follow these themes and strategic priorities

Targeted
Participation and Pathways
• The inactive –those with the greatest health risks and who are most likely to benefit
• Young people – Pathways to physical activity – through play,  PE and activity for life
• Disabled people – delivering the Inclusive and Active 2 action plans and improving access to 

facilities and transport links
• Women and Girls –  encouraging uptake in physical activity and breaking down barriers to 

participation including access to facilities
• Sports people – developing community clubs and enhancing pathways to performance

Universal
Places and Promotion
• New and enhanced facilities  - maximise and increase participation and use
• Active transport - infrastructure development and use, encouraging walking and cycling
• School sports facilities – opening up more community use of school facilities
• Active environments –supporting guidance to address local planning needs 
• Quality of facilities – review facilities and ensure they are maintained and where necessary upgraded

Foundation
People and Partnerships
• Co-ordination, support, addressing new opportunities and funding, performance monitoring 

and review
• Increasing the range and quality of marketing and communications of the Southwark offer
• Community workforce development – supporting volunteers, coaches, apprenticeships

14

168



This Strategy has been funded and resourced by Southwark Council, Sport England, Southwark Clinical Commissioning 
Group and PRO-ACTIVE Central London

It has been developed with the support and contributions of members of the PRO-ACTIVE Southwark Partnership, 
with particular support from the following organisations: 

Burgess Sports 
Community Action Southwark     
Fusion Lifestyle       
Greenhouse Charity     
Interactive    
King’s College London  
Living Streets 
Southwark Councillors  
Jubilee Hall Trust     
LondonYouth    
London PE and School Sport Network     
London South Bank University   
Millwall Community Scheme      
Sport for Social Change Network
Volunteer Centre Southwark:

169



�
�
�

S
o

u
th

w
a

rk
 P

h
ys

ic
a

l A
ct

iv
it

y 
a

n
d

 S
p

o
rt

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
2

0
1

4
-2

0
1

7
 -

 A
ct

io
n

 P
la

n
 

O
u

r 
V

is
io

n
: 

P
R

O
-A

C
T

IV
E

 S
o

u
th

w
ar

k
 w

o
rk

in
g

 t
o

g
e

th
er

 t
o

 im
p

ro
ve

 h
e

a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 w
e

ll
b

e
in

g
 f

o
r 

a
ll

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 p
h

ys
ic

a
l 

a
ct

iv
it

y 
an

d
 s

p
o

rt
. 

 W
e 

ha
ve

 s
et

 t
hr

ee
 t

he
m

es
 w

ith
 s

pe
ci

fic
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 p
rio

rit
ie

s,
 t

he
se

 a
re

: 
Pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

an
d 

Pa
th

w
ay

s,
 P

la
ce

s 
an

d 
Pr

om
ot

io
n 

an
d 

Pe
op

le
 a

nd
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
s 

 
Ta

rg
et

ed
 

Th
em

e:
  

P
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 P
a

th
w

a
ys

 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pr
io

rit
y:

  
 T

he
 in

ac
tiv

e 
– 

su
pp

or
tin

g 
th

os
e 

w
ith

 t
he

 g
re

at
es

t 
he

al
th

 r
is

ks
 a

nd
 w

ho
 a

re
 m

os
t 

lik
el

y 
to

 b
en

ef
it 

A
ct

io
n 

 
Ti

m
es

ca
le

 
R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
Es

ta
bl

is
h 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
T

a
ck

li
n

g
 I

n
a

ct
iv

it
y 

G
ro

u
p
 

to
 d

ev
el

op
 a

 p
hy

si
ca

l a
ct

iv
ity

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

pl
an

 o
f 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
in

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 t

o 
ad

dr
es

s 
he

al
th

 
im

pr
ov

em
en

t 
an

d 
to

 r
ed

uc
e 

in
ac

tiv
ity

 b
y 

ta
rg

et
in

g 
lo

ca
lit

ie
s 

w
ith

 t
he

 g
re

at
es

t 
ne

ed
: 

1.
A
ud

it 
ex

is
tin

g 
ac

tiv
ity

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

he
al

th
 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t 

th
ro

ug
h 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

 in
cl

ud
in

g 
ad

ul
t 

so
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

in
iti

at
iv

es
, 
an

d 
id

en
tif

y 
w

he
re

 
sy

ne
rg

ie
s 

an
d 

va
lu

e 
ca

n 
be

 a
dd

ed
 t

hr
ou

gh
 t

he
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

2.
En

su
re

 t
ha

t 
th

e 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
pl

an
 h

as
 s

pe
ci

fic
 

re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 h
ea

lth
 n

ee
ds

, 
ar

ea
s 

of
 h

ig
h 

de
pr

iv
at

io
n 

an
d 

lo
w

 le
ve

ls
 o

f 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

in
 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 s
po

rt
. 

3.
En

su
re

 a
ll 

ac
tiv

ity
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

ar
e 

pr
om

ot
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

G
et

 A
ct

iv
e 

Lo
nd

on
 w

eb
si

te
 

4.
Es

ta
bl

is
h 

a 
st

ro
ng

er
 r

el
at

io
ns

hi
p 

be
tw

ee
n 

PR
O

-
A
C
TI

V
E 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
an

d 
he

al
th

 c
om

m
is

si
on

er
s 

  

Es
ta

bl
is

h 
by

 J
an

ua
ry

 
20

14
 a

nd
 

re
vi

ew
ed

 
an

nu
al

ly
 

 R
ep

or
te

d 
qu

ar
te

rly
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
cr

os
s 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
iti

at
iv

e 
le

ad
 b

y 
Pu

bl
ic

 
H

ea
lth

, 
de

liv
er

ed
 b

y 
T

a
ck

li
n

g
 I

n
ac

ti
vi

ty
 

G
ro

u
p

 
•

In
cl

ud
in

g;
 P

ub
lic

 
H

ea
lth

, 
Lo

nd
on

 
Bo

ro
ug

h 
of

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

(L
BS

) 
A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 
C
ar

e,
 k

ey
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

 o
f 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

es
. 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

, 
LB

S 
A
du

lt 
So

ci
al

 C
ar

e,
 L

BS
 S

po
rt

 a
nd

 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

 Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

+
 

po
ss

ib
le

 f
un

di
ng

 v
ia

 
M

ay
or

's
 S

po
rt

s 
Pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

Fu
nd

  

•
C
oo

rd
in

at
io

n 
of

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

 in
iti

at
iv

es
 a

nd
 

pr
og

ra
m

m
es

 a
cr

os
s 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
•

Ta
rg

et
ed

 p
la

n 
of

 a
ct

io
n 

to
 

ad
dr

es
s 

in
ac

tiv
ity

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

bo
ro

ug
h 

•
C
le

ar
 p

at
hw

ay
s 

to
 a

ct
iv

ity
 f

or
 

ra
ng

e 
of

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 d
iff

er
en

t 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
 n

ee
ds

 
•

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
pr

om
ot

io
n 

of
 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 li
fe

st
yl

e 
he

al
th

 a
ct

iv
ity

 in
 t

he
 b

or
ou

gh
 

•
N

ew
 c

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
of

 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

ity
 in

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 

 
Th

em
e:

  
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
th

w
a

ys
 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pr

io
rit

y:
 C

hi
ld

re
n,

 Y
ou

th
 a

nd
 Y

ou
ng

 P
eo

pl
e 

– 
Pa

th
w

ay
s 

to
 p

hy
si

ca
l a

ct
iv

ity
 t

hr
ou

gh
 p

la
y,

 P
E 

an
d 

ac
tiv

ity
 f

or
 li

fe
 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
Es

ta
bl

is
h 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
C

h
il

d
re

n
, 

Y
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
 (

C
Y

Y
P

) 
W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p
 t

o:
 

5.
A
ud

it 
ex

is
tin

g 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

6.
D

ev
el

op
 c

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 C
hi

ld
re

n,
 Y

ou
th

 a
nd

 

Es
ta

bl
is

he
d 

by
 J

an
ua

ry
 

20
14

 
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
cr

os
s 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
iti

at
iv

e 
le

ad
 b

y 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

 
•

C
oo

rd
in

at
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
th

 a
nd

 y
ou

ng
 

pe
op

le
 in

 s
po

rt
 

•
A
ud

it 
of

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 in

cl
ud

ed
 o

n 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 2

170



�
�
�

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
Yo

un
g 

Pe
op

le
’s

 S
po

rt
 a

nd
 P

hy
si

ca
l A

ct
iv

ity
 O

ff
er

 
ac

ro
ss

 t
he

 b
or

ou
gh

, 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

a 
fo

cu
s 

on
 a

ct
iv

ity
 

th
at

 s
up

po
rt

s 
fa

m
ily

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n 
7.

In
cr

ea
se

 t
he

 n
um

be
r 

of
 S

ch
oo

l C
lu

b 
lin

ks
, 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
Sa

te
lli

te
 C

lu
bs

  
8.

M
ax

im
is

e 
th

e 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 o

f 
th

e 
C
YY

P 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 A
ct

iv
ity

 O
ff

er
 t

o 
ta

ck
le

 c
hi

ld
ho

od
 o

be
si

ty
 

9.
Es

ta
bl

is
h 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

 p
at

hw
ay

s 
fo

r 
‘a

ct
iv

e 
fa

m
ili

es
’ f

ro
m

 e
ar

ly
 y

ea
rs

 s
et

tin
gs

. 

Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
of

 a
ct

iv
ity

 
th

er
ea

ft
er

 

Se
rv

ic
es

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
C

h
il

d
re

n
, 

Y
o

u
th

 a
n

d
 

Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
’s

 
W

o
rk

in
g

 G
ro

u
p

 
•

in
cl

ud
in

g 
LB

S 
Ea

rly
 

H
el

p,
 S

ch
oo

ls
, 
PE

 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

ts
, 
Lo

nd
on

 
PE

 &
 S

ch
oo

l S
po

rt
 

N
et

w
or

k 
(L

PE
SS

N
),

 
C
ha

rit
ie

s,
 C

lu
bs

, 
C
oa

ch
es

, 
LB

S 
Yo

ut
h 

Se
rv

ic
es

, 
Pu

bl
ic

 H
ea

lth
, 

Le
is

ur
e 

Pr
ov

id
er

s 

G
et

 A
ct

iv
e 

Lo
nd

on
 w

eb
si

te
 

•
10

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 S

ch
oo

l C
lu

b 
lin

ks
 b

y 
en

d 
of

 t
he

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
pe

rio
d.

 
•

N
um

be
rs

 o
f 

sc
ho

ol
s 

en
ga

ge
d 

in
 h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
 

pr
og

ra
m

m
es

 o
ff

er
ed

 b
y 

lo
ca

l 
pr

ov
id

er
s 

•
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

Yo
ut

h 
Sp

or
t 

Pa
ne

l 
su

pp
or

te
d 

an
d 

co
ns

ul
te

d 
w

ith
 

de
ci

si
on

 m
ak

in
g.

 

 Th
em

e:
  

P
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 P
a

th
w

a
ys

 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pr
io

rit
y:

  
D

is
ab

le
d 

pe
op

le
 –

 d
el

iv
er

in
g 

th
e 

In
cl

us
iv

e 
an

d 
A
ct

iv
e 

2 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

s 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

ac
ce

ss
 t

o 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

tr
an

sp
or

t 
lin

ks
 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
10

.D
el

iv
er

 t
he

 a
ct

io
ns

 s
et

 o
ut

 in
 t

he
 I

nc
lu

si
ve

 a
nd

 
A
ct

iv
e 

2 
ac

tio
n 

pl
an

s 
of

 D
is

ab
ili

ty
 S

te
er

in
g 

gr
ou

p 
m

em
be

rs
 in

 a
 c

oo
rd

in
at

ed
 a

pp
ro

ac
h.

 

O
ng

oi
ng

  
PR

O
-A

C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k,
 

In
te

ra
ct

iv
e 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

 
In

cl
us

iv
e 

an
d 

A
ct

iv
e 

2 
ta

rg
et

s 
m

et
 

11
.D

ev
el

op
 s

pe
ci

fic
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
of

 a
ct

iv
ity

 t
o 

ad
dr

es
s 

in
ac

tiv
ity

 a
nd

 o
be

si
ty

 in
 t

hi
s 

gr
ou

p 
M

ar
ch

 
20

14
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k,
 

In
te

ra
ct

iv
e 

 
 

D
ed

ic
at

ed
 h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 o
be

si
ty

 
ta

rg
et

s 
ad

dr
es

se
d 

fo
r 

di
sa

bl
ed

 
pe

op
le

 in
 t

he
 b

or
ou

gh
 

 
Th

em
e:

  
P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
th

w
a

ys
 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pr

io
rit

y:
  
W

om
en

 a
nd

 G
irl

s 
– 

en
co

ur
ag

in
g 

up
ta

ke
 in

 p
hy

si
ca

l a
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 b
re

ak
in

g 
do

w
n 

ba
rr

ie
rs

 t
o 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

ac
ce

ss
 t

o 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
12

.E
st

ab
lis

h 
C
ro

ss
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 W

om
en

 a
nd

 G
irl

s 
W

or
ki

ng
 N

et
w

or
k 

to
 d

ev
el

op
 a

 W
om

en
 a

nd
 G

irl
s 

Ph
ys

ic
al

 A
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 S
po

rt
 A

ct
io

n 
Pl

an
 t

o 
in

cr
ea

se
 

pa
rt

ic
ip

at
io

n 
13

.A
ud

it 
ex

is
tin

g 
an

d 
sc

op
e 

em
er

gi
ng

 p
hy

si
ca

l a
ct

iv
ity

 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 s

po
rt

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 a

nd
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

is
 is

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
pr

om
ot

ed
 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

13
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
-

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
in

iti
at

iv
e 

le
ad

 b
y 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

+
 

po
ss

ib
le

 f
un

di
ng

 v
ia

 ‘U
s 

G
irl

s’
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
D

oo
rs

te
p 

Sp
or

ts
 C

lu
bs

  
Sp

or
t 

En
gl

an
d 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

Sp
or

t 
A
ct

iv
at

io
n 

Fu
nd

 
(r

ou
nd

s 
3,

4 
&

 5
) 

C
oo

rd
in

at
ed

 a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

ts
 o

f 
W

om
en

 a
nd

 G
irl

s 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 

171



�
�
�

 Th
em

e:
  

P
a

rt
ic

ip
a

ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 P
a

th
w

a
ys

 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pr
io

rit
y:

  
Sp

or
ts

 p
eo

pl
e 

– 
de

ve
lo

pi
ng

 c
om

m
un

ity
 c

lu
bs

 a
nd

 e
nh

an
ci

ng
 p

at
hw

ay
s 

to
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 s

up
po

rt
 e

m
er

gi
ng

 n
ew

 c
om

m
un

ity
 c

lu
bs

: 
14

.P
ro

m
ot

e 
of

fe
r 

th
ro

ug
h 

G
et

 A
ct

iv
e 

Lo
nd

on
 w

eb
si

te
 

15
.E

ng
ag

e 
w

ith
 p

ar
tn

er
s 

an
d 

3r
d 

se
ct

or
 t

o 
id

en
tif

y 
em

er
gi

ng
 c

lu
bs

 
16

.D
ev

el
op

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

s 
w

ith
 r

el
ev

an
t 

N
G

Bs
 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

13
  

 O
ng

oi
ng

 
 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
, 
LB

S 
C
om

m
un

ity
 

En
ga

ge
m

en
t,

 C
om

m
un

ity
 

A
ct

io
n 

So
ut

hw
ar

k,
 N

BG
s,

 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
in

 k
in

d 
 

N
um

be
r 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 c
lu

bs
 

su
pp

or
te

d 
an

d 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 n
ew

 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 

Pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 a
nd

 e
xc

el
le

nc
e 

17
.M

ai
nt

ai
n 

pr
om

ot
io

n 
an

d 
de

liv
er

y 
of

 L
on

do
n 

Yo
ut

h 
G

am
es

 (
in

cl
ud

in
g 

Sc
ho

ol
 G

am
es

) 
18

.C
oo

rd
in

at
e 

w
ith

 c
lu

bs
 a

nd
 s

at
el

lit
e 

cl
ub

s 
an

d 
N

at
io

na
l G

ov
er

ni
ng

 B
od

ie
s 

of
 s

po
rt

 (
N

G
Bs

) 
su

pp
or

t 
fo

r 
em

er
gi

ng
 t

al
en

t 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

13
  

 O
ng

oi
ng

 

Le
ad

 b
y 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

C
h

il
d

re
n

, 
Y

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 
Y

o
u

n
g

 P
eo

p
le

 &
 

T
a

ck
li

n
g

 I
n

ac
ti

vi
ty

 
G

ro
u

p
, 
 

•
In

cl
ud

in
g 

LP
ES

SN
/L

on
do

n 
Yo

ut
h 

G
am

es
 (

LY
G

) 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
, 
LP

ES
SN

, 
 

Sp
on

so
rs

hi
p,

 
 Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
in

 k
in

d 
 

LB
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
LY

G
 d

el
iv

er
y 

te
am

 
an

d 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

io
n 

sq
ua

d 
m

ai
nt

ai
ne

d 
 C
oo

rd
in

at
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 t
al

en
t 

id
en

tif
ic

at
io

n 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 

19
.I

nv
es

tig
at

e,
 d

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 s

up
po

rt
 a

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

ba
se

lin
e 

st
an

da
rd

 f
or

 n
ew

 a
nd

 e
m

er
gi

ng
 c

lu
bs

 o
r 

co
m

m
un

ity
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

. 

M
ar

ch
 

20
14

 
PR

O
-A

C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

, 
Sp

on
so

rs
hi

p,
 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

M
or

e 
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 a
nd

 a
ch

ie
va

bl
e 

st
an

da
rd

 f
or

 s
m

al
l a

nd
 e

m
er

gi
ng

 
cl

ub
s 

in
 t

he
 b

or
ou

gh
 

             

172



�
�
�

U
n

iv
er

sa
l 

Th
em

e:
 P

la
ce

s 
an

d
 P

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pr
io

rit
y:

  
N

ew
 a

nd
 e

nh
an

ce
d 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
- 

m
ax

im
is

e 
an

d 
in

cr
ea

se
 p

ar
tic

ip
at

io
n 

an
d 

us
e 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
M

ax
im

is
e 

us
e 

of
 n

ew
 o

r 
re

fu
rb

is
he

d 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

w
ith

 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

re
-la

un
ch

 p
ro

m
ot

io
ns

, 
pr

og
ra

m
m

in
g 

an
d 

ac
tiv

iti
es

: 
20

.M
ai

nt
ai

n 
qu

al
ity

 o
f 

an
d 

re
vi

ew
 f

ac
ili

ty
 p

ro
vi

si
on

 
se

ek
in

g 
to

 id
en

tif
y 

va
lu

ed
 e

nh
an

ce
m

en
t 

 
21

.I
nc

re
as

e 
th

e 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 e
xi

st
in

g 
sp

or
t 

an
d 

le
is

ur
e 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
(i
nd

oo
r 

an
d 

ou
td

oo
r)

 t
ha

t 
ar

e 
fu

lly
 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 a

nd
 in

cl
us

iv
e 

to
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 p

hy
si

ca
l, 

le
ar

ni
ng

 a
nd

 m
en

ta
l d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
22

.I
m

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 t
o 

C
ou

nc
il 

ow
ne

d 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

by
 

co
m

m
un

ity
 c

lu
bs

 a
ch

ie
vi

ng
 t

he
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
ba

se
lin

e 
st

an
da

rd
. 
 

20
15

 
 Q

ua
rt

er
ly

 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 

ta
rg

et
s 

Le
ad

 b
y 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 

de
liv

er
ed

 in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

w
ith

 t
he

 le
is

ur
e 

co
nt

ra
ct

or
 a

nd
 a

ll 
ot

he
r 

fa
ci

lit
y 

pr
ov

id
er

s 
(L

on
do

n 
So

ut
h 

Ba
nk

 U
ni

ve
rs

ity
, 

LB
S 

Pa
rk

s 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

es
 e

tc
.)

 

Ex
is

tin
g 

bu
dg

et
s 

in
c.

 
Le

is
ur

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
co

nt
ra

ct
, 
in

co
m

e 
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

 

In
cr

ea
se

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
io

n 
le

ve
ls

 in
 

ne
w

 a
nd

 r
ef

ur
bi

sh
ed

 f
ac

ili
ty

 
st

oc
k 

an
nu

al
ly

  

 
Th

em
e:

 P
la

ce
s 

an
d

 P
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pr

io
rit

y:
  

A
ct

iv
e 

tr
an

sp
or

t 
- 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

an
d 

us
e,

 e
nc

ou
ra

gi
ng

 w
al

ki
ng

 a
nd

 c
yc

lin
g 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
H

el
p 

to
 d

el
iv

er
 A

ct
iv

e 
Tr

an
sp

or
t 

Pl
an

 t
hr

ou
gh

 P
R
O

-
A
C
TI

V
E 

So
ut

hw
ar

k:
  

23
.W

or
k 

w
ith

 t
he

 s
ch

oo
l c

om
m

un
ity

 t
o 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
m

or
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

to
 t

ra
ve

l t
o 

sc
ho

ol
 s

us
ta

in
ab

ly
. 
 

24
.W

or
k 

w
ith

 b
us

in
es

se
s,

 e
m

pl
oy

er
s 

an
d 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
ns

 t
o 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
m

or
e 

st
af

f 
to

 t
ra

ve
l 

su
st

ai
na

bl
y 

25
.P

ro
m

ot
e 

an
d 

en
co

ur
ag

e 
su

st
ai

na
bl

e 
tr

av
el

 c
ho

ic
es

 
ac

ro
ss

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 o

f 
th

e 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

cy
cl

e 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

an
d 

af
fo

rd
ab

le
 c

yc
le

 
hi

re
/p

ur
ch

as
e 

sc
he

m
es

 

O
ng

oi
ng

 
se

e 
A
ct

iv
e 

Tr
an

sp
or

t 
Pl

an
 

Le
ad

 b
y 

LB
S 

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

Tr
an

sp
or

t 
an

d 
R
oa

d 
Sa

fe
ty

 T
ea

m
, 
de

liv
er

ed
 

in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 w

ith
 

sc
ho

ol
s,

 C
h

il
d

re
n

 
Y

o
u

th
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 

P
e

o
p

le
 W

o
rk

in
g

 
G

ro
u

p
, 

LB
S 

Lo
ca

l E
co

no
m

y 
Te

am
 e

tc
. 
 

LB
S 

+
 v

ar
io

us
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

Tf
L 

  
In

cr
ea

se
 lo

ca
l p

eo
pl

e 
us

in
g 

ac
tiv

e 
tr

an
sp

or
t 

    

173



�
�
�

Th
em

e:
 P

la
ce

s 
an

d
 P

ro
m

o
ti

o
n

 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pr
io

rit
y:

  
Sc

ho
ol

 s
po

rt
s 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
– 

en
ab

lin
g 

m
or

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 u
se

 o
f 

sc
ho

ol
 f

ac
ili

tie
s 

fo
r 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

 a
nd

 s
po

rt
 

A
ct

io
n 

8 
Ti

m
es

ca
le

 
R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
D

ev
el

op
 c

om
m

un
ity

 u
se

 a
gr

ee
m

en
ts

 w
ith

 m
or

e 
lo

ca
l 

sc
ho

ol
s 

26
.D

el
iv

er
 t

he
 a

ct
io

ns
 in

 t
he

 C
om

m
un

ity
 A

cc
es

s 
St

ra
te

gy
 

27
.R

ev
ie

w
 p

op
ul

at
io

n 
gr

ow
th

 e
st

im
at

es
 a

nd
 id

en
tif

y 
sc

ho
ol

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 s
up

po
rt

 w
et

 a
nd

 d
ry

 
si

de
 s

ho
rt

fa
lls

 id
en

tif
ie

d 
by

 S
po

rt
 E

ng
la

nd
 F

ac
ili

tie
s 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 M
od

el
 a

nd
 lo

ca
l c

lu
b 

an
d 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

ne
ed

s 

O
ng

oi
ng

 
Le

ad
 b

y 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 
de

liv
er

ed
 in

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 
w

ith
 C

h
il

d
re

n
, 

Y
o

u
th

 
a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
 

W
o

rk
in

g
 G

ro
u

p
  

•
PA

C
L,

 L
BS

, 
sc

ho
ol

s 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
, 
sc

ho
ol

s 
an

d 
in

co
m

e 
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

M
ee

t 
sh

or
tf

al
l i

n 
Sp

or
t 

En
gl

an
d’

s 
Fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 M
od

el
 

 
Th

em
e:

 P
la

ce
s 

an
d

 P
ro

m
o

ti
o

n
 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pr

io
rit

y:
 A

ct
iv

e 
En

vi
ro

nm
en

ts
 –

 s
up

po
rt

in
g 

gu
id

an
ce

 t
o 

ad
dr

es
s 

lo
ca

l p
la

nn
in

g 
ne

ed
s 

 
A
ct

io
n 

9 
Ti

m
es

ca
le

 
R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
28

.D
ev

el
op

 P
la

nn
in

g 
gu

id
an

ce
 –

 u
si

ng
 g

ui
da

nc
e 

to
 

be
tt

er
 p

ro
m

ot
e 

‘A
ct

iv
e 

D
es

ig
n’

 t
o 

de
ve

lo
pe

rs
 t

o 
in

cr
ea

se
 p

hy
si

ca
l a

ct
iv

ity
 w

ith
in

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

nd
 in

 
th

e 
ou

ts
id

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t 
(s

ta
ir 

us
e,

 t
ra

ns
po

rt
 li

nk
s,

 
cy

cl
in

g 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

et
c.

) 

O
ng

oi
ng

 
Le

ad
 b

y 
Pu

bl
ic

 H
ea

lth
 in

 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
w

ith
 L

BS
 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

, 
LB

S 
Pl

an
ni

ng
, 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 

St
ro

ng
 p

la
nn

in
g 

gu
id

an
ce

 t
o 

en
ha

nc
e 

ac
tiv

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ts
 

ac
ro

ss
 t

he
 b

or
ou

gh
 

29
.B

ui
ld

 o
n 

th
e 

w
or

k 
in

 O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

St
ra

te
gy

 
id

en
tif

yi
ng

 p
la

y 
sp

ac
es

, 
to

 a
ls

o 
m

ap
 t

ho
se

 o
n 

C
ou

nc
il 

es
ta

te
s,

 id
en

tif
yi

ng
 w

he
re

 g
ap

s 
in

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 

fo
r 

yo
un

g 
ch

ild
re

n 

O
ct

ob
er

 
20

14
 

Le
ad

 b
y 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

 in
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

w
ith

 L
BS

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

, 
LB

S 
Pl

an
ni

ng
, 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 

Id
en

tif
y 

ad
di

tio
na

l p
ot

en
tia

l l
oc

al
 

ou
td

oo
r 

pl
ay

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 li

vi
ng

 o
n 

so
ci

al
 

ho
us

in
g 

es
ta

te
s 

30
.T

ar
ge

t 
an

d 
ut

ili
se

 'P
la

nn
in

g 
G

ai
n'

 t
hr

ou
gh

 
C
om

m
un

ity
 I

nf
ra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
Le

vy
 (

C
IL

) 
to

 e
nh

an
ce

 
an

d 
m

ai
nt

ai
n 

lo
ca

l p
hy

si
ca

l a
ct

iv
ity

 p
ro

vi
si

on
 

O
ng

oi
ng

 
Le

ad
 b

y 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 in
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

w
ith

 L
BS

 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
, 
LB

S 
Pl

an
ni

ng
, 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

 

A
cc

es
s 

to
 a

nd
 b

en
ef

it 
of

 C
IL

 f
or

 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

ity
 a

nd
 s

po
rt

 

31
.I

de
nt

ify
 a

nd
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 a
n 

‘A
ct

iv
e 

D
es

ig
n’

 c
ha

m
pi

on
 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
to

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
po

si
tiv

e 
ex

am
pl

es
  

(e
.g

. 
de

ve
lo

pe
rs

 w
or

ki
ng

 o
n 

cu
rr

en
t 

re
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

pr
oj

ec
ts

) 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
14

 
Le

ad
 b

y 
Pu

bl
ic

 H
ea

lth
 in

 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
w

ith
 L

BS
 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 

Pu
bl

ic
 H

ea
lth

, 
LB

S 
Pl

an
ni

ng
, 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 

V
is

ib
le

 p
ro

fil
e 

of
 ‘A

ct
iv

e 
D

es
ig

n’
 

fo
r 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
to

 in
sp

ire
 f
ur

th
er

 
ex

am
pl

es
 

  

174



�
�
�

Fo
u

n
da

ti
on

 
 

Th
em

e:
 P

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 P
ar

tn
e

rs
h

ip
s 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pr

io
rit

y:
  

C
o-

or
di

na
tio

n,
 s

up
po

rt
, 
ad

dr
es

si
ng

 n
ew

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
an

d 
fu

nd
in

g,
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 m

on
ito

rin
g 

an
d 

re
vi

ew
 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
32

.T
he

 P
R
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

St
ee

rin
g 

G
ro

up
 w

ill
 d

ev
el

op
 a

 s
us

ta
in

ab
le

, 
co

lla
bo

ra
tiv

e 
fu

nd
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
th

e 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
to

 
m

ax
im

is
e 

em
er

gi
ng

 f
un

di
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s.
 

Ja
nu

ar
y 

20
14

 
 Q

ua
rt

er
ly

 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

St
ee

rin
g 

G
ro

up
 

- 
cr

os
s 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

Pl
an

ne
d 

an
d 

co
or

di
na

te
d 

fu
nd

in
g 

su
bm

is
si

on
s 

co
or

di
na

te
d 

ac
ro

ss
 

th
e 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
33

.P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 c
oo

rd
in

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

b 
gr

ou
ps

 t
ar

ge
te

d 
to

 I
na

ct
iv

ity
, 
C
YY

P,
 a

nd
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

14
 

 Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
- 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
in

 k
in

d 
A
ll 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

gr
ou

ps
 

ad
m

in
is

te
re

d 
an

d 
su

pp
or

te
d 

M
em

be
rs

hi
p 

of
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

gr
ou

ps
 is

 r
el

ev
an

t 
an

d 
st

ro
ng

 
34

.C
ar

ry
 o

ut
 q

ua
rt

er
ly

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
an

d 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 

re
vi

ew
 o

f 
th

is
 A

ct
io

n 
Pl

an
 a

nd
 r

ep
or

t 
to

 P
R
O

-
A
C
TI

V
E 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
an

d 
pa

rt
ne

rs
 a

cc
or

di
ng

ly
 

A
pr

il 
20

14
 

 Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 

th
er

ea
ft

er
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
- 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
LB

S 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 
Q

ua
rt

er
ly

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

th
e 

A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 t

o 
PR

O
-A

C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

St
ee

rin
g 

G
ro

up
 

 Th
em

e:
 P

eo
p

le
 a

n
d

 P
ar

tn
e

rs
h

ip
s 

St
ra

te
gi

c 
Pr

io
rit

y:
  

In
cr

ea
si

ng
 t

he
 r

an
ge

 a
nd

 q
ua

lit
y 

of
 m

ar
ke

tin
g 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 o
f 

th
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
of

fe
r 

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
35

.T
he

 P
R
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

St
ee

rin
g 

G
ro

up
 w

ill
 d

ev
el

op
 a

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 p
la

n 
th

at
 

ad
dr

es
se

s 
th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 t

ar
ge

t 
au

di
en

ce
s 

- 
In

ac
tiv

e,
 

C
YY

P,
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

, 
W

om
en

 a
nd

 G
irl

s,
 C

om
m

un
ity

 
C
lu

bs
 a

nd
 V

ol
un

te
er

s 

A
pr

il 
20

14
 

 Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 

th
er

ea
ft

er
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
St

ee
rin

g 
G

ro
up

 –
 

cr
os

s 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
 

LB
S 

C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 
PR

O
-A

C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
in

 k
in

d 

St
ro

ng
 a

nd
 c

on
si

st
en

t 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 m

es
sa

ge
s 

to
 

co
m

m
un

ity
 a

nd
 t

ar
ge

t 
au

di
en

ce
s 

36
.M

ai
nt

ai
n 

an
d 

ex
te

nd
 u

se
 o

f 
G

et
 A

ct
iv

e 
Lo

nd
on

 
po

rt
al

 a
cr

os
s 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

al
on

gs
id

e 
a 

cl
ea

rly
 

ta
rg

et
ed

 G
et

 A
ct

iv
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
m

ar
ke

tin
g 

ca
m

pa
ig

n 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

13
 

 O
ng

oi
ng

  

Le
ad

 b
y 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 in

 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
w

ith
 P

R
O

-
A
C
TI

V
E 

So
ut

hw
ar

k,
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 L

on
do

n,
 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
cl

ub
s,

 le
is

ur
e 

pr
ov

id
er

s 

LB
S 

Sp
or

t 
an

d 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

Po
rt

al
 e

nh
an

ce
d 

w
ith

 n
ew

 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

an
d 

of
fe

rs
 a

nd
 

m
ai

nt
ai

ne
d,

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
us

e 
by

 
bo

th
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

 a
nd

 r
es

id
en

ts
, 

G
et

 A
ct

iv
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
A
ct

io
n 

Pl
an

 

 
Th

em
e:

 P
eo

p
le

 a
n

d
 P

ar
tn

e
rs

h
ip

s 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pr
io

rit
y:

  
C
om

m
un

ity
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
– 

su
pp

or
tin

g 
vo

lu
nt

ee
rs

, 
co

ac
he

s 
an

d 
ap

pr
en

tic
es

hi
ps

 

175



�
�
�

A
ct

io
n 

Ti
m

es
ca

le
 

R
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 

R
es

ou
rc

es
 

O
ut

co
m

e 
37

.S
co

pe
 lo

ca
l c

om
m

un
ity

 w
or

kf
or

ce
 a

nd
 t

he
ir 

sk
ill

s 
ne

ed
s 

N
ov

em
be

r 
20

13
 

 Ye
ar

ly
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
– 

Le
ad

 L
BS

 S
po

rt
 a

nd
 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 

fu
nd

in
g 

bi
d 

an
d 

sp
on

so
rs

hi
p 

Sp
or

ts
 C

lu
b 

A
ud

it,
 u

pd
at

ed
 s

ki
lls

 
au

di
t 

an
d 

W
or

kf
or

ce
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Pl

an
 

38
.S

up
po

rt
 v

ol
un

te
er

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
th

ro
ug

h 
im

pr
ov

ed
 

pa
th

w
ay

s 
to

 v
ol

un
te

er
in

g 
in

 s
po

rt
 o

r 
ph

ys
ic

al
 

ac
tiv

ity
 in

 t
he

 b
or

ou
gh

 

Ju
ne

 2
01

4 
 O

ng
oi

ng
 

LB
S 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

En
ga

ge
m

en
t 

an
d 

C
om

m
un

ity
 V

ol
un

ta
ry

 
Se

ct
or

 

LB
S 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

En
ga

ge
m

en
t,

 P
R
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 

So
ut

hw
ar

k,
 L

BS
 S

po
rt

 a
nd

 
Le

is
ur

e 
Se

rv
ic

es
, 
LB

S 
Yo

ut
h 

Se
rv

ic
es

, 
LP

ES
SN

, 
Lo

nd
on

 Y
ou

th
, 
M

ill
w

al
l 

C
om

m
un

ity
 S

ch
em

e,
 C

A
S 

an
d 

C
V
S 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
vo

lu
nt

ee
rin

g 
in

 
ph

ys
ic

al
 a

ct
iv

ity
 a

nd
 s

po
rt

, 
m

ea
su

re
d 

vi
a 

Sp
or

t 
En

gl
an

d’
s 

A
ct

iv
e 

Pe
op

le
 S

ur
ve

y 
(A

PS
) 

39
.I

m
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

an
d 

qu
al

ity
 o

f 
co

ac
he

s 
th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
de

liv
er

y 
of

 a
 P

R
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
co

ac
h 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

A
pr

il 
20

14
 

 O
ng

oi
ng

  

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k,
 

PA
C
L,

 N
G

Bs
, 
C
lu

bs
 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

+
 

PR
O

-A
C
TI

VE
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k,
 

PA
C
L 

W
or

kf
or

ce
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
 G

ro
up

, 
C
oa

ch
in

g 
Lo

nd
on

, 
Sp

or
t 

an
d 

Le
is

ur
e 

Se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 
N

G
Bs

 -
 I

nc
om

e 
ge

ne
ra

tio
n 

Li
nk

 t
o 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
in

 t
he

 
W

or
kf

or
ce

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Pl

an
 

40
.D

ev
el

op
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

in
 s

po
rt

 t
hr

ou
gh

 
ap

pr
en

tic
es

hi
ps

 
A
pr

il 
20

14
 

 O
ng

oi
ng

 

A
pp

re
nt

ic
es

hi
p 

 
ac

cr
ed

ite
d 

ag
en

ci
es

 
in

cl
ud

in
g:

 L
BS

, 
G

re
en

ho
us

e 
C
ha

rit
y,

 
LP

ES
SN

 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

in
 k

in
d 

Su
pp

or
tiv

e 
ap

pr
en

tic
es

hi
p 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t 

th
ro

ug
h 

PR
O

-
A
C
TI

V
E 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
Pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 

  

176



 

 
1 

 
Item No.  

16. 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) Scheme and 
the Housing Revenue Account 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

All 
 

Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Ian Wingfield, Deputy Leader and Cabinet 
Member for Housing Management 
 

 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR IAN WINGFIELD, DEPUTY LEADER AND 
CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING MANAGEMENT 
 
The council has seen an increase in applications for discretionary housing payments 
(DHP) which has resulted in pressure being placed on the current DHP budget. The 
increase in the first four months of the current financial year compared to the same 
period in the 2012/2013 financial year is a 288% increase. Demand for DHP has 
arisen from the package of central government welfare reform measures being rolled 
out this year. In April 2013 the social sector size restriction was introduced, followed by 
the benefit cap in August in Southwark and finally, Universal Credit is due to 
commence in the autumn. 

The Department for Communities and Local Government recently wrote to chief 
executives and directors of finance and housing in council’s across England to inform 
them of the opportunity to apply to the Department of Communities and Local 
Government for permission to use the housing revenue account to supplement the 
payments of DHP to council tenants. 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. To agree the provision of support to Local Authority tenants affected by 

reductions in Housing Benefit as a result of the social sector size criteria utilising 
funds from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in 2013/14 and 2014/2015 to 
supplement the existing Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) fund. 

 
2. To agree that the council should allow £1 million to be used from the HRA to 

provide financial support to those tenants of Southwark whose entitlement to 
Housing Benefit has been reduced as a result of the social sector size criteria 
and other welfare reform initiatives in 2013/2014 

 
3. To agree that a further application is made for £1 million in the 2014/2015 

financial year. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
4. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 introduced the Social Sector Size Restriction, 

more commonly known as the bedroom tax. This reduces Housing Benefit for 
claimants in accommodation which is larger than their needs by 14% for 1 

Agenda Item 16
177



 

 
2 

bedroom over accommodated and 25% for accommodation with 2 or more 
bedrooms over accommodated. 

 
5. The HRA has recently been reformed under legislation placing responsibility for 

its administration and decision making with the individual councils and 
communities which they serve.  

 
6. The Department for Communities and Local Government wrote to Chief 

Executives of all 325 English councils on the 9th May 2013 to advise them that 
“Where a local housing authority wishes to make discretionary payments 
available to its own tenants through the HRA, the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) is prepared, upon receipt of a written application, 
to issue a Direction under Item 9 Credit and Item 10 Debit, putting the matter 
beyond doubt for individual authorities”.  

 
7. An application to the Secretary of State of the Department of Communities and 

Local Government was submitted on the 14th August 2013, to allow Southwark to 
formally utilise funds within the HRA for this purpose.  

 
8. The Secretary of State for the Department of Communities and Local 

Government granted a Direction of Approval allowing Southwark to use £1 
million of funding from the housing revenue account for discretionary housing 
payment following this application and the approval is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
9. The release of funds from the HRA to support the DHP fund will provide financial 

assistance and support to those Southwark tenants experiencing a reduction in 
Housing Benefit and/or arrears as a result of the imposition of the social sector 
size criteria. This assistance will take the form of discretionary payments to 
enable such tenants to exchange properties, seek help to manage their finances 
better and protect those who need to remain in their home due to disabilities and 
special adaptations to their dwelling. The addition of these funds to DHP will 
enable the council to protect the most vulnerable and help prevent inequality in 
the most deprived areas of Southwark. 

 
10. The introduction of the welfare reforms will have a major financial impact on the 

HRA Self Financing Business Plan 2013 and beyond. The current tenants 
arrears as at the end of July 2013, shows that 60% of tenants who are under-
occupying their homes are in rent arrears compared to 25% of these customers 
being in arrears before the size criteria was introduced on the 1st April 2013.  

 
11. In addition, the new reforms are likely to lead to further adverse financial impacts 

on the HRA and other General Fund budget. With regard to the HRA, it is 
probable that additional costs will be incurred in the management of current 
tenants’ arrears (due to increased recovery action and debt advisory/prevention 
services) and repairs to empty properties due to potential relocation by tenants to 
smaller properties to mitigate the effects of the size criteria. On the General 
Fund, there may also be an impact on temporary accommodation costs as a 
result of increasing homelessness. These additional costs will need to be funded 
by redirecting existing resources. 

 
12. There is a strong value for money and financial case for the establishment of a 

specific DHP within the HRA. This will help avert the additional costs explained in 
the preceding paragraphs and does require a special application to the Secretary 
of State. 

 

178



 

 
3 

13. The provision of funding from HRA to support local authority tenants will reduce 
the strain on the government’s allocation of DHP which totals £1.1 million for 
Southwark this year. 

 
14. It is proposed that a DHP of £1million is established in the HRA for a time limited 

period for each of the 2013/14 and 2014/2015 financial years and this will be 
funded by redirecting existing resources in the approved HRA Revenue/Capital 
Budget for 2013/14 and 2014/2015. This will include vacancy controls, savings in 
operational costs but will avoid any adverse impact on the key capital investment 
programmes. 

 
15. The financial position will be subject to continuous review through the existing 

corporate financial reporting framework to Cabinet. 
 
16. The number of Southwark tenants affected by this reform is estimated to be 

2,807 as at the end of July 2013, with an average weekly reduction in Housing 
Benefit of £20.00. The level of rent arrears may increase by £3.2 million as a 
direct result. Also a further 177 Southwark Council tenants will be affected by the 
Benefit Cap that will restrict all benefits paid to families to £26,000 per year. 

 
17. The council has made use of its Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) fund to 

assist all Social Sector tenants affected by this reform. To date in excess of 400 
DHP awards have been made to Southwark tenants affected by the Social 
Sector Size Restriction. This has committed over £200,000.00. 

 
18. As indicated earlier in this report, councils are able to make discretionary 

payments to tenants in cases of particular hardship however it is clear that the 
overall level of funding cannot on its own provide adequate levels of support for 
tenants trying to adjust to this change.  The total reduction in Housing Benefit for 
this reform alone totals £3.2 million in Southwark. In addition the more DHP that 
is allocated to tenants affected by the size criteria will have the result of less 
money available to assist other tenants experiencing hardship as a result of 
welfare reform. 

 
19. Therefore, it is expected that Local Authority tenants wishing to apply for DHP 

will also engage with the council to explore all options of payment support and/or 
the need to move to a more suitably sized property. The current DHP policy will 
be operated in light of this initiative and reflect that long term support for the 
shortfall will be provided for those who are most in need and who cannot move 
because of their adapted properties. It will also provide short term awards for 
those who do have the ability to move to alternative accommodation. The broad 
principles of the criteria for awards of DHP in respect of local authority tenants 
are as follows: 

 
20. Tenants will only receive short term support of approximately 13 weeks to enable 

tenants to move through the SMART moves initiative, and obtain Financial 
Inclusion advice from the Homelessness and Housing Options service. This 
advice will include employment advice and support from the Job Centre Plus. 

 
21. The award of a Discretionary Housing Payment is a short term measure that 

allows the service to consider the following solutions in the 13 week period: 
 

- Moving to smaller accommodation via the SMART move framework 
- Mutual Exchange 
- Lodging scheme to occupy spare rooms 

179



 

 
4 

- Employment and Training Opportunities 
- Money Advice 
- Affordable banking solutions via the Credit Union and moving away from 

Loan Sharks and pay day money lending with high interest 
 
22. This is not a prescriptive list and each application will be considered on a case by 

case basis. 
 

Aims 
 
23. The release of funds from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) aims to support 

Southwark Council Housing tenants suffering hardship following the introduction 
of the social sector size criteria housing benefit reductions by supplementing the 
existing Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) fund and process. The council 
aims to develop a support package through the use of funds from the HRA 
account to assist tenants through the transition from previous levels of Housing 
Benefit to the revised levels as a result of the introduction of the size criteria 
restrictions (14% reduction for one room over accommodated and 25% reduction 
for 2 or more rooms over accommodated). 

 
Objectives 

 
24. The fund will complement and operate alongside the Government provided 

Discretionary Housing Payment Scheme (DHP) that provides Councils with ring-
fenced annual funding to administer to vulnerable residents in receipt of housing 
benefit.  For 2013/14 Southwark Council has received a DHP grant of £1.1m, to 
be used across all tenancy groupings. 

 
25. The funding arrangements of the HRA will enable additional support to council 

tenants not only to keep vulnerable people in their properties by supporting the 
shortfall but perhaps more importantly to satisfy qualifying criteria that enables 
the tenant to seek more appropriately sized accommodation or supporting 
vulnerable tenants with a phased transition into paying rent shortfalls. 

 
26. Applications will be subject to an income and expenditure assessment (including 

looking at levels of savings) as part of the assessment of entitlement to an award 
and the value and length of any award. 

 
27. Whilst the policy will not be prescriptive in terms of its use and all cases will be 

considered on their merits, the key priorities in the use of the HRA fund can be 
summarised as follows: 

 
28. Tenants living in properties specifically adapted due to a disability will be 

awarded the full shortfall due to the social sector size criteria. 
 
29. Tenants in arrears will be assisted through the fund in order to facilitate a move 

to more suitably sized accommodation. 
 
30. If there is a shortfall in rent payments which is expected to last for only a short 

time pending a change in circumstances, in such cases, the council will be 
expected to agree a rent payment schedule that recognises the imminent 
reinstatement of full Housing Benefit. This recognises that some tenants will be 
under-occupying a property for only a short time until, for example, a baby is 
born, a child reaches a significant birthday or a tenant reaches pension-age. 

 

180



 

 
5 

31. The release of funds from the HRA will operate in line with the existing DHP 
policy and awards are to be made to applicants irrespective of age, disability, 
gender re-assignment, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation, marital 
status or whether the claimant is pregnant. The defining factor for an award is a 
shortfall between contractual rent and Housing Benefit entitlement as a result of 
the size criteria and the inability to meet the shortfall from income levels. All 
applicants must be in receipt of some Housing Benefit to qualify. 

 
32. For tenants with disabilities who rent a property that has been significantly 

adapted the full reduction in Housing Benefit will be met through a payment from 
the funds released from HRA. The primary reasoning behind this is that the 
practicality and overall cost of moving tenants from a specifically adapted 
property to a smaller property which would also need to be specially adapted is 
not a cost effective option, not to mention the hardship and disruption that would 
be caused to those severely disabled adults as a result.  Each case will be 
considered on its merits and other housing options explored where appropriate.     

 
33. Failure to assist those tenants in the most need will lead to a substantial increase 

in Local Authority rent arrears.  Current analysis indicates that 2,807 Southwark 
Local Authority tenants continue to be affected by the size criteria with a potential 
loss of £60,760 Housing Benefit/rent per week. This equates to an annual loss of 
£3,159,520.00 

 
Policy implications 

 
34. Most of the recommendations are providing further definition and clarification to 

existing policy.  There are no proposed policy changes to the existing 
Discretionary Housing Payment policy. DHP is discretionary and DWP guidance 
allows local authorities to work within guidelines to meet local needs and 
priorities and our policy has provision for this. 
 

35. The recommendations are in line with the council’s “Fairer Future Principles” and 
in particular seek to ensure that the council is open, honest and accountable.  
 

36. The drivers for these changes are the Welfare Reform Act 2012.  
 
Community impact statement 
 
37. The responsibility for the changes in legislation lies with central Government. The 

Government has produced an equality impact assessment to support the 
introduction of these changes. 

 
38. However, within equality characteristics certain groups may be adversely 

affected by the Government legislation changes. Penalties for under-occupation 
will affect disabled people living in significantly adapted accommodation – 
including any adaptations made for disabled children. 

 
39. Similarly, people with disabilities who need to use a spare bedroom for storage of 

medical equipment will be subject to the penalty. The release of these funds to 
supplement DHP funds recognises and addresses the needs of these particular 
groups. It will target support within these areas and will continue to monitor the 
impact on them. 

 
40. Council tenants who were under-occupying a council owned property as at June 

2013 live in the following areas: Brunswick Park 144 tenants, Camberwell Green 

181



 

 
6 

228 tenants, Cathedrals 94 tenants, Chaucer 178 tenants, College 115 tenants, 
East Dulwich 43 tenants, East Walworth 140 tenants, Faraday 199 tenants, 
Grange 120 tenants, Livesey 249 tenants, Newington 263 tenants, Nunhead 106 
tenants, Peckham 232 tenants, Peckham Rye 72 tenants, Riverside 171 tenants, 
Rotherhithe 160 tenants, South Bermondsey 140 tenants, South Camberwell 135 
tenants, Surrey Docks 44 tenants, The Lane 167 tenants, and the Village 38 
tenants. Therefore all electoral wards in Southwark have tenants that are 
affected by the change in the social size criteria and housing benefit reductions. 
This is the full quantum of people affected by the bedroom tax at the time of 
writing although this picture changes day to day. 

 
Resource implications 
 
41. The administration of the HRA contribution to the DHP budget can be undertaken 

within existing officer and IT resource. 
 
Consultation 
 
42. No consultation has taken place with tenants, residents, community groups, or 

stakeholders. 
 
Implementation 
 
43. The HRA contribution to the DHP budget can be implemented immediately as 

approval has been granted by the Secretary of state for the Department of 
Communities and Local Government. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
44. The Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001, as amended, provide 

local authorities with the power and framework to make discretionary payments 
to benefit recipients that need further financial assistance.  

 
45. The accounting framework applicable to the HRA is set out in the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989. As it is proposed to use HRA funds to 
support the DHP fund and there is no express provision in the legislation relating 
to the funding of DHP's from the HRA, it will therefore be prudent to obtain 
Secretary of State consent as recommended in this report. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services  
 
46. The report sets out the potential volumes and HB reductions for tenants arising 

from these changes and the indicative budget impact. Activity analysis for the 
first two months of 2013/14 shows a caseload of 500, of which 304 have been 
accepted at a cost of £177k. Extrapolation of these figures gives rise to a full-
year cost of £1.065m, but this takes no account of accepted cases that remain 
eligible for assistance after the initial 13 week period has lapsed and therefore 
the commitment is likely to be greater than that shown. 

 
47. The council’s DHP allocation for 2013/14 is £1,120m plus £166k towards the 

administrative costs arising from the introduction of welfare reform, all of which is 
in the general fund. Given the impending government spending review, there can 

182



 

 
7 

be no certainty over the continued level of central government support for DHP 
going forward. 

 
48. It is recognised that these reforms and the wider economic conditions are having 

a detrimental effect on people’s income and their ability to pay their rent and 
charges to the council. There is clearly a case to be made that the wider 
application of DHP (funded through the HRA) and targeted at those in most 
severe need would also help mitigate the budget impact by reducing arrears and 
avoiding evictions and any subsequent re-housing liability under the council’s 
homeless duty.  

 
49. In the context of the wider HRA, one of the key underlying principles of self-

financing was the continued adherence to formula rent policy, the premise being 
that surpluses generated over the life of the 30 year business plan would be 
sufficient to meet the investment needs of the housing stock over that period. 
Deviating from the rent policy would have serious long-term financial implications 
for the sustainability of the business plan and the council’s ability to deliver the 
investment required in the stock.  

 
50. Furthermore, around 59% of tenants are currently in receipt of HB, therefore the 

effect of mitigating the formula rent increase would proportionally be of greater 
benefit to the exchequer rather than to tenants directly and would be to the long-
term detriment of service delivery and the provision of good quality and 
affordable housing in the future.   

 
51. At this stage it is not possible to accurately assess the full cost to the council of 

implementing the welfare reforms, but this measure is expected to reduce the 
cost pressure to some extent and assist residents manage the changes. Cabinet 
approved the 2013/14 HRA budget in January 2013 and made prudent provision 
in the base for the potential impact of the welfare reforms (and direct payment) 
on the council’s HRA income stream. It was not envisaged at that point that this 
freedom would become available, but subject to Secretary of State approval, 
resources could now be top-sliced for this purpose.  

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS. 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
None    
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Department of Communities and Local Government Direction of 

Approval – Item 9 Credit and 10 Debit Direction Discretionary 
Housing Payments scheme and the Housing Revenue Account  

183



 

 
8 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member 
 

Councillor Ian Wingfield, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Housing Management 

Lead Officer Gerri Scott, Strategic Director of Housing and Community 
Services 

Report Author Ian Swift, Service Group Manager Housing Options & 
Homelessness 

Version Final  
Dated 5 September 2013 
Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 
Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 
 

184



APPENDIX 1

185



                                                   
          

The Draft Item 9 Credit and Item 10 Debit 
(London Borough of Southwark) Direction 
2013  

The Secretary of State in respect of Southwark Council, in exercise of the 
powers conferred by section 87 of and item 9 of Part I and item 10 Part II of 
Schedule 4 to the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and after 
consulting such representatives of local government and relevant professional 
bodies as appear to be appropriate, hereby makes the following direction: 

Citation, commencement and interpretation 

1. This direction may be cited as the Item 9 Credit and Item 10 Debit 
(Southwark) Direction 2013 - 2014. It has effect from 1 April 2013 to 31 
March 2014. 

2. In this Direction : 

2.1 the “authority” means Southwark Council; 

2.2 “DHP” means discretionary housing payments made by the 
authority pursuant to   section 69 of the Child Support, Pensions 
and Social Security Act 2000; 

2.3 “secure tenant” shall have the same meaning as under Part IV 
of the Housing Act 1985; 

2.4 “introductory tenancy” shall have the same meaning as in 
Chapter I of Part V of the Housing Act 1996;   

2.5   “non secure tenancies” shall have the same meaning as in 
Schedule 1of the Housing Act 1985    

2.6 “formula rent calculation” means the calculation of the formula 
rent set out in the Commentary on the Formula, Guideline and 

APPENDIX 1

186



Limit Rent1 which accompanied the Housing Revenue Account 
Self Financing Determinations issued February 2012;

2.7 “HRA” means the housing revenue account as defined by Part 
VI of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989;  

Direction 

3. Item 9 Credit 

The authority shall carry to the HRA from the General Fund such sums it 
considers appropriate as repayment of sums debited from the HRA to 
meet DHP.  

4. Item 10 Debit 

The authority shall carry from the HRA to the credit of the General Fund 
such sums the authority has paid as DHP to secure tenants, non secure 
tenants and tenants under an introductory tenancy of the authority as the 
authority considers appropriate, provided the payments of the DHP meet 
the following conditions: 

4.1 the rent payable by secure tenants, non secure tenants and 
introductory tenants in receipt of the DHP has been 
calculated in accordance with the principles set out in the 
formula rent calculation; 

4.2 the total amount carried from the HRA shall not exceed  1.5 
times the amount of grant paid to the authority for the 
purpose of making payments of DHP pursuant to an order 
made under section 70 of the Child Support, Pensions and 
Social Security Act 2000. 

Jane Todorovic 
for and on behalf of the Secretary of State 

September 2013 

                                                          
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6258/20777571.xls

187



 

 

Item No.  
17. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Revenue monitoring report for Quarter 1, 2013/14, 
including Treasury Management 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

All 

Cabinet Member: 
 
 

Councillor Richard Livingstone, Finance, Resources 
and Community Safety  

 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR RICHARD LIVINGSTONE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE, RESOURCES AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
This report sets out the council's performance for its revenue budgets for the first three 
months of the financial year. 
 
Compared to previous years, departmental forecast variances against the general fund 
budget are very small, and well within the tolerance afforded by the reduced 
contingency budget. The report sets out details for each department. The Housing 
Revenue Budget is showing a forecast net budget variance of zero. 
 
I would like to thank departments for this sterling work to keep budgets under tight 
control in these times of constrained finances. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the cabinet notes: 
 

• the general fund outturn forecast for 2013/14 and forecast net movement in 
reserves by department; 

• the housing revenue account’s (HRA) forecast outturn for 2013/14 and 
resulting forecast movement in reserves; 

• the treasury management activity for the first quarter of 2013/14. 
 
2. That the cabinet notes the forecast performance for the collection of council tax. 
 
3. That the cabinet notes the forecast performance for the collection of business 

rates and the risks associated with the Business Rate Retention Scheme 
 
4. The cabinet approves the general fund budget movements that exceed £250k, 

as shown in Appendix A. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
5. The purpose of this report is to provide a forecast for the end of the financial year 

2013/14, using predictions based on the experience to date and knowledge as at 
the end of quarter one (June 2013).  Work continues throughout the council to 
ensure that a balanced position is achieved by the end of the year.  

Agenda Item 17
188



 

 

 
6. The council agreed a balanced general fund budget of £327.8m on 27 February 

2013 based on a nil council tax increase, and £6.3m use of reserves, giving a 
budget of £334.1m.  This budget was set in the context of further significant 
overall cuts in government funding and the identification of some 25% savings 
proposals over the three years from 2011/12 to 2013/14 to mitigate against the 
reduction in resources and to continue to fund the council’s commitments in 
terms of services provided. 
 

7. The council also approved budget decisions including reductions of some £25m 
within general fund for 2013/14. Performance on achieving these savings is 
closely monitored and details are provided in paragraphs 50 to 52 below.  

 
8. The Council Plan placed local needs and accountability as the drivers of 

performance improvement, and in an environment of significantly reduced 
funding, the council has to change in fundamental ways.  There are a number of 
transformation projects underway, and work continues to identify further ways of 
transforming the delivery of services.  These transformation or invest to save 
projects may be funded from on-going positive variances or previously created 
earmarked reserves which were established to pump prime initiatives. 
 
Housing revenue account 
 

9. Cabinet set tenants’ rents and service charges on 29 January 2013 in line with 
the government's prescribed formula.  The budget included a £6m savings target 
for 2013/14.  The starting point of this process was to listen to residents’ 
concerns about the services they wish to protect, and identify the potential for 
better value for money and more efficient ways of working. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
Current forecast position: General fund 
 
10. Table 1 below shows the current forecast outturn position for quarter one (as at 

30 June 2013) by department.  These estimates are based on three months’ 
experience and there will continue to be stringent management action by all 
strategic directors to ensure that they deliver their services within budget as 
agreed through the policy and resources strategy in February 2013 by council 
assembly.  Progress for each department is shown in paragraphs 14 to 398 
below. 

 
Table 1: General fund forecast outturn position for 2013/14 as at Q1 
 

General fund 

2013/14 
Original 
budget   

Budget 
movement 

2013/14 
expected 
movement 
from/(to) 
reserves 

2013/14 
revised 
budget  

2013/14 
forecast 
spend  Variance 

   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

             

Children's and adults 
services 214,342 0 0 214,342 214,342 0 

Environment and leisure 69,386 0 1,948 71,334 71,357 23 

Housing and community 
services 36,524 1,957 283 38,764 38,764 0 

189



 

 

General fund 

2013/14 
Original 
budget   

Budget 
movement 

2013/14 
expected 
movement 
from/(to) 
reserves 

2013/14 
revised 
budget  

2013/14 
forecast 
spend  Variance 

   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000   £'000 

Chief executive's 
department 20,566 47 115 20,728 20,750 22 

Finance and corporate 
services 46,181 (2,004) 337 44,514 44,549 35 

Support cost recharges  (57,956) 0 0 (57,956) (57,956) 0 

Contingency 5,000 0 0 5,000 0 (5,000) 

Total general fund 
services 334,043 0 2,683 336,726 331,806 (4,920) 

Planned appropriations 
from reserves (6,271) 0 0  (6,271) (6,271) 0 

General fund total 327,772 0 2,683 330,455 325,535 (4,920) 

 
Note:  Explanations of budget movements exceeding £250k are provided in Appendix A. 
 
 
11. The general fund forecast includes estimates of one off re-organisation and 

redundancy costs that the council expects to incur as it continues to put into 
action plans necessary to deliver the ongoing savings identified within the 
budget.  As reported in the 2012/13 revenue outturn report, the council was able 
to contribute the £5.5m contingency to reserves. This will be used as the first call 
for supporting the 2013/14 revenue budget which includes a planned £6.3m 
contribution from reserves. 

 
12. As shown in Table 1, within services there is a forecast adverse variance of £80k 

based on the limited information available by the end of June.  This takes 
account of expected movements to and from reserves in relation to services and 
availability of the contingency budget of £5m. 

 
13. The budget movements reported in Table 1 are detailed further in Appendix A. 
 

Children’s & adults services 
 

14. Children’s and adults’ services are forecasting an overall balanced budget of 
£214.3m for 2013/14.  This will require use of earmarked reserves and 
management action to mitigate significant financial pressures.  

 
15. As previously reported, children’s social care agency fostering increased during 

2012/13.  Although this has stabilised during the first quarter of 2013/14 no 
additional budget had been identified to meet this growth.   

 
16. Since April 2013 a further 9 children have been placed in residential care, 

bringing the total to 44. Whilst every effort is made to ensure these placements 
are essential and represent best value, the cost per child is significant. 

 
17. The volume of children in families which have no recourse to public funds has 

also continued to increase and represents a significant cost to the department.   
This, alongside the demands outlined above means that the budget continues to 
be under pressure.    

190



 

 

 
18. Management action is being taken to address this, including refreshing the 

adoption strategy, undertaking a foster carer recruitment campaign, reviewing  
residential placements and a restructure of the no recourse to public funds teams 
to include housing, anti-fraud and UK Border Agency expertise. As well as 
management action the children’s social care placement reserve will be used to 
contain pressure in year. 

 
19. Adult social care anticipates a favourable budget variance, arising from the 

Department of Health transformation grants which have been rolled forward from 
prior years. These one-off monies were being held as contingency against 
demand pressures, including the impact of personal budgets. These pressures 
are currently being managed through a series of modernisation initiatives and 
investment continues to improve quality.    

 
20. Education and Strategy, Commissioning and Business Improvement Directorates 

are anticipating a balanced budget overall.   
 
Schools budget 
 

21. In 2013/14 the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is £196m. It is anticipated that 
£2m of this grant will be retained in balances as the allocation this year included 
one-off funding to support the development of eligible two year old places. It is 
anticipated this will not be fully spent and therefore needs to be rolled forward 
into future years whilst capacity to deliver this new offer continues to grow. 
 
Environment and leisure 
 

22. The environment and leisure department is projecting a small adverse variance 
of £23k for the year, mainly due to a delay in the reorganisation of the wardens 
and enforcement service.  Although there are a number of pressures in the 
department, these are being closely monitored to ensure they are contained 
within existing budgets.  

 
23. Most of the savings proposed for this financial year have already been 

implemented.  Divisions will continue to seek improvements in business/ 
operational processes in order to achieve further cost reductions.  These 
changes will be monitored to ensure service delivery meets expectations.  

 
24. There is also a significant contribution from reserves of £1.95m in respect of the 

smoothing of the waste PFI unitary charge. This contribution from reserves 
relates to the longer term (25 year) life cycle cost of the project. 

 
Housing and community services (H&CS) 
 

25. Housing and community services are forecasting an adverse variance of £283k 
at quarter one. This comprises of an indicative sum for redundancy (£200k) 
arising from the recent review of the sheltered accommodation service and the 
cost of staging the council’s ’Armed Forces Day’ event (£83k).  

 
26. It is currently assumed these costs will be met from corporate reserves, unless 

they can be contained within the total resources available to H&CS. Additionally 
there are a number of known and potential financial risks, such as the impact of 
welfare reforms, provision of temporary accommodation and the transfer of the 
customer service centre in-house. 

191



 

 

 
27. On 1 June 2013 the General Dynamics Information Technology (GDIT) contract 

ceased and delivery of the customer service centre successfully came in-house. 
This provides the opportunity to reconfigure and improve customer access and 
service delivery and drive out substantial savings over the medium-term through 
operational efficiencies and moving towards more cost effective transaction 
routes. Transition costs relating to the development and implementation of the 
new Customer Relationship Manager (CRM) software, telephony and 
infrastructure upgrades are held separately from the operating account and met 
from corporate resources. The 2013/14 base budget has been reduced by £3m 
reflecting the full-year saving generated by bringing the service in-house.  

 
28. Some budgetary pressures are expected in the short-term as there are residual 

contractual costs for the first two months of 2013/14 and legacy systems/ change 
management commitments, which will fall out over time. Conversely, the phased 
recruitment of staff to the call centre is likely to realise some compensatory 
savings. This forecast is based on a number of assumptions and whilst 
management is committed to delivering a balanced budget within the prevailing 
constraints, the forecast should be viewed with caution at this point. 

 
29. By far the greatest financial risk is around temporary accommodation. Whilst 

Southwark is recognised as a leader in homeless prevention, it is simultaneously 
facing challenges through increased homeless demand and a serious contraction 
on the supply side. This is particularly acute on housing association leasing 
schemes as registered providers struggle to maintain the financial viability of 
schemes, exacerbated by the impact of the bedroom tax and wider welfare 
reforms.  

 
30. In addition, the gradual decline in the use of estate voids (in the housing revenue 

account) is expected to accelerate over the coming months as vacant 
possession is sought during the early phases of the Aylesbury estate 
regeneration programme. This is particularly problematic and will adversely 
impact the general fund budget as the need to use bed and breakfast will 
inevitably increase. To some extent this was anticipated and £1.23m was 
approved as part of the 2013/14 budget to mitigate the effects. Based on activity 
over the first quarter, the budget will be re-aligned to target the areas of greatest 
demand but this represents a budget risk moving forward. 
 
Chief executive’s department 
 

31. Chief executive’s department is reporting a forecast outturn of £20.75m against 
an overall budget of £20.73m at quarter one, resulting in a small adverse 
variance of £22k. This takes into account the 2013/14 base budget savings of 
£520k for the department, which are projected to be fully achieved. 

 
32. The department is expecting to draw down £115k from the regeneration reserve 

to fund a campaign to oppose the proposed route of the Thames tunnel project in 
Southwark. There are also some expected contributions to reserves contained 
within the base budget to fund on-going schemes and initiatives as part of the 
council’s overriding modernisation. 

 
33. The budget will continue to be closely monitored during the year to identify areas 

of potential savings and also address any emerging budget pressures.  
 
 

192



 

 

Finance and corporate services 
 

34. Finance and corporate services has forecast expenditure of £44.54m against a 
budget of £44.51m, leaving a small adverse variance of £35k. 

 
35. The department is undergoing a fundamental restructure including further 

reviews of the provision of IT services, further re-organisations of staffing 
structures across the finance and legal services. 

 
36. This forecast includes a contribution from reserves of £337k for rent equalisation 

at Queens Road offices. This technical accounting adjustment re-profiles rent 
payable to an average rent over a fixed term, taking into account an initial rent 
free period. 

 
37. The 2013/14 base budget savings of £3.8m for the department are projected to 

be fully achieved. Where individual schemes do not deliver full savings substitute 
options will be indentified to ensure the overall target is achieved. 

 
Public health 
 

38. From 1 April 2013 the council has new responsibilities for Public Health activities. 
These are funded through a £21.8m ring fenced grant from the Department of 
Health. It is anticipated that the grant will be fully spent during 2013/14. 

 
Contingency 
 

39. The 2013/14 budget includes £5m for contingency. This budget is held to meet 
unforeseen costs that may arise during the year within departments that strategic 
directors are unable to contain. At this early stage in the financial year there are 
no significant pressures identified against this contingency budget.  

 
40. In the event that contingency is not fully required any surplus will be used to 

contribute to the general fund budget for 2014/15. There is a current assumption 
of £6.2m contribution from reserves in the 2014/15 budget and this funding would 
be the first call to support that requirement. 

 
Housing revenue account (HRA) 
 

41. Table 2 below shows the current forecast outturn position for quarter one (as at 
30 June 2013). The forecast outturn is on budget across the services, 
incorporating planned contributions to reserves.  

 
Table 2: HRA forecast outturn position for 2013/14 as at Q1 
 

  Net Expenditure 

Services Full Year 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 

Operations (173,848) (174,117) (269) 
Maintenance & Compliance  46,820 47,487 667 
Major Works  1,606 1,606 0 
Specialist Housing Services (37,326) (37,647) (321) 
Strategic & Corporate Services 129,173 129,173 0 
Customer Experience 1,873 1,873 0 

193



 

 

  Net Expenditure 

Services Full Year 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Community Engagement 2,129 2,097 (32) 
Chief Executives 1,173 1,086 (87) 
Heating Account 12,198 12,198 0 
Direct Revenue Funding of Capital 12,727 12,727 0 
Appropriations to reserves 3,475 3,517 42 

Total HRA 0 0 0 
 
42. Pressure to spend on landlord responsibilities for the maintenance and 

improvement of the housing stock is unrelenting. More robust contract 
management and control of high volume, high value budgets, such as repairs, 
engineering and heating continue to deliver greater value for money to mitigate 
the demand/cost pressure. Key risks are outlined below. 

 
43. Rent collection performance at week 13 is 98.67% for mainstream tenanted 

stock. Whilst this is below the budget target, it is an improvement over last year 
and shows resilience despite the generally weak economic conditions and the 
impact of the bedroom tax and DWP direct payment pilot. However, risks remain 
in terms of income collection as the impact of the welfare reforms unwind. 

 
44. The need for temporary/emergency re-housing of secure tenants is an 

operational necessity. Demand can be volatile and has exceeded the budget 
target in recent years. This is recognised as a risk and new case management 
arrangements are in place to ensure improved service delivery to residents and 
to minimise the cost impact going forward.  

 
45. Disrepair caseload remains a persistent problem and is extremely resource 

intensive with the costs of administration and compensation forecast to exceed 
budget. This remains a key management priority and good progress is being 
made in resolving old cases and managing new caseload which is experiencing 
some upwards pressure. The aim remains to eliminate claims arising in the first 
instance through an improved repairs service.  

 
46. Capital service charge billing is linked to the Housing Investment Programme 

(HIP) and delivery of the works programme each year. Any variations from the 
anticipated spend or recovery rate will impact on the revenue income 
assumptions built into the base budget. Whilst the forecast is neutral at Q1, 
expectations are that this will exceed target (£6.5m) for the year, based on the 
value of billing during 2012/13.  

 
47. Estimated billing for revenue service charges is currently forecast on target at 

£15.8m. Combined collection performance for capital and revenue service 
charges at quarter one is currently slightly above target at £7.1m (including Major 
Works loans), against the full year cash target of £23.5m. 

 
48. The ring-fenced nature of the HRA requires that deficits/surpluses are carried 

forward between years. Reserves have been below the optimum level 
commensurate with the size of Southwark’s combined revenue and capital 
programmes and represent a financial risk. In line with the medium term resource 
strategy (MTRS), the council has been seeking to achieve that balance through 

194



 

 

planned contributions from revenue.  
 
49. At 31 March 2013 reserves increased by £4.3m to £31.8m, of which around 80% 

are committed. This represents good progress towards restoring balances to a 
more prudent and sustainable level in order to mitigate future risks, fulfil future 
commitments already made and enable the transformation and modernisation of 
services going forward. An estimated £3.5m will be contributed in the current 
year, in line with expectations. 

 
Implementation of the 2013/14 budget decisions including agreed budget 
reductions, savings and efficiencies  
 

50. The council identified £31m budget reductions, including savings and efficiencies 
for the general fund and housing revenue accounts as part of the 2013/14 
budgets.  At quarter one, there is a projected savings shortfall of £700k, as 
shown in Table 3.  

 
Table 3:  Forecast projection of savings agreed for 2013/14 as at Quarter 1 
 

Departments 

Budgeted 
2013/14 
savings 

Forecast 
full year 
2013/14 
savings 

Compensating / 
other savings in 

2013/14 

Variance 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Children's Services (7,645) (7,645)   0 
Adult Social Care (7,745) (7,045) (700) 0 
Environment and Leisure (2,675) (2,675)   0 
Housing Services (490) (490)   0 
Finance & Corporate Services (3,767) (3,767)   0 
Chief Executive (520) (520)   0 
Corporate (2,000) (2,000)   0 
Total General Fund (24,842) (24,142) (700) 0 

HRA (6,033) (6,033)   0 
Total Savings (30,875) (30,175) (700) 0 

Note: Details of the council savings plans can be found in the policy and resources report to Cabinet (12 
February 2013) 

 
51. As shown in the table above, the compensating or other savings have been 

identified meaning that the total value of savings agreed by the council in setting 
the 2013/14 budget are still forecast to be achieved. 

 
52. There is a £700k variance in adult social care services, which relates to the risk 

that savings expected from the service redesign of arrangements with South 
London & Maudsley Trust (SLaM), reviewing the adult social care role within 
mental health services in partnership with other Boroughs and considering 
options as to how this should be managed, will not be delivered. It is expected 
that this shortfall can be met through compensating savings achieved through 
various management initiatives. 

195



 

 

 
Reserves 
 

53. The council retains a level of earmarked reserves and these are reported each 
year within the annual statement of accounts. These reserves are maintained to 
fund; 

 
• ‘invest to save’ opportunities, which form part of the modernisation agenda and 

are expected to deliver future ongoing revenue savings. 
• investment in regeneration and development where spend may be subject to 

unpredictable market and other factors. 
• exceptional items/pressures which are difficult to predict and that are not 

included in revenue budgets or within the capital programme.  
 
54. Where a department identifies a need for additional funding there is a robust 

process for seeking support from reserves. The department must demonstrate 
that they are unable to contain the identified additional pressure within their 
existing budget. Cabinet will be asked to approve this funding support where the 
amount is £250k or above. 

 
55. As the year progresses, departments will naturally be better placed to more 

accurately forecast their outturn position. Any unfavourable variances will be 
offset by favourable ones at departmental level before the need to call on 
reserves.  

 
56. The budget approved by council for 2013/14 included a planned release of 

reserve of £6.3m. This call on reserves provided some flexibility in terms of 
budget setting and the profile of savings that the council identified in the Policy 
and Resources Strategy 2011-14.  It is assumed that this call on reserves will 
have to be made in full.  

 
Business Rates Retention Scheme 
 

57. Localisation of business rates represents a change to the funding regime for 
local authorities for 2013/14 and beyond. Under this new funding regime actual 
retained business rates income will be dependent on the assessed rateable 
values, effect of appeals and collection rates within the borough.  
 

58. As with any change of this significance there is uncertainty over the operation of 
the business rate retention scheme. This presents significant risk to the council 
but also some opportunity in the event of an increase in business rate yield that 
surpasses government targets. Any uncollected business rates, or unfavourable 
variation from government estimates of rateable values, will impact directly on 
council resource available and therefore on resources available to fund and to 
provide services. 

 
59. The business rates retention scheme will include a safety net at 7.5% to protect 

local authorities from significant reductions in collectable rates. This means that 
shortfalls from 0.1% to 7.5% will not be protected and will have to be borne by 
the council.  

196



 

 

 
Business rates monitor 

 
60. The collection rate on business rates is being tracked closely in relation to the 

council's ability to retain 30% of amounts collected.  Previous years collection 
and trends are modelled together with intelligence on changes to the net 
collectable amount through new builds and deletions.   

 
61. Socio economic factors are considered taking into account national issues such 

as businesses hit by the recession.  The council continues to meet with the 
valuation office agency on a regular basis to understand their approach to 
managing appeals, although limited information is forthcoming and delays are 
commonplace (the Shard being an example of outstanding valuation - 
restaurants have taken some time to get into rating).   

 
62. There are many factors that can affect the levels of collection and the council 

has sought specialist advice to help determine likely volumes of income from 
retained business rates.  The complexities of projecting the year end position 
and future years budgetary income have been highlighted by the advisors who 
continue to work with us to determine reasonable estimates.   

 
63. Part of the Financial Risk Reserve has been set aside to help protect the council 

from the risks inherent in the new funding system and especially risks underlying 
business rate retention. 

 
64. At quarter one it is too early to determine whether a call against the financial risk 

reserve will be required. It is anticipated that a better forecast will be available 
when reporting to cabinet at quarter two. In addition, a report on the Council Tax 
and Business Rate collection service will be brought to cabinet in the future to 
demonstrate performance since the service was brought in-house. 

 
Council Tax monitor 

 
65. Council Tax cash collection is performing well when compared to quarter 1 

figures from the last year financial.  This is partly due to the changes agreed by 
the Cabinet relating to the discounts and exemptions pertaining to empty 
properties.  It is therefore anticipated despite the additional £2.8m requirement 
from the 10% reduction in central government support for the Council Tax 
reduction scheme that at this stage the Council will meet the collection fund 
target for the year.  The service is actively pursuing non payment of Council Tax 
and is working proactively to assist customers in genuine need of support. 
 
Treasury management 
 

66. Treasury management covers both cash holdings and debt. The cash is invested 
and applied to spending throughout the year as needed and the investments 
themselves are managed in-house operation and through two investment 
companies; Aberdeen Asset Managers and AllianceBernstein.  

 
67. Capital preservation and liquidity remain priorities. The balance is held in 

deposits and short term money market securities with major high rated banks 
and building societies and in bonds and bills issued by the UK government or 
supranational entities such as the European Investment Bank or the International 
Bank for Reconstruction and Development (the “World Bank”).  

 

197



 

 

68. Over the quarter the sums invested averaged £238m and the sum held with each 
institution as at 30 June 2013 is set out in table 4 below. The investments will be 
liquidated as needed to meet spending over the course of the year. 

 
69. The average part year return over the quarter was 0.12%, reflecting low UK base 

rates (0.50%, equivalent to 0.13% over the quarter) and the stimulatory monetary 
policies which central banks here and abroad still have in place. The balance on 
deposit with major banks and building societies and in bonds is set out in table 4 
below. 

 
Table 4: Counterparty exposure and ratings 
 

Exposure £m                             FUND 

COUNTERPARTY Aberdeen
Alliance 
Bernstein In-House £m Long Short

Sup- 
port Sovereign

Sovereign 
Rating

NORDEA BANK FINLAND 3.8           -          -          3.8           AA- F1+ 1 FINLAND AAA
CREDIT INDUSTRIEL ET COMMERCIAL 3.5           -          -          3.5           A+ F1+ 1 FRANCE AAA
SOCIETE GENERALE -          1.0           -          1.0           A+ F1+ 1 FRANCE AAA
BANQUE NATIONAL DE PARIS 3.5           1.0           10.0         14.5         A+ F1+ 1 FRANCE AAA
DEUTSCHE BANK -          1.0           -          1.0           A+ F1+ 1 GERMANY AAA

GLOBAL TREAS FUNDS-MMF -          -          10.0         10.0         Money FundAAA GLOBAL Money Fund
ABN AMRO BANK 3.5           1.0           -          4.5           A+ F1+ 1 NETHERLANDS AAA
ING BK 3.4           1.0           15.0         19.4         A+ F1+ 1 NETHERLANDS AAA
RABOBANK -          1.0           -          1.0           AA F1+ 1 NETHERLANDS AAA
DNB BANK (DEN NORSKE BANK) 3.5           -          -          3.5           A+ F1 1 NORWAY AAA
EUROPEAN INVESTMENT BANK 7.0           6.5           -          13.5         AAA F1+ SUPRANATIONAL AAA
INTERNATIONAL BK RECONST DEVT 3.5           6.8           -          10.3         AAA F1+ SUPRANATIONAL AAA
SVENSKA HANDELSBANKEN 3.1           -          -          3.1           AA- F1+ 1 SWEDEN AAA

SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN 3.5           1.0           -          4.5           A+ F1 1 SWEDEN AAA
CREDIT SUISSE -          1.1           -          1.1           A F1 1 SWITZERLAND AAA
UBS 3.5           -          -          3.5           A F1 1 SWITZERLAND AAA
BARCLAYS BANK 5.0           1.0           15.0         21.0         A F1 1 UK AA+
LLOYDS TSB/BANK OF SCOTLAND -          -          15.0         15.0         A F1 1 UK AA+
NATIONWIDE BUILDING SOCIETY 3.3           1.0           5.0           9.3           A+ F1 1 UK AA+
RBS/NATWEST -          -          75.0         75.0         A F1 1 UK AA+
UK TREASURY -          26.8         -          26.8         AA+ F1+ UK AA+
BNY MELLON 0.2           0.1           -          0.3           AA- F1+ 1 US AAA

Total £m 50.3         50.3         145.0       245.6       

EXPOSURE - 30 JUNE 2013 COUNTERPARTY AND RATINGS
Fitch Ratings

 
 
70. In April 2013 Fitch Ratings became the second rating agency to lower UK’s 

sovereign rating by one notch. The sovereign is now rated AA+ by Fitch and Aa1 
by Moody’s.  Standard & Poors UK rating remains at AAA.  The downgrade had 
no material impact on gilt yields (the rate at which the UK can borrow at from the 
bond markets).  

 
71. During the quarter financial markets have become sensitive to developments in 

the United States and the timing of any slowdown in stimulus as its economy 
improves. This has led to volatility in sovereign bond yields, both here in the UK 
and overseas. However, yields do still remain close to historical lows. 

 
72. The debt outstanding to fund past capital expenditure from the Public Works 

Loans Board (a local authority lending arm of the UK Treasury) is disaggregated 
between the HRA and the General Fund.  

198



 

 

 
73. As at the end of this quarter the HRA share stands at £451m and the general 

fund at £106.5m. During the quarter £2.5m general fund debt matured and will be 
met from the minimum revenue provision that the council sets aside each year to 
reduce debt. No HRA debt falls for maturity until 2015 and as there is no 
requirement within the HRA to make minimum revenue payments, the maturities 
will need refinancing by their due date. 
 

Community impact statement 
 

74. This report monitors expenditure on council services, compared to the planned 
budget agreed in February 2013.  Although this report has been judged to have 
nil or a very small impact on local people and communities, the projected 
expenditure it is reporting reflects plans designed to have an impact on local 
people and communities. Community impact was considered at the time the 
services and programmes were agreed.  It is important that resources are 
efficiently and effectively utilised to support the council’s policies and objectives. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
None   
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix A Budget movements to be approved, £250k and above and 

movements to be noted. 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Cabinet member Councillor Richard Livingstone, Finance, Resources and 
Community Safety 

Lead officer Duncan Whitfield – Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services 

Report author Jennifer Seeley, Deputy Finance Director 
Version Final 
Dated 6 September 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 
Director of Legal Services No No 
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services n/a n/a 

Cabinet Member Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to constitutional team 6 September 2013 
 

199



 

 

APPENDIX A 
 

BUDGET MOVEMENTS 
 
 
 
Budget movements to be approved 
 
Department 
from 

Amount 
£'000 

Department 
to 

Amount 
£'000 

Reason 

Finance and 
corporate 
services 

(1,602) 
Housing and 
community 
services 

1,602 

Transfer of Customer 
Experience element of One 
Stop Shop budget within the 
new in-house structure. 

Finance and 
corporate 
services 

(402) 
Housing and 
community 
services 

402 Cleaner greener revenue fund 
to community councils 

 
 
 
 
Budget movement to be noted (under £250k) 
 
Department 
from 

Amount 
£'000 

Department 
to 

Amount 
£'000 

Reason 

Housing 
and 
community 
services 

(47) Chief 
Executives 47 

Manna Centre transferring from 
Housing general fund to 
corporate strategy 

 
 
 

200



 

 

 

1 

  

 
Item No.  

18. 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013  
 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Quarter 1 Capital Monitoring for 2013/14  
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

All 

Cabinet Member: 
 
 

Councillor Richard Livingstone, Finance, Resources 
and Community Safety 
 

 
 
FOREWORD - COUNCILLOR RICHARD LIVINGSTONE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE, RESOURCES AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
This report sets out the expenditure performance of the council on its capital 
programme for the first quarter of current year and asks the Cabinet to agree the 
funded variations set out in Appendix C. These variations include utilising money 
saved by the Environment Department through efficiencies to bring the Livesey 
Building back into use. 
 
Further work is being carried out to improve project controls and projections to ensure 
that the council is making an optimal use of the capital budgets. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
That cabinet: 

 
1. Notes the general fund capital programme for the period 2013/14 to 2021/22 as 

at Quarter 1 2013/14, as detailed in appendix A and D. 
 
2. Notes the housing investment programme for the period 2013/14 to 2015/16 as 

at Quarter 1 2013/14, as detailed in Appendix B 
 
3. Approves the virements and funded variations to the general fund and housing 

investment capital programme as detailed in Appendix C. 
 
4. Approves the re-profiling of the expenditure and resources for 2013/14 and 

future years for both the general fund and housing investment programmes as 
detailed in Appendix A, B and D based on latest information available at Quarter 
1 2013/14. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
5. On 16 July 2013, the 2012/13 capital outturn report was presented to the 

cabinet. This reported the capital outturn position of £259m on the general fund 
programme and £85.6m on the housing investment programme for the financial 
year 2012/13. 

 

Agenda Item 18
201



 

 

 

2 

  

6. At that meeting, cabinet also approved the re-profiling of the expenditure and 
resources for the financial year 2013/14 in light of the 2012/13 outturn position 
for both the general fund and housing investment programme and noted that 
further re-profiling will be required during 2013/14 based on more up to date 
information available.  

 
7. With a total forecast spend of approximately £670m the current capital 

programme represents a major element of the council’s financial activities. It has 
a significant and very visible impact on the borough and hence on the lives of 
those who live, learn, visit and or do business in the borough. 

 
8. Due to the size and scale of the capital programme and the number of projects 

involved, it is inevitable that unforeseeable delays can occur which lead to some 
variations against planned spend. Historically the capital programme has been 
over programmed in year to compensate for these variations, whilst retaining a 
balanced programme overall. 

 
9. This report sets out the re-profiled budget and forecast outturn position for 

2013/14 for the General Fund and the Housing Investment Programme (HIP).  
 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
General Fund Capital Spend 
 
10. The 2012/13 capital outturn report showed expenditure of £259m against a total 

budget of £322m on the General Fund. The 2012/13 capital spend also included 
the one-off expenditure of £178.1m for the freehold acquisition of 160 Tooley 
Street. The 2013/14 budgets has been re-profiled in light of the 2012/13 outturn 
position and the revised budgets for 2013/14 indicate a forecast spend of 
£94.2m. The summary position and the programme details by departments are 
reflected in Appendix A and D respectively. 

 
Housing Investment Programme Spend 
 
11. The 2012/13 capital outturn report showed expenditure of £85.6m against a 

budget of £92.6m on the Housing Investment Programme. The 2013/14 budget 
has been re-profiled, taking into account the latest information available on 
contract procurements, scheme progress and possible slippages. The total re-
profiled budgets on the Housing Investment Programme for 2013/14 is £120.6m. 
The majority of the expenditure on the Housing Investment Programme relates 
to the numerous works on the Warm, Dry and Safe programmes which is 
forecast to spend £81.4m in 2013/14. Details of the schemes and budgets within 
the Housing Investment Programme are reflected in Appendix B. 

 
Resource implications 
 
12. The council’s capital resources are comprised of the following: 
 

§ capital receipts from disposal of property 
§ grants 
§ external contributions 
§ section 106 contributions 

202



 

 

 

3 

  

§ housing major repair reserve 
§ contributions from revenue 
§ contribution from reserves 
§ internal borrowing 
§ external borrowing 

 
13. The capital programme is influenced by resource timing and availability. Over the 

life of the programme, all commitments must be met from anticipated resources. 
The final funding requirement will be based on the final actual expenditure, and 
will seek to maximise the use of grants and other funding sources, prior to the 
use of capital receipts.  Regular monitoring and formal reporting regulates the 
programme and mitigates cash flow and funding risks and officers undertake 
regular reviews as part of the process for preparing monthly and quarterly 
monitors to assess income to date, forecasts and changes.  

 
14. Each department forecasts its programme as accurately as possible to minimise 

the need for re-profiling. Where this does occur, the requirement is flagged as 
early as possible and budgets re-profiled in line with anticipated spend. Given 
the general complexity of capital projects, it is common to see some variation in 
the profile of the actual programme against the forecast. The impact of this is 
mitigated through regular formal monitoring, departmental reviews and access to 
a resource base wide enough to cope with change.  

 
15. In developing and managing its capital programme the council has to maintain 

clear control on the selection and use of resources to finance capital 
expenditure. Strategies for investments, borrowing and treasury management 
facilitate this control and assist the council to have clear strategic direction on its 
use of resources, to identify new resources or to make changes to the use of 
resources at an organisational level as projects complete or new projects 
appear.   

 
Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 
 
16. The council can enter into a Section 106 (S106) agreement, otherwise known as 

a planning obligation, with a developer where it is necessary to provide 
contributions to offset the deemed negative impacts caused by construction and 
development. Contribution requirements can take several forms and range from 
provision of affordable homes and new open space to funding of school places 
or community facilities. Depending on the agreement, developers may deliver 
works directly or choose to make payments to the council to undertake work.  

 
17. Use of S106 funding has been forecast in the programme, which is provided 

through existing balances and new funds anticipated from future agreements. 
Some changes to the use of S106 planning obligations are anticipated resulting 
from the adoption of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) regime and the 
council is proposing to update its S106 planning obligations statutory planning 
document to the same timescale as development and adoption of the CIL.  

 
18. The CIL is a levy which local authorities can choose to charge on new 

developments occurring in their area, with the funds raised being used to deliver 
infrastructure required by the council, local community and neighbourhoods. Use 
of the levy as a potential funding source for capital schemes was outlined in a 

203



 

 

 

4 

  

report considered by cabinet on 17 July 2012.  
 
19. A draft charging schedule was published in April 2013, followed by consultation. 

The council is working towards a 2014 adoption date for its own CIL.  The capital 
programme will be subject to future refresh and pending finalisation of the 
charging schedule for CIL this may be used to support appropriate schemes.  

 
New Homes Bonus 
 
20. The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is intended to support local authorities and 

communities where growth in housing stock occurs. The allocation formula 
matches the level of council tax paid on each new home for six years, with an 
additional £350 per affordable unit. The grant is not ring-fenced so no restrictions 
apply to its use.  

 
21. Payments for NHB amounted to £5.1m in 2012/13, of which £1.5m was allocated 

to fund revenue expenditure, with the balance earmarked to fund capital 
expenditure. This was in accordance with a cabinet decision of 21 June 2011 
that all NHB resources not committed to the revenue budget should be allocated 
to corporate resources to fund future capital expenditure.  

 
22. The same level of revenue commitment was at that time assumed in forecasts 

for future years to 2016/17 and the balance to be allocated to capital. There are, 
however, changes expected in the financing arrangement for the New Bonus 
Scheme in 2013/14 and this will be reviewed as part of the future revenue 
budget setting process. 

 
Contributions from Earmarked Reserves 
 
23. Reserves are funds set aside from under spends or planned budget 

contributions, to meet contractual commitments or future expenditure plans 
which may include risks or liabilities that arise at a later date. Three reserves 
which have relevance for funding the capital programme are outlined below. 

 
24. The modernisation reserve supports one-off expenditure or multi-year projects 

designed to modernise and further improve the operational efficiency of 
Southwark’s service provision. The use of the reserve is subject to a protocol 
listing admissible items in accordance with the council’s Medium Term 
Resources Strategy. 

 
25. The regeneration and development reserve funds one-off expenditure and multi-

year projects delivering regeneration and development across the borough. 
Relevant projects include the Aylesbury Estate Regeneration, Canada Water, 
and Elephant & Castle Regeneration.  

 
26. In 2011/12 the council established a compliance and planned preventative 

maintenance reserve which may be used to support activities upgrading the 
wider council estate in line with legislative and/or preventative maintenance 
requirements. The reserve could for example be used to support the 
implementation of a maintenance programme in specific parts of the council’s 
operational estate. Use of the reserve would need to be requested through 
appropriate approval channels, such as via cabinet, and it is likely that works 

204



 

 

 

5 

  

would be programmed over more than one year, or relate to more than one site.  
 
Capital Receipts 
 
27. The council operates a ten-year disposals programme. Planned disposals 

generate capital receipts which the council can use as a funding source to 
finance capital expenditure.  

 
28. Capital receipts are categorised as Housing or General Fund depending on the 

nature of the asset giving rise to the receipt. Certain receipts arising from right to 
buy sales are also generated within the housing disposals programme and are 
subject to pooling arrangements with government, so that the council can repay 
housing debt.  

 
29. The annual receipts forecast to 2021/22 is between £30-£40m per annum 

generated by disposals from both general fund and housing and this will be 
updated regularly based on the latest information available on the disposal 
programme and market conditions for properties. 

 
30. The disposals programme is subject to ongoing review by officers to mitigate the 

risk of funding unavailability due to timings or amounts received in year. The 
capital receipts forecasts together with other sources of funding will be monitored 
on a regular basis for funding the capital programme. In the event that in-year 
funding generated by disposals is insufficient to meet the level of expenditure, 
alternative short term sources of funding may need to be accessed or projects 
deferred or re-profiled. Short term sources of funding include use of earmarked 
reserves and/or accelerating the disposals programme. 

 
Capital Grants 
 
31. The council uses a range of capital grants to fund capital expenditure. These 

grants tend to be programme or project specific since each has grant 
requirements of some form and the largest areas of grant use often correspond 
to the largest and most complex projects. The Southwark Schools for the Future 
(SSF) programme has the highest grant use on a single scheme with 
approximately £47m of grant funding over the remainder of the capital 
programme.  

 
32. Grants may be provided as a sole funding source, or as one of several funding 

sources depending on project requirements. In each case grant funding 
conditions of some form should be met to demonstrate that grants have been 
applied for the purposes given and audit trails are maintained.   

 
Resourcing to Quarter 1 2013/14 
 
33. A number of balances were brought forward from the 2012/13 capital outturn and 

can be applied in 2013/14 in addition to the resources received in year. 
 
34. In terms of capital receipts, a balance of £29.4m was brought forward from the 

capital receipts reserve from the 2012/13 outturn position towards funding capital 
expenditure in 2013/14. As at the end of Quarter 1 2013/14, £6.1m had been 
received from housing receipts.  

205



 

 

 

6 

  

 
35. A grants balance of £98.7m was also brought forward from 2012/13 of which 

£74.9m relates to S106 funds used to fund both capital and revenue 
programmes and £23.8m relates to other grants. 

 
36. At the end of Quarter 1 2013/14, £11.2m grant had been received including 

£7.6m of education related grants and £3.7m secured through S106 
agreements.  

 
37. The above resources will be monitored and applied as appropriate to schemes in 

2013/14. 
 
Programme position at Quarter 1 2013/14 
 
38. Attached at Appendix A is a summary of the general fund programme position as 

at Quarter 1 of 2013/14. This shows a total expenditure budget of £342.6m 
budgeted over the programme from 2013/14 to 2021/22.  

 
39. Attached at Appendix B is a summary of the housing investment programme 

position as at Quarter 1 of 2013/14. This shows a total expenditure budget of 
£328.1m over the programme from 2013/14 to 2015/16.  

 
40. Appendix C shows the budget virements and variations arising in quarter 1 of 

2013/14.  
 
41. Appendix D shows a more detailed view of the general fund programme on 

individual projects or groups of projects over the period 2013/14 to 2021/22.  
 
42. This programme position will continue to be monitored and reviewed over the 

remainder of the financial year and the final outturn position will be reported to 
cabinet. 

 
Departmental Updates 

 
43. The sections below provide commentary on the budget position by 

departments for 2013/14. 
 
GENERAL FUND (APPENDIX A) 
 
Children’s and Adult Services  
 
44. In summary the capital programme across Children's and Adults Services is 

£102.5m with a profiled budget of £19.2m for 2013/14 and expenditure incurred 
of £1.6m as at Quarter 1 2013/14.   

 
Children's Services  
 
45. The revised capital programme for the period 2013/14 to 2021/22 has been 

increased by the 2013/14 and 2014/15 DfE grants totalling £15.9m resulting in 
an overall programme of £88.8m. The profiled budget for 2013/14 is £15.8m. 

 
46. The expenditure incurred as at Quarter 1 2013/14 is £1.6m with the majority of 

206



 

 

 

7 

  

the spend relating to Southwark Park Primary School new build school opening 
next year.  Other areas of significant spend scheduled for 2013/14 will be for 
school expansions including Lyndhurst.    

 
47. As the plans for delivering the primary expansion programme are being refined, 

a potential funding gap of £16m is emerging for 2015/16, dependent on 
government capital grant allocations and potential strategies to meet this funding 
gap are under consideration 

 
Adults' Services  
 
48. The revised capital programme for the period 2013/14 to 2021/22 has been 

increased by the 2013/14 and 2014/15 DoH grants totalling £1.7m resulting in an 
overall programme of £13.7m. The profiled budget for 2013/14 is £3.4m. 

 
49. Expenditure of £8k has been incurred as at Quarter 1 2013/14 on the Southwark 

Resource Centre.  The main areas of capital expenditure scheduled for 2013/14 
are the Centre of Excellence and the refurbishment of the Orient Street respite 
unit.   

 
Southwark Schools for the Future 
 
50. The capital programme for the period 2013/14 to 2021/22 is £47m with a profiled 

budget of £12.5m for 2013/14. 
 
51. The largest area of spend in 2013/14 will be for the schools at St Michael’s and 

All Angels (SMAA) site which incorporates the new Highshore Special School.  
 
52. The expenditure at Quarter 1 2013/14 is £1.9m of which £1.7m is for 

SMAA/Highshore construction works. 
 
Finance and Corporate Services 
 
53. The capital programme of the department focuses on two key areas: information 

technology infrastructure projects and premises improvements to council 
buildings. 

 
54. The departmental capital programme for the period 2013/14 to 2021/22 is 

£22.0m with a profiled budget of £7.0m for 2013/14. The expenditure incurred as 
at Quarter 1 2013/14 is £0.4m and the remaining £6.6m spend scheduled to be 
incurred by the end of 2013/14. 

 
55. The council has engaged a new Information Technology Managed Service 

supplier which will be delivering a series of core enabling projects to modernise 
the provision of IT services in the council and the expenditure in 2013/14 is 
expected to be £5.0m. 

 
56. Facilities management (FM) services are undertaking a comprehensive planned 

preventative maintenance compliance programme on the fabric of council 
properties from 2013/14 onwards. The work follows on from an earlier phase 
where the council undertook Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) works to its 
front-line premises. It is anticipated that this work will be funded through a 

207



 

 

 

8 

  

combination of corporate resources and reserves. 
 
Environment & Leisure  
 
57. Environment and leisure department’s latest approved capital budget for 2013/14 

is £23.9m against the projected expenditure of £21.7m, giving an overall 
favourable variance of £2.1m to be carried forward into 2014/15.  
 

58. Total approved E&L capital programme and projected spend from 2013/14 to 
2021/22 is £89.3m.  

 
Sustainable Services  

 
59. The budget of £2.6m for the current financial year 2013/14 is mainly S106 items 

and retention sums for the access road contract.  The planning related costs 
which may be payable to planning and highway authorities (LBS and TfL) are 
conditional on the results of a number of road traffic surveys likely to take place 
later this year.  The financial implications of the outcome of the surveys may not 
be immediately known and the budgets may have to be held for a while longer. 
Projections are based on best estimates from planning documents. 

 
60. The remaining budget includes £520k in respect of the S106 obligation to 

provide an Off-Site Renewable Energy Infrastructure. This will be discharged by 
the Southwark Heat Network from South East London Combined Heat and 
Power plant (SELCHP) project which is expected to be operational in the autumn 
of 2013.  Therefore, a budget virement is requested for cabinet approval to 
transfer £520k to meet the requirements for South Dock Marina.  This virement 
is shown and requested for approval in Appendix C. 

 
Public Realm  
 
61. Cleaner Greener Safer (CGS) forecast for 2013/14 is £2.5m. This is an increase 

of 30% on the 2012/13 final outturn.  This reflects an enhanced focus on 
delivering these projects.  

 
62. The Non Principal Road (NPR) Programme is forecast to achieve a full spend. 

Orders will be placed with the contractor for full value by mid July; with the 
exception of budgets devolved to Community Councils since most areas have 
deferred decision until October 2013. 

 
63. The Burgess Park BMX track project is on programme to open in August 2013 

and the project is expected to be delivered within budget. 
 

64. The next phase of the cemetery strategy has been delivered with the provision of 
800 burial spaces at Camberwell old cemetery. Detailed design has commenced 
on the delivery of the next phase of the strategy with the aim of submitting a 
planning application later this year to create a further 200 burial spaces at 
Camberwell new cemetery. 

 
65. Out of £1.1m allocated to fund the upfront capital costs for the new parking 

enforcement contract, only £850k is now estimated as required. Therefore a 
budget virement is requested for cabinet approval to transfer the unused £250k 

208



 

 

 

9 

  

to fund £99k additional costs required for the Livesey building and the remaining 
£151k towards the South Dock Marina health & safety works.  This virement is 
shown and requested for approval in Appendix C. 

 
66. The asset condition survey completed in March 2013 for South Dock Marina 

identified urgent decking, pontoons and electrical works to meet Health and 
Safety requirements. In addition, new shower and lavatory facilities are also 
required to replace existing equipment in the berth holder facility which is no 
longer fit for purpose. The latest estimated costs of these works are £771k for 
which £100k has already been allocated at last capital refresh. It is proposed to 
fund the remaining £671k from the favourable variances mentioned above in this 
report and for which virements are sought.   

 
Culture Libraries Learning and Leisure  
 
67. Work at Pynners Sports Ground involves rebuilding the pavilion that was 

destroyed by a fire number of years ago. The project has slipped because of 
ongoing issues with external contractors regarding electrical cabling to the 
pavilion but the pavilion is expected to re-open in summer 2013. 

 
68. The Thomas Calton Centre refurbishment was started late in 2012/13 and will 

complete in 2013/14. The works are to address longstanding maintenance 
issues to the roof and fabric of the building. Spend is profiled over 2 years for 
this project. 

 
69. Olympic Legacy Fund - This capital programme was a provision of £2m over 2 

years for the Southwark 2012 Olympic capital legacy fund with an objective to 
invest in capital projects that support a lasting Olympic and Paralympic legacy in 
Southwark from the 2012 games, improving access to and increasing 
participation in physical activity and encouraging the development of the Olympic 
values in the borough’s communities. All the projects except Southwark Park 
Athletics Track (SPAT) are now in their construction phase. This spend has 
successfully attracted £991k of external funding. 

 
70. Implementation of RFID equipment (Radio Frequency Identification) at Dulwich 

and Peckham was completed in 2012/13 and two more libraries are scheduled 
for 2013/14 onwards. 

 
71. Significant investment is being made in Peckham Pulse to address some long 

standing building issues and to improve the environment for customers. The 
works will be carried out over two phases. The options details for phase one 
(2013/14) are being drawn up with Fusion (cafe/reception and spa suite). Air 
conditioning works will commence later this summer and a communication plan 
will be implemented prior to the works. The project management procurement for 
phase two (2014/15) is progressing.   

 
72. There is a potential new occupier for the Livesey building, Treasure House, an 

educational organisation and ideally they would like to move in during December 
2013. To get the building up to a habitable standard, a number of important 
structural issues including works to the roof, windows, removal of asbestos, and 
other repairs have to be carried out. The surveyor’s report estimates the total 
cost of these works of around £204k. We currently have £105k available, a sum 

209



 

 

 

10 

  

realised from the sale of TALIS shares in the last quarter of 2012/13. It is 
proposed that the remaining £99k be funded from the favourable variance 
mentioned above.  

 
Community Safety.  
 
73. The CCTV project is expected to be completed by 31 March 2014 within the 

allocated budget. 
 
Chief Executive’s Department  
 
74. The capital budget for the chief executive’s department over the period 2013/14 

to 2021/22 is £56.4m. This also includes funding confirmed since the 2012/13 
outturn report was presented to Cabinet in July 2013 of an additional capital 
grant allocation of £1.8m funded by Transport for London (TfL). The department 
is currently forecasting an expenditure of £25m for 2013/14 and £31.4m for the 
period 2014/15 to 2015/16. These forecasts will be subject to ongoing review 
throughout the year. 

 
75. The Framework and Implementation team within the planning division has a 

budget of £3.5m with forecast expenditure of £1.9m for 2013/14 and £1.6m for 
2014/15. The following public realm and streetscape improvement projects are 
on site; 

 
• The Nunhead Outer London Fund (OLF) schemes, partly funded by 

GLA grant are progressing with the pop-up shop now let to the first 
tenant.  

• The bridge lighting scheme is completed and the festival programme 
finalised.  

• The green consultation is progressing well and the shop front 
improvements have been submitted for planning permission. 

 
76. The division is currently undertaking the final snagging of Legible London way 

finding system in Bankside and Bermondsey to agree the final account. St 
James’ Churchyard in the Bermondsey Spa programme was completed and a 
dedication service held. Also part of the Bermondsey Spa programme, Abbey 
Street Tunnel works are progressing and are due for completion in Quarter 1. 

 
77. Schemes due to start on site at the beginning of Quarter 2 include Lamb Walk 

public realm improvements and Whites Ground skate park refurbishment. Other 
projects currently under development for commencement later in 2013/14 
include Mint Street Park improvements, Lavington and Ewer Streets public 
realm, Alice Street redesign and resurfacing and St John’s Churchyard play area 
improvements.   

 
78. The planning and transport division has a budget of £16.2m with forecast 

expenditure of £6.3m in 2013/14, and the balance of £9.9m profiled for the 
period 2014/15 to 2015/16. In addition to various transport improvements 
projects, other key projects include Gateway to Peckham and Revitalise5 
Camberwell, a £10.5m scheme to transform public realm and provide a new 
library in Camberwell.  

210



 

 

 

11 

  

 
79. Works have recently commenced on the installation of lifts at Queens Road 

Peckham Station, which are due to be completed by the end of the year and will 
be complemented by a new plaza.  Works are nearing completion on a number 
of transport improvement projects including East Walworth and Faraday Green 
Links and Riverside traffic management. Funding has been agreed in principle 
through the Mayor’s Air Quality Fund to deliver air quality improvements in the 
borough. 

 
80. The Regeneration division has a budget of £36.7m with forecast expenditure of 

£16.7m in 2013/14 and £20m for the period 2014/15 to 2015/16. Key projects 
within the regeneration division include the construction of a new leisure centre 
at Elephant & Castle, public realm improvement schemes in Bermondsey and 
the Office Accommodation programme, amongst others.    

 
81. The council’s office accommodation programme is progressing with the 

development of a generic office fit out at Queens Road 2. The site will deliver 86 
workstations spread over four floors. Enabling works on site commenced on 1 
July 2013 with the main construction programmed to commence on 22 July 
2013. Practical completion is scheduled for the end of Nov 2013. 

 
82. Negotiations for a lease for a third site at Queens Road (Queens Road 3) were 

completed in September 2012. Fit out works commenced on 5 November 2012, 
with practical completion achieved ahead of schedule in April 2013. The first 
occupation was on target on 22 April 2013 with full occupation successfully 
achieved on 31 May 2013. The full operation of this site has been brought 
forward in order to rapidly deliver a high quality 120 desk customer contact 
centre, delivered in time for the provision of a new in-house service which 
commenced on 1 June 2013. 

 
Housing General Fund 
 
83. The total budgets for the Housing General Fund capital programme for the 

period 2013/14 to 2021/22 is £25.4m and the profiled budgeted expenditure for 
2013/14 is £8.7m 

 
Housing Renewal 
 
84. Grant funding of £449k was made available for 2012/13 through the South East 

London Housing Partnership (SELHP) for empty homes grants.   £95k was spent 
in 2012/13 with the remainder re-profiled and committed for spend from 2013/14 
onwards. The scheme is directed toward reinstatement of empty homes via GLA 
funding and provision of loans.  

 
85. An additional £198k has been confirmed by HCA/GLA for 2013/14 for the Empty 

Homes fund round 1 to develop 13 units.  It has been preferable to use these 
additional funds first and so reduce the immediate call on the corporate budgets, 
which will be carried forward to continue the programme meeting future demand, 
as HCA/GLA funding is not guaranteed after this year.  

 
86. Demand for disabled facilities grant remains high, with a profiled budget of 

£1.3m in 2013/14 including £340k of commitments.  Other changes have been 

211



 

 

 

12 

  

agreed to budget profiles to reflect demand across various grant types.   
 

87. An overall sum of £4.6m is anticipated to be available from government grant 
funding for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) to 2021/22 to cover housing 
renewal works.  It is likely that there could be significant pressure if the council is 
to meet ongoing demand in this service area from 2013/14 with the resources 
available solely through DFG with spend and commitments of £1.7m for 
2013/14.  The call on resources from registered providers in the borough in 
addition to Southwark residents has been managed through a series of 
agreements to contribute at least 50% towards the cost of works.  

 
88. In 2013/14 it is proposed to make savings adjustments to the level of assistance 

available under the various grants and loans schemes operated by the housing 
renewal section, in light of resource availability.  A number of cases have rolled 
forward to 2013/14 due to anticipating the revised levels of assistance coming 
into place.  There will also be a move towards more loan based products than 
grants.  Currently the home repair grant has slow spend in the first quarter but it 
is anticipated that as the move towards loan assistance comes into force, the 
budgets will be vired accordingly.    

 
Travellers’ Sites  
 

89. Work has started on the Springtide Travellers’ site, progressing well and is due 
to be completed in quarter 4. 

 
Housing Investment Programme  
 
90. The Housing Investment Programme consists of a series of works to Housing 

Revenue Account properties, which are detailed in Appendix B. Progress on this 
programme is summarised as follows; 

 
Warm Dry and Safe (WDS) 
 

91. Despite a delayed start and the mutual conclusion of two of the partnering 
contracts, spend targets for the 2012/13 WDS schemes was achieved and a 
spend target of £80m has been set for 2013/14 as the programme continues to 
accelerate. Spend in quarter 1 has been steady with £7m spent. The programme 
is still forecasting to achieve the spend target with many of the 2013/14 schemes 
and prior year, brought forward schemes due to start later in the year. Accurate 
forecasting has proved difficult as the extent of works required to meet the WDS 
standard is generally higher than the provision made in the programme.  

 
92. The schemes originally forming part of the 2011/12 programme are now all on 

site, although some of the work on the Hawkstone Estate is phased to begin 
later in the year. The majority of schemes are due to complete this financial year. 
The 2011/12 programme is behind schedule mainly due to the delayed decision 
by Lands Tribunal in December 2011 and replacing of Wates and Breyer 
(partnering contractors) following the mutual conclusion of those contracts. The 
replacement of the contractors will mean that that the programme will incur 
additional overall costs. 

 
93. The majority of schemes from the 2012/13 programme are on site. Due to the 

212



 

 

 

13 

  

mutual conclusion of the Breyer contract, the Brandon estate will start this 
financial year. The Dickens estate previously under Wates will also be on site in 
the current financial year. The agreed costs for the schemes are higher than 
estimated in the stock condition survey and the WDS contingency fund is being 
used to meet the budget shortfall. The actual expenditure on these schemes is 
expected to rise.  

 
94. The entire 2013/14 programme is expected on site this year with the exception of 

the WDS works at Aylesbury, due to the phasing of the regeneration programme. 
Acorn is also on hold but will follow on from completion of regeneration heating 
works.   

 
95. £14.9m of works from future years have been brought forward to start in 2013/14 

using the Decent Homes Backlog funding.  
 

96. The trend of schemes requiring more resources than the stock condition survey 
estimate is expected to continue, so the contingency in the programme is 
expected to be inadequate to complete the programme. The 18 October 2011 
Cabinet report only allowed for £29m of backlog funding towards the Housing 
Investment Programme. In June 2013 Cabinet approved the additional £48.8m 
of backlog funding that was not accounted for in the original resources planned 
for the programme, to be added to the investment assumptions for the delivery of 
the WDS programme in addition to the current resources. This additional budget 
will be added and profiled across the years once the scheme costs are clarified 
and confirmed.  A further report in December 2013 will formally request for any 
additional resources, for the completion of the WDS programme.  

 
97. The £4m individual heating budget is showing spend of £694k at the end of 

quarter 1. However, in terms of delivery the programme is ahead of schedule but 
there is a slight lag in capitalisation and is currently forecast to meet budget.  
The remaining WDS district heating schemes are expected to be on site this 
year. The 2015/16 WDS district heating schemes are being brought forward to 
start in early 2014/15.  

 
98. All high rise blocks with a substantial risk from the fire risk assessments have 

been completed as part of the Fire Risk Assessment (FRA) Programme. Majority 
of the higher moderate risk high rise blocks are also complete except for works 
being completed to coincide with the WDS programme. Gloucester Grove and 
Netley have also been added to the programme and are currently being funded 
from the WDS contingency budget. Whilst the programme has addressed the 
higher risk properties, there are still lower moderate risk high rise blocks 
requiring work. In addition further surveys are being undertaken on FRA works 
required for street properties and lower rise blocks. Work is being undertaken to 
prioritise these assets in discussion with the London Fire Brigade. A paper is 
being prepared for approval for the additional resources required. 

 
99. Financial year 2013/14 began with 1,451 homes categorised as ‘non-decent’  

meaning a decency level of 56.5%. The overall level of decent homes at the end 
of quarter 1 was 56.9%. This is only a small rise and is due to the low number of 
completions in the first quarter.  

 
100. As more schemes are on site and completing in 2013/14, there is expected to be 

213



 

 

 

14 

  

a larger net rise in the levels of homes meeting the decency standard this year.  
 

101. Cabinet previously approved additional resources of £22.9m to the High 
Investment Needs Estate of additional works to Hawkstone (£4.7m), Four 
Squares (£14.1m) and Abbeyfield (£4.2m) of which only £18.4m had been 
previously profiled in the Housing Investment Programme. The current re-
profiled budgets as at Quarter 1 2013/14 reflect the total budgets agreed by 
cabinet previously and this is reflected in Appendix C.  

 
Housing Regeneration 
 

102. On 19 March 2013, cabinet approved the increase in budget for East Dulwich 
Regeneration by a further £1.3m as part of the proposal to fund the new build on 
the Gatebeck and Southdown sites, drying room conversions and environmental 
works. The increased budgets has been profiled across the years in line with the 
expected spend and is reflected in Appendix C. 

 
Other Programmes 
 

103. On 14 May 2013, cabinet approved an additional £4m budget in the housing 
investment programme for the upgrading of the existing communal heating 
systems and to improve energy efficiency of the heating system. Three main 
measures proposed as part of this project were new boiler burners, new Building 
Energy Management System (BEMS) and Dirt Separation. This one- off cost is 
being funded from the ring-fenced heating account reserve held within the 
Housing Revenue Account. The £4m budget is profiled to be incurred across 
2013/14 and 2014/15 and this is reflected in Appendix C. 

 
Resource Re-profiling 
 
104. The budgets across the capital programme have been profiled based on the 

latest information as at Quarter 1 2013/14. However, due to the size of the 
capital programme and the number of projects involved, it is inevitable that 
unforeseen delays can occur leading to some variation against planned 
expenditure. Some of the forecasts will require further re-profiling as the 
programme will be subject to on-going review by service managers during 
2013/14 in terms of expected spend for the year based on the latest information 
available on procurement and contract management issues. 

 
Community impact statement 
 
105. This report describes the current capital position on the council’s capital 

programme .The projected expenditure reflects plans designed to have a 
beneficial impact on local people and communities, which will be considered at 
the time the services and programmes are agreed.  It is important that resources 
are used efficiently and effectively to support the council’s policies and 
objectives. 

 
106. Each project within the capital programme will be considered with regard to its 

impact on age, disability, faith/religion, gender, race and ethnicity and sexual 
orientation. 

 

214



 

 

 

15 

  

107. The council’s capital programme is designed to deliver projects of value to local 
people. 

 
Resource implications 
 
108. This report forms part of the council’s budget framework and outlines the current 

position on the capital programme. 
 
109. Staffing resources are generally contained within the council’s current 

establishments and where additional or specialist resources are needed these 
will be subject to separate reports.  

 
Legal implications 
 
110. The legal implications of this report are identified in the concurrent report 

of the Director of Legal Services. 
 
Financial implications 
 
111. This report fully explores the financial implications of the capital programme for 

the general fund and the housing investment programme at Quarter 1 of 
2013/14. The report presents the capital programme over the period 2013/14 to 
2021/22 where predicted resources are sufficient to meet anticipated spend. 

 
Consultation  
 
112. Consultation on the overall programme has not taken place.  However, each of 

the individual projects is subject to such consultation as may be required or 
desirable when developed.  Some projects may require more extensive 
consultation than others, for example projects with an impact on the public realm. 
Projects funded by grant or s106 may require consultation as a condition of 
funding. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services  
 
113. The council has a duty to maintain a balanced budget throughout the year and, 

accordingly, members are required to regularly monitor the council's financial 
position. Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a duty on the 
council to monitor its budgets throughout the financial year, using the same 
figures for reserves as were used in the original budget calculations. The council 
must take necessary appropriate action to deal with any deterioration in the 
financial position revealed by the review. 

 
114. The Capital Programme satisfies the council’s duty under the Local Government 

Act 1999 which requires it to make arrangement to secure the continuous 
improvement in the way its functions are exercised, by having regards to the 
combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 

 

215



 

 

 

16 

  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Housing Investment Programme - 
18 October 2011 (Cabinet) 

http://moderngov.southwark.g
ov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?
CId=302&MId=3816&Ver=4 

Jay Nair, Senior 
Finance Manager, 
Finance and 
Corporate Services 

East Dulwich regeneration 
funding – 19 March 2013 
(Cabinet) 

http://moderngov.southwark.g
ov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?
CId=302&MId=4252&Ver=4 

Jay Nair, Senior 
Finance Manager, 
Finance and 
Corporate Services 

Housing Investment Programme 
(Heating Systems) - 14 May 2013 
(Cabinet) 

http://moderngov.southwark.g
ov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?
CId=302&MId=4254&Ver=4 

Jay Nair, Senior 
Finance Manager, 
Finance and 
Corporate Services 

2012/13 Capital Outturn report - 
16 July 2013 (Cabinet) 

http://moderngov.southwark.g
ov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?
CId=302&MId=4549&Ver=4 

Jay Nair, Senior 
Finance Manager, 
Finance and 
Corporate Services 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix A General fund summary monitoring position 
Appendix B Housing investment programme summary monitoring position 
Appendix C Budget virements and variations at quarter 1 2013/14 
Appendix D General fund programme detail 
 

216



 

 

 

17 

  

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member 

 
Councillor Richard Livingstone, Finance, Resources and 
Community Safety 

Lead Officer Duncan Whitfield, Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services 

Report Author Jay Nair, Senior Finance Manager, Finance and Corporate 
Services 

Version Final 
Dated 6 September 2013 

Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director for Finance 
and Corporate Services. 

N/A N/A 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 6 September 2013 
 

217



General Fund Capital Programme Summary – 2013/14 at Quarter 1       APPENDIX A 
 

Page 1 of 1 
 

Department

Budget Spend to date Forecast Variance Budget Forecast Variance Budget Forecast Variance Total 
Budget @ 
01/04/2013

Total 
Forecast

Total 
Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Children's and Adult Services 19,230 1,618 19,230 0 71,014 71,014 0 12,250 12,250 0 102,494 102,494 0
Southwark Schools for the Future 12,492 1,904 12,492 0 9,311 9,311 0 25,210 25,210 0 47,013 47,013 0
Finance and Corporate Services 6,972 419 6,972 0 2,488 2,488 0 12,499 12,499 0 21,959 21,959 0
Environment 23,908 1,818 21,770 (2,138) 15,805 17,943 2,138 49,540 49,540 0 89,253 89,253 0
Housing General Fund 8,706 590 8,706 0 3,659 3,659 0 13,069 13,069 0 25,434 25,434 0
Chief Executive 25,026 3,570 25,026 0 26,951 26,951 0 4,422 4,422 0 56,399 56,399 0

TOTAL 96,334 9,919 94,196 (2,138) 129,228 131,366 2,138 116,990 116,990 0 342,552 342,552 0

FINANCED BY:
Corporate Resource Pool 25,000 6,449 25,000 0 16,975 16,975 0 101,465 101,465 0 143,440 143,440 0
Major Repairs Allowance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Supported Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reserves 4,799 335 4,986 187 7,300 7,113 (187) 3,251 3,251 0 15,350 15,350 0
Revenue 1,410 0 1,410 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,410 1,410 0
Capital Grants 39,440 2,927 39,243 (197) 58,714 58,911 197 47,068 47,068 0 145,222 145,222 0
Section 106 Funds 10,934 158 10,934 0 4,910 4,910 0 4,905 4,905 0 20,749 20,749 0
External Contributions 1,106 50 1,106 0 0 0 0 50 50 0 1,156 1,156 0
Internal Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL RESOURCES 82,689 9,919 82,679 (10) 87,899 87,909 10 156,739 156,739 0 327,327 327,327 0

Forecast variation (under)/over 13,645 0 11,517 (2,128) 41,329 43,457 2,128 (39,749) (39,749) 0 15,225 15,225 0

2013/14 2015/16+2014/15 Total Programme 2013/14-21/22

 

218



APPENDIX B 
 
HRA Capital Programme Summary – 2013/14 at Quarter 1 
 

Page 1 of 2 

Programme Project description
Budget Spend to date Forecast Variance Budget Forecast Variance 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Warm dry and safe WDS carry-over schemes 567 408 567 0 0 0 0

WDS 2-year programme 23,885 1,938 23,885 0 2,315 2,315 0

WDS 2012 major works 10,239 1,497 10,239 0 4,000 4,000 0

WDS 2013 major works 8,730 3 8,730 0 19,561 19,561 0

WDS 2014 major works 2,895 64 2,895 0 46,107 46,107 0

WDS 2015 major works 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
FRA works 3,652 785 3,652 0 1,512 1,512 0
M&E electrical 249 13 249 0 2,700 2,700 0
M&E heating 8,144 563 8,144 0 9,058 9,058 0
M&E lifts 1,878 153 1,878 0 2,500 2,500 0
WDS voids works 3,987 0 3,987 0 4,000 4,000 0
WDS Leathermarket JMB 1,090 0 1,090 0 1,100 1,100 0
WDS Unallocated Budget 2,325 9 2,325 0 2,360 2,360 0

HINE schemes HINE WDS works 13,450 1,778 13,450 0 1,110 1,110 0
HINE additional works 300 0 300 0 16,998 16,998 0

Regeneration Aylesbury Estate PPM works 4,531 456 4,531 0 916 916 0
Aylesbury Estate regeneration 7,094 282 7,094 0 7,556 7,556 0
Bermondsey Spa refurbishment 920 68 920 0 0 0 0
East Dulwich Estate 1,876 10 1,876 0 1,000 1,000 0
Elmington Estate 2,581 478 2,581 0 2,000 2,000 0
Heygate Estate 10,665 71 10,665 0 3,317 3,317 0
Hidden Homes 296 59 296 0 300 300 0
Hostels new build 1,200 57 1,200 0 1,330 1,330 0
Local authority new build 140 212 140 0 0 0 0
Misc regen, acquisitions and home loss 673 96 673 0 150 150 0

Other programmes Adaptations 2,000 331 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0
Affordable housing through commuted sums 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash incentive scheme 207 91 207 0 112 112 0
Digital switchover 0 17 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals costs 454 2 454 0 500 500 0
Energy 0 0 0 0 200 200 0
Environmental / play areas 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fire damage reinstatement 107 29 107 0 1,000 1,000 0
Group repairs 0 0 0 0 272 272 0
Hostels accommodation 1,396 378 1,396 0 718 718 0
Leasehold / freehold acquisitions 525 10 525 0 300 300 0
Major voids 1,000 27 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0
Office accommodation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Scheme management costs 1,000 362 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0
Security 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sheltered accommodation 41 44 41 0 0 0 0
T&RA halls 465 0 465 0 501 501 0
Heating Energy Efficiency Measures 2,000 0 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0

TOTAL 120,562 10,291 120,562 0 139,493 139,493 0

FINANCED BY:

Corporate Resource Pool 5,857 0 5,857 0 5,000 5,000 0
Housing receipts 35,681 10,291 35,681 0 22,266 22,266 0
Major Repairs Allowance 46,000 0 46,000 0 45,930 45,930 0
Supported Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reserves & Revenue 14,900 0 14,900 0 14,900 14,900 0
Capital Grants 15,471 0 15,471 0 51,397 51,397 0
Section 106 Funds 50 0 50 0 0 0 0
External Contributions 2,603 0 2,603 0 0 0 0

TOTAL RESOURCES 120,562 10,291 120,562 0 139,493 139,493 0

Forecast variation (under)/over 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2013/14 2014/15

219



APPENDIX B 
 
HRA Capital Programme Summary – 2013/14 at Quarter 1 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Programme Project description
Budget Forecast Variance Total Budget @ 

01/04/2013
Total Forecast Total Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Warm dry and safe WDS carry-over schemes 0 0 0 567 567 0

WDS 2-year programme 0 0 0 26,200 26,200 0

WDS 2012 major works 0 0 0 14,239 14,239 0

WDS 2013 major works 65 65 0 28,356 28,356 0

WDS 2014 major works 177 177 0 49,179 49,179 0

WDS 2015 major works 32,634 32,634 0 32,634 32,634 0
FRA works 338 338 0 5,502 5,502 0
M&E electrical 2,700 2,700 0 5,649 5,649 0
M&E heating 806 806 0 18,008 18,008 0
M&E lifts 855 855 0 5,233 5,233 0
WDS voids works 4,181 4,181 0 12,168 12,168 0
WDS Leathermarket JMB 1,100 1,100 0 3,290 3,290 0
WDS Unallocated Budget 1,025 1,025 0 5,710 5,710 0

HINE schemes HINE WDS works 423 423 0 14,983 14,983 0
HINE additional works 5,700 5,700 0 22,998 22,998 0

Regeneration Aylesbury Estate PPM works 82 82 0 5,529 5,529 0
Aylesbury Estate regeneration 8,301 8,301 0 22,951 22,951 0
Bermondsey Spa refurbishment 0 0 0 920 920 0
East Dulwich Estate 0 0 0 2,876 2,876 0
Elmington Estate 446 446 0 5,027 5,027 0
Heygate Estate 0 0 0 13,982 13,982 0
Hidden Homes 300 300 0 896 896 0
Hostels new build 1,328 1,328 0 3,858 3,858 0
Local authority new build 0 0 0 140 140 0
Misc regen, acquisitions and home loss 150 150 0 973 973 0

Other programmes Adaptations 2,000 2,000 0 6,000 6,000 0
Affordable housing through commuted sums 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash incentive scheme 200 200 0 519 519 0
Digital switchover 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals costs 500 500 0 1,454 1,454 0
Energy 200 200 0 400 400 0
Environmental / play areas 0 0 0 0 0 0
Fire damage reinstatement 200 200 0 1,307 1,307 0
Group repairs 0 0 0 272 272 0
Hostels accommodation 737 737 0 2,851 2,851 0
Leasehold / freehold acquisitions 300 300 0 1,125 1,125 0
Major voids 1,000 1,000 0 3,000 3,000 0
Office accommodation 250 250 0 250 250 0
Scheme management costs 1,000 1,000 0 3,000 3,000 0
Security 300 300 0 300 300 0
Sheltered accommodation 306 306 0 347 347 0
T&RA halls 500 500 0 1,466 1,466 0
Heating Energy Efficiency Measures 0 0 0 4,000 4,000 0

TOTAL 68,104 68,104 0 328,159 328,159 0

FINANCED BY:

Corporate Resource Pool 0 0 0 10,857 10,857 0
Housing receipts 5,840 5,840 0 63,787 63,787 0
Major Repairs Allowance 46,426 46,426 0 138,356 138,356 0
Supported Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reserves & Revenue 14,900 14,900 0 44,700 44,700 0
Capital Grants 938 938 0 67,806 67,806 0
Section 106 Funds 0 0 0 50 50 0
External Contributions 0 0 0 2,603 2,603 0

TOTAL RESOURCES 68,104 68,104 0 328,159 328,159 0

Forecast variation (under)/over 0 0 0 0 0 0

2015/16 Total Programme 2013/14-15/16

 

220



APPENDIX C 
 
Funded virements and variations for approval         

Page 1 of 3 

Children's 
Services 

Adult Social 
Care

Southwark 
Schools for the 

Future

Finance and 
Corporate 
Services

Environment Housing 
General Fund

Chief Executive General Fund 
Programme 

Total

Housing 
Investment 
Programme

Total Programmed 
Expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Outturn report 72,872 11,964 47,013 21,959 88,225 25,434 54,618 322,085 318,086 640,171

BUDGET AS AT 2013/14 72,872 11,964 47,013 21,959 88,225 25,434 54,618 322,085 318,086 640,171

CHANGES IN DEPARTMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

RESTRUCTURED BUDGETS 72,872 11,964 47,013 21,959 88,225 25,434 54,618 322,085 318,086 640,171

Q1 - Virements to be approved

Southwark Park (12) (12) (12)
Michael Faraday 12 12 12
Tabard Street Environment (100) (100) (100)
TABARD STREET ENVIRONS 100 100 100
Livesey Museum 99 99 99
South Dock Marina new showers & lavatories 40 40 40
Parking contract upfront capital costs (250) (250) (250)
SDM Essential H & S Project 631 631 631
Integrated Waste Solutions Programme (520) (520) (520)
Adult PSS Capital Allocations 3 3 3
MH Single pot (3) (3) (3)
WDS carry-over schemes 1,035 1,035
WDS 2-year programme 4,630 4,630
WDS 2012 major works 2,684 2,684
WDS 2013 major works (4,399) (4,399)
WDS 2014 major works 7,535 7,535
WDS 2015 major works (16,774) (16,774)
FRA works 1,052 1,052
M&E electrical (1,928) (1,928)
M&E heating (2,863) (2,863)
M&E lifts 567 567
WDS voids works 18 18
WDS Leathermarket JMB (10) (10)
WDS Unallocated Budget 5,710 5,710
HINE WDS works (8,161) (8,161)
Aylesbury Estate PPM works (2,325) (2,325)
Aylesbury Estate regeneration (5,347) (5,347)
Bermondsey Spa refurbishment 1 1
East Dulwich Estate (563) (563)
Elmington Estate (581) (581)
Heygate Estate (4,350) (4,350)
Hidden Homes (82) (82)
Local authority new build (588) (588)
Misc regen, acquisitions and home loss (595) (595)
Adaptations (160) (160)  

221



APPENDIX C 
 
Funded virements and variations for approval         

Page 2 of 3 

Children's 
Services 

Adult Social 
Care

Southwark 
Schools for the 

Future

Finance and 
Corporate 
Services

Environment Housing 
General Fund

Chief Executive General Fund 
Programme 

Total

Housing 
Investment 
Programme

Total Programmed 
Expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cash incentive scheme (48) (48)
Digital switchover (186) (186)
Disposals costs (180) (180)
Energy (600) (600)
Fire damage reinstatement (553) (553)
Group repairs 648 648
Hostels accommodation (961) (961)
Leasehold / freehold acquisitions (70) (70)
Major voids (768) (768)
Office accommodation (805) (805)
Scheme management costs (172) (172)
Security (25) (25)
Sheltered accommodation 44 44
T&RA halls (447) (447)
Expenditure in revenue 29,617 29,617

Total virements to be approved at Qtr 1 0 0 0 0 100 0 (100) 0 0 0

TOTAL VIREMENTS 0 0 0 0 100 0 (100) 0 0 0

PROGRAMME FUNDED VARIATIONS

Q1 - Variations to be approved

DfE Basic Needs 2013/14 6,718 6,718 6,718
DfE Maintenance grant 2013/14 2,516 2,516 2,516
DfE Basic Needs 2014/15 6,718 6,718 6,718
OLF Burgess Park BMX track 378 378 378
OLF Burgess Park BMX track 203 203 203
OLF Burgess Park BMX track 100 100 100
OLF Burgess Park BMX track 75 75 75
OLF Burgess Park BMX track 122 122 122
Peckham Rye Station rediscovering Grand Staircase 10 10 10
Rosenthorpe Road Public Space Improvement 10 10 10
TABARD STREET ENVIRO 30 30 30
Adult PSS Capital Allocations 1,706 1,706 1,706
Principal Road Renewal 196 196 196
Bridge Assessment & Strengthening 759 759 759
Corridors, Neighbourhoods & Supporting Measures 457 457 457
Major Schemes(Camberwell) 400 400 400
P12 Route Improvements 10 10 10
Cycle Lane in Maltby Street 37 37 37
Cycling On Greenways 250 250 250  
 
 

222



APPENDIX C 
 
Funded virements and variations for approval         

Page 3 of 3 

Children's 
Services 

Adult Social 
Care

Southwark 
Schools for the 

Future

Finance and 
Corporate 
Services

Environment Housing 
General Fund

Chief Executive General Fund 
Programme 

Total

Housing 
Investment 
Programme

Total Programmed 
Expenditure

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cycle Superhighways Smarter Travel 117 117 117
Camberwell Town Centre (345) (345) (345)
Upgrade of Heating Systems 0 4,000 4,000
East Dulwich Estate 1,500 1,500
HINE additional works 4,573 4,573

Total to be approved at Q1 15,952 1,706 0 0 928 0 1,881 20,467 10,073 30,540

Total Budget Variations 15,952 1,706 0 0 928 0 1,881 20,467 10,073 30,540

REVISED BUDGETS 88,824 13,670 47,013 21,959 89,253 25,434 56,399 342,552 328,159 670,711

VARIATIONS REQUESTED TO BE APPROVED

FINANCED BY:

Capital Receipt 0 (23,421) (23,421)
Major Repairs Allowance 0 (106) (106)
Reserves 2,615 378 2,993 16,537 19,530
Revenue (2,615) (2,615) 16,537 13,922
Capital Grant 15,952 1,706 307 1,844 19,809 527 20,336
Section 106 Funds 343 (63) 280 280
External Contribution 0 0
Internal Borrowing 0 0

TOTAL RESOURCES 15,952 1,706 0 0 1,028 0 1,781 20,467 10,073 30,540  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

223



APPENDIX D 
 
General Fund Capital Programme Details 
  

Page 1 of 5 

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Children's Centres 242 0 0 242
3 Primaries 5,231 3,500 679 9,410
Cherry Garden Special School 750 10,564 1,150 12,464
Lynhurst expansion and refurbishment 2,469 2,998 0 5,467
Rotherhithe (BSF) 0 0 10,000 10,000
Primary Temporary Expansion 2,555 0 0 2,555
Carbon Reduction in schools 376 500 0 876
Capital Works for Free Healthy School Meals 247 0 0 247
Other primary projects 1,137 0 0 1,137
Youth Services Projects 205 352 0 557
 Peckham One O'clock Club 400 370 0 770
 Troubled Families 100 300 0 400
 Misc projects & primary strategy programme 558 19,500 421 20,479
 DfE Basic Needs and Maintenance Grants 810 22,043 0 22,853
 Other grant allocations 767 600 0 1,367

Children's Services Total 15,847 60,727 12,250 88,824

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Southwark Resource Centre 233 42 0 275
Adult PSS Capital Allocations 1,050 2,145 0 3,195
Transformation of Adult Care Accommodation 0 7,000 0 7,000
Transformation of Learning Disability Care 600 600 0 1,200
Centre of Excellence 1,500 500 0 2,000

Adult & Social Care Total 3,383 10,287 0 13,670

Children's & Adult Services - Children's 
Services

Children's & Adult Services - Adult Services

 
 
 
 
 

224



APPENDIX D 
 
General Fund Capital Programme Details 
  

Page 2 of 5 

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Walworth Academy 368 0 0 368
St Michaels and All Angels (SMAA) & Highshore 10,395 0 0 10,395
New School Aylesbury 148 827 0 975
Rotherhithe (CW new school) 0 0 19,622 19,622
Notre Dame (VA) 430 0 0 430
Bredinghurst / KS3 SILS 101 6,668 0 6,769
ICT 934 1,816 69 2,819
Contingency & Retention payments 116 0 5,519 5,635

Southwark Schools for the Future Total 12,492 9,311 25,210 47,013

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

 Information Services 361 266 919 1,546
 Upgrade of IT infrastructure 5,000 0 0 5,000
 Property Works Programme 328 0 450 778
 Works to Council Buildings - DDA 283 422 880 1,585
 Essential upgrade of Carefirst system 1,000 1,800 0 2,800
 PPM & Compliance Programme 0 0 10,250 10,250

Finance and Corporate Services Total 6,972 2,488 12,499 21,959

Southwark Schools for the Future

Finance and Corporate Services

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

225



APPENDIX D 
 
General Fund Capital Programme Details 
  

Page 3 of 5 

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Kingswood House Refurbishment 0 0 250 250
Thomas Calton Centre refurbishment 521 0 0 521
Camberwell Leisure Centre Phase 2 51 0 0 51
Pynners Sports Ground reinstatement works 100 0 0 100
Seven Islands Leisure Centre Refurbishment 0 3,000 5,000 8,000
Southwark Park Sports Complex OLF allocation 210 160 0 370
Other OLF Projects 1,528 15 0 1,543
RFIDs 101 124 0 225
Grove Vale Library 0 360 0 360
Canada Water Public Art 72 0 0 72
Peckham Pulse Option 1 &  2 921 1,400 0 2,321
Leisure centres Lifecycle maintenance 120 295 0 415
Livesey Museum 99 0 0 99
Community Safety 1,317 0 0 1,317
SDM Essential H & S Requirements 771 0 0 771
Parking contract upfront capital costs 850 0 0 850
Walworth Road 47 0 0 47
Street care - Non Principal Roads Programme 6,182 5,050 28,000 39,232
Street metal works - Lamp column replacement 485 500 3,500 4,485
Cemetery Strategy 1,032 2,900 1,510 5,442
Burgess Park Revitalisation Project 421 0 0 421
GMH Park accommodation refurbishment 120 0 0 120
Crematoria Lodges refurbishment 380 0 0 380
Other parks projects 708 0 0 708
Parking Design Projects 105 0 0 105
Southbank accessibility improvements 455 0 0 455
Connect 2 297 0 0 297

Other public realm projects funded by S106 366 121 0 487

Cleaner Greener Safer programme 4,349 1,880 11,280 17,509

Integrated Waste Solutions Programme 2,150 0 0 2,150

Southwark Heat Network 150 0 0 150

Environment & Leisure Total 23,908 15,805 49,540 89,253

Environment & Leisure

 
 
 

226



APPENDIX D 
 
General Fund Capital Programme Details 
  

Page 4 of 5 

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

East Peckham and Nunhead Housing Renewal 2,372 1,076 0 3,448
Empty Homes Grant 413 0 0 413
Homes Improvement Grant 2,047 1,646 10,114 13,807
Small works grants 95 71 456 622
Home repair loan 705 372 1,459 2,536
Home repair grant 228 178 869 1,275
Landlord grants 163 95 171 429
Southwark moving on grant 20 0 0 20
Renewal area solar heating 420 0 0 420
Bellenden 71 40 0 111
LCZ group repairs - private 699 181 0 880
Ilderton travellers site wall 300 0 0 300
Springtide travellers site 718 0 0 718
Affordable Housing Fund 122-148 Ivydale 455 0 0 455

Housing General Fund Total 8,706 3,659 13,069 25,434

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22

Description of Programme / Project 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Realm & Open Spaces Improvements 886 1,441 0 2,327
Borough & Bankside Streetscape Improvement 61 87 0 148
Bermondsey Streetscape Improvements 438 88 0 526
Improvements to Local Retail Environments 333 0 0 333
Tourism Infrastructure 202 0 0 202
Transport Infrastruture & Public Realm Improvements 5,239 1,903 0 7,142
Systems Upgrade 16 0 0 16
Planning and Transport 59 0 0 59
Surrounds 145 6,800 0 6,945
Major Schemes 267 0 0 267
Space 634 640 500 1,774
Canada Water Library 642 378 0 1,020
Bermondsey Spa Public Realm Improvements 654 238 0 892
& Community Sector Estate 0 1,031 0 1,031
Construction of a Community Centre 520 0 0 520
Spa Rd Railway Arch Improvements 5 0 0 5
Refurbishment of Office Accomodation 81 0 0 81
Lease of New Office Accomodation 526 0 0 526
assets 610 73 0 683
Acquistion of New Office Accomodation 2,585 421 0 3,006
Construction of Elephant & Castle Leisure Centre 9,366 9,570 0 18,936
Regeneration of Peckham Rye station and surrounds 1,757 4,281 3,922 9,960

Chief Executive Total 25,026 26,951 4,422 56,399

Housing General Fund

Chief Executive

 
 
 

227



APPENDIX D 
 
General Fund Capital Programme Details 
  

Page 5 of 5 

Capital Programme 2013/14 - 2021/22
2013/14 2014/15 2015/16+ Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total Expenditure 96,334 129,228 116,990 342,552

Total Resources 82,689 87,899 156,739 327,327

Forecast variation (under)/over 13,645 41,329 (39,749) 15,225
Cumulative position 13,645 54,974 15,225

Total General Fund Programme

 
 

228



 1 

Item No.  
19. 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Motion Referred from Council Assembly 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Council Assembly 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
1. That the cabinet considers the motions set out in the appendices attached to the 

report. 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2. Council assembly at its meeting on Wednesday 10 July 2013 agreed several 

motions and these stand referred to the cabinet for consideration. 
 

3. The cabinet is requested to consider the motions referred to it.  Any proposals in 
a motion are treated as a recommendation only.  The final decisions of the 
cabinet will be reported back to the next meeting of council assembly.  When 
considering a motion, cabinet can decide to: 

 
• Note the motion; or 
• Agree the motion in its entirety, or 
• Amend the motion; or 
• Reject the motion.  

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
4. In accordance with council assembly procedure rule 2.10(6), the attached 

motions were referred to the cabinet. The cabinet will report on the outcome of its 
deliberations upon the motions to a subsequent meeting of council assembly. 

 
5. The constitution allocates responsibility for particular functions to council 

assembly, including approving the budget and policy framework, and to the 
cabinet for developing and implementing the budget and policy framework and 
overseeing the running of council services on a day-to-day basis. 

 
6. Any key issues, such as policy, community impact or funding implications are 

included in the advice from the relevant chief officer. 

Agenda Item 19
229



 2 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
Council agenda 10 July 2013 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.u
k/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132
&MId=4574&Ver=4  
 

Report on the 
council’s website 

Lesley John 
Constitutional 
Team 
020 7525 
7228 

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Number Title 
Appendix 1 Welfare Reform 
Appendix 2 Drummer Lee Rigby and Faith Communities in 

Southwark  
Appendix 3 Surrey Docks Brown Brick 
Appendix 4 East Dulwich and Rye Lane Crown Post Offices 
Appendix 5 Door Entry For The Dickens Estate 
Appendix 6 Robin Hood Tax 
Appendix 7 Northern Line Extension 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Lead Officer Alexa Coates, Principal Constitutional Officer  
Report Author Lesley John, Constitutional Officer 
Version Final 
Dated 5 September 2013 
Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 
Chief Executive Yes No 

Strategic Director of Environment 
and Leisure 

Yes Yes 

Strategic Director of Housing and 
Community Services 

Yes Yes 

Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

No No 

Cabinet Member  No No 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 
 

230



 3 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
Welfare Reform 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘Welfare 
Reform’ was moved by Councillor Neil Coyle and seconded by Councillor Cleo 
Soanes.  The motion was agreed and stands referred to the cabinet as a 
recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That council assembly: 
 
1. Is gravely concerned by the impact the Tory Liberal Democrat government’s 

welfare reforms is having on Southwark’s most vulnerable residents. 
 
2. Notes that more than 10% of Southwark’s population are affected by the range of 

welfare cuts. More than 4,000 by the bedroom tax, over 24,000 by the 
government’s £2.8m council tax benefit cut (including over 16,000 who are in 
work), thousands by changes to DLA beginning this year and hundreds more by 
the benefit cap from later this year. 

 
3. Notes that local advice and support organisations are seeing a steep rise in 

demand for help. Over 500 people were fed by foodbanks in Southwark in April 
alone (compared with 100 in April 2012) and the provider estimates 30 tons of 
food will need to be distributed to meet demand this year. 10% of the recipients 
are in work. Southwark’s Citizen Advice Bureaux saw a 40% jump in demand for 
help this year but legal aid cuts mean the loss of the equivalent of 4 full time 
advisors across Southwark Legal Advice Network. 

 
4. Notes the action taken by the council to deal with these changes including: 
 

• Labour’s £800,000 Hardship Fund; £400k of which is targeted towards local 
disabled people and carers 

• An extra £400,000 went into helping people downsize homes to avoid the 
bedroom tax 

• The Social Fund replacement scheme (the Southwark Emergency Support 
Scheme) 

• More than 700 people have been supported face to face at the partnership 
events – Southwark’s partnership work is being held up by (national) Citizens 
Advice as an example of good practice and a model for other councils to 
adopt.  

 
5. Regrets Simon Hughes’s unequivocal support for the government’s welfare 

reforms despite claiming the benefits cap would “drive families apart”. It also 
regrets that Simon Hughes has dismissed reports of a fivefold increase in people 
claiming discretionary housing payments as “alarmist”. It regrets that he has 
refused to meet with local organisation such as Cooltan Arts to discuss the impact 
of the reforms and that he missed the “Frontline Welfare” event despite being 
specifically asked to attend. 

 

231



 4 

6. Calls on cabinet to: 
 
• Continue to work constructively with advocacy groups in the borough to 

ensure we are able to continue to support our most vulnerable residents 
 
• Lobby the Department of Work and Pensions for increased funding for 

discretionary housing payments 
 

• Continue to challenge Simon Hughes and the Liberal Democrats regarding 
their role in enabling the government’s welfare changes. 

 
Comments of the Strategic Director of Housing and Community Services 
 
(1) A discretionary housing payment leaflet has been distributed to all council and 

housing association tenants and private sector tenants who receive housing 
benefit. This leaflet explains that financial assistance that may be available to 
help towards the shortfall in housing benefit received by the households. 

 
(2) A letter has been issued to all council and housing association tenants under-

occupying and also to tenants who are overcrowded in an attempt to produce 
mutual exchanges between these two groups of tenants to meet the housing and 
financial needs of the households. 

 
(3) Monthly surgeries are now taking place across Southwark to target tenants and 

customers affected by the welfare reforms. These surgeries are conducted in 
partnership with the citizens advice bureau. 

 
(4) 67 households moved to smaller accommodation in the first three months of the 

financial year through the SMART Moves initiative. This initiative targets 
customers who are under-occupying council and housing association 
accommodation. 

 
(5) Job Centre Plus surgeries are now conducted at the homelessness and housing 

options service to ensure tenants and customers can access housing and 
employment advice through a seamless service provision. 

 
(6) Southwark Works also conduct surgeries at the homelessness and housing 

options service to ensure tenants and customers can access housing and 
employment advice through a seamless service provision. 

 
(7) The new housing allocations scheme will prioritise the re-housing of customers 

affected by the welfare reforms for example the highest priority on the housing 
register will be awarded to households who are under-occupying council and 
housing association properties. 

 
(8) The homelessness and housing options and housing operations service is 

working in partnership with the credit union and the citizens advice bureau to hold 
weekly financial inclusion sessions for all new tenants to ensure they are fully 
aware of the welfare reforms and how to successfully budget the households 
finances. 

 

232



 5 

 
 
(9) The service is working in partnership with the PECAN food bank to ensure 

customers affected by welfare reforms can access the food bank for emergency 
provisions. 

 
(10) The monthly Money Savvy workshops in partnership with the citizens advice 

bureau are proving successful with 75 tenants attending these drop in sessions 
every month. 

 
(11) The council has obtained approval from the Department of Communities and 

Local Government to use £1 million of housing revenue account funding as 
additional discretionary housing payments to ensure the DHP budget will 
increase from £1.1 million to £2.1 million. The additional £1 million will be for 
council tenants to help to reduce rent arrears and improve the financial well-being 
of the households. 

 

233



 6 

 
APPENDIX 2 

 
Drummer Lee Rigby and Faith Communities in Southwark 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘Drummer 
Lee Rigby and Faith Communities in Southwark’ was moved by Councillor 
Michael Bukola and seconded by Councillor The Right Revd Emmanuel 
Oyewole.  The motion was agreed and stands referred to the cabinet as a 
recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council:  
 
• Registers its abhorrence at the appalling and savage murder of Drummer Lee 

Rigby on the streets of south-east London on 22 May 2013, and extends 
sympathy to his family. 
 

• Welcomes the critical response to the murder by UK Islamic organisations 
including the Southwark Muslim Forum, and the cohesion shown by Londoners in 
condemning the attack, and rejects the divisive agenda of far-right groups who 
seek to use the murder for their own political ends. 

 
• Recognises the concern from the Islamic community in Southwark about the 

reported rise in Islamophobic incidents since the murder, including a number of 
attacks on mosques across the country. 

 
• Notes the excellent work within the Old Kent Road Mosque and Islamic Cultural 

Centre in bringing together Muslims of all races, and acting as a meeting place for 
visiting Nigerian Muslims to London. 

 
• Looks forward to the continued involvement of the mosque within Southwark's 

Multi-Faith Forum. 
 
• Reasserts its support for the charity Help for Heroes and the work it does to 

support wounded service men and women and their families. 
 

 

234



 7 

 
APPENDIX 3 

 
Surrey Docks Brown Brick 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘Surrey Docks 
Brown Brick’ was proposed by Councillor Lisa Rajan and seconded by Councillor 
David Hubber.  The motion was subsequently amended and the amended 
motion stands referred to the cabinet as a recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council:  
 
1. Notes the distinctive brown brick paving in parts of Surrey Docks and Rotherhithe 

wards and its contribution to the character of the area. Also notes that this style of 
paving was introduced during the development of the area by the London 
Docklands Development Corporation (LDDC) in the 1980s, is used extensively in 
the area and is much valued by local residents. 

 
2. Recognises that many of the roads and pavements in the areas around Greenland 

Dock, South Dock, Canada Water, Surrey Water, Russia Dock Woodland and the 
Albion Channel have been adversely affected by subsidence issues due to their 
construction on land reclaimed from historic docks and waterways in the area, and 
that this has manifested itself in paving that is often severely disrupted by tree 
roots and subterranean ironworks. 

 
3. Also recognises that the LDDC's over-zealous tree planting strategy in the 1980s, 

in which they assumed a much lower survival rate than turned out to be the case, 
has led to a higher than expected number of London Planes at higher than usual 
densities in the area, and that the height and root growth network of these trees 
compounds the paving disruption problems.  

 
4. Acknowledges that the council’s longstanding approach to paving and road repairs 

in this area has been reactive and ad hoc, and has largely involved removing the 
brown brickwork and replacing it with red, purple or black tarmac. In many 
instances, the disruptive tree roots were not shaved or cut, and consequently re-
erupt through the tarmac within 18 months of the repair. An alternative approach 
on Rope Street, funded by Rotherhithe Community Council, levelled the ground 
and re-laid the original brown brickwork, and maintained the valued character of 
the street.  

 
5. Welcomes the Greenland Dock Subsidence Feasibility Study, prepared by 

Mouchel, commissioned by Southwark Council, funded by Rotherhithe Community 
Council Cleaner Greener Safer fund and proposed by local residents.  

 
6. Also welcomes the site meeting on 7 May 2013 attended by the strategic director 

of environment and leisure, senior highways officers and residents to discuss the 
problem.  
 

7. Calls on cabinet to recognise the important character of the area. 
 

8. Welcomes the work being done in partnership with the community council to 
address these issues. 

 

235



 8 

Comments of the Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure  
 
(1) Officers recognise the distinctive character in the area and will seek to retain this 

character wherever possible, subject to budgetary and any technical constraints.  
For example, the repaving of Greenland Quay in the current financial year will be 
undertaken in new red brick, with the old bricks retained for reactive footway 
repairs in the area. 

 
(2) The council’s streetscape design manual officially recognises this distinctive 

character and officers are currently preparing a special ‘Rotherhithe’ palette of 
standard materials to reflect this.  This palette will be formalised by December 
2013. 

 
 

236



 9 

 
APPENDIX 4 

 
East Dulwich and Rye Lane Crown Post Offices 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘East Dulwich 
and Rye Lane Crown Post Offices’ was proposed by Councillor Mark Glover and 
seconded by Councillor Nick Dolezal.  The motion was agreed and stands 
referred to the cabinet as a recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. That council assembly is concerned that the Post Office is planning to downgrade 

Crown Services at Rye Lane and East Dulwich to retail operators. 
 
2. That council assembly notes that at present the Post Office does not have any 

retail partners for Rye Lane and East Dulwich Crown Post Offices and is 
concerned that this move will lead to a relocation of offices, provide an inferior 
Post Office Service and will have a hugely detrimental impact on the quality of 
specialist services for local residents. It also believes it will lead to the recruitment 
of new staff on significantly lower pay, terms and conditions. Moreover the 
specialist trained and committed services and staff will be lost in these offices. 

 
3. That council assembly offers its support to the campaign to protect the Rye Lane 

and East Dulwich Post Offices in these locations and calls on cabinet to: 
 

• Work with local councillors to write to the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of 
State with responsibility for Post Offices, informing them of the concerns 
regarding Rye Lane and East Dulwich Crown Post Offices 

 
• Seek assurances from the Minister that any successful franchisees for 

Crown Post Offices will be strongly encouraged to pay their staff the London 
Living Wage. 

 

 
 
 

237



 10 

 
APPENDIX 5 

 
Door Entry for the Dickens Estate 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘Door Entry 
for the Dickens Estate’ was proposed by Councillor Eliza Mann and seconded by 
Councillor Anood Al-Samerai.  The motion was subsequently amended and the 
amended motion stands referred to the cabinet as a recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. That Council is pleased that door entry systems are now being included again in 

major works plans. 
 
2. That Council recognises that residents of Wade House, Bardell House, Tupman 

House and Micawber House have experienced serious problems with crime, rough 
sleepers and vandalism. 

 
3. That Council notes that, as is often the case, while new security works are being 

installed on one block, ASB does not remain static and will travel from block to 
block. This is evidenced by the request in 2011 from the then opposition 
spokesperson for housing for new security intercom systems for Burton House, 
claiming this was the priority for the area. 

 
4. That Council recognises that since this request was made in 2011, incidences of 

crime and ASB have risen at Tupman House, Bardell House, Micawber House 
and Wade House. 
 

5. That Council therefore welcomes the commitment made by the cabinet member 
for housing to meet with residents of the estate to discuss their priorities for 
security works on the estate. 

 
6. That Council also welcomes the commitment by the cabinet member for housing 

to allocate extra funding to these blocks which will save money in the long run 
from crime and anti-social behaviour once those discussions with residents have 
taken place. 

Comments of the Strategic Director of Housing and Community Services  
 
(1) The allocation of £725,000 for the installation of new door entry systems was 

agreed through the housing revenue account (HRA) savings redirection process.  
 
(2) Officers produced an indicative programme which was consulted upon through all 

area forums, which was presented and approved by cabinet in May 2013. 
Considering the overall need across the borough for door entry systems, requests 
greatly outstrip available funding in the short-term. We have tried to strike a 
balance between installing completely new systems and renewing/upgrading 
existing systems. Unfortunately, there are a number of existing systems that are 
obsolete and if they fail they will not be able to be reinstated.   These are a 
priority from an engineering perspective. 

 

238



 11 

 
(3) Equally, in our programme there are 20 new systems proposed over the next two 

years. In year one, the Kinglake estate which has well documented high levels of 
antisocial behaviour is set as a priority. Cabinet made the decision to install 9 
new systems to blocks that are experiencing the worst of the problems. The other 
proposed new systems have varying levels of antisocial problems and reported 
crimes. 

 
(4) In regards to Bardell House, Wade House, Micawber House and Tupman House 

a meeting is being arranged on behalf of the deputy leader and cabinet member 
for housing management with residents of the estate to discuss their priorities for 
security works on their estate and programming works in the future.   

 
 
 
 
 

239



 12 

 
APPENDIX 6 

 
Robin Hood Tax 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘Robin Hood 
Tax’ was proposed by Councillor Michael Situ and seconded by Councillor 
Patrick Diamond.  The motion was agreed and stands referred to the cabinet as a 
recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. That council assembly notes the suffering forced upon local residents as a result 

of the Tory Liberal Democrat government’s austerity programme which is unfairly 
targeting Southwark and its residents.  

 
2. That council assembly believes that the levy of a financial transaction tax (FTT) on 

the speculative activities of banks, hedge funds and other financial institutions 
would help to alleviate some of this pressure and ensure the financial sector pays 
its fair share and helps to clear up the mess it helped create.  

 
3. That council assembly therefore calls upon government to enact the FTT and use 

the revenues from this measure to reverse ongoing shrinkage in central grants to 
our council.  

 
 

240



 13 

 
APPENDIX 7 

 
Northern Line Extension 

 
At council assembly on Wednesday 10 July 2013 a motion entitled ‘Northern Line 
Extension’ was proposed by Councillor Catherine Bowman and seconded by 
Councillor Graham Neale.  The motion was subsequently amended and the 
amended motion stands referred to the cabinet as a recommendation. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That council assembly: 
 
1. Notes Transport for London’s (TfL’s) plans to extend the Northern Line to Nine 

Elms and Battersea, and the consultation on the plans that closed on 18 June. 
 
2. Notes with particular concern the plans for a temporary shaft to be constructed on 

Harmsworth Street and a permanent shaft in Kennington Park, both of which 
would have a considerable impact on the lives of Southwark residents. 

 
3. Urges TfL to pursue the ‘gallery tunnels’ option for ground treatment work as an 

alternative to the Harmsworth Street temporary shaft, thereby minimising the 
disruption to local people. 

 
4. Regrets TfL’s decision to place the permanent shaft in Kennington Park on the site 

of the much-loved beekeeper’s lodge, and urges TfL to ensure that the relocation 
plan provides a suitable environment for the bee population and meets the 
requirements of Bee Urban and concerned local residents. 

   
5. Calls on cabinet to work with colleagues at Lambeth Council, the GLA and TfL to 

obtain the best deal for Southwark residents affected by the plans. 
 
6. Notes the letter from the cabinet member for transport, environment and recycling 

to TfL which already addresses the above points. 

 

 
 
 

241



 
 

1 

  

 
Item No.  

20. 
Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 
 

Report title: 
 

Wilkinson House Dewar Street London SE15 – 
Surrender of Lease 
 

Ward or groups affected: The Lane 
 

Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Richard Livingstone, Finance, Resources 
and Community Safety 
 

 
 
FOREWORD - COUNCILLOR RICHARD LIVINGSTONE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE, RESOURCES AND COMMUNITY SAFETY 
 
The decision by the receiver for Cherry Croft Care Home Ltd to put Wilkinson House 
up for sale has created a unique opportunity for the council to purchase a strategic plot 
of land at a price that represents very good value for money for the council.  
 
This purchase will provide land to help realise the council's ambition to build 10,000 
new council homes in the borough. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That cabinet agrees: 
 
1. To accept a surrender of the lease of this property on the terms set out in the 

closed version of the report. 
 
2. That proposals are brought forward for the regeneration of the property and its 

site. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
3. Wilkinson House is shown edged and hatched on the plan at Appendix 1.  The 

freehold interest in the property is held by the council but is subject to a lease of 
125 years from 25 March 1993 in favour of a care home provider. 

 
4. The property comprises a one and two storey residential home with a separate 

bungalow of traditional brick and tile construction.  It is a purpose built facility that 
appears to be approximately forty years old.  It provides sixty-two bedrooms. 

 
5. The property was directly operated by the council but the decision was taken in 

the 1990s for it to be transferred to an external care provider.  This was a 
common approach by local authorities at the time to address the service and 
financial challenges of institutional care facilities. 

 
6. As a result of long standing concerns about the quality of the nursing and care 

services provided by Abbey Health Care at Cherrycroft Care Home Ltd (the 
trading name used by the provider for the services at the property) the council 
took a decision to move residents it had placed at this home to alternative 

Agenda Item 20
242



 
 

2 

  

nursing and care home earlier this year.  As a consequence of this decision, the 
property is now vacant. 

 
7. The care operator used the lease as financial collateral and as a result of default 

the lender has put the operator into receivership.  The receiver is obliged to 
realise the assets of the operator including the lease. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
8. The receiver has invited offers for the lease and a council offer has been 

submitted and accepted.  Details of the offer are contained in the closed version 
of this report. 

 
9. By taking the surrender, control of the property will revert to the council.  As can 

be seen on the plan, the property is situated in a predominantly residential area 
and is vulnerable to squatting particularly as a result of a change in the law last 
year that has displaced squatters from vacant residential properties to vacant 
non-residential ones.  Squatting of this building will give rise to community 
anxiety and potentially anti-social behaviour and nuisance to nearby residents. 

 
10. This is an opportunity rather than planned acquisition by the council.  As a 

consequence, there is not a strategy in place for the property.  Wilkinson House 
occupies a substantial site of almost an acre and is in a predominantly 
residential area that is close to shopping and bus and railway transport facilities.  
It is therefore an attractive regeneration prospect.  However, it will take time in 
order to establish the planning potential, consult and determine aspirations for 
the site and how to achieve them.  It is therefore recommended that if the 
surrender proceeds, work commences to produce a regeneration strategy that is 
brought to the cabinet for future approval. 

 
11. As discussed in paragraph 10, a vacant non-residential building such as this is 

vulnerable to squatting.  The best way of avoiding this is for the property to be 
occupied.  There will inevitably be a time lag between the surrender completing 
and implementation of the regeneration strategy discussed at paragraph 11. 

 
12. The council’s Temporary Accommodation, Procurement and New Initiatives 

service is under considerable pressure at the moment and is having to make out 
of the borough placements to discharge statutory duties.  This is far from ideal 
for users and is very costly to the council.  The subject property can therefore be 
utilised in the short-term for temporary accommodation purposes.  This will 
protect it from squatting and enable more Southwark temporary accommodation 
clients needs to be met in the borough.  There may be some local reluctance 
from residents close to Wilkinson House for this use but this will be managed by 
the Temporary Accommodation, Procurement and New Initiatives Team. 

 
13. In line with the councils Fairer Future promises and Adult Social Care Vision, 

modern practice seeks where possible to support older people to remain in their 
homes for as long as possible.  Therefore the loss of the subject property as a 
nursing and care home is not considered to have any immediate detrimental 
impact on adult social care provision in the borough.  

  
14. As part of the proposed regeneration, the opportunity exists for the site to provide 

some specialist adult care dwellings and this will be reflected in the regeneration 
strategy for the site that will emerge.   

243



 
 

3 

  

 
Policy implications 
 
15. There are no policy implications pertaining to the report’s recommendations.  
 
Community Impact Statement 
 
16. The proposed surrender and the vacant property will mitigate the potential for the 

building to be squatted particularly once it is an operation temporary 
accommodation provider.  As mentioned there may be some concern from the 
locality about this use but this can be managed through consultation and 
dialogue. 

 
17. The regeneration of the site will enable additional housing to be provided that will 

assist in reducing the under-supply of housing in Southwark when compared 
with demand. 
 

Resource implications 
 
18. These are set out in the closed version of the report. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services  
 
19. The council has the power to acquire land for the purpose of one or more of the 

functions it is empowered to carry out in accordance with section 120 Local 
Government Act 1972.  

 
20. In this instance, the council has previously taken a decision to move residents 

from the home because of concerns in relation to the standard of care. As a 
result, the home became vacant and indirectly led to the operating company 
failing to meet its mortgage obligations. 

 
21. Acquiring the property will ensure that the council is able to control the site and 

ensure that it does not become subject to squatters. The acquisition will also 
contribute to the council being able to meet its obligations in providing temporary 
accommodation. 

 
22. Furthermore, the site may have longer term redevelopment possibilities.  If these 

are eventually realised, this will allow the council to promote or improve the 
economic, environmental and social well being of the area. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
 
23. This is set out in the closed version of this report. 
 
Head of Specialist Housing Services  
 
24. Wilkinson House lends itself to being used as temporary accommodation, 

although the building will require considerable expenditure in works to bring it up 
to standard. The works will include fire risk assessment works and the 
refurbishment of all kitchen and bathroom areas, with the removal of specialist 
adaptations. We estimate that works could take up to 26 weeks.  

 

244



 
 

4 

  

25. In order for refurbishment costs to be recovered, it is recommended that the 
building will need to be in operation for an absolute minimum of three years, 
preferably five. 

 
26. However, using the building in this way would be hugely advantageous to the 

council as there will be significant savings to the council’s general fund with the 
council placing homeless households in Wilkinson House as opposed to 
expensive and inappropriate bed and breakfast accommodation, which would 
cost the council in excess of £1m pa.  

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
None   
 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Plan of land 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member Councillor Richard Livingstone, Finance, Resources and 

Community Safety 
Lead Officer Eleanor Kelly, Chief Executive 
Report Author Patrick McGreal - Property Services 
Version Final 
Dated 6 September 2013 
Key Decision No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 
Director of Legal Services  Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services  

Yes Yes 

Head of Specialist Housing 
Services 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 6 September 2013 
 

245



Scale 1/1250

Date 26/7/2013

APPENDIX ONE:  Wilkinson House

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved ((0)100019252) 2009

246



 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR DORA DIXON-FYLE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 
This council is committed to ensuring its children and young people realise their 
potential and that our most vulnerable are supported to live independent safe and 
healthy lives. We know that children and young people come into care for a variety of 
reasons and at different ages.  We are committed to ensuring that as many children 
are adopted or placed with their family or with foster carers for as long as possible. 
Where these options are not available or sustainable it is vital that our young 16-17 
year olds have access to the right support alongside good quality accommodation so 
they are able to realise their full potential. 
 
This report recommends the award of a framework contract for semi independent 
living services, supporting the council’s commitments in its children and young 
people’s plan and delivering on its sufficiency duty. This contract introduces enhanced 
quality requirements from semi independent living providers and increases the supply 
of placements within seven miles of the borough, making it easier for young people to 
maintain contact with friends and family.  This underlines the council’s commitment 
and focus on achieving the best outcomes for our young people, while making sure we 
have an effective mechanism for ensuring we get value for money when these 
placements are necessary.  
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the cabinet approve the award of a semi-independent living service 

framework for children in care to include the providers listed in Appendix 1 for a 
period of four years commencing on 14 October 2013 in the estimated maximum 
sum of £6.8m. 

 
2. That the cabinet notes that the strategic director of children’s and adults’ 

services will award contracts for individual placements on the council’s preferred 
terms through the framework. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3. Children come into care for a variety of reasons.  Some enter at birth whilst 

others enter as either young children or teenagers. Children’s and Adults’ 
Services ensure that as many children as possible are adopted or placed with 
family members, but a significant majority remain in care for most of their 
childhood and adolescence.  

Item No.  
21. 

 

Classification: 
Open  

Date: 
17 September 2013 
 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 

Report title: 
 

Gateway 2 – Contract Award Approval 
Semi-Independent Living Service 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All Wards 

Cabinet Member: 
 
 

Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle, Children’s Services 

Agenda Item 21
247



 
 

 2 

 
4. Usually children’s placement needs are met through the council foster carers, 

recruited, trained and supported by the council. In circumstances where it is not 
possible to meet a child’s needs through the council’s service, the council will 
commission a range of alternative placements which can provide more specialist 
support.    

 
5. The semi-independent living service is provided when young people aged 17 to 

18 (may be aged 16 in exceptional circumstances) are unable to remain settled 
in a fostering environment.  This may be for a variety of reasons including the 
fact that some young people do not want any alternative family including their 
birth family. There are also a number of late entrants into the care system (aged 
16 and 17) who come into care as a result of chaotic family lifestyles who simply 
will not settle or accept a fostering placement. 

 
6. As at July 2013 there were 579 looked after children in Southwark, 27 with the 

semi independent living services,  439 with foster carers; 27 have been placed 
for adoption; 24 with placements in the community; 53 in specialist residential 
settings including those with profound disabilities; and 9 subject to court ordered 
parent and child assessment placements  

 
7. Ofsted reported in June 2012 that looked after children and young people’s 

economic well-being outcomes were adequate.  The council is determined to 
improve this assessment and the Children and Young People’s Plan, the 
Corporate Parenting Committee and the children in care commissioning strategy 
have identified this as a priority area for development.   

 
8. Strong partnerships with Housing and Community Services are well established 

ensuring priority for care leavers through Supporting People arrangements and 
providing secure tenancies.  The majority of responses to a perception survey 
show that most care leavers live in good or very good accommodation, however, 
almost one third do not feel they are living in the right location and some care 
leavers who spoke to inspectors had variable views on the suitability of their 
accommodation.  

 
9. On 25 September 2012, cabinet approved a procurement strategy which would 

provide good quality accommodation to improve outcomes for this vulnerable 
group and as far as possible move away from costly spot purchasing.  The 
strategy was to put a framework in place that captured leading best practice 
whilst at the same time ensuring an affordable high quality service.  The 
framework would meet the overarching aim of the service to assist the council in 
implementing its role as corporate parent to help and assist vulnerable young 
people in care to make a successful transition to a healthy and productive adult 
life. 

 
10. To achieve this the service was split into generalist and specialist lots for which 

applicants were invited to tender for the following placement types:  
 

Generalist: 
Lot 1a High Support 24/7      with14 hours key worker support each week 
Lot 1b Medium Support       with 7 hours key worker support each week 
Lot 1c Low Support             with 3 hours key worker support each week 

 
Specialist: 

Lot 2   Parent and Child 24/7 with 14 hours key worker support each week 

248



 
 

 3 

Lot 3   Youth Offending Remand 24/7 with 20 hours key worker support each    
week 

 
11. Clear referral pathways and procedures will be in place to ensure that the best 

possible placement fit is selected to respond to a child's bespoke needs, for 
example this will include if the placement is within a 7 miles radius from the 
Children’s centre at Talfourd Place.  The matching of a placement will involve the 
child's allocated social worker and be able to deliver appropriate responses in 
both planned and emergency situations. 

 
12. The placement allocation will be as follows: 
 

(i) Request first sent to Tier 1 providers with a response timeline of 72 hours.  
(ii) If no match is made, the request will then be sent to Tier 2 providers to run 

alongside the Tier 1 requests. 
(iii) If a suitable match is received from Tier 1 and Tier 2, priority will be given to the 

Tier 1 response. 
(iv) In the event that two providers in the same Tier respond at the same time, then 

a decision will be taken based on the best possible placement fit. 
 

13. There is no extension period for the framework.  The prices are not index linked 
and are fixed for years 1 and 2.  At the mid point review at the end of year 2 
providers will then be asked to submit a new pricing schedule or confirm no price 
change.   

 
14. The original intention was to award the contract on 27 May 2013, however 

additional time was taken before going to the market to work further on the 
specification and tender documents to ensure they were completely reflective of 
the councils needs. 

 
Procurement project plan (Key Decision) 
 
15. The table below provides and overview of the revised procurement timetable:  

Activity Completed by: 

Place GW1 and GW2 on Forward Plan   15/08/2012 

Approval of Gateway 1: Procurement Strategy Report  25/09/2012 

Advertise the contract 5/10/2012 

Closing date for expressions of interest  30/10/2012 

Invitation to tender 02/05/2013 

Information day for applicants 13/05/2013 

Closing date for return of tenders 19/06/2013 

Completion of evaluation of tenders 30/07/2013 

DCRB Review Gateway 2 - Contract Award Report 7/08/2013 

CCRB Review Gateway 2 - Contract Award Report 15/08/2013 

Notification of forthcoming decision – despatch of cabinet 
agenda papers 27/08/2013 

Approval of Gateway 2: Contract Award Report  17/09/2013 

249



 
 

 4 

Activity Completed by: 

Scrutiny Call-in period and notification of implementation of 
Gateway 2 decision 27/09/2013 

Contract award 30/09/2013 

Add to Contract Register 30/09/2013 

Contract start (Subject to TUPE) 14/10/2013 

Publish Contract Award Notice in OJEU Within 48 days of 
contract award 

Contract completion date 13/10/2017 

 
  
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
Description of procurement outcomes  
 
16. The successful delivery of this project has led to the establishment of a 

framework that reflects both current best practice and has an in-built programme 
of continuous improvement.  More specific outcomes achieved include: 

 
• A service capable of meeting the majority of the council’s service requirements 

through both existing and new service providers.  
• The development of a clearer referral process which focuses on improved 

matches for young person’s needs thereby resulting in better outcomes for 
children looked after. 

• An enhanced service specification built on extensive consultation with both 
internal key stakeholders and young people ensuring true client ownership and 
support of the service going forward. 

• New and enhanced performance monitoring arrangements which focus upon 
feedback from young people, social work teams and an independent reviewing 
officer. 

• Introduction of fixed pricing for standard placements and greater clarity on what 
is included within weekly costs.  

• Budget certainty via fixed costs for years 1 and 2. 
• A tiered system to provide on-going service provider incentives with regards to 

price and quality. 
• Establishment of a group to work with providers to seek continuous service 

improvements and incentives to maintain good performance. 
 

Policy implications 
 
17. The ‘sufficiency duty’ under section 22G of the Children’s Act 1989 requires the 

council to secure sufficient accommodation for looked after children. This 
requires local authorities to take steps that secure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, sufficient placements within the authority’s area to meet the needs of 
young people that the local authority are looking after, and whose circumstances 
are such that it would be consistent with their welfare for them to be provided 
with placements which are within the local authority’s area.  

 
18. The council must consider the benefits of securing a range of accommodation 

through a number of providers. The accommodation must also meet the 
assessed needs of children. 

250



 
 

 5 

 
19. This means having the right placement in the right location, at the right time 

which is a vital factor in improving placement stability.  Stability is known as the 
critical success factor in relation to better outcomes for looked after children. 

 
Tender process 
 
20. As a Part B service, the council was not obliged to issue an OJEU notice, 

however in order to ensure all market areas were covered, a voluntary notice 
was issued.  In addition, adverts were placed on the council’s website, 
Community Action Southwark website, in Community Care and other similar 
trade journals.  Existing providers and other known providers were also alerted 
to the advert being placed on the council’s website. 

 
21. The project team worked with service leads, corporate procurement, legal, 

children’s services finance, contract and performance improvement team and 
health and safety services to develop the tender documentation including the 
service specification, pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQ) and the quality and 
pricing evaluation methodologies.   

 
22. Following direction provided by the strategic director of children’s and adults’ 

services, prior to the ITT stage, the weightings applied to price and quality were 
altered from those reported at the Gateway 1 (procurement strategy approval) 
and those applied at PQQ stage. This change was made in response to recent 
national events and OFSTED recommendations to ensure those meeting 
children’s needs and their placement experience are given greater importance in 
the contract award process.  It was therefore decided to increase the percentage 
weighting allocated to quality from 30% to 40% (with price accordingly falling 
from 70% to 60%). Applicants invited to tender were informed of this decision. 

23. As a Part B service, the full EU procurement rules did not apply, however the 
spirit of the restricted procedure was applied as follows: 

 
Stage One – Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) 

 
24. Method statements were used to assess the technical section, for which there 

was a minimum pass mark.  The short listing process also included an 
assessment of capacity. The financial, health and safety and equalities sections 
were assessed as pass or fail. For the financial assessment, a minimum financial 
operating threshold of £0.5m was set. In order to assess the financial and 
economic standing and technical capacity and ability PQQs were evaluated in 
accordance with the criteria as set out in the EU Procurement Regulations.  The 
final PQQ evaluation methodology was signed off by the commissioning board. 

 
Stage Two - Invitation to Tender  

 
25. Applicants were invited to tender if they demonstrated that they had sufficient 

safeguarding and technical capacity and financial and economic standing.   
 

Safeguarding Assessment - Satisfactory score of 2 
 

26. The council introduced a further method statement concerning health and safety 
/safe guarding practice for all applicants to address, in response to issues 
identified at the health and safety assessment carried out at PQQ stage. Every 

251



 
 

 6 

applicant was required to achieve at least a ‘satisfactory’ score in this, all the 
applicants passed. 

 
Quality Assessment (40%) 

 
27. Method statements were used to evaluate applicants against the following 

quality criteria, for which there was an overall pass mark of 55% (50% for 
specialist lots). No applicant that did not attain the minimum pass mark could 
progress to the price assessment stage.  The method statements covered the 
following topic areas: 

 
• Strategic plan and strategy to increase capacity to provide placements within a 7 

mile radius of the council’s children looked after Resource Centre, Talfourd 
Place. 

• Strategy for minimising placement breakdown. 
• Feedback from young people to shape and improve services 
• Promoting health and attainment 
• Approaches to transition including preparation for living independently. 
• Specific requirements of the service specification 

 
Price Assessment (60%) 

 
28. A price evaluation model was prepared with finance colleagues and applicants 

were asked to complete a pricing schedule which required them to separately 
cost the various aspects of the service, including: 

 
• Setting a standard weekly fee and specialist services for high, medium and low 

support, parent and child placements and placements subject to remand (court) 
status.   

• Additional key worker hourly price. 
• The council scored the sustainability of the standard weekly fee by assessing the 

breakdown of costs completed in the pricing schedule.   
• The council sought a volume discount for the total spends.   

 
Tender evaluation 
 
29. Evaluation panels were made up of representatives from finance, children looked 

after service, young people in care, youth offending service and the quality 
assurance and safeguarding service.  Officers from legal, corporate procurement 
and service commissioning were consulted as required throughout the process.   

 
30. The council received 46 expressions of interest and all were sent out Pre 

Qualification Questionnaires (PQQs).  On the return date, 18 completed PQQs 
were received and 28 applicants did not make a return.  During the expressions 
of interest and the clarification process it was identified that some applicants 
were either not in a position to procure accommodation from the private sector or 
they did not meet the minimum financial operating threshold of £0.5m.   

 
31. By applying the short listing criteria, a shortlist of 14 applicants was produced 

with 4 applicants failing to pass the technical assessment.  The 14 shortlisted 
applicants were invited to tender and could apply for any or all of the service 
categories (Lots). 

 

252



 
 

 7 

32. To support the applicants through the process and encourage on-going 
participation the council invited those shortlisted to an information / question and 
answer session and a tour of the children looked after, Resource Centre at 
Talfourd Place a few days after the invitation to tender documents (ITT) had 
been issued.  

 
33. This venue was selected as the specification requires providers to facilitate 

foster carer/s supporting young people to make full use of the comprehensive 
range of services at this site.  Resources and advisors are available which 
include a group worker, drop-in service, women’s worker, personal adviser from 
17.5 years, connexions adviser, employment adviser and looked after child 
nurse.   

 
34. The 14 shortlisted applicants were invited to tender by email on 2 May 2013 with 

a response deadline for completed tenders of 12.30pm Wednesday 19 June 
2013.  10 tenders were returned by this date. The other 4 applicants withdraw for 
commercial reasons and a further 1 applicant failed the quality evaluation. 

 
35. The top ranked applicants for generalist and specialist services were allocated to 

Tier 1 and the remaining successful applicants for the framework were allocated 
to Tier 2.  Under the evaluation methodology it was agreed that there would be 
an even split between tiers, unless there was an odd number, where the higher 
number would then go into Tier 1. Please see Appendix 1 for price submissions 
for all the service categories (Lots). 

 
36. To support the selection process, applicants were required to provide core 

information concerning the total of young people they had available for looked 
after children aged 16 -18 as at April 2012.  This was further broken down to 
include proximity to the council (7 miles) and ethnicity.  

 
37. This information was then used by the council to ensure providers selected for 

the framework would have sufficient capacity to meet the level and range of 
identified needs. One of the specific aims of the framework process was to also 
attract new providers who whilst not being able to provide an immediate portfolio 
cohort of local accommodation and service could over the four year framework 
period, be able to work in partnership with the council to develop additional local 
capacity. 

 
38. The table below is a summary of the scores and the number of providers in each 

tier for each service category: 
 

Generalist  
 

There was a total of 10 applicants, of which, 1 failed to pass the generalist quality 
threshold of 55%. From the total of 9 successful applicants, it is proposed to place 5 
in Tier 1 and 4 in Tier 2 as indicated in para 35. 

253



 
 

 8 

 
Specialist - Parent and Child 
 
From a total of 9 successful generalist applicants, 6 applied for and passed the 
specialist threshold of 50%, it is proposed to place 3 in Tier 1 and 3 in Tier 2. 
   

 Proposed Applicants  Weighted 
Price  

Quality 
Weighted Total  

Tier 1       
Provider H 47.68 24.00 71.68 
Provider G 38.88 24.00 62.88 
Provider A 29.75 32.00 61.75 
Tier 2       
Provider C 35.32 24.00 59.32 
Provider F 32.27 24.00 56.27 
Provider I 30.65 21.60 52.25 
   
Specialist – Alternative to Secure Remand  
 
From a total of 9 successful generalist applicants, 5 applied for and passed the 
specialist threshold of 50%, it is proposed to place 3 in Tier 1 and 2 in Tier 2. 
 

 Proposed Applicants  Weighted 
Price 

Quality 
Weighted Total  

Tier 1       
Provider I 49.04 24 73.04 
Provider D 40.48 28 68.48 
Provider G 38.00 22 60.00 
Tier 2       
Provider F 35.83 20 55.83 
Provider E 30.60 24 54.60 
 
Plans for the transition from the old to the new contract 
 
39. The council currently has interim service provision arrangements with a number 

of providers.  Where these providers have been successful in being admitted to 
the framework, any existing placements with them will transfer onto the new 

 Proposed Applicants  Weighted Price  Quality 
Weighted Total  

Tier 1       
Provider A  49.29 29.20 78.49 
Provider B  49.54 28.80 78.34 
Provider C  45.38 25.60 70.98 
Provider D  44.01 25.20 69.21 
Provider E  43.78 23.20 66.98 
Tier 2       
Provider F  44.75 22.00 66.75 
Provider G  43.91 22.00 65.91 
Provider H  40.84 23.60 64.44 
Provider  I   39.41 24.40 63.81 

254



 
 

 9 

framework terms and conditions, including pricing.   There are currently 13 
providers, 5 have not applied, 3 have applied but failed, 4 have been proposed 
to Tier 2 and 1 has been proposed to Tier 1. 

 
40. Where an existing provider has not been admitted to the new framework, either 

because they did not participate in the procurement process, or did and were 
unsuccessful, current placements will remain in place under existing terms and 
conditions and pricing, however monitoring and management arrangements will 
be aligned with those of the new framework so as to ensure service consistency.   

 
41. Legal services have advised that the conditions applying to TUPE are not met in 

the engagement of providers on spot contracts.  This was highlighted in the 
procurement documentation although making it clear that all applicants should 
seek their own independent advice and that no warranty was given regarding the 
effect or impact of TUPE. 

 
42. In addition the following internal operational changes have/are due to be take 

place: 
 

• New service to be communicated through the Children's Service Transformation 
Programme (Social Works Matters). 

• Specific workshops to be set up with the independent reviewing officer team, 
placements service and senior children looked after management teams. 

• The joint Children’s and Adults’ Commissioning merger has incorporated the 
operational changes involved for commissioning staff and providers. 

• The development of a placement team’s operational manual. 
• Information to be developed in the children looked after handbook for social work 

staff. 
• The establishment of a framework operational group to involve the participation 

of invited service providers for the purposes of developing the operation and 
processes of the framework and reviewing new guidance as it arises.  

• Communicating with all the existing providers who were not admitted to the 
framework to begin the alignment of management arrangements.  

   
Plans for monitoring and management of the contract 
 
43. The Directorate of Strategy and Commissioning, Children’s and Adults’ services 

is the department responsible for managing the contract. The performance 
mechanism for this framework includes: 

 
• Quarterly Monitoring 
• Annual Monitoring 
• Annual Performance Assessment 
• A Mid Term Tier Review 

 
44. The council shall undertake service review processes to ensure providers are 

delivering the best possible quality and outcomes for its looked after children.  
These processes and the specification reflect best practice and are designed to 
keep young people safe.  The council shall always be alerted if there are any 
concerns relating to the safety of a child/young person.   

 
45. The key performance indicators for all young people include: 
 

• Unplanned moves   

255



 
 

 10 

• Status of employment / education and training 
• Independent living skills and remedial steps  
• Arrested/warned/ reprimanded or convicted 
• Placement planning meetings 
• GP registration, dental and health assessments 
• Weekly sport/classes 
• Risk assessment (including health and safety practice) 

 
46. The council recognises that some young people can be extremely challenging 

and may not achieve expected outcomes despite first class practice 
interventions.  In these circumstances the provider’s performance against any 
key performance indicator where the standard was not reached, shall be 
considered taking into account the provider’s summary report for the young 
person and feedback provided from their social worker, independent reviewing 
officer and the council’s placement panel. This additional information shall be 
used to determine whether it is fair to conclude that more could have been 
reasonably done by the provider to support the young person to meet their 
desired outcome(s). 

 
47. An annual performance review will be carried out to assess performance 

concerning outcomes for children and to ensure providers are fit to remain in tier 
one.  This assessment will include for example: 

 
• Their capacity to provide placements within a 7 mile radius of the borough. 
• Outcomes for children and young people including success in supporting 

independence skills. 
• Feedback from young people 
• Unplanned endings of placements. 
• Approaches to safeguarding. 
• The specific requirements of the service specification.   
 

48. The main aims of the annual performance assessment are to: 
 

• Determine if a provider is achieving the required standards 
• Discuss a provider’s performance 
• Identify any working/partnership areas which need development  
• Determine the impact of any actions and activities set at earlier annual 

performance assessment meetings and change or revise them, as appropriate. 
• Agree actions and activities to improve performance/working practices for both 

parties. 
 
49. If the quarterly and annual review processes indicate any trend concerning 

outcomes or a serious concern relating to specific young person, providers may 
be required to develop an intervention/improvement plan in partnership with the 
commissioning team and children looked after service. Milestones and 
timescales for the intervention plan shall be agreed relating specifically to any 
issue, trend or the number and degree of key performance indicators which have 
not been met. In all cases however an absolute maximum period of six months 
for the intervention is permissible, at the end of which appropriate action will be 
taken if sufficient improvement is not evidenced. 

 
50. To ensure providers maintain high standards, a major incentive has been built 

into the framework by way of the tier system.  At the end of year two (contract 

256



 

 

 11 

mid point) a pricing review will be undertaken to ensure on-going best value.  It 
will be made clear to providers that to remain or move to tier one their service 
quality must be high and ongoing pricing must be competitive. Failure to remain 
financially competitive will result in the more expensive agencies risking 
demotion to Tier 2 whilst also providing an opportunity for providers in Tier 2 
(who have met all the quality standards) to be promoted to Tier 1. 

 
51. At the mid point of the four year framework agreement, the council’s 

commissioning services team will review the placement capacity, performance 
and pricing of all framework providers in both Tier 1 and Tier 2. This review will 
be undertaken in January 2016 and may result in a provider being moved either 
up or down between Tiers. 

 
Identified risks for the new contract  
 
52. Table 1 below summaries the main risks for the new framework: 

 
 

 
53. A performance bond was not required.   However, where applicable providers 

will be required to supply a parent company guarantee.  
 

Community impact statement 
 
54. All providers have demonstrated their commitment to diversity and equal 

opportunities.  As highlighted within the contract specification, all contracted 
arrangements meet specific cultural and language needs where applicable.  

 
55. The service is accessible for young people to support their needs by promoting 

equality and responding to diversity including issues with respect to age, 
disability, faith, gender, ethnicity and sexuality. 

 
56. The children looked after service has an equality impact assessment for 2012/14 

which recognises the diverse needs for looked after children and the range of 

No. Risk  Likelihood Risk Control 
1 
 
 
 
 
 

On-going financial 
stability of providers. 

Low Option to move young people from their lodgings.  
Financial monitoring to form part of the contract 
management regime. e.g. Experian checks.  
Appropriate legal conditions have been included in 
the framework agreement in order to provide 
protective powers and remedies for the council.  

2 
 

Staff continue to spot 
purchase with known 
organisations outside 
of the framework.  

Low High profile launch of new framework.  Referrals 
will be placed without the identification of the 
provider and the price.  Monitoring of off framework 
spend. 

3 
 
 

Savings identified 
cannot be achieved. 
 
Prices may go up 
rather than down 
following the mid term 
review. 
 
 

Low The tier model has been applied successfully 
elsewhere.  Financial factors such as the sibling 
and volume discounts should contribute to overall 
savings for the council.  The mid year review will 
ensure continuous assessment of price and quality 
by benchmarking with London Care Services and 
neighbouring boroughs.  The framework will reduce 
the volatility of placement prices and breakdown to 
reduce overall price pressures.   

257



 

 

 12 

supports required for them to become positive members of the community. This 
procurement is supporting both the 2012/14 children looked after equality action 
plan and 2012/13 children looked after-business plan.  

 
Sustainability  
 
Economic considerations  
 
57. The details of the contract were advertised on the council’s website which 

attracted the interest of the local providers.  Consequently the providers are 
offering 382 placements that are within 7 miles of the council’s Looked after 
Children’s services, Talfourd Place.   

 
Social considerations 

 
58. The successful providers demonstrated that they met the London Living Wage 

(LLW) requirements for all their employees and other staff.  For this service it 
was considered that best value was achieved by including this requirement as 
this enabled providers to employ suitably qualified professional social work staff 
to provide a quality service.   On award, the associated quality improvements 
and cost implications will be monitored as part of the annual review of the 
contract. 

 
Environmental considerations 
 
59. The council supports keeping families and communities together and the award 

of the new framework is consistent with that objective.  This also reduces the 
need for excessive car journeys and public transport thus contributing to the 
reduction in carbon emissions.   

 
Market considerations 
 
60. The 9 successful applicants are private organisations and 6 have fewer than 50 

employees, 1 is between 50 and 250 employees and 2 are over 250 employees.  
From the 9 applicants, 1 is local to the borough of Southwark, 7 are regional and 
1 is national.       

 
Staffing implications 
 
61. The operation and oversight of this framework will be managed within existing 

resources.  
 
Financial implications (FI:CS0274/NA) 

 
62. The objective of this proposal is to deliver an efficient and effective service.  It is 

also intended to deliver savings over the 4 year life of the contract.  It is 
estimated the new framework agreement will deliver savings of £30k per annum 
based on the price of placements.  The assumption behind the savings is that 
the volume of the placements will remain similar to current levels.  However, 
further  reductions in spend could be achieved through an ongoing robust review 
and planning of the level of support hours provided; as young people become 
more independent and move from high through to lower levels of support hours.  

 
63. Approved budget of £1.7m is available to deliver the existing service for the year 

2013/14.  The proposal has a similar budget profile, and subject to the annual 

258



 

 

 13 

council budget setting process there will be sufficient budget for the term of the 
proposal. 

 
Legal implications 
 
64. Please see concurrent from the Director of Legal Services. 
 
Consultation 
 
65. An extensive staff consultation exercise was entered into at the commencement 

of the process, including the independent reviewing officer and placement 
teams. A significant number of focus groups were held including one for older 
children looked after / care leavers. In addition feedback was used from the 
extensive May 2012 OFSTED inspection questionnaire exercise and the 
February 2012 ‘’Tell it as it Was” exercise by Speakerbox. Workshops were also 
held with current providers. 

 
Other implications or issues 
 
66. Not applicable. 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS  
 
Head of Procurement 
 
67. This report is seeking approval to appoint a range of suppliers onto a framework 

that will provide semi independent living services which will supplement 
Southwark’s existing foster carer service. 

 
68. The report confirms that the procurement process followed was in line with the 

procurement strategy which was approved by Cabinet in September 2012.   
 

69. The evaluation of the tender submissions was undertaken by a range of 
stakeholders using a weighted model 60/40% in favour of price.   

 
70. The procurement of the framework formed part of a wider project for this service.  

Other work streams included a review of the business processes surrounding the 
service which should deliver a clearer referral process and enhanced monitoring 
arrangements.  Paragraph 42 lists a number of operational changes that will be 
in place to support the running of the framework.  Operating rules for the 
framework have been developed and will be communicated to all staff.   

 
71. The framework has been designed to incorporate ‘on going’ competition within 

each of the lots.  Throughout the life of the framework, performance and price 
will continue to influence the rankings within the lots.  Also the two tier approach 
described in paragraph 12 will affect the level of opportunity that providers 
receive to secure work i.e. if appearing in Tier 1, a provider will get first 
opportunity to compete for placement.   It will be possible for movement between 
tiers.  A review of price and quality will take place at the mid point (after two 
years) of the framework and this will lead to the providers being re ranked. 

 
72. Paragraphs 39 to 40 confirm the transitional arrangements from the existing 

arrangements to the new contracts. Where existing placements are with 
organisations that have been admitted onto the new framework, these will 
transfer to the terms and conditions of the new framework. Where existing 

259



 

 

 14 

placements are with organisations that have not been successful in being 
admitted onto the framework or did not apply, these will continue to operate 
under the existing terms but will be monitored and managed in line with 
standards outlined in the new framework. 

 
73. The monitoring arrangements for the framework and the placements that are 

made through it are described in paragraphs 43 to 51.  The success of this 
framework will depend largely on it being used in accordance with the operating 
rules and performance monitoring feeding into the process.  The running of the 
framework should therefore also be monitored to ensure that it is happening. 

 
Director of Legal Services 

 
74. The Director of Legal Services (“DLS”, acting through the Corporate team) notes 

the content of this report, which seeks approval of the award of a semi-
independent living service framework for children in care to include the providers 
listed in Appendix 1 for a period of four years commencing on 14 October 2013 
in the estimated maximum sum of £6.8m and notes that the strategic director of 
children’s and adults’ services will award contracts for individual placements on 
the council’s preferred terms through the framework. 

 
75. On the basis of the information contained in this report, it is confirmed that this 

procurement was carried out in accordance with Contract Standing Orders 
(CSOs) and the relevant legal requirements. A contract award notice will need to 
be posted in the OJEU within 48 days of the award of the framework. 

 
76. As part of the award process, there will need to be a standstill period of a 

minimum of 10 calendar days between notification of the successful providers 
and the award of the framework, so as to allow unsuccessful providers the 
opportunity to challenge (if they decide to) the award of the framework. 

 
77. This framework is classified as a strategic procurement and therefore CSO 4.5.2 

a) requires the cabinet or cabinet committee to authorise the award of this 
framework, after consideration by the corporate contracts review board (CCRB) 
of the report.   

 
            Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/059) 

 
78. This report seeks cabinet approval to award a semi-independent living service 

framework for children in care. The financial implications are set out in 
paragraphs 62 and 63 and show the potential savings this framework can 
deliver. Financial risks and mitigations are detailed in paragraph 52. 

 
79. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the forecast 

savings in the future years of this contract, which will need to be identified during 
the budget setting process. 

 
80. It is expected that robust monitoring arrangements will be in place to ensure this 

contract delivers the expected savings. Officer time to implement this framework 
will be contained within existing resources. 

260



 

 

 15 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background documents Held At Contact 
Gateway 1 - Procurement Strategy 
Approval Independent Fostering 
Services (Open report). This document 
is available to view on this web page: 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ieLi
stDocuments.aspx?CId=302&MId=4246
&Ver=4 

Children’s and Adults’ Services Mark Taylor  
020 7525 3513 
 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 

No Title  
Appendix 1 List of Providers 
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member 
 

Councillor Dora Dixon Fyle, Children’s Services 

Lead Officer Romi Bowen, Strategic Director of Children’s and Adults’ Services 

Report Author Shenis Hassan, Project Manager 

Version Final 

Dated 5 September 2013 
 

Key Decision? 
Yes 
 

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET MEMBER 

Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 

Head of Procurement Yes Yes 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 

Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate  

Yes Yes 

Contract Review Boards   

Departmental Contract Review Board Yes Yes 

Corporate Contract Review Board Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member Yes Yes 

Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 
 

 

261



 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
Generalist: 
Lot 1a   High Support 24/7      with 14 hours Key Worker each week 
Lot 1b   Medium Support         with 7 hours Key Worker each week 
Lot 1c    Low Support               with 3 hours Key Worker each week 
 

Tenderer 
Lot1a 
Weekly 
Price 

Lot1b 
Weekly 
Price 

Lot1c 
Weekly 
Price 

Additional 
Key 

Worker 
Hours 

Volume 
Discount 

Tier 1           
Provider A  £845.19 £454.16 £434.51 £22.02 1.50% 
Provider B  £879.00 £670.00 £381.00 £24.90 5.00% 
Provider C  £1,273.10 £466.75 £368.16 £17.43 5.00% 
Provider D  £1,070.00 £470.00 £370.00 £30.00 2.50% 
Provider E  £1,020.00 £470.00 £380.00 £23.00 1.00% 
Tier 2           
Provider F  £998.00 £588.00 £389.00 £23.00 2.50% 
Provider G  £1,050.00 £896.00 £808.00 £22.00 7.50% 
Provider H  £1,130.00 £552.00 £448.00 £26.00 2.00% 
Provider  I   £1,275.00 £520.00 £405.00 £22.50 2.00% 
 
Specialist: 
Lot 2     Parent and Child 24/7              with 14 hours Key Worker each week 
 

Tenderer Lot2 Weekly 
Price 

Additional 
Key Worker 

Hours 

Volume 
Discount 

Tier 1       
Provider H £770.00 £26.00 2.00% 
Provider G £1,400.00 £22.00 7.50% 
Provider A £1,446.38 £22.02 1.50% 
Tier 2       
Provider C £1,485.60 £17.43 5.00% 
Provider F £1,412.00 £23.00 2.50% 
Provider I £1,425.00 £22.50 2.00% 
 
Specialist: 
Lot 3  Youth Offending Remand 24/7 with 20 hours Key Worker each week 
 

Tenderer Lot3 Weekly 
Price 

Additional Key 
Worker Hours 

Volume 
Discount 

Tier 1       
Provider I £765.00 £22.50 2.00% 
Provider D £990.00 £30.00 2.50% 
Provider G £1,449.00 £22.00 7.50% 
Tier 2       
Provider F £1,206.00 £23.00 2.50% 
Provider E £1,356.00 £23.00 1.00% 
 

262



 
 
FOREWORD – COUNCILLOR DORA DIXON-FYLE, CABINET MEMBER FOR 
CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
 
We know that children and young people come into care for a variety of reasons and 
at different ages and while we are committed to ensuring that as many children as 
possible can remain placed with their family or are adopted, it is necessary to provide 
fostering arrangements where this is not possible. This council takes its corporate 
parenting responsibility very seriously and it is vital that our children and young people 
have a loving and stable environment and can be supported to realise their potential 
even when they are unable to remain with family or be adopted. This is why it’s so 
important to ensure that we have a wide range of good quality fostering carers 
including foster carers for children and young people with specialist and complex 
needs.  
 
This report recommends the award of a framework contract for independent fostering 
arrangements. Complementing the work of the of council’s fostering team the 
framework will support the council’s commitments in its children and young people’s 
plan and delivering on its sufficiency duty. This contract introduces enhanced quality 
requirements and a more systematic approach to making sure we have a good range 
of foster carers available, including those that are able to support children and young 
people with more complex needs. I am pleased that we are putting in place these new 
and enhanced arrangements that will improve quality and deliver better value for 
money for the council and its residents. 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That the cabinet approve the award of an independent fostering service framework 

for children in care to the providers listed in Appendix 1 for a period of four years 
commencing on 14 October 2013 in the estimated maximum sum of £23m. 

 
2. That the cabinet agrees that the strategic director of children’s and adults’ services 

will award contracts for individual placements on the council’s preferred terms 
through the framework. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3. Children come into care for a variety of reasons.  Some enter at birth whilst others 

enter as either young children or teenagers. Children’s and Adults’ Services ensure 
that as many children as possible are adopted or placed with family members, but 
a significant majority remain in care for most of their childhood and adolescence.  

Item No.  
22. 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
17 September 2013 
 

Meeting Name: 
Cabinet 

Report title: 
 

Gateway 2 – Contract Award Approval 
Independent Fostering Services  
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All Wards 

Cabinet Member: 
 
 

Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle, Children’s Services 

Agenda Item 22
263



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

2 

 
4. Southwark’s fostering service has been rated as good with some outstanding 

features in its most recent Ofsted inspection in May 2012.  In circumstances where 
it is not possible to meet a child’s needs through our own fostering service 
resources the council also commissions foster carers through independent 
fostering agencies (IFA) which can provide additional capacity and when required 
specialist support.   

 
5. As at July 2013 there were 579 looked after children in Southwark, 27 with the 

semi independent living services,  439 with foster carers; 27 have been placed for 
adoption; 24 with placements in the community; 53 in specialist residential settings 
including those with profound disabilities; and 9 subject to court ordered parent and 
child assessment placements.  

 
6. On 25 September 2012, cabinet approved a procurement strategy which would 

provide additional capacity for fostering services and as far as possible move away 
from costly spot purchasing.  The strategy was to put a framework in place that 
captured leading best practice whilst at the same time ensuring an affordable high 
quality service.  The framework would meet the overarching aim of the service to 
assist the council in implementing its role as corporate parent to seek a diverse 
range of independent fostering services to help and assist vulnerable 
children/young people in care to make a successful transition to a healthy and 
productive adult life. 

 
7. To achieve this the service was split into the generalist and specialist lots for which 

applicants were invited to tender for the following placement types:  
 

Generalist 
 
Lot 1    a Foster care for children aged 0-4 

   b Foster care for children aged 5-10 
c Foster care for children aged 11+ 

 
      Specialist 

 
Lot 2 Parent and child placements 
Lot 3 Foster care for disabled children/severe profound 
Lot 4  Foster care placements subject to alternative to secure  

remand (court) status 
 
8. Clear referral pathways and procedures will be in place to ensure that the best 

possible placement fit is selected to respond to a child's bespoke needs, for 
example this will include if the placement is within a 7 miles radius from the 
Children’s centre at Talfourd Place.  The matching of a placement will involve the 
child's allocated social worker and be able to deliver appropriate responses in both 
planned and emergency situations. 

 
9. The placement allocation will be as follows: 
 

(i) Request first sent to council foster carers service. 
(ii) If no match is made the request will then be sent to Tier 1 providers with 

a response timeline of 72 hours.  
(iii) If no match is made the request will then be sent to Tier 2 providers to 

run alongside the Tier 1 requests. 

 
 

 

264



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

3 

(iv) If a suitable match is received from Tier 1 and Tier 2, priority will be 
given to the Tier 1 response. 

(v) In the event that two providers in the same Tier respond at the same 
time, then a decision will be taken based on the best possible 
placement fit. 

 
10. There is no extension period for the framework.  The prices are not index linked and 

are fixed for years 1 and 2.  At the mid-point review at the end of year 2 providers 
will be asked to submit a new pricing schedule or confirm no price change. 

11. The original intention was to award the contract on 27 May 2013, however 
additional time was taken before going to the market to work further on the 
specification and tender documents to ensure they were completely reflective of 
the councils needs. 

 
Procurement project plan (Key Decision) 
 
12. The table below provides and overview of the revised procurement timetable:  

Activity Completed by: 

Place GW1 and GW2 on Forward Plan   15/08/2012 

Approval of Gateway 1: Procurement Strategy Report  25/09/2012 

Advertise the contract 5/10/2012 

Closing date for expressions of interest  30/10/2012 

Invitation to tender 02/05/2013 

Information day for applicants 13/05/2013 

Closing date for return of tenders 19/06/2013 

Completion of evaluation of tenders 30/07/2013 

DCRB Review Gateway 2 - Contract Award Report 7/08/2013 

CCRB Review Gateway 2 - Contract Award Report 15/08/2013 

Notification of forthcoming decision – despatch of cabinet agenda 
papers 27/08/2013 

Approval of Gateway 2: Contract Award Report  17/09/2013 

Scrutiny Call-in period and notification of implementation of 
Gateway 2 decision 27/09/2013 

Contract award 30/09/2013 

Add to Contract Register 30/09/2013 

Contract start (Subject to TUPE) 14/10/2013 

Publish Contract Award Notice in OJEU 
Within 48 days 
of contract 
award 

Contract completion date 13/10/2017 

 
 
 
  

265



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

4 

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

Description of procurement outcomes  
 

13. The successful delivery of this project has led to the establishment of a framework 
that reflects both current best practice and has an in-built programme of 
continuous improvement.  More specific outcomes achieved include: 

 
• A service capable of meeting the majority of the council’s service requirements 

through both existing and new service providers.  
• The development of a clearer referral process which focuses on improved 

matches for a child/young person’s needs thereby resulting in better outcomes 
for children looked after. 

• An enhanced service specification built on extensive consultation with both 
internal key stakeholders and young people ensuring true client ownership and 
support of the service going forward. 

• New and enhanced performance monitoring arrangements which focus upon 
feedback from young people, social work teams and an independent reviewing 
officer. 

• Introduction of fixed pricing for standard placements and greater clarity on what 
is included within weekly costs.  

• Budget certainty via fixed costs for years 1 and 2. 
• A tiered system to provide on-going service provider incentives with regards to 

price and quality. 
• Establishment of a group to work with providers to seek continuous service 

improvements and incentives to maintain good performance. 
 

Policy implications 
 

14. The ‘sufficiency duty’ under section 22G of the Children’s Act 1989 requires the 
council to secure sufficient accommodation for looked after children. This requires 
local authorities to take steps that secure, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
sufficient placement within the authority’s area to meet the needs of children that 
the local authority are looking after, and whose circumstances are such that it 
would be consistent with their welfare for them to be provided with placements 
which are within the local authority’s area.  

 
15. The council must consider the benefits of securing a range of accommodation 

through a number of providers. The placement must also be able to meet the 
assessed needs of children. 

 
16. This means having the right placement in the right location, at the right time which 

is a vital factor in improving placement stability.  Stability is known as the critical 
success factor in achieving better outcomes for looked after children. 

 
Tender process 

 
17. As a Part B service, the council was not obliged to issue an OJEU notice, however 

in order to ensure all market areas were covered, a voluntary notice was issued.  
In addition, adverts were placed on the council’s website, Community Action 
Southwark website, in Community Care and other similar trade journals.  Existing 
providers and other known providers were also alerted to the advert being placed 
on the council’s website. 

 

266



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

5 

18. The project team worked with service leads, corporate procurement, legal, 
children’s services finance, contract and performance improvement team and 
health and safety services to develop the tender documentation including the 
service specification, pre-qualification questionnaire (PQQ) and the quality and 
pricing evaluation methodologies.   

 
19. Following direction provided by the strategic director of children’s and adults’ 

services, prior to the ITT stage, the weightings applied to price and quality were 
altered from those reported at the Gateway 1 (procurement strategy approval) and 
those applied at PQQ stage. This change was made in response to recent national 
events and OFSTED recommendations to ensure those meeting children’s needs 
and their placement experience are given greater importance in the contract award 
process.  It was therefore decided to increase the percentage weighting allocated 
to quality from 30% to 40% (with price accordingly falling from 70% to 60%). 
Applicants invited to tender were informed of this decision. 

 
20. As a Part B service, the full EU procurement rules did not apply, however the spirit 

of the restricted procedure was applied as follows: 
 

Stage One – Pre-Qualification Questionnaire (PQQ) 
 

21. Method statements were used to assess the technical section, for which there was 
a minimum pass mark.  Applicants who were not able to demonstrate that they 
currently had a good or outstanding OFSTED grading were eliminated from the 
process.  The short listing process also included an assessment of capacity. The 
financial, health and safety and equalities sections were assessed as pass or fail. 
For the financial assessment, a minimum financial operating threshold of £2.25m 
was set. In order to assess the financial and economic standing and technical 
capacity and ability PQQs were evaluated in accordance with the criteria as set out 
in the EU Procurement Regulations.  The final PQQ evaluation methodology was 
signed off by the commissioning board. 
 
Stage Two - Invitation to Tender  

 
22. Applicants were invited to tender if they demonstrated that they had sufficient 

safeguarding and technical capacity and financial and economic standing.   
 

Safeguarding Assessment – Pass/Fail 
 

23. The council introduced a further method statement concerning health and safety 
/safe guarding practice for all applicants to address, in response to issues 
identified at the health and safety assessment carried out at PQQ stage. Every 
applicant was required to achieve at least a ‘satisfactory’ score in this area, all the 
applicants passed.  
 
Quality Assessment (40%) 
 

24. Method statements were used to evaluate applicants against the following quality 
criteria, for which there was an overall pass mark of 55% (50% for specialist lots). 
No applicant that did not attain the minimum pass mark could progress to the price 
assessment stage.  The method statements covered the following topic areas: 

 
• Strategic plan and strategy to increase capacity to provide placements within a 

20 mile radius of the council’s children looked after Resource Centre, Talfourd 
Place. 

267



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

6 

• Strategy for minimising placement breakdown. 
• Specific requirements of the service specification.    
• Promoting health and attainment. 
• Approaches to transition including preparation for living independently. 

 
      Price Assessment (60%) 

 
25. A price evaluation model was prepared with finance colleagues and applicants 

were asked to complete a pricing schedule which required them to separately cost 
the various aspects of the service, including: 

 
• Setting a standard weekly fee and specialist services for parent and child 

placements, disabled children and placements subject to remand (court) status.   
• The council scored the sustainability of the standard weekly fee by assessing the 

breakdown of costs completed in the pricing schedule.   
• The council sought a discount for the total spends.   
• Further discounts were required for sibling groups. 

 
Tender evaluation 

 
26. Evaluation panels were made up of representatives from finance, children looked 

after service and the quality assurance and safeguarding service.  Officers from 
legal, corporate procurement and service commissioning were consulted as 
required throughout the process.   

 
27. The council received 64 expressions of interest and all were sent out Pre 

Qualification Questionnaires (PQQs).  On the return date, 33 completed PQQs 
were received and 31 applicants did not make a return.  During the expressions of 
interest and the clarification process it was identified that some applicants were 
either not able to demonstrate that they currently had a good or outstanding 
OFSTED grading or they did not meet the minimum financial operating threshold of 
£2.25m.   

 
28. By applying the short listing criteria, a shortlist of 27 applicants was produced with 

6 applicants failing to pass the technical assessment. The 27 shortlisted applicants 
were invited to tender and could apply for any or all of the service categories 
(Lots). 

 
29. To support the applicants through the process and encourage on-going 

participation the council invited those shortlisted to an information / question and 
answer session and a tour of the children looked after, Resource Centre at 
Talfourd Place a few days after the invitation to tender documents (ITT) had been 
issued.  

 
30. This venue was selected as the specification requires providers to facilitate foster 

carer/s supporting young people to make full use of the comprehensive range of 
services at this site.  Resources and advisors are available which include a group 
worker, drop-in service, women’s worker, personal adviser from 17.5 years, 
connexions adviser, employment adviser and looked after child nurse.   

 
31. The 27 shortlisted applicants were invited to tender by email on 2 May 2013 with a 

response deadline for completed tenders of 12.30pm Wednesday 19 June 2013.  
24 tenders were returned by this date. The other 3 applicants withdraw for 
commercial reasons and a further 6 applicants failed the quality evaluation. 

268



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

7 

 
32. To support the selection process, applicants were required to provide core 

information concerning the total number of fostering households they had available 
for  looked after children aged 0 -18 as at April 2012.  A fostering household can 
be approved to accommodate one; two or three looked after children. This was 
further broken down to include proximity to the council (20 miles) and ethnicity.  

 
33. This information was then used by the council to ensure providers selected for the 

framework would have sufficient capacity to meet the level and range of identified 
needs. One of the specific aims of the framework process was to also attract new 
providers who whilst not being able to provide an immediate cohort of local carers, 
could over the four year framework period, be able to work in partnership with the 
council to develop additional local capacity. 

 
34. The top ranked applicants for generalist and specialist services were allocated to 

Tier 1 and the remaining successful applicants for the framework were allocated to 
Tier 2.  Under the evaluation methodology it was agreed that this would be evenly 
split between tiers, unless there was an odd number, where the higher number 
would then go into Tier 1. The final evaluation scores for each lot were ranked in 
descending order to determine the mid-point for each. In the event of equal scores 
bidders were ranked equally e.g. 4th, with the next applicant being ranked 6th. In the 
event of an uneven number of bidders, the mid point was drawn so that the 
majority of the applicants were above the mid-point line. 

 
35. Please see Appendix 1 for price submission for each service category.  The table 

below is a summary of the scores and the number of providers in each tier for each 
service category: 

 
Lot 1 – Generalist 
 
From a total of 24 applicants, 5 failed to pass the generalist quality threshold of 55%, 
therefore they were excluded from applying for the generalist and specialist lots of 
parent and child, disabled children/severe profound and youth offending remand 
placements.  From a total of 19 successful applicants, 10 are placed in Tier 1 and 9 in 
Tier 2. 
 

Proposed Applicants  Price 
Weighted  

Quality 
Weighted 

Price 
& 

Quality 
Total  

Tier 1       
Provider A   47.68 31.20 78.88 
Provider B   49.63 25.20 74.83 
Provider C   48.51 25.60 74.11 
Provider D  45.11 28.80 73.91 
Provider E   41.27 32.40 73.67 
Provider F   46.70 26.80 73.50 
Provider G  43.57 27.20 70.77 
Provider H   42.84 26.40 69.24 
Provider I   44.90 24.00 68.90 
Provider J   46.06 22.80 68.86 
Tier 2       
Provider K   42.40 26.00 68.40 
Provider L   45.69 22.00 67.69 

269



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

8 

Proposed Applicants  Price 
Weighted  

Quality 
Weighted 

Price 
& 

Quality 
Total  

Provider M 42.82 24.80 67.62 
Provider N   44.69 22.00 66.69 
Provider O   42.12 23.60 65.72 
Provider P   40.23 23.20 63.43 
Provider Q  37.56 25.60 63.16 
Provider R   29.58 30.40 59.98 
Provider S   28.12 26.80 54.92 

 
 
Lot 2 Specialist – Parent and Child 
 
From a total of 19 successful generalist applicants, 6 are placed in Tier 1 and 6 in Tier 
2, a further 7 applicants failed to pass the specialist quality threshold of 50%. 
 

Proposed Applicants  
 Price Weighted  Quality Weighted Price & Quality Total  

Tier 1       
Provider C  51.51 24.00 75.51 
Provider H 44.83 26.40 71.23 
Provider F 44.63 25.60 70.23 
Provider I   41.80 26.40 68.20 
Provider M  45.48 22.40 67.88 
Provider K   41.35 22.40 63.75 
Tier 2       
Provider L  42.77 20.80 63.57 
Provider A  42.93 20.00 62.93 
Provider Q  39.73 22.40 62.13 
Provider G  39.55 22.40 61.95 
Provider E  33.92 28.00 61.92 
Provider S  30.20 24.80 55.00 

 
 
Lot 3 Specialist - Disabled Children and Young People 
 
From a total of 19 successful generalist applicants, 5 are placed in Tier 1 and 5 in Tier 
2, a further 8 did not apply and 1 applicant failed to pass the specialist quality 
threshold of 50%. 
 

Proposed Applicants Price 
Weighted  

Quality 
Weighted 

Price & 
Quality 
Total  

Tier 1       
Provider B 47.12 30.40 77.52 
Provider N  47.92 28.80 76.72 
Provider G  41.68 23.20 64.88 
Provider R 34.73 32.00 66.73 
Provider F  38.43 25.60 64.03 
Tier 2       

270



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

9 

Proposed Applicants Price 
Weighted  

Quality 
Weighted 

Price & 
Quality 
Total  

Provider J  37.85 25.60 63.45 
Provider Q  34.23 25.60 59.83 
Provider H  39.02 20.00 59.02 
Provider P  36.66 21.60 58.26 
Provider K  35.27 20.00 55.27 
 
 
Lot 4 Specialist - Youth Offending Remand Placements 
 
From a total of 19 successful generalist applicants, 4 are placed in Tier 1 and 4 in Tier 
2, a further 9 did not apply and 2 applicants failed to pass the specialist quality 
threshold of 50%. 

 

Proposed Applicants Price 
Weighted  

Quality 
Weighted 

Price & 
Quality 
Total  

Tier 1       
Provider B  50.60 24.00 74.60 
Provider E  46.00 24.00 70.00 
Provider N  43.98 24.00 67.98 
Provider M  43.50 24.00 67.50 
Tier 2       
Provider H  32.80 24.00 56.80 
Provider R  28.18 28.00 56.18 
Provider K  30.12 24.00 54.12 
Provider Q  28.18 22.00 50.18 
 

Plans for the transition from the old to the new contract 
 

36. The council currently has interim service provision arrangements with a number of 
providers.  Where these providers have been successful in being admitted to the 
framework, any existing placements with them will transfer onto the new framework 
terms and conditions, including pricing.  There are currently 35 providers, 16 have 
not applied, 4 have applied but failed, 2 applied but withdrew at the ITT stage and 
13 have been proposed to a combination of Tier 1 and 2. 

 
37. Where an existing provider has not been admitted to the new framework, either 

because they did not participate in the procurement process, or did and were 
unsuccessful, current placements will remain in place under existing terms and 
conditions and pricing, however monitoring and management arrangements will be 
aligned with those of the new framework so as to ensure service consistency. 

 
38. Legal services have advised that the conditions applying to TUPE are not met in 

the engagement of providers on spot contracts.  This was highlighted in the 
procurement documentation although making it clear that all applicants should 
seek their own independent advice and that no warranty was given regarding the 
effect or impact of TUPE. 

 
39. In addition the following internal operational changes have/are due to take place: 

 

271



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

10 

• New service to be communicated through the Children's Service Transformation 
Programme (Social Works Matters). 

• Specific workshops to be set up with the independent reviewing officer team and 
senior children looked after management. 

• The joint Children’s and Adults’ Commissioning merger has incorporated the 
operational changes involved for commissioning staff and providers. 

• The development of a placement team’s operational manual. 
• Information to be developed in the children looked after handbook for social work 

staff. 
• The establishment of a framework operational group to involve the participation 

of invited service providers for the purpose of developing the operational and 
processes of the framework, and reviewing new guidance as it arises.  

• Communicating with all the existing providers who were not admitted to the 
framework to begin the alignment of management arrangements. 

   
Plans for monitoring and management of the contract 

 
40. The Directorate of Strategy and Commissioning, Children’s and Adults’ services is 

the department responsible for managing the contract. The performance 
mechanism for this framework includes: 

 
• Quarterly Monitoring 
• Annual Monitoring 
• Annual Performance Assessment 
• A Mid Term Tier Review 
 

41. The council shall undertake service review processes to ensure providers are 
delivering the best possible quality and outcomes for its looked after children.  
These processes and the specification reflect best practice and are designed to 
keep children/young people safe.  The council shall always be alerted if there are 
any concerns relating to the safety of a child/young person.   
 

42. The key performance indicators for all children/young people include: 
 

• Unplanned moves   
• Absenteeism from school 
• Arrested/warned/ reprimanded or convicted 
• Placement planning meetings 
• GP registration 
• Dental and health assessments 
• Personal / education/ planning meetings  
• Weekly sport/classes 
• Risk assessment (including health and safety practice) 

 
43. The council recognises that some children/young people can be extremely 

challenging and may not achieve expected outcomes despite first class practice 
interventions.  In these circumstances the provider’s performance against any key 
performance indicator where the standard was not reached, shall be considered 
taking into account the provider’s summary report for the child/young person and 
feedback provided from their social worker, independent reviewing officer and the 
council’s placement panel. This additional information shall be used to determine 
whether it is fair to conclude that more could have been reasonably done by the 
provider to support the child/young person to meet their desired outcome(s). 

272



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

11 

 
44. If the quarterly and annual review processes indicate any trend concerning 

outcomes or a serious concern relating to specific child/young person, providers 
may be required to develop an intervention/improvement plan in partnership with 
the commissioning team and children looked after service. Milestones and 
timescales for the intervention plan shall be agreed relating specifically to any 
issue, trend or the number and degree of key performance indicators which have 
not been met. In all cases however an absolute maximum period of six months for 
the intervention is permissible, at the end of which appropriate action will be taken 
if sufficient improvement is not evidenced. 

 
45. An annual performance review will be carried out to assess performance 

concerning outcomes for children and to ensure providers are fit to remain in tier 
one.  This assessment will include for example: 

 
• Their capacity to provide placements within a 7 mile radius of the borough. 
• Outcomes for children and young people including success in supporting 

independence skills. 
• The voice of children and young people. 
• Unplanned endings of placements. 
• Approaches to safeguarding. 
• The specific requirements of the service specification.  

 
46. The main aims of the annual performance assessment are to: 

 
• Determine if a provider is achieving the required standards 
• Discuss a provider’s performance 
• Identify any working/partnership areas which need development  
• Determine the impact of any actions and activities set at earlier annual 

performance assessment meetings and change or revise them, as appropriate. 
• Agree actions and activities to improve performance/working practices for both 

parties. 
 

47. To ensure providers maintain high standards, a major incentive has been built into 
the framework by way of the tier system.  At the end of year two (contract mid 
point) a pricing and quality review will be undertaken to ensure on-going best 
value.  It will be made clear to providers that to remain or move to tier one their 
quality service must be high and ongoing pricing must be competitive. Failure to 
remain financially competitive will result in the more expensive agencies risking 
demotion to Tier 2 whilst also providing an opportunity for providers in Tier 2 (who 
have met all the quality standards) to be promoted to Tier 1. 

 
48. At the mid point of the four year framework agreement, the council’s 

commissioning services team will review the placement capacity, performance and 
pricing of all framework providers in both Tier 1 and Tier 2. This review will be 
undertaken in January 2016 and may result in a provider being moved either up or 
down between Tiers. 

 

273



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

12 

Identified risks for the new contract  
 

49. Table 1 below summarises the risks for the new framework. 
 

 
50. A performance bond was not required.   However, where applicable providers will 

be required to supply a parent company guarantee.  
 

Community impact statement 
 

51. All providers have demonstrated their commitment to diversity and equal 
opportunities.  As highlighted within the contract specification, all contracted 
arrangements meet specific cultural and language needs where applicable.  

 
52. The service is accessible for children and young people to support their needs by 

promoting equality and responding to diversity including issues with respect to age, 
disability, faith, gender, ethnicity and sexuality. 

 
53. The children looked after service has an equality impact assessment for 2012/14 

which recognises the diverse needs for looked after children and the range of 
supports required for them to become positive members of the community. This 
procurement is supporting both the 2012/14 children looked after equality action 
plan and 2012/13 children looked after-business plan.  

 
 

 

No. Risk  Likelihood Risk Control 
1. A provider loses their 

OFSTED rating of 
good/excellent which may 
be a material breach until 
OFSTED reassesses.     

Low A decrease in an OFSTED rating will result in 
a suspension rather than removal from the 
framework.  The mid year review will assess 
the capacity of providers to meet 75% of new 
placements.  

2 On-going financial stability 
of providers. 

Low Option to transfer the foster carers from 
providers to the council's in-house service.   
Financial monitoring to form part of the 
contract management regime.   Appropriate 
legal conditions have been included in the 
Framework Agreement in order to provide 
protective powers and remedies for the 
council. 

3 
 
 

Staff continue to spot 
purchase with known 
organisations outside of 
the framework.  

Low High profile launch of new framework.  
Referrals will be placed without the 
identification of the provider and the price.  
Monitoring of off framework spend.  

4 Savings identified cannot 
be achieved. 
 
Prices may go up rather 
than down following the 
mid term review. 
 
 

Low The tier model has been applied successfully 
elsewhere.  Financial factors such as the 
sibling and volume discounts should contribute 
to overall savings for the council.  The mid 
year review will ensure continuous 
assessment of price and quality by 
benchmarking with London Care Services and 
neighbouring boroughs.   The framework will 
reduce the volatility of placement prices and 
breakdown to reduce overall price pressures.   

274



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

13 

Sustainability  
 

Economic considerations  
 

54. The details of the contract were advertised on the council’s website which attracted 
the interest of the local providers.  Consequently the providers are offering 1,024 
households/foster carers that are within 20 miles of the council’s Looked after 
Children’s services, Talfourd Place.   

 
Social considerations 

 
55. The successful providers demonstrated that they met the London Living Wage 

(LLW) requirements for all their employees and other staff.  For this service it was 
considered that best value was achieved by including this requirement as this 
enabled providers to employ suitably qualified professional social work staff to 
provide a quality service.   On award, the associated quality improvements and 
cost implications will be monitored as part of the annual review of the contract. 

 
Environmental considerations 

 
56. The council supports keeping families and communities together and the award of 

the new framework is consistent with that objective.  This also reduces the need for 
excessive car journeys and public transport thus contributing to the reduction in 
carbon emissions.  

 
Market considerations 

 
57.  From the 19 successful applicants, 16 are private organisations, 2 are registered 

charities and 1 is a limited liability partnership.   The 10 organisations have fewer 
than 50 employees, 7 are between 50 and 250 employees and 2 are over 250 
employees.  From the 19 applicants, none are local to the borough of Southwark, 
16 are regional and 3 are national.       

 
Staffing implications 

 
58. The operation and oversight of this framework will be managed within existing 

resources.  
 

Financial implications  (FI:CS0273/NA) 
 

59. The objective of this proposal is to deliver an efficient and effective service 
delivering savings over the 4 year life of the contract.  The profile of the savings will 
rise from a low base in the first year and over the life of the contract it is estimated 
that it should be possible to achieve reductions in spend  of up to £275k per year 
as set out in the tables below.  This is based on the assumption that the profile of 
the placements will remain unchanged and a reduction in the average price per 
week of £59 (current average weekly price £899; assumed average weekly price 
£840 for new placements).  

 
 Assumed 
annual 
placements 
churn  

Annual cost 
reduction 
£ 

By year 2  30 92,293 

275



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

14 

 Assumed 
annual 
placements 
churn  

Annual cost 
reduction 
£ 

By Year 3 60 184,586 
By  Year 4 90 276,879 

 
60. It should be noted that this is a demand led service currently expected to spend 

£5.8m against the budget of £4.7m in 2013-14.  This funding pressure is not linked 
to the proposed contract but rather an increase in the care population in the last 
year. Work is ongoing to realign the Children’s and Adults budgets and if 
necessary a bid for  additional commitments will be made.   

 
Legal implications 

 
61. Please see concurrent from the Director of Legal Services. 

 
Consultation 

 
62. An extensive staff consultation exercise was entered into at the commencement of 

the process, including the independent reviewing officer and placement teams. A 
significant number of focus groups were held including one for older children 
looked after / care leavers. In addition feedback was used from the extensive May 
OFSTED inspection questionnaire exercise and the 2012 ‘’Tell it as it Was exercise 
by Speakerbox. Workshops were also held with current providers. 

 
Other implications or issues 

 
63.  Not applicable. 

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS (Post CCRB) 

 
Head of Procurement 

 
64. This report is seeking approval to appoint a range of suppliers onto a framework 

that will provide independent fostering services which will supplement Southwark’s 
existing foster carer service. 

 
65. The report confirms that the procurement process followed was in line with the 

procurement strategy which was approved by Cabinet in September 2012.   
 

66. The evaluation of the tender submissions was undertaken by a range of 
stakeholders using a weighted model 60/40% in favour of price.   

 
67. The procurement of the framework formed part of a wider project for this service.  

Other work streams included a review of the business processes surrounding the 
service which should deliver a clearer referral process and enhanced monitoring 
arrangements.  Paragraph 39 lists a number of operational changes that will be in 
place to support the running of the framework.  Operating rules for the framework 
have been developed and will be communicated to all staff.   

 
68. The framework has been designed to incorporate ‘on going’ competition within 

each of the lots.  Throughout the life of the framework, performance and price will 
continue to influence the rankings within the lots.  Also the two tier approach 

276



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

15 

described in paragraph 9 will affect the level of opportunity that providers receive to 
secure work i.e. if appearing in Tier 1, a provider will get first opportunity to 
compete for placement.   It will be possible for movement between tiers.  A review 
of price and quality will take place at the mid point (after two years) of the 
framework and this will lead to the providers being re ranked. 

 
69. Paragraphs 36 to 39 confirm the transitional arrangements from the existing 

arrangements to the new contracts. Where existing placements are with 
organisations that have been admitted onto the new framework, these will transfer 
to the terms and conditions of the new framework. Where existing placements are 
with organisations that have not been successful in being admitted onto the 
framework or did not apply, these will continue to operate under the existing terms 
but will be monitored and managed in line with standards outlined in the new 
framework. 

 
70. The monitoring arrangements for the framework and the placements that are made 

through it are described in paragraphs 40 – 48.  The success of this framework will 
depend largely on it being used in accordance with the operating rules and 
performance monitoring feeding into the process.  The running of the framework 
should therefore also be monitored to ensure that it is happening. 

 
Director of Legal Services 

 
71. The Director of Legal Services (“DLS”, acting through the Corporate team) notes 

the content of this report, which seeks approval of the award of an independent 
fostering service framework for children in care to the providers listed in Appendix 
1 for a period of four years commencing on 14 October 2013 in the estimated 
maximum sum of £23m and notes that the strategic director of children’s and 
adults’ services will award contracts for individual placements on the council’s 
preferred terms through the framework. 

 
72. On the basis of the information contained in this report, it is confirmed that this 

procurement was carried out in accordance with Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) 
and the relevant legal requirements. A contract award notice will need to be posted 
in the OJEU within 48 days of the award of the framework. 

 
73. As part of the award process, there will need to be a standstill period of a minimum 

of 10 calendar days between notification of the successful providers and the award 
of the framework, so as to allow unsuccessful providers the opportunity to 
challenge (if they decide to) the award of the framework. 

 
74. This framework is classified as a strategic procurement and therefore CSO 4.5.2 a) 

requires the cabinet or cabinet committee to authorise the award of this framework, 
after consideration by the corporate contracts review board (CCRB) of the report.   

 
 Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/058) 

  
75. This report seeks cabinet approval to award an independent fostering service 

framework for children in care. The financial implications are set out in paragraphs 
59 and 60 and show the potential savings this framework can deliver. Financial 
risks and mitigations are detailed in paragraph 49. 

 
76. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the current 

pressures on this service, which are being monitored and reported through the 

277



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

16 

quarterly revenue budget reports to cabinet. Any savings or growth in the future 
years of this contract will need to be identified in the budget setting process. 

 
77. It is expected that robust monitoring arrangements will be in place to ensure this 

contract delivers the expected savings. Officer time to implement this framework 
will be contained within existing resources. 

 
78. The financial implications are set out in paragraphs 59 and 60 of the report. 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background documents Held At Contact 
Gateway 1 - Procurement Strategy 
Approval Independent Fostering 
Services (Open report). This document 
is available to view on this web page: 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.uk/ieL
istDocuments.aspx?CId=302&MId=42
46&Ver=4 
 

Children’s and Adults’ Services 
 

Mark Taylor  
0207 525 3513 
 

 
 
APPENDICES 
 

No Title  
Appendix 1 Price Submissions 
 

278



 
 

                                                                                                                 
 

17 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Cabinet Member 
 

Councillor Dora Dixon Fyle, Children’s Services 

Lead Officer Romi Bowen, Strategic Director of Children’s Services 

Report Author Shenis Hassan, Project Manager 

Version Final 

Dated 5 September 2013 
 

Key Decision? 
Yes 
 

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET MEMBER 

Officer Title Comments Sought Comments included 

Head of Procurement Yes/No Yes 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 

Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate  

Yes Yes 

Contract Review Boards   

Departmental Contract Review Board Yes Yes 

Corporate Contract Review Board Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member Yes Yes 

Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 5 September 2013 

 
 

279



 
Price and Proposed Tier Submissions    APPENDIX 1 
 
Generalist: 
Lot 1a Foster care placements for children aged 0-4 
Lot 1b Foster care placements for children aged 5-10 
Lot 1c Foster care placements for children aged 11-18 
 

Proposed 
Tiers 

Lot1a Weekly 
Price 

Lot1b Weekly 
Price 

Lot1c Weekly 
Price 

Volume 
Discount 

Sibling 
Placement 

Tier 1           
Provider A   644.00 693.00 714.00 2.00% 5.00% 
Provider B   630.00 675.00 698.00 2.15% 7.50% 
Provider C   794.00 807.00 876.00 8.00% 5.00% 
Provider D  695.00 710.00 715.00 1.50% 2.00% 
Provider E   689.29 745.50 802.90 0.00% 5.00% 
Provider F   699.00 715.00 729.00 2.00% 5.00% 
Provider G  710.00 720.00 742.00 1.25% 2.00% 
Provider H   850.00 875.00 899.00 5.00% 5.00% 
Provider I   649.00 760.00 830.00 5.00% 1.00% 
Provider J   760.00 770.00 780.00 1.50% 10.00% 
           
Tier 2           
Provider K   750.00 750.00 795.00 2.00% 2.00% 
Provider L   700.00 700.00 700.00 2.00% 1.00% 
Provider M 720.00 750.00 765.00 1.00% 3.00% 
Provider N   640.00 670.00 695.00 0.00% 3.00% 
Provider O   649.92 806.90 839.36 0.00% 10.00% 
Provider P   835.00 835.00 835.00 2.00% 3.00% 
Provider Q  899.00 950.00 995.00 1.00% 10.00% 
Provider R   933.30 1,055.48 1,107.25 0.00% 2.00% 
Provider S   1,105.00 1,205.00 1,205.00 0.50% 3.00% 

 
 
Specialist: Lot 2   Parent and Child Placements  
 

Proposed Tiers Lot2 Weekly Price Volume Discount Sibling Placement 

Tier 1       
Provider C  1,260.00 8.00% 5.00% 
Provider H 1,350.00 5.00% 5.00% 
Provider F 1,245.00 2.00% 5.00% 
Provider I   1,470.00 5.00% 1.00% 
Provider M  1,180.00 1.00% 3.00% 
Provider K   1,340.00 2.00% 2.00% 
Tier 2       
Provider L  1,300.00 2.00% 1.00% 

280



Provider A  1,294.37 2.00% 5.00% 
Provider Q  1,354.00 1.00% 10.00% 
Provider G  1,370.00 1.25% 2.00% 
Provider E  1,543.50 0.00% 5.00% 
Provider S  1,798.00 0.50% 3.00% 

 
 
Specialist: Lot 3 Disabled Children and Young People  
 

Proposed Tiers Lot3 Weekly 
Price 

Volume 
Discount 

Sibling 
Placement 

Tier 1       
Provider B 976.00 2.15% 7.50% 
Provider N  895.00 0.00% 3.00% 
Provider G  1,100.00 1.25% 2.00% 
Provider R 1,300.00 0.00% 2.00% 
Provider F  1,245.00 2.00% 5.00% 
Tier 2       
Provider J  1,250.00 1.50% 10.00% 
Provider Q  1,370.00 1.00% 10.00% 
Provider H  1,380.00 5.00% 5.00% 
Provider P  1,328.00 2.00% 3.00% 
Provider K  1,384.00 2.00% 2.00% 

 
Specialist: Lot 4 Youth Offending Remand Placements 
 

Proposed Tiers Lot4 Weekly 
Price 

Volume 
Discount 

Sibling 
Placement 

Tier 1       
Provider B  908.00 2.15% 7.50% 
Provider E  948.50 0.00% 5.00% 
Provider N  995.00 0.00% 3.00% 
Provider M  1,050.00 1.00% 3.00% 
Tier 2       
Provider H  1,760.00 5.00% 5.00% 
Provider R  1,660.88 0.00% 2.00% 
Provider K  1,700.00 2.00% 2.00% 
Provider Q  1,750.00 1.00% 10.00% 

 
 
 
 
 
 

281



  
CABINET AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN) MUNICIPAL YEAR 2013/14 
 
NOTE:  Original held by Constitutional Team; all amendments/queries to  
  Paula Thornton/Everton Roberts Tel: 020 7525 4395/7221 
 
 
Name No of 

copies 
Name No of 

copies 
 
Cabinet Members 
 
Peter John 
Ian Wingfield 
Fiona Colley 
Dora Dixon-Fyle 
Barrie Hargrove 
Richard Livingstone 
Victoria Mills 
Catherine McDonald  
Veronica Ward 
 
Other Councillors 
 
Catherine Bowman 
Toby Eckersley 
Neil Coyle 
Gavin Edwards 
Dan Garfield 
David Hubber 
Lorraine Lauder 
Rebecca Lury 
Paul Noblet 
The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole 
Geoffrey Thornton 
Andy Simmons 
Tim McNally 
Anood Al-Samerai 
 
 
Group Offices 
 
Chris Page, Cabinet Office 
Laura Kavanagh, Opposition Group Office 
 
Press 
 
Southwark News 
South London Press 
 
Members of Parliament 
 
Harriet Harman, MP 
Tessa Jowell, MP 
Simon Hughes, MP 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1  
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
 

 
Corporate Management Team 
 
Eleanor Kelly 
Romi Bowen 
Deborah Collins 
Gerri Scott 
Duncan Whitfield 
 
Officers 
 
Doreen Forrester-Brown 
Jennifer Seeley 
 
Trade Unions 
 
Roy Fielding, GMB 
Henry Mott, Unite 
Chris Cooper, Unison 
Neil Tasker, UCATT 
Michael Davern, NUT 
James Lewis, NASUWT 
Irene Bishop, ASCL 
 
Others 
 
Robin Campbell, Press Office 
Paula Thornton, Constitutional Officer  
 
 
Total: 
 
Dated:  5 June 2013 (pt) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
1 
20 
 
 
66 
 
 

 


	Agenda
	3 Notice of Intention to conduct business in a closed meeting, and any representations received
	Notification of closed  businessfor urgent consideration form

	6 Minutes
	31 July 2013 - Cabinet Minutes Open

	8 Walworth Road Business Mix (Overview and Scrutiny Committee)
	Appendix A: Overview and Scrutiny Report

	9 Centre of Excellence for Older Adults with Dementia and Complex Needs
	10 Home Care Annual Contract Performance Report
	Appendix 1: contract data

	11 Children and Young People's Plan - Scrutiny Recommendations
	12 2013-16 Children and Young People's Plan
	Appendix 1: 2013-16 Children and Young People™s Plan
	Appendix 2: 1000 journeys book
	Appendix 3: CYPP summary

	13 Approval of the Council's Revised Local Implementation Plan Delivery Plan, Including Annual Spending Submission for 2014/15, Indicative Programme to 2016/17, Revised Targets and Related Funding Bids
	Appendix A: Annual spending submission and spending and 3 year delivery plan
	Appendix B: Borough cycling programme proposals
	Appendix C: Bus stop accessibility proposals
	Appendix D: Air quality proposals
	Appendix E: Revised transport plan targets

	14 Air Quality and Schools in Southwark
	15 Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2013-2017
	Appendix 1: Physical Activity and Sport Strategy 2013-2017
	Appendix 2: Action plan

	16 Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) Scheme and the Housing Revenue Account
	Appendix 1 part 1: Department of Communities and Local Government Direction of Approval
	Appendix 1 part 2: Department of Communities and Local Government Direction of Approval

	17 Revenue Monitoring Report for Quarter 1, 2013/14, including Treasury Management
	Appendix A: Budget movements

	18 Quarter 1 Capital Monitoring for 2013/14
	Appendix A: General fund summary
	Appendix B: Housing investment programme summary monitoring position
	Appendix C: Budget virements and variations
	Appendix D: General fund programme detail

	19 Motions referred from Council Assembly
	20 Wilkinson House, Dewar Street, London SE15
	Appendix 1: Map

	21 Gateway 2 - Contract Award Approval: Semi-independent Living Service
	Appendix 1: List of providers

	22 Gateway 2 - Contract Award Approval: Independent Fostering Services
	Appendix 1: Price submissions

	
	CABINET OPEN AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST 2013-14_updated


